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Recent progress in diversifying our product portfolio, expanding globally,  

and advancing groundbreaking research and development is the result of  

our ongoing commitment to improving the lives of people with cancer.

On the Cover
Julie, a wife and mother of two young adults, was busy with family, friends and a full-time career when she was diagnosed with 
HER2+ metastatic breast cancer. After exhausting the treatment options available, Julie decided to enroll in a TUKYSA clinical 
trial and responded well to the treatment regimen. Today, Julie is enjoying retirement working on knitting projects, spending
time with friends and family, and planning her next vacation.
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Approved Cancer Medicines

Community Involvement

Light the Night

Light The Night is a nationwide fund-
raiser for the Leukemia & Lymphoma 
Society in support of programs for
people impacted by blood cancers. 
Our team has a long history of partici-
pating in this event, both in Seattle
and across the United States.

Obliteride

Seagen is a proud sponsor of 
Obliteride, an annual cycling event 
that fuels innovative cancer research 
at Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research 
Center. During this weekend event, 
the Seagen team joins other scien-
tists, survivors, and advocates to cycle, 
run, and walk up to 100 miles to fund
life-saving science.

Walk to End Bladder Cancer

In 2020, Seagen participated in the
Bladder Cancer Advocacy Network’s
virtual Walk to End Bladder Cancer.
Our team walked on treadmills, out-
side, or inside the house in demon-
stration of our commitment to people 
impacted by bladder cancer.

CD30-directed antibody-drug 
conjugate (ADC)

Commercially available in 75
countries for certain types of 
CD30-expressing lymphomas

Multiple ongoing clinical trials
in Hodgkin lymphoma and other 
CD30-expressing cancers

Nectin-4 directed ADC

Available in the U.S. to treat 
certain types of metastatic
urothelial cancer (mUC)

mUC and earlier stages of 
bladder cancer as well as in a 
range of other solid tumors

HER2-directed oral tyrosine
kinase inhibitor

Available in the U.S., EU and 
other countries for certain HER2+ 
metastatic breast cancers

Broad development program in 
earlier stages of breast cancer 
as well as other HER2+ cancers, 
including colorectal cancer
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Pipeline Program Candidates

Late-Stage Programs

Antibody-Drug Conjugates

Tisotumab vedotin
(co-development with Genmab;
submitted for approval in U.S.)

Ladiratuzumab vedotin
(co-development with Merck)

Early-Stage Programs

Antibody-Drug Conjugates

SGN-CD228A

SGN-B6A

SGN-STNV

Sugar-Engineered Antibodies

SEA-BCMA

SEA-CD40 

SEA-CD70

SEA-TGT
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2020 was a pivotal year for Seagen. We expanded our global footprint
and operations beyond the U.S. and Canada, now with presence across
Europe. We executed successful U.S. launches of PADCEV for metastatic 
urothelial cancer (mUC) and TUKYSA for HER2-positive metastatic breast 
cancer. Seagen has grown to become a multi-product oncology company

of cancer patients. We reported record product sales in our territories of 
$1 billion in 2020 driven by rapid PADCEV and TUKYSA uptake, as well as
strong ADCETRIS sales, and total revenues of $2.2 billion, including royalties 
and collaborations. The growth of our business has increased our ability to 
advance cutting-edge science and to bring important medicines to more 
cancer patients around the world.

During the past year, we delivered multiple important business, regulatory
-

body-drug conjugates (ADCs ) that is being developed and commercialized 
in collaboration with Takeda has been used in the treatment of nearly 83,000
patients globally. In December 2020, at the American Society of Hematology 
annual meeting, we presented important long-term follow-up results from
the ADCETRIS phase 3 ECHELON-1 and ECHELON-2 clinical trials in front-
line Hodgkin and peripheral T- cell lymphomas, respectively, demonstrating 

-
point is a clinically meaningful and important milestone in a cancer patient’s 
journey and the data have been well received by oncologists. Also, in 2020, 
our partner Takeda gained additional ex-U.S. ADCETRIS approvals, including 

foundation of care in the treatment of multiple CD30-expressing hematologic
malignancies, we remain committed to maximizing its reach through a robust
clinical development program.

PADCEV is a novel ADC that we are developing and commercializing in
collaboration with Astellas. Following its FDA accelerated approval in
December 2019, PADCEV showed rapid adoption among advanced mUC
patients. We are conducting a broad development program with PADCEV 
and in 2020 we announced positive topline results from two PADCEV studies. 
The phase 3 EV-301 trial in patients with previously treated mUC demon-

-
sion-free survival versus standard-of-care chemotherapy. We also reported 
strong data from the second cohort of the phase 2 EV-201 pivotal trial in 
mUC patients previously treated with an immune checkpoint inhibitor but 
who were ineligible to receive cisplatin-based chemotherapy. Further data
from both trials were presented at the 2021 ASCO Genitourinary Cancers
Symposium and EV-301 results were published simultaneously in the New 
England Journal of Medicine. These datasets were included in two supple-
mental Biologics License Applications to the FDA in February 2021 which seek 

Dear Shareholders:
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to convert PADCEV’s accelerated approval to regular approval and expand 
the current label. In early 2021, we and Astellas submitted these data to regu-
latory authorities in the EU and other ex-U.S. countries to support marketing 
authorizations for PADCEV. In earlier stages of mUC, our goal is to rede-

of PADCEV and the immune checkpoint inhibitor KEYTRUDA. In 2020, we 
received Breakthrough Therapy Designation for PADCEV in combination with

chemotherapy. We are currently enrolling two trials designed to support 
approval in this setting, one for accelerated approval in the U.S. for cispla-
tin-ineligible patients and the other for all patients, regardless of cisplatin

in exploring earlier stages of bladder cancer. In collaboration with Astellas and
Merck & Co., Inc., PADCEV is being tested in two randomized phase 3 trials 
in muscle-invasive bladder cancer patients and we plan to initiate an explor-rr
atory study of PADCEV in non-muscle invasive bladder cancer. 

TUKYSA is a best-in-class tyrosine kinase inhibitor for HER2-positive meta-
static breast cancer patients with and without brain metastases. In 2020,
TUKYSA was approved in the U.S., as well as Australia, Canada, Singapore
and Switzerland under the FDA’s Project Orbis program. Strong clinical trial
data and favorable placement in multiple treatment guidelines drove rapid 
adoption in the U.S. in its approved indication. In early 2021, the European
Commission approved TUKYSA in the EU and the UK Medicines and
Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) granted marketing authoriza-
tion in Great Britain. Given our recent European expansion, we are positioned
to execute upcoming TUKYSA launches and collaborate with individual coun-
tries to maximize its availability and patient reach. In addition, we have a
broad clinical development program designed to maximize the potential
of TUKYSA, including trials evaluating it in earlier lines of therapy in HER2-
positive breast cancer and in other HER2-positive and HER2-mutant tumors,
including colorectal and gastric cancers. 

We announced two important strategic oncology collaborations in 2020 with
Merck, for which we received $725 million in upfront payments. Under one of 
the global collaboration agreements, we granted Merck an exclusive license
to commercialize TUKYSA in Asia, the Middle East, Latin America and other 
regions outside of the U.S., Canada and Europe. This deal will accelerate the 
commercialization of TUKYSA, making it available as rapidly and broadly as
possible for patients in need. Under the second collaboration agreement, 
we and Merck will jointly develop and commercialize our late-stage candi-
date ladiratuzumab vedotin (LV). The collaboration is intended to accelerate 
the development of LV and focuses on evaluating this active ADC as mono-
therapy and in combination with KEYTRUDA in LIV-1-expressing solid tumors. 
As part of the LV agreement, Merck also made a $1 billion equity investment
in Seagen.
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MERCK COLLABORATIONS

Late-stage candidate 

ladiratuzumab  

vedotin (LV) and 

TUKYSA



As we look ahead to 2021, we are focused on three strategic priorities to drive 
continued innovation and growth.

• First, we are working to maximize the global potential of our three 
approved medicines through robust clinical development programs and 
exceptional commercial execution. This includes advancing registrational 
trials across ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA and completing enrollment 
in additional PADCEV and TUKYSA trials that support our label-expansion 
strategies. 

• Second, we are advancing late-stage programs toward securing approvals 
for new products. This includes tisotumab vedotin (TV), which was the 
subject of our February 2021 BLA submission to the FDA for patients 
with recurrent or metastatic cervical cancer, positioning it to be our fourth 
commercial product. TV is being investigated in earlier lines of metastatic 
cervical cancer in combination with KEYTRUDA. LV is being studied in 
breast cancer with the potential to initiate multiple pivotal trials.

• Third, we are expanding our already strong and innovative early-stage 
pipeline, through continued leadership in the ADC space, internal R&D 
investment and potential corporate development opportunities. In 2021, 
we expect to report data from multiple phase 1 programs that utilize our 
innovative technologies and submit INDs for additional candidates.

Focusing on these strategic priorities will ensure our organization is aligned
and empowered to deliver substantial value to our key stakeholders, notably 
shareholders, our employees, oncologists and especially cancer patients. 

I am proud of the remarkable progress we have made as a company over 
the past year, despite the challenges of a global pandemic. We have a multi- 
product commercial portfolio, additional potential approvals on the horizon, 
a deep and diverse pipeline, powerful partnerships, a broad geographic 

stage for Seagen’s next phase of innovation and execution. Our company has 

continue delivering upon our mission of making a meaningful difference in 
the lives of people with cancer. 

Clay B. Siegall, Ph.D.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Thisii Annual Reportee on Formrr 10-K containstt forward-lookingii statements withiii nii the meaning of Sectiontt 27A of
the Securitiett s Act of 1933 and Sectiontt 21E of the Securitiett s Exchangen Act of 1934. Forward-lookingii statements are
based on our managemea nt’s beliell fse and assumptim ons and on informatiff on currentlytt availablell to our management. Allll
statemtt ents othertt than statett ments of historical factstt are “forward-looking stattt emtt ents” for purposes of these provisions,
includingii those relatingtt to future eventstt or our future financialii performance and financial guidance.ee In some cases,
you can identifyi forward-lookingii statett ments by terminology such as “may,” “might,”tt “willii ,”ll “should,”ll "could",
“expect,”tt “plan,” “anticipateii ,”e “project,”tt “beliell ve,”e “estimatii e,”tt “predict,”tt “potential,”ii “inteii nd” or “continueii ,”e the
negative of terms likeii these or other comparablem terminologyii ,yy and other words or terms of similarii meaning in
connectiontt withii any discussion of futff ure operatingii or financial performance. These statements are only predictions.tt
Allll forward-lookingn statements included in thisii Annual Report on Form 10-K are based on information availablell to
us on the date hereof, and we assume no obligatii on to updatett any such forward-lookingn statements, exceptee as
required by law.ww Any or all of our forward-looking stattt emtt ents in this document maya turn out to be incorrect.tt Actual
events or resultsll may differ materially.ll Our forward-looking stattt emtt ents can be affectedtt by inaccuratett assumptim ons we
mightgg make or by known or unknown risks,ii uncertaintiii es and other factors.tt We discuss many of these risks,
uncertaintiii es and other factorstt in thistt Annual Report on Form 10-K in greater detailii under the headingn “Item 1A—
Riskii Factorsrr .” We caution investors that our businessii and financii ial performance are subject to substantialtt risks and
uncertaintiii es.

RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. Below is a summary of material factors that make an
investment in our securities speculative or risky. Importantly, this summary does not address all of the risks that we face.
Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this risk factor summary, as well as other risks that we face, can be
found under the heading “Item 1A—Risk Factors”, below.

• Our success depends on our ability to effectively commercialize our products. If we and our collaborators are
unable to effectively commercialize our products and to expand their utilization, our ability to generate
significant revenue and our prospects for profitability will be adversely affecff ted.

• Our success also depends on our ability to obtain regulatory approvals for our product candidates and for our
current products in additional territories, as well as our ability to expand the labela ed indications of use for our
current products, and, if the requisite approvals are obtained, our ability to successfully launch and
commercialize our products in their approved indications. Our inability to do so could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

• Reports of adverse events or safety concerns involving our products or product candidates could delay or
prevent us from obtaining or maintaining regulatory approvals or could negatively impact sales of our
products or the prospects for our product candidates.

• Clinical trials are expensive and time consuming, may take longer than we expect or may not be completed at
all, and their outcome is uncertain.

• The successful commercialization of our products and our product candidates will depend on a variety of
factors, including the extent to which governmental authorities and health insurers establia sh adequate
coverage and reimbursement levels and pricing policies, and the acceptance of our products by the medical
community and patients.

• Our product candidates are in various stages of development, and it is possible that none of our product
candidates will ever become commercial products.

• Any failures or setbacks in our antibody-drug conjugate, or ADC, development program or our other platform
technologies could negatively affecff t our business and financial position.

• We face intense competm ition and rapid technological change, which may result in others discovering,
developing or commercializing competing products before or more successfully than we do.
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• Even if we and our collaborata ors obtain regulatory approvals to market our current and any future approved
products, we and our collaborators will remain subject to extensive ongoing regulatory obligations and
oversight, including post-approval requirements, that could result in significant additional expense and could
negatively impact our and our collaborata ors’ ability to commercialize our current and any futurett approved
products.

• Healthcare law and policy changes may have a material adverse effecff t on us.

• We are subject to various state and federal and foreign laws and regulations, including healthcare, data
protection and privacy laws and regulations, that may impact our business and could subject us to significant
fines and penalties or other negative consequences.

• We depend on collaborata ive relationships with other companies to assist in the development and
commercialization of our products and some of our product candidates and for the development and
commercialization of other product candidates utilizing or incorporating our technologies. If we are not able
to locate suitablea collaborata ors or if our collaborata ors do not perform as expected, this may negatively affect
our ability to commercialize our products, develop and commercialize our product candidates and/or generate
revenues through technology licensing, or may otherwise negatively affecff t our business.

• We currently rely on third-party manufacturers and other third parties for production of our drug products and
our dependence on these manufacturerstt may impair the continued development and commercialization of our
products and product candidates.

• If we are unable to enforce our intellectual property rights or if we fail to sustain and further procure
additional intellectualtt property rights, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our products or any
future products and competm itors may be able to develop competing therapies.

• We have been and may in the future be subject to litigation, which could result in substantial damages and
may divert management’s time and attention from our business.

• We and our collaborators rely on license agreements for certain aspects of our products and product
candidates and technologies such as our ADC technology. Failure to maintain these license agreements or to
secure any required new licenses could prevent us from continuing to develop and commercialize our
products and product candidates.

• If we are unable to manage our growth, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects
may be adversely affected.

• Risks associated with our expanding operations in foreign countries could materially adversely affect our
business.

• Our operating results are difficult to predict and may fluctuattt e. If our operating results are below the
expectations of securities analysts or investors, the trading price of our stock could decline.

• We have a history of net losses. We expect to continue to incur net losses and may not achieve future
sustained profitability for some time, if at all.

• Our stock price is volatile and our shares may suffer a decline in value.

• Our existing stockholders have significant control of our management and affairsff .
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Seagen is a biotechnology company that develops and commercializes targeted therapiea s to treat cancer. We are
commercializing ADCETRIS®, or brentuximtt ab vedotin, for the treatment of certain CD30-expressing lymphomam s,
PADCEV®, or enfortumat ba vedotin-ejfv,e for the treatment of certain metastatic urothelial cancers, and TUKYSA®, or
tucatinib, for treatment of certain metastatic HER2-positive breast cancers. We are also advancing a pipeline of novel
therapies for solid tumors and blood-related cancers designed to address unmet medical needs and improvem treatment
outcomes for patients. Many of our programs, including ADCETRIS and PADCEV, are based on our antibody-drug
conjugate, or ADC, technology that utilizes the targeting ability of monoclonal antibodies to deliver cell-killing agents
directly to cancer cells. In October 2020, we changed our corporate name from Seattle Genetics, Inc. to Seagen Inc.,
reflecting the global expansion of our operations.

Our strategy is to become a leading global oncology company developing and marketing targeted therapies for
cancer. Key elements of our strategy are to maximize the potential of our approved medicines through successful
commercial execution, expand the number of patients eligible to receive our medicines by securing approvals of our
commercial products in other countries, conduct clinical trials designed to support additional labea ls for our products, and
develop new first-in-class or best-in-class medicines. We seek to commercialize our products either on our own as we
expand our operations globally or through commercial partnerships. We are deploying our internal research, clinical,
development, regulatory and manufacturingtt expertise to advance and expand our deep pipeline of drug candidates aimed
at gaining new product approvals. We conduct internal research directed at identifying novel antigen targets, monoclonal
antibodies and other targeting molecules, creating new antibody engineering techniques and developing new classes of
stable linkers and cell-killing agents in supportu of our continued ADC innovation. In addition, we supplement these
internal effortsff by acquiring or in-licensing products, product candidates and technologies from biotechnology and
pharmaceutical companies and academic institutions.

COVID-19

We are continuing to closely monitor the impact of the evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our
business and are taking proactive efforts designed to protect the health and safety of our workforce, patients and
healthcare professionals, and to continue our business operations and advance our goal of bringing important medicines
to patients as rapidla y as possible.

We continue to maintain measures designed to protect the health and safety of our workforce and to reduce the
transmission of COVID-19, including a mandatory work-from-home policy for employees who can perform their jobs
offsite. We are continuing essential research, manufacturing,tt and laborata ory activities on site and maintain a number of
additional precautionary measures designed to protect these onsite employees, such as temperature checks, screening
protocols, masks, social distancing, contact tracing and making testing availablea . In the conduct of our business
activities, we are also taking actions designed to protect the safety of patients and healthcare professionals. Among other
actions, our field-based personnel have paused most in-person customer interactions in healthcare settings and have been
using primarily electronic communications to support healthcare professionals and patients. They are engaging in limited
in-person interactions where state and local laws and regulations allow, the institution or office is accepting in-person
interactions and our field-based personnel are comfortablea engaging in-person with healthcare providers. See also “—
Human Capia tal Resources—COVID-19” below. We believe that the measures we have implemented are appropriate and
are helping to reduce transmission of COVID-19, and we will continue to monitor conditions and related guidance from
governmental authorities and adjust our activities as appropriate. For information regarding the impacm ts of the evolving
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our ability and the ability of our collaborators to effecff tively market, sell and
distribute our products and to develop our products and product candidates, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Overview—Outlook” in Part II Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
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Our Medicines

Our approved medicines include the following:

Product* Therapeutic Area U.S. Approved Indication

Hodgkin Lymphoma

Previously untreated Stage III/IV classical Hodgkin lymphoma,
or cHL, in combination with doxorubicin, vinblastine and
dacarbazine

cHL at high risk of relapse or progression as post-autologous
hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, or auto-HSCT,
consolidation

cHL after failure of auto-HSCT or after failure of at least two
prior multi-agent chemotherapy regimens in patients who are not
auto-HSCT candidates

T-cell Lymphoma

Previously untreated sALCL or other CD30-expressing PTCL,
including angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma and PTCL not
otherwise specified, in combination with cyclophosphamide,
doxorubicin and prednisone

sALCL after failure of at least one prior multi-agent
chemotherapy regimen

Primary cutaneous anaplastic large cell lymphoma, or pcALCL,
or CD30-expressing mycosis fungoides who have received prior
systemic therapy

Urothelial Cancer

Locally advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer who have
previously received a PD-1 or PD-L1 inhibitor and a platinum-
containing chemotherapy before (neoadjuvant) or after
(adjuvant) surgery in a locally advanced or metastatic setting.

Breast Cancer

In combination with trastuzumab and capecitabine for the
treatment of adult patients with advanced unresectable or
metastatic HER2-positive breast cancer, including patients
with brain metastases, who have received one or more prior anti-
HER2-based regimens in the metastatic setting.

*ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA are only indicated for adults.
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ADCETRISTT ®

ADCETRIS is an ADC targeting CD30, which is a protein located on the surface of cells and highly expressed in
Hodgkin lymphomam , certain T-cell lymphomas as well as other cancers. ADCETRIS first received approval in an initial
indication by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, in 2011 and has since been approved in a total of six
indications to treat Hodgkin lymphoma and T-cell lymphomas in various settings including as frontline therapy.a

Prior to the approval of ADCETRIS, the standard of care frontline therapy for patients with Hodgkin lymphoma
and PTCL has seen limited improvement over the last few decades. Additionally, chemotherapy regimens have
substantial associated toxicities and a significant number of lymphoma patients relapsea and require additional treatments
including other chemotherapya regimens and autologous stem cell transplant, or ASCT. Beyond our current labela ed
indications, we are evaluating ADCETRIS in several clinical trials to potentially broaden its use.

ADCETRIS is commercially available in more than 75 countries worldwide. We commercialize ADCETRIS in
the U.S. and its territories and in Canada, and we collaborata e with Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited, or Takeda,
to develop and commercialize ADCETRIS on a global basis. Under this collaboration, Takeda has commercial rights in
the rest of the world and pays us a royalty. Takeda has received regulatory approvals for ADCETRIS as monotherapy or
in combination with agents in various settings for the treatment of patients with Hodgkin lymphoma or CD30-positive T-
cell lymphomas in Europe and many countries throughout the rest of the world and is pursuing additional regulatory
approvals.

PADCEVCC ®VV

PADCEV is an ADC targeting Nectin-4, a protein expressed on the surface of cells and highly expressed in
bladder cancer as well as other cancers. PADCEV was granted accelerated approval by the FDA in December 2019 for
the treatment of adultdd patients with locally advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer who have previously received a PD-1
or PD-L1 inhibitor and a platinum-containing chemotherapya before (neoadjuvant) or afteff r (adjuvant) surgery in the
locally advanced or metastatic setting. FDA approval of PADCEV was supported by data from a single-arm pivotal
phase 2 clinical trial called EV-201. Continued approval may be contingent upon verification and description of clinical
benefit in a required confirmatory trial. As discussed further below, Astellas and we plan to submit a supplemental BLA
to the FDA based on the global phase 3 clinical trial called EV-301 as the confirmatory trial.

In the metastatic setting, several PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors have been approved for urothelial cancer in the past
several years and are improving outcomes for some patients, yet the vast majoria ty of patients do not benefit, or relapse,
and require additional treatment options. Prior to the approval of PADCEV in the U.S. there were no approved agents in
the post-platinum-based therapy and post-checkpoint inhibitor setting, representing an unmet medical need. We are
conducting clinical trials in frontline metastatic disease, muscle invasive bladder cancer and in a range of other solid
tumors. In addition, we are working on a development strategy in non-muscle invasive bladder cancer.

PADCEV, is being co-developed and jointly commercialized with Astellas Pharma, Inc., or Astellas. In the U.S.,
we and Astellas are jointly promoting PADCEV. In the U.S., we record net sales of PADCEV and are responsible for all
distribution activities. We and Astellas each bear the costs of our own sales organizations in the U.S., equally share
certain other costs associated with commercializing PADCEV in the U.S., and equally share in any profits realized in the
U.S.

TUKYSA®

TUKYSA is an oral, small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitor, or TKI, that is highly selective for HER2, a growth
factor receptor overexpressed in many cancers. HER2 mediates cell growth, differentiation and survival. Tumors that
over-express HER2 are generally more aggressive and historically have been associated with poor overall survival,
compared with HER2-negative cancers. In April 2020, TUKYSA received approval from the FDA in combination with
trastuzumaba and capea citabine for the treatment of adultd patients with advanced unresectablea or metastatic HER2-positive
breast cancer, including patients with brain metastases, who have received one or more prior anti-HER2-based regimens
in the metastatic setting. FDA approval of TUKYSA was supported by data from the HER2CLIMB trial. We are
conducting a broad clinical development program of TUKYSA including ongoing and planned trials in earlier lines of
breast cancer and in other HER2-positive cancers.
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The FDA reviewed the application for approval under the Oncology Center of Excellence's, or OCE's, Real Time
Oncology Review, or RTOR, pilot program. We also participated in the Project Orbis initiative of the FDA OCE which
provides a framework for concurrent submission and review of oncology products among international partners. Under
this program we have received approval from the following countries participating in the FDA's Project Orbis initiative:
U.S., Canada, Australia, Singapore, and Switzerland. In February 2021, the European Commission, or EC, granted
marketing authorization for TUKYSA in combination with trastuzumaba and capea citabinea for the treatment of adultd
patients with HER2-positive locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer who have received at least two prior anti-HER2
treatment regimens. This approval is valid in all countries of the European Union as well as Norway, Liechtenstein,
Iceland and Northern Ireland. We have also submitted a regulatory application to the U.K. Medicines and Healthcare
Product Regulatory Authority,t or MHRA.RR

We are commercializing TUKYSA in the U.S. and Canada and also expect to commercialize TUKYSA in Europe.
In September 2020, we entered into a license and collaborata ion agreement with a subsidiary of Merck, or the TUKYSA
Agreement, that granted exclusive rights to Merck & Co., Inc., or Merck, to commercialize TUKYSA in Asia, the
Middle East and Latin America and other regions outside of the U.S., Canada and Europe. The collaborata ion is intended
to accelerate global availabila ity of TUKYSA.
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Our Clinical Development Pipeline

The folff lowing table summarizes the key clinical trials of ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA and our lead product
candidates:
Product or
Product Candidate

Tumor Type Setting Trial Name / Description Development
Status

ADCETRIS
(brentuximab
vedotin)

Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma R/R In combination with lenalidomide and rituximab Phase 3*
Hodgkin lymphoma 1L In combination with nivolumab, doxorubicin and

dacarbazine
Phase 2

Hodgkin lymphoma or Peripheral T-cell
lymphoma, unfit for chemotherapy 1L Monotherapy Phase 2

Hodgkin lymphoma (pediatrics) R/R CheckMate 744: In combination with nivolumab1 Phase 2
Peripheral T-cell lymphoma (< 10%
CD30 expression) 1L In combination with cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin and

prednisone
Phase 2

Metastatic solid tumors R/R In combination with pembrolizumab | post PD-1 inhibitor
treatment

Phase 2

PADCEV
(enfortumab
vedotin-ejfv)2

Locally advanced or metastatic urothelial
cancer

1L EV-302: In combination with pembrolizumab vs
chemotherapy alone

Phase 3*

2L/3L EV-301: Monotherapy | post PD(L)-1 and post platinum
chemotherapy

Phase 3*

2L EV-201 Cohort 2: Monotherapy | post PD(L)-1, platinum
naive and cisplatin ineligible

Phase 2*

1L/2L EV-103: Monotherapy and in combination with
pembrolizumab

Phase 2*

Muscle invasive bladder cancer

1L EV-303/KEYNOTE-905: In combination with
pembrolizumab | cisplatin-ineligible

Phase 3*

1L EV-304/KEYNOTE-B15: In combination with
pembrolizumab | cisplatin-eligible

Phase 3*

1L EV-103: Monotherapy and in combination with
pembrolizumab

Phase 2

Locally advanced or metastatic solid
tumors R/R EV-202: Monotherapy Phase 2

TUKYSA
(tucatinib)

HER2+ metastatic breast cancer 1L/2L HER2CLIMB-02: In combination with T-DM1 Phase 3*
High risk HER2+ breast cancer ADJ COMPASSHER2 RD5: In combination with T-DM1 Phase 3*
HER2+ metastatic breast cancer HER2CLIMB-04: In combination with

trastuzumab deruxtecan
Phase 2

HER2+ metastatic colorectal cancer R/R MOUNTAINEER: In combination with trastuzumab Phase 2*
HER2+ gastroesophogeal cancer 2L MOUNTAINEER-02: In combination trastuzumab,

ramucirumab and chemotherapy
Phase 2*

Metastatic solid tumors HER2 alterations In combination trastuzumab with or without fulvestrant Phase 2
HER2+ gastric cancer 1L In combination with trastuzumab and oxaliplatin Phase 1

Tisotumab Vedotin3

Recurrent/metastatic cervical cancer 2L/3L innovaTV 301: Monotherapy Phase 3*
2L/3L innovaTV 204: Monotherapy Phase 2*

1L/2L innovaTV 205: In combination with other ant-cancer
agents

Phase 1/2

Locally advanced solid tumors innovaTV 206: (Japan only) Phase 2
Metastatic solid tumors R/R innovaTV 207: Monotherapy Phase 2
Platinum-resistant ovarian cancer 2L innovaTV 208: Monotherapy Phase 2

Ladiratuzumab
Vedotin4

Metastatic triple-negative breast cancer 1L In combination with pembrolizumab Phase 2
Metastatic solid tumors R/R Monotherapy Phase 2
Metastatic breast cancer (HR+/HER2-) R/R In combination with trastuzumab Phase 2

1L: front/first-line 2L:second-line R/R:relapsed or refractory ADJ = adjuvant
* indicates registrational intent

1. Clinical collaboration with Bristol-Myers Squibb
2. 50:50 co-development and commercial collaboration with Astellas
3. 50:50 co-development and commercial collaboration with Genmab
4. 50:50 co-development and commercial collaboration with Merck
5. Conducted in collaboration with Alliance forff Clinical Trials in Oncology and National Cancer Institute (NCI)
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Clinical Development Status

ADCETRIS (brentuximab vedotin)

Beyond our current labea led indications, we are evaluating ADCETRIS as monotherapya and in combination with
other agents in ongoing trials which include several potential registration-enabling trials. In addition to our corporate-
sponsored trials there are numerous investigator-sponsored trials of ADCETRIS in the United States. The investigator-
sponsored trials include the use of ADCETRIS in a number of malignant hematologic indications and in solid tumors.

As previously reported, the phase 3 ECHELON-1 trial achieved its primary endpoint with the combination of
ADCETRIS plus AVD (Adriamycin [doxorubicin], vinblastine and dacarbazine) resulting in a statistically significant
improvement in modified PFS compared to the control arm of ABVD, which includes bleomycin, in patients with Stage
III and IV frontline classical Hodgkin lymphoma. Also previously reported, the phase 3 ECHELON-2 trial met its
primary endpoint with the combination of ADCETRIS plus CHP (cyclophosphamide, Adriamycin [doxorubicin],
vincristine, prednisone) resulting in a statistically significant improvement in PFS versus the control arm of CHOP in
patients with CD30-expressing PTCL. In December 2020, five-year updates from the ECHELON-1 and ECHELON-2
clinical trials were presented at the 62nd American Society of Hematology annual meeting in December 2020. The five-
year update of the ECHELON-1 clinical trial shows treatment with ADCETRIS in combination with AVD chemotherapy
results in superior long-term outcomes when compared to ABVD. Additionally, the ECHELON-2 clinical trial continues
to demonstrate significant durablea improvement in progression-free survival and overall survival of ADCETRIS plus
CHP when comparem d to CHOP.

PADCEV (enfortumab vedotin-ejfv)e

In collaborata ion with Astellas we are conducting or planning to conduct clinical trials across the spectrum of
bladder cancer including ongoing trials in frontline metastatic urothelial cancer and muscle invasive bladder cancer. We
are planning a development strategy for non-muscle invasive bladder cancer as well. In addition, we are conducting a
trial in a range of other solid tumors.

In September 2020, we announced that the global phase 3 clinical trial called EV-301, which compared PADCEV
to chemotherapy in adult patients with locally advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer who were previously treated with
platinum-based chemotherapya and a PD-1/L1 inhibitor, met its primary endpoint of overall survival, or OS, compared to
chemotherapy.a For patients in the PADCEV arm of the trial, rash, fatigue, and decreased neutrophil count were the most
frequent Grade 3 or greater treatment-related adverse events occurring in more than 5 percent of patients. Astellas and
we plan to submit a supplemental BLA based on the EV-301 results to the FDA as the confirmatory trial following
PADCEV's accelerated approval in December 2019. EV-301 is also intended to support global regulatory submissions.

In October 2020, we announced positive topline results from the second cohort of patients in the pivotal phase 2
EV-201 trial. The cohort is evaluating PADCEV for patients with locally advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer who
have been previously treated with a PD-1/L1 inhibitor and have not received a platinum-containing chemotherapya and
are ineligible for cisplatin. We plan to submit a supplemental BLA to the FDA based on the results which is intended to
support an indication in this setting.

PADCEV is also being investigated in frontline metastatic urothelial cancer and earlier stages of bladder cancer.
We and Astellas are conducting a phase 1b/2 clinical trial, called EV-103, that is a multi-cohort, open-labela trial of
PADCEV alone or in combination with the anti-PD-1 therapy pembrolizumab.a The trial is evaluating safety, tolerability
and activity in locally advanced and first- and second-line metastatic urothelial cancer, and was expanded to include
muscle invasive bladder cancer, or MIBC. In February 2020, updated results from the trial in patients with previously
untreated locally advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer who were ineligible for treatment with cisplatin-based
chemotherapya were presented at the 2020 Genitourinary Cancers Symposium.m
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In February 2020, based on the positive initial results of the EV-103 trial, the FDA granted Breakthrough Therapya
designation for PADCEV in combination with pembrolizumab for the treatment of patients with unresectable locally
advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer who are unablea to receive cisplatin-based chemotherapya in the first-line setting.
In April 2020, we announced that based on discussions with the FDA, data from the randomized cohort K in the EV-103
trial, along with other data from the EV-103 trial, could potentially support registration under the FDA's accelerated
approval pathway. The primary outcome measures are objective response rate and duration of response. We expect to
complete enrollment in cohort K by the end of 2021.

In addition to the potential accelerated approval pathway based on the EV-103 trial, we are conducting a global,
registrational phase 3 trial, called EV-302, in frontline metastatic urothelial cancer in collaboration with Astellas and a
subsidiary of Merck & Co., Inc., or Merck. We, Astellas and Merck are jointly funding EV-302 and the trial is being led
by us. EV-302 is an open-label, randomized phase 3 clinical trial evaluating the combination of PADCEV and
pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy alone in patients with previously untreated locally advanced or metastatic
urothelial cancer. The trial includes metastatic urothelial cancer patients who are either eligible or ineligible for cisplatin-
based chemotherapy. The trial has dual primary endpoints of progression-free survival and overall survival and is
intended to support global regulatory submissions and potentially serve as a confirmatory trial if accelerated approval is
granted based on EV-103.

In April 2020, we and Astellas entered into an agreement with Merck to evaluate PADCEV in MIBC. Merck has
amended its ongoing phase 3 KEYNOTY E-905/EV-303 registrational trial in cisplatin-ineligible patients with MIBC to
include an arm evaluating PADCEV in combination with pembrolizumab. In October 2020, we and Astellas entered into
an agreement with Merck to evaluate PADCEV in combination with pembrolizumab in a phase 3 trial, called
KEYNOTE-B15/EV-304, to be conducted by Merck in cisplatin-eligible patients with MIBC which was initiated in the
first quarter of 2021.

In January 2020, we and Astellas also initiated a phase 2 clinical trial, called EV-202, to evaluate PADCEV
monotherapya in solid tumors that have high-levels of Nectin-4 expression, including non-small cell lung, head and neck,
gastric/esophageal and breast cancers. In March 2020, the first patient was dosed in the trial.

Since the launch of PADCEV we have continued to monitor product safety in clinical trials and in the post
marketing setting. Nectin-4, which PADCEV targets, is expressed in the skin, and rash is a common adverse event
associated with PADCEV use, but is generally mild and reversible. Severe rashes, however, do occur and are described
in the current U.S. prescribing information. Severe cutaneous adverse reactions including fatal cases of Stevens Johnson
Syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis have occurred in patients treated with PADCEV in the post marketing setting
and during clinical trials. We have communicated the occurrence of these rare events via a letter together with updated
recommendations to health care providers who may treat patients with urothelial cancer. We are working with the FDA
regarding updates to the U.S. prescribing information to reflect these events. The overall benefit-risk balance remains
favorablea for the use of PADCEV in its approved indication.

TUKYSA (tucatinib)

We are conducting a broad clinical development program of TUKYSA including ongoing and planned trials in
earlier lines of breast cancer and in other HER2-positive cancers.

In October 2019, we initiated a phase 3 randomized trial, called HER2CLIMB-02, evaluating TUKYSA versus
placebo, each in combination with T-DM1, for patients with unresectablea locally advanced or metastatic HER2-positive
breast cancer, including those with brain metastases, who have had prior treatment with a taxane and trastuzumt ab.

We are supportingu a U.S. cooperative group that is conducting a phase 3 randomized trial, called CompassHER2
RD, which is evaluating TUKYSA in combination with T-DM1 in the adjuvant setting for patients with high-risk,
HER2-positive breast cancer.

We are also conducting a phase 2 trial, called HER2CLIMB-04, evaluating TUKYSA in combination with
trastuzumaba deruxtecan in previously treated locally-advanced or metastatic HER2-positive breast cancer.
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We are conducting a phase 2 trial, called MOUNTAINEER, evaluating TUKYSA in combination with
trastuzumaba in patients with HER2-positive, RAS wild-type metastatic colorectal cancer after treatment with first- and
second-line standard-of-care therapies. Initial results from 23 patients were presented at the ESMO 2019 Congress that
demonstrated encouraging antitumor activity. We believe the trial could potentially support an application for accelerated
approval in the U.S.

We are conducting a phase 2/3 trial, called MOUNTAINEER-02, in combination with trastuzumab, ramucirumab
and paclitaxel in second-line HER2-positive metastatic gastroesophageal cancer. We have also initiated a phase 1b trial
evaluating TUKYSA in combination with trastuzumaba and oxaliplatin based chemotherapy in first-line HER2-positive
unresectablea or metastatic colorectal, gastric, esophageal and gallbladder cancers.

Tisotumab Vedotin

In collaborata ion with Genmaba we are developing tisotumaba vedotin for metastatic cervical cancer and are
evaluating it for other solid tumors.

We and Genmab are conducting a pivotal phase 2 trial, called innovaTV 204, evaluating single-agent tisotumab
vedotin for patients with recurrent and/or metastatic cervical cancer who have relapsed or progressed after standard of
care treatment. In September 2020, data from the innovaTV 204 trial were presented at the European Society for Medical
Oncology, or ESMO, Virtual Congress 2020. Results from the trial showed a 24 percent confirmed objective response
rate, or ORR, by independent central review with a median duration of response, or DOR, of 8.3 months. The most
common treatment-related adverse events (greater than or equal to 20 percent) included alopecia, epistaxis (nose bleeds),
nausea, conjunctivitis, fatigue and dry eye. In February 2021, we submitted a BLA to the FDA seeking accelerated
approval for recurrent or metastatic cervical cancer who have relapsed or progressed on or after prior treatment.

In January 2021, we and Genmaba initiated a phase 3 clinical trial, called innovaTV 301, to evaluate tisotumaba
vedotin compared to chemotherapya in patients with recurrent or metastatic cervical cancer who have received one or two
prior lines of therapy.a innovaTV 301 is intended to support global regulatory applications for potential approvals in
regions where innovaTV 204 does not support approval and to potentially serve as a confirmatory trial in the U.S. if we
are able to obtain accelerated approval based on the tisotumaba vedotin BLA submission.

We are also conducting a phase 2 clinical trial, called innovaTV 205, evaluating tisotumab vedotin as
monotherapya and in combination with certain other anti-cancer agents for first-line treatment of patients with recurrent or
advanced cervical cancer. Additionally, we are conducting a phase 2 clinical trial, called innovaTV 207, for patients with
relapsed, locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors and a phase 2 clinical trial, called innovaTV 208, for patients with
platinum-resistant ovarian cancer.

Ladiratuzumab Vedotin

We are developing ladiratuzumaba vedotin, or LV, an ADC targeting LIV-1, which is currently being evaluated in
phase 1 and phase 2 clinical trials both as monotherapya and in combination with other agents for patients with metastatic
breast cancer and select solid tumors with high LIV-1 expression. In September 2020, we and a subsidiary of Merck
entered into a license and collaborata ion agreement, or the LV Agreement, under which the companies will jointly
develop and share future costs and profits worldwide for LV.

Other clinical and early-stage product candidates

We are advancing a pipeline of early-stage clinical candidates as well as multiple preclinical and research-stage
programs that employ our proprietary technologies. We advanced several product candidates into clinical development in
2020 and we plan to submit additional IND applications to the FDA in 2021.

Our Antibody-Drug Conjugate (ADC) Technology

ADCETRIS, PADCEV and many product candidates in our clinical-stage pipeline utilize our ADC technology.
ADCs are monoclonal antibodies that are linked to cytotoxic, or cell-killing, agents. Our ADCs utilize monoclonal
antibodies that internalize within target cells afteff r binding to a specified cell-surface receptor. Enzymes present inside the
cell catalyze the release of the cytotoxic agent from the monoclonal antibody, which then results in the desired activity,
specific killing of the target cell.
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A key component of our ADCs are the linkers that attach the cell-killing agent to the monoclonal antibody. The
drug linkers are designed to deliver the cytotoxic agent to tumors by virtue of the monoclonal antibody binding to the
intended cell surface receptor on the target cell. The cytotoxic agent is released when the ADC internalizes within the
target cell, resulting in cell killing. This targeted delivery of the cell-killing agent is intended to maximize delivery of the
cytotoxic agent to targeted cells while minimizing toxicity to normal tissues. Our most advanced ADCs, including
ADCETRIS, PADCEV, tisotumaba vedotin and LV, use our proprietary auristatin-based ADC technology. Auristatins are
microtubulett disrupting agents. In contrast to naturaltt products that are often more difficult to produce and link to
antibodies, the cytotoxic drugs used in our ADCs are synthetically produced and are readily scalablea for manufacturing.
This technology is also the basis of our ADC collaborata ions. We own or hold exclusive or partially-exclusive licenses to
multiple issued patents and patent applications covering our ADC technology. We continue to evaluate new linkers,
antibody formats and cell-killing agents for use in our ADC programs.

Our Sugar-Engineered Antibody (SEA) Technology

Our proprietary SEA technology is a method to selectively reduce fucose incorporation in monoclonal antibodies
as they are produced in cell line-based manufacturing.t Our preclinical data show that this results in increased binding to
innate immune effector cells and enhanced potency in antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity, or ADCC, in tumor cells.
We believe this enhancement in ADCC activity may provide improved anti-tumor activity. Our SEA technology is a
novel approach to modify the activity of monoclonal antibodies that is complem mentary to our ADC technology.

A key feature of our SEA technology is that no genetic modification of the antibody-producing cell line is
necessary and standard cell culturet conditions can be used while maintaining the underlying manufacturingt processes,
yields and product quality. We believe the SEA approach may be simplem r and more cost-effective to implement as
compared to existing technologies for enhancing antibody effector function, most of which require development of new
cell lines.

We have several product candidates that are being evaluated in phase 1 clinical trials that utilize our SEA
technology including SEA-CD40, SEA-TGT, SEA-BCMA and SEA-CD70. These agents are targeted at a variety of
cancer types.

Other Technologies

In addition, we utilize other technologies designed to maximize antitumor activity and reduce toxicity of antibody-
based therapiea s. Genetic engineering enables us to produce antibodies that are optimized for their intended uses. For
ADCs, we screen and select antibodies that bind to antigens that are differentially expressed on tumor cells versus vital
normal tissues, rapidly internalized within target cells and have potent anti-tumor activity in preclinical models. For our
SEA technology we produce antibodies that demonstrate potent anti-tumortt activities by virtuett of ADCC, or through
additional immune stimulatory mechanisms that are triggered by the enhanced binding potency to innate immune cells.
Our ADCs utilize native or engineered conjugation sites to optimize drug attachment. In some cases, we evaluate the use
of our monoclonal antibodies and ADCs in combination with conventional chemotherapya and other anticancer agents,
which may result in increased antitumor activity.

Research Programs

In addition to our pipeline of currentr product candidates and technologies, we have internal research programs
directed toward developing new classes of potent anti-tumor and immune stimulatory agents and new ADC linkers, the
identification of novel drugrr targets and monoclonal antibodies, and advancing our antibody engineering initiatives.

New Tumor Cell-Killing Agents.We continue to identify and studyt new agents with anti-tumor mechanisms of
action that will provide pipeline diversity and complement the auristatins that we currently use in our ADC technology.
We also seek to develop new drugs that are designed to activate the host immune system by targeting key immune
stimulatory pathways that can mediate innate or adaptia ve anti-tumor immune responses.

New Drug Linkers.We are conducting research with the intent to develop new ADC linkers that are designed to
provide the appropriate stabila ity in the bloodstream and drug release characteristics to effecff tively target cancer cells and
improved cancer cell selectivity and tolerabila ity.
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Novel Monoclonal Antibodies and Antigen Targets.We are actively engaged in internal efforts to identify and
develop monoclonal antibodies, and other therapeuta ic molecules, to target tumor antigens and important tumor or
immune pathways. For ADCs, we focus on drug targets that are highly expressed on the surface of cancer cells that have
the appropriate expression, distribution and internalization properties that make them desirable as monoclonal antibody
or ADC targets. We may then create and screen panels of cancer-reactive monoclonal antibodies in our laboraa tories to
identify those with the desired specificity and optimized drug delivery properties. Additionally, we identify targets that
play key roles in anti-tumor innate or adaptia ve immune responses and identify antibodies and other therapeuta ic molecules
to stimulate an anti-tumortt immune response. We supplement these internal effortsff by evaluating opportunities to in-
license targets and antibodies from academic groups and other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, such as our
ongoing collaborations with Astellas and Genmab.a

Antibody Engineering.We have substantial internal expertise in antibody engineering including humanization,
binding affinity optimization, enhancement of immunological function by blocking fucosylation, as well as engineering
antibodies to improve drug linkage sites for use with our ADC technology. By modifying the number and type of drug-
linkage sites found on our antibodies, we believe that we can improve ADC drug properties and the cost-effectiveness of
our manufacturing processes for conjugation of ADCs.

Corporate Collaborations

We enter into collaborations with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to advance the development and
commercialization of our product candidates and to supplement our internal pipeline. We seek collaborations that will
allow us to retain significant futurett participation in product sales through either profit-sharing or royalties paid on net
sales. We also have licensed our technologies to collaborata ors to be developed with their own antibodies. These
collaborata ions benefit us in many ways, including generating cash flow and revenues that partially offset expenditurest on
our internal research and development programs, expanding our knowledge base regarding ADCs across multiple targets
and antibodies provided by our collaborators and providing us with futurett pipeline opportunities through co-development
or opt-in rights to new product candidates.

Takeda ADCETRIS Collaboration

We have an agreement with Takeda for the global co-development of ADCETRIS and the commercialization of
ADCETRIS by Takeda in its territory. We have commercial rights for ADCETRIS in the U.S. and its territories and in
Canada. Takeda has commercial rights in the rest of the world. Under the collaborata ion, we and Takeda can each conduct
development activities and equally co-fund the cost of certain mutually agreed development activities. Costs associated
with co-development activities are included in research and development expense.

As of December 31, 2020, we had achieved milestone payments totaling $157.5 million related to regulatory and
commercial progress by Takeda. As of December 31, 2020, total future potential development and regulatory milestone
payments to us under this collaboration could total $77.0 million. In addition, we recognize royalty revenues, where
royalties are based on a percentage of Takeda's net sales of ADCETRIS in its licensed territories, with percentages
ranging from the mid-teens to the mid-twenties based on annual net sales tiers, and sales-based milestones. Takeda bears
a portion of third-party royalty costs owed on its sales of ADCETRIS, which is included in royaltyt revenues.

Either party may terminate the collaborata ion agreement if the other party materially breaches the agreement and
such breach remains uncured. Takeda may terminate the collaborata ion agreement for any reason upon prior written
notice to us and we may terminate the collaboratia on agreement in certain circumstances. The collaboration agreement
can also be terminated by mutualt written consent of the parties. If neither party terminates the collaboration agreement,
then the agreement automatically terminates on the expiration of all payment obligations.

Astellas PADCEV Collaboration

We have a collaboration agreement with Agensys, Inc., which subsequentu ly became an affiliff ate of Astellas, to
jointly research, develop and commercialize ADCs for the treatment of several types of cancer. The collaboration
encompasses combinations of our ADC technology with fully-human antibodies developed by Astellas to proprietary
cancer targets. Under this collaboration, we and Astellas are co-funding all development costs for PADCEV.

12



In 2018, we and Astellas entered into a joint commercialization agreement to govern the global commercialization
of PADCEV:

• In the U.S., we and Astellas jointly promote PADCEV. We record sales of PADCEV in the U.S. and are
responsible for all U.S. distribution activities. The companies each bear the costs of their own sales
organizations in the U.S., equally share certain other costs associated with commercializing PADCEV in the
U.S., and equally share in any profits realized in the U.S.

• Outside the U.S., we have commercialization rights in all countries in North and South America, and Astellas
has commercialization rights in the rest of the world, including Europe, Asia, Australia and Africa. The
agreement is intended to provide that we and Astellas will effectively equally share in costs incurred and any
profits realized in all of these markets. Cost and profit sharing in Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany,
France, Spain and Italy will be based on product sales and costs of commercialization. In the remaining
markets, the commercializing party will bear costs and will pay the other party a royalty rate applied to net
sales of the product based on a rate intended to approximate an equal profit share for both parties.

Astellas or its affiliates are responsible for overseeing the manufacturingt supply chain for PADCEV for
development and commercial use. However, we are responsible for packaging and labea ling in countries in which we sell
PADCEV. In addition, we are responsible for establia shing a second source supplyu chain, whether through internal or
third party sources.

Either party may terminate the collaboration agreement if the other party becomes insolvent or the other party
materially breaches the agreement and such breach remains uncured. Subject to certain restrictions, either party may
terminate the collaboration agreement for any reason upon prior written notice to the other party. The collaboration
agreement can also be terminated by mutual written consent of the parties. If neither party exercises its option to
terminate the collaboration agreement, then the agreement will automatically terminate on the later of the expiration of
all payment obligations pursuant to the collaborata ion agreement, or the day upon which we and Astellas cease to develop
and commercialize products under the agreement.

Either party may terminate the joint commercialization agreement if the other party becomes insolvent. The joint
commercialization agreement expires on a country-by-country basis upon complete cessation of the commercialization,
launch and selling of PADCEV in that country.

Either party may also opt out of co-development and profit-sharing under the collaboration agreement in return for
receiving milestones and royalties from the continuing party. In addition, either party may opt out of co-development and
profit-sharing for PADCEV on a country-by-country basis, in returntt for receiving royalties pursuant to the collaboration
agreement from the continuing party with respect to that country.

Merck TUKYSAK Collaboration

In September 2020, we entered into the TUKYSA Agreement with Merck. Under the TUKYSA Agreement, we
granted Merck exclusive rights to commercialize TUKYSA in Asia, the Middle East and Latin America and other
regions outside of the U.S., Canada and Europe. Merck is responsible for marketing applications for approval in its
territory, supporteu d by the positive results from the HER2CLIMB clinical trial. We retained commercial rights in, and
will record sales in, the U.S., Canada and Europe. Merck also agreed to co-fund a portion of the TUKYSA global
development plan, which encompasses several ongoing and planned trials across HER2-positive cancers. We will
continue to lead ongoing TUKYSA global development operational execution. Merck will solely fund and conduct
country-specific clinical trials necessary to support anticipated regulatory applications in its territories. Under the
TUKYSA Agreement, we are responsible for supplying Merck with TUKYSA for the purpose of clinical development
and commercialization. We received an upfront cash payment from Merck of $125.0 million and also received $85.0
million in prepaid research and development funding to be applied to Merck’s global development cost sharing
obligations. We are eligible to receive progress-dependent milestone payments of up to $65.0 million, and are entitled to
receive tiered royalties on sales of TUKYSA by Merck that begin in the low twenty percent range and escalate based
sales volume by Merck in its territory. We owe Array Biopharma Inc., or Array, an affiliff ate of Pfizer, a portion of any
non-royaltyt payments received from sublicensing TUKYSA rights, as well as a low double-digit royalty based on net
sales of TUKYSA by us, and will owe a single-digit royalty based on net sales of TUKYSA by Merck in its territories.
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Genmab Tisotumab Vedotin Collaboration

We have a collaboration agreement with Genmaba to develop and commercialize ADCs targeting tissue factor,
under which we previously exercised a co-development option for tisotumab vedotin. Under this collaboraa tion, we and
Genmaba are co-funding all development costs for tisotumab vedotin. In February 2021, we submitted a BLA for
tisotumab vedotin to the FDA seeking accelerated approval for the treatment of patients with recurrent or metastatic
cervical cancer with disease progression on or after chemotherapy.

In October 2020, we and Genmab entered into a joint commercialization agreement to govern the global
commercialization of tisotumab vedotin:

• In the U.S., we and Genmab will co-promote tisotumab vedotin. We will record sales of tisotumab vedotin in
the U.S. and will be responsible for leading U.S. distribution activities. The companies will each hire and
maintain 50% of the sales representatives and medical science liaisons, equally share those and certain other
costs associated with commercializing tisotumaba vedotin in the U.S., and equally share in any profits realized
in the U.S.

• Outside the U.S., we have commercialization rights in the rest of the world except for Japan, where Genmaba
has commercialization rights. In Europe, China, and Japan, we and Genmab will equally share 50% of the
costs associated with commercializing tisotumaba vedotin as well as any profits realized in these markets. In
markets outside the U.S. other than Europe, China, and Japan, aside from certain costs enumerated in the
agreement, we will be solely responsible for all costs associated with commercializing tisotumaba vedotin, and
will pay Genmab a royalty based on a percentage of aggregate net sales ranging from the mid-teens to mid-
twenties.

We currently rely on Genmaba for the supply of tisotumaba vedotin. However, in connection with the joint
commercialization agreement, we will be responsible for overseeing the clinical and any commercial manufacturing of
tisotumaba vedotin following a transition period. Either party may terminate the collaboration agreement or the joint
commercialization agreement if the other party becomes insolvent or materially breaches the applicablea agreement and
such breach remains uncured. In addition, either party may terminate the collaboration agreement if such party’s patent
rights subject to the agreement are challenged by the other party or its sublicensees. Either party may also opt out of co-
development and profit-sharing under the collaboration agreement in return for receiving milestones and royalties from
the continuing party. The opt out provisions of the collaborata ion agreement may also be applied to the joint
commercialization agreement. In addition, Genmab may elect to opt out of co-promotion of tisotumab vedotin in the
United States by providing us with prior written notice.

Merck LV Collaboration

In September 2020, we entered into the LV Agreement with Merck. Under the terms of the LV Agreement, we
granted Merck a co-exclusive worldwide development and commercialization license for LV and agreed to jointly
develop and commercialize LV on a worldwide basis. We received an upfront cash payment of $600.0 million, and we
are eligible to receive up to $850.0 million in milestone payments upon the initiation of certain clinical trials and
regulatory approval in certain majoa r markets, and up to an additional $1.75 billion in milestone payments upon the
achievement of specified annual global net sales thresholds. Each company is responsible for 50% of global costs to
develop and commercialize LV and will receive 50% of potential future profits. We will lead regulatory and distribution
activities, and will record sales, in the United States and Canada. Merck will lead regulatory activities in Europe, and we
will lead distribution activities and record sales in Europe. We and Merck will co-commercialize LV in the United States
and Europe. Merck will lead regulatory, promotion and distribution activities, and will record sales, in countries outside
of the United States, Canada and Europe.

The LV Agreement will remain in effect, unless earlier terminated, until LV is no longer being developed or
commercialized under the LV Agreement. The LV Agreement also contains customary provisions for termination by
Merck for convenience, and by either party, including in the event of breach of the LV Agreement, subject to cure, or
upon a challenge of such party’s licensed patents or upon the other party’s bankruptcy, subject, in each case, to
customary reversion rights.
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In connection with the LV Agreement, we entered into a stock purchase agreement with Merck in September
2020, referred to as the Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which we agreed to issue and sell, and Merck agreed to
purchase 5,000,000 newly-issued shares of our common stock, at a purchase price of $200 per share, for an aggregate
purchase price of $1.0 billion. We closed the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement on October 27, 2020
following the expiration of the waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvemm ents Act of 1976.

ADC License Agreements

We have license agreements for our ADC technology with a number of biotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies. Under these agreements, which we have entered into in the ordinary course of business, we have granted
research and commercial licenses to use our technology, most often in conjunction with the licensee's technology. In
certain agreements, we also have agreed to conduct limited development activities and to provide other materials,
supplies, and services to our licensees during a specified term of the agreement. We typically receive upfront cash
payments and progress- and sales-dependent milestones for the achievement by our licensees of certain events, and
annual maintenance fees and supportu fees for research and development services and materials provided under the
agreements. We also are entitled to receive royalties on net sales of any resulting products incorporating our ADC
technology. Our licensees are solely responsible for research, product development, manufacturingt and
commercialization of any product candidates under these agreements, which includes the achievement of the potential
milestones.

In 2019, Genentech received accelerated approval from the FDA for PolivyTM (polatuzumaba vedotin-piic), an ADC
that uses our technology, to treat patients with relapseda or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. In August 2020,
GlaxoSmithKline plc, or GSK, received accelerated approval from the FDA and conditional marketing authorization
from the EC for Blenrep™ (belantamab mafodotin-blmf), an ADC developed by GSK that uses our technology, for
treatment of patients with relapseda or refractory multiple myeloma who have received at least four prior therapiea s
including an anti-CD38 monoclonal antibody, a proteasome inhibitor and an immunomodulatory agent. Under our ADC
license agreements with Genentech and GSK, these events triggered milestone payments to us and we are also entitled
receive royalties on net sales of Polivy and Blenrep worldwide. The product candidates being developed under our other
ADC license agreements are at various stages of clinical and preclinical development. Our ability to generate meaningful
future revenues from our other ADC license agreements will largely depend on products that incorporate our
technologies entering late-stage clinical development, and receiving marketing approval from the FDA and subsequently
being commercialized, if any.

In-license Agreements

We have in-licensed antibodies, targets and enabling technologies from pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies and academic institutions for use in our pipeline programs and ADC technology, including the following:

• Bristol-Myers Squibb License. In 1998, we obtained rights to some of our technologies and product
candidates, portions of which are exclusive, through a license agreement with BMS. Through this license, we
secured rights to use various targeting technologies. Under the terms of the license agreement, we are
required to pay royalties in the low single digits on net sales of products, including ADCETRIS, which
incorporate various technologies owned by BMS. Our obligation to pay royalties on ADCETRIS under the
agreement expires in August 2021. The term of the license agreement expires on a country-by-country and
product-by-product basis upon the later of the expiration of the last valid claim covering the applicablea
product within that country or either ten or twelve years depending on the particular patents applicablea to the
product afteff r the first commercial sale of the applicablea product within that country. We and BMS each have
the right to terminate the license agreement prior to its expiration for insolvency or material breach, subject to
cure and dispute resolution provisions. In addition, the license agreement will terminate automatically in the
event that we fail to maintain certain required insurance.
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• University of Miami License. In 1999, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with the University of
Miami, Florida, covering an anti-CD30 monoclonal antibody that is the basis for the antibody component of
ADCETRIS. Under the terms of this license, we made an upfront payment and progress-dependent milestone
payments. We are required to pay annual maintenance fees and royalties in the low single digits on net sales
of products, including ADCETRIS, incorporating technology licensed from the University of Miami. The
term of the license agreement expires ten years after the first commercial sale of ADCETRIS or on August
21, 2021, upon which we will have in perpetuity a fully paid-up, royalty free, nonexclusive, subliu censable
license. We and the University of Miami each have the right to terminate the license agreement prior to its
expiration for insolvency or material breach, subject to cure provisions.

• Array BioPharma, Inc. We are a party to a license agreement with Array, which was acquired by Pfizer in
July 2019. Pursuant to the license agreement, Array has granted us an exclusive license to develop,
manufacture and commercialize TUKYSA. We will pay Array a portion of any non-royalty payments
received from sublicensing TUKSYA rights, including non-royalty payments received from Merck pursuant
to the TUKYSA Agreement. Array is also entitled to receive a low double-digit royalty based on net sales of
TUKYSA by us and a single-digit royalty based on any net sales of TUKYSA by our sublicensees, including
Merck. The term of the license agreement expires on a country-by-country basis upon the later of the
expiration of the last valid claim covering TUKYSA within that country or 10 years after the first commercial
sale of TUKYSA within that country. We and Array each have the right to terminate the license agreement
prior to its expiration for insolvency or material breach, subject to cure and dispute resolution provisions.

• Other Licenses. Under the terms of in-license agreements related to our pipeline programs, we would
potentially owe development, regulatory, and sales-based milestones, and royalties on net sales of certain
approved products.

Patents and Proprietary Technology

Our owned and licensed patents and patent applications are directed to ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA, our
product candidates, monoclonal antibodies, our ADC and SEA technologies and other antibody-based and/or enablia ng
technologies. We commonly seek patent claims directed to compositions of matter, including antibodies, ADCs, and
drug-linkers containing highly potent cell-killing agents, as well as methods of using such compositim ons. When
appropriate, we also seek claims to related technologies, such as methods of using certain sugar analogs utilized in our
SEA technology. For each of our products and product candidates, we have filed or expect to file multiple patent
applications. We maintain patents and prosecute applications worldwide for technologies that we have out-licensed, such
as our ADC technology. Similarly, for partnered products and product candidates, such as ADCETRIS, PADCEV,
TUKYSA, tisotumab vedotin and LV, we seek to work closely with our development partners to coordinate patent
efforts, including patent application filings, prosecution, term extension, defenseff and enforcement. As our products and
product candidates advance through research and development, we seek to diligently identify and protect new inventions,
such as combination therapies, improvements to methods of manufacturing, and methods of treatment. We also work
closely with our scientific personnel to identify and protect new inventions that could eventually add to our development
pipeline.

We own or have rights to the following patents relating to our products and our pipeline (in addition to certain
patents covering our early-stage product candidates):

• For ADCETRIS and our related ADC technology, we own twelve patents in the United States and Europe
that will expire between 2021 and 2031.

• For PADCEV and our related ADC technology, we own, co-own or have licensed rights to thirteen patents in
the United States and Europe that will expire between 2022 and 2031. Of these patents, we own or co-own
eleven patents and have licensed rights to two patents.

• For TUKYSA, we have licensed rights to nine patents in the United States and Europe that will expire
between 2024 and 2033.
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• For tisotumab vedotin and our related ADC technology, we own, co-own or have licensed rights to eleven
patents in the United States and Europe that will expire between 2022 and 2036. Of these patents, we own or
co-own five patents and have licensed rights to six patents.

• For LV and our related ADC technology, we own, co-own or have licensed rights to nine patents in the
United States and Europe that will expire between 2022 and 2032. Of these patents, we own or co-own eight
patents and have licensed rights to one patent.

The actual protection afforded by a patent, which can vary from country to country, depends on the type of patent,
the scope of its coverage as determined by the patent office or courts in the country, and the availability of legal remedies
in the country. The list above does not identify all patents that may be related to our products and product candidates. For
example, in addition to the listed patents, we have patents on platform technologies (that relate to certain general classes
of products or methods), as well as patents that relate to methods of using, manufacturing or administering a product or
product candidate, that may confer additional patent protection. We also have pending patent applications that may give
rise to new patents related to one or more of these agents.

The information in the above list is based on our current assessment of patents that we own, co-own or control or
have licensed. The information is subject to revision, for example, in the event of changes in the law or legal rulings
affecting our patents or if we become aware of new information. Significant legal issues remain unresolved as to the
extent and scope of available patent protection for biotechnology products and processes in the U.S. and other important
markets outside the U.S. We expect that litigation will likely be necessary to determine the term, validity, enforceability,
and/or scope of certain of our patents and other proprietary rights. An adverse decision or ruling with respect to one or
more of our patents could result in the loss of patent protection for a product and, in turn, the introduction of competitor
products or follow-on biologics to the market earlier than anticipated, and could force us to either obtain third-party
licenses at a material cost or cease using a technology or commercializing a product.

Patents expire, on a country by country basis, at various times depending on various factors, including the filing
date of the corresponding patent application(s), the availabila ity of patent term extension and suppleu mental protection
certificates and requirements for terminal disclaimers. Although we believe our owned and licensed patents and patent
applications provide us with a competitive advantage, the patent positions of biotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies can be uncertain and involve complex legal and factualt questions. We and our corporate collaborata ors may
not be able to develop patentablea products or processes or obtain patents from pending patent applications. Even if patent
claims are allowed, the claims may not issue. In the event of issuance, the patents may not be sufficient to protect the
proprietary technology owned by or licensed to us or our corporate collaborators. Our or our collaborators’ current
patents, or patents that issue on pending applications, may be challenged, invalidated, infringed or circumvented. In
addition, changes to patent laws in the United States or in other countries may limit our ability to defend or enforce our
patents, or may apply retroactively to affect the term and/or scope of our patents. Our patents have been and may in the
future be challenged by third parties in post-issuance administrative proceedings or in litigation as invalid, not infringed
or unenforceablea under U.S. or foreign laws, or they may be infringed by third parties. As a result, we are or may be
from time to time involved in the defense and enforcement of our patent or other intellectual property rights in a court of
law and administrative tribunals, such as in U.S. Patent and Trademark Office inter partes review or reexamination
proceedings, foreign opposition proceedings or related legal and administrative proceedings in the United States and
elsewhere. The costs of defending our patents or enforcing our proprietary rights in post-issuance administrative
proceedings or litigation may be substantial and the outcome can be uncertain. An adverse outcome may allow third
parties to use our proprietary technologies without a license from us or our collaborators. Our and our collaborators’
patents may also be circumvented, which may allow third parties to use similar technologies without a license from us or
our collaborators.

17



Our commercial success depends significantly on our ability to operate without infringing patents and proprietary
rights of third parties. Organizations such as pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, universities and research
institutitt ons may have filed patent applications or may have been granted patents that cover technologies similar to the
technologies owned or licensed to us or to our collaborators. In addition, we are monitoring the progress of multiple
pending patent applications of other organizations that, if granted, may require us to license or challenge their validity or
enforceabila ity in order to continue commercializing ADCETRIS, PADCEV, or TUKYSA or to commercialize our
product candidates. Our challenges to patents of other organizations may not be successful, which may affecff t our ability
to commercialize ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA or our product candidates. We cannot determine with certainty
whether patents or patent applications of other parties may materially affect our or our collaborata ors’ ability to make, use
or sell ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA or any other products or product candidates.

We require our scientific personnel to maintain laborata ory notebooks and other research records in accordance
with our policies, which are designed to strengthen and support our intellectualtt property protection. In addition to our
patented intellectual property, we also rely on trade secrets and other proprietary information, especially when we do not
believe that patent protection is appropriate or can be obtained. Our policy is to require each of our employees,
consultants and advisors to execute a proprietary information and inventions assignment agreement before beginning
their employment, consulting or advisory relationship with us. These agreements provide that the individual must keep
confidential and not disclose to other parties any confidential information developed or learned by the individual during
the course of their relationship with us except in limited circumstances. These agreements also provide that we will own
all inventions conceived or reduced to practice by the individual in the course of rendering services to us. Our policy and
agreements and those of our collaborators may not sufficiently protect our confidential information, or third parties may
independently develop equivalent information.

Government Regulation

The FDA and comparablea regulatory agencies in state and local jurisdictions and in foreign countries imposem
substantial requirements upon the clinical development, pre-market approval, manufacture,tt marketing and distribution of
biopharmaceutical products. These agencies and other regulatory agencies regulate research and development activities
and the testing, approval, manufacture,t quality control, safety, efficacy, labea ling, storage, distribution, import, export,
recordkeeping, pricing, advertising and promotion of products and product candidates. Failure to comply with applicable
FDA or other requirements may result in Warning Letters, civil or criminal penalties, suspension or delays in clinical
development, recall or seizure of products, partial or total suspension of production or withdrawal of a product from the
market. The development and approval process requires substantial time, effortff and financial resources, and we cannot be
certain that any approvals for our product candidates will be granted on a timely basis, if at all. We must obtain approval
of our product candidates from the FDA before we can begin marketing them in the United States. Similar approvals are
also required in other countries.

Product development and approval within this regulatory framework is uncertain, can take many years and
requires the expendituret of substantial resources. The necessary steps before a new biopharmaceutical product may be
sold in the United States ordinarily include:

• preclinical in vitro and in vivo tests, some of which must comply with Good Laborata ory Practices, or GLP;

• submission to the FDA of an IND which must become effective before clinical trials may commence, and
which must be updated periodically as new information is obtained and at least annually with a report on
development;

• development of a drug formulation and manufacture of the drug for clinical trials, and commercial sale, if
approved;

• completion of adequate and well controlled human clinical trials to establish the safetyt and efficff acy of the
product candidate for its intended use;

• submission to the FDA of a BLA or NDA which must be accompanied by a substantial user fee unless the fee
is waived;
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• FDA pre-approval inspection of manufacturingt facilities for current Good Manufacturingtt Practices, or GMP,
compliance and FDA inspection of select clinical trial sites and/or trial sponsors for Good Clinical Practice, or
GCP, compliance; and

• FDA review and approval of the BLA or NDA, which includes the product prescribing information, prior to
any commercial sale.

Clinill cal Trials Regue lationtt in the U.S.SS

The results of preclinical tests (which include laboraa tory evaluation as well as preclinical GLP studiett s to evaluate
toxicity) for a particular product candidate, together with related manufacturing information and analytical data, and a
clinical protocol are submitted as part of an IND to the FDA. The IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after
receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 30 day time period, raises concerns or questions about the conduct of the
clinical trial, including concerns that human research subjects will be exposed to unreasonable health risks. In such a
case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the clinical trial can begin. New
clinical trial protocols can be submitted to the existing IND during product development. Further, an independent
institutional review board, or IRB, for each medical center proposing to conduct the clinical trial must review and
approve the plan for any clinical trial before it commences at that center and it must monitor the study until completed.
The FDA, the IRB or the sponsor may suspend a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the
subjects or patients are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Clinical testing also must satisfy extensive GCP
regulations and regulations for informed consent and privacy of individually-identifiablea information.

Clinical trials generally are conducted in three sequential phases that may overlap or in some instances, be
skipped. In phase 1, the initial introduction of the product into humans, the product candidate is tested to assess safety,
metabolia sm, pharmacokinetics and pharmacological actions associated with increasing doses. Phase 2 usually involves
trials in a limited patient population to evaluate the efficff acy of the potential product for specific, targeted indications,
determine dosage tolerance and optimum dosage and further identify possible adverse reactions and safetyt risks. Phase 3
and pivotal trials are undertaken to evaluate further clinical efficacy and safety often in comparison to standard therapies
within a broader patient population, generally at geographically dispersed clinical sites. Phase 4, or post-marketing, trials
may be required as a condition of commercial approval by the FDA and may also be voluntarily initiated by us or our
collaboratorsa . Phase 1, phase 2 or phase 3 testing may not be completed successfully within any specific period of time,
if at all, with respect to any of our product candidates. Similarly, suggestions of safety, tolerability or efficff acy in earlier
stage trials do not necessarily predict findings of safety and efficff acy in subsequent trials. Furthermore, the FDA, an IRB
or we may suspend a clinical trial at any time for various reasons, including a finding that the subjects or patients are
being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Clinical trials are subjeu ct to central registration and results reporting
requirements, such as on www.clinicaltrials.gov.

Approval Process in the U.S.

The results of preclinical studies, pharmaceutical development and clinical trials, together with information on a
product’s chemistry, manufacturing, and controls, are submitted to the FDA, in the form of a BLA or NDA, for approval
of the manufacture, marketing and commercial shipment of the pharmaceutical product. Data from clinical trials are not
always conclusive and the FDA and other regulatory agencies may interpret data differently than we or our collaborata ors
interpret data. The FDA may also convene an Advisory Committee of external advisors to answer questions regarding
the approvabila ity and labelia ng of an application. The FDA is not obligated to follow the Advisory Committee’s
recommendation. The submission of a BLA or NDA is required to be accompanied by a substantial user fee, with few
exceptions or waivers. The user fee is administered under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, which sets
goals for the timeliness of the FDA’s review. A standard review period is twelve months from submission of an original
applia cation, while priority review is eight months from submission of an original application. The testing and approval
process is likely to require substantial time, effortff and resources, and there can be no assurance that any approval will be
granted on a timely basis, if at all. The FDA may deny review of an application by refusing to file the application or not
approve an application by issuance of a complete response letter if applicable regulatory criteria are not satisfied, require
additional testing or information, or require post-market testing and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficff acy of the
product. Approval may occur with significant Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategies, or REMS, that limit the clinical
use in the prescribing information, distribution or promotion of a product.
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Drug or biologic products studied for their safety and effecff tiveness in treating serious or life-threatening diseases
or conditions may receive accelerated approval from the FDA upon a determination that the product has an effect on a
surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit, or on a clinical endpoint that can be measured
earlier than irreversible morbidity or mortality, that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on irreversible morbidity or
mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity, or prevalence of the condition and the
availability or lack of alternative treatments. As a condition of accelerated approval, the FDA will generally require the
sponsor to perform adequate and well-controlled post-marketing clinical studies to verify and describe the anticipated
effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit. In addition, the FDA requires, as a condition for
accelerated approval, pre-approvala of promotional materials.

Once an approval is issued, the FDA may require safety-related labea ling changes or withdraw product approval if
ongoing regulatory requirements are not met or if safety problems occur afteff r the product reaches the market. In addition,
the FDA may require further testing of an approved product, including phase 4 clinical trials, and surveillance programs
to monitor the safetyt of the approved product, and the FDA has the power to prevent or limit further marketing of the
approved product based on the results of these post-marketing programs or other information.

Post-ApprovalA Regulate ionstt in the U.S.

Products manufactured or distributed pursuant to FDA approvals are subjeu ct to continuing regulation by the FDA,
including manufacture, labela ing, distribution, advertising, promotion, recordkeeping, annual product quality review and
reporting requirements. Adverse event experience with the product must be reported to the FDA in a timely fashion, and
pharmacovigilance programs to proactively look for these adverse events are mandated by the FDA.

Manufacturers and their subcontractors are required to register their establia shments with the FDA and certain state
agencies, and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for complim ance with
ongoing regulatory requirements, including cGMPs, which impose certain procedural and documentation requirements
upon us and our third-party manufacturers. Following such inspections, the FDA may issue notices on Form FDA 483
and Warning Letters that could cause us to modify certain activities. A Form FDA 483 notice, if issued at the conclusion
of an FDA inspection, can list conditions the FDA investigators believe may have violated cGMP or other FDA
regulations or guidance. Failure to adequately and promptly correct the observations(s) can result in further regulatory
enforcement action. In addition to Form FDA 483 notices and Warning Letters, failure to comply with the statutory and
regulatory requirements can subject a manufacturer to possible legal or regulatory action, such as suspension of
manufacturing,tt seizure of product, injunctive action or possible civil penalties. We cannot be certain that we or our
present or futurett third-party manufacturerst or suppliers will be able to comply with the cGMP regulations and other
ongoing FDA regulatory requirements. If we or our present or futurett third-party manufacturers or suppliers are not able
to comply with these requirements, the FDA may halt our clinical trials, not approve our products, require us to recall a
product from distribution or withdraw approval of the BLA or NDA for that product. Failure to comply with ongoing
regulatory obligations can result in delay of approval or Warning Letters, product seizures, criminal penalties, and
withdrawal of approved products, among other enforcement remedies.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labela ing, advertising and promotion of products that are placed on the
market. These regulations include standards and restrictions for direct-to-consumer advertising, industry-sponsored
scientific and educad tional activities, promotional activities involving the internet, and off-labela promotion. While
physicians may prescribe products for off-labela uses, manufacturerstt may only promote products for the approved
indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved labea l. The FDA has very broad enforcement authority
under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, and failure to abide by these regulations can result in penalties,
including the issuance of a Warning Letter directing entities to correct deviations from FDA standards, and state and
federal civil and criminal investigations and prosecutions.

20



FDA Regulatill on of Companion Diagnostictt s

Certain of our products and product candidates may rely upon in vitro companion diagnostics for use in selecting
the patients that we believe will respond to our therapeutics. If safe and effective use of a therapeuta ic product depends on
an in vitro diagnostic, the FDA generally will require approval or clearance of a reproducible, validated diagnostic test to
be used with our therapeutic product at the same time that FDA approves the therapeutic product. The review of these in
vitro companion diagnostics in conjunction with the review of our cancer treatments involves coordination of review by
the FDA’s Center for Drug Evaluation and Research and by the FDA’s Center for Devices and Radiological Health. The
FDA’s premarket approval, or PMA, process is costly, lengthy, and uncertain. The receipt and timing of PMA approval
may have a significant effect on the receipt and timing of any futurett commercial approvals for our products and product
candidates. Human diagnostic products are subject to pervasive and ongoing regulatory obligations, including the
submission of medical device reports, adherence to the Quality Systems Regulation, recordkeeping and product labea ling,
as enforced by the FDA and comparablea state authorities.

The FDA's approval of ADCETRIS in the frontline PTCL indication included a post-marketing commitment to
develop a clinically validated in-vitro diagnostic device for the selection of patients with CD30-expressing PTCL, not
including sALCL, for treatment with ADCETRIS in this indication. We and Takeda have a collaboration with Ventana
Medical Systems, Inc., or Ventana, under which Ventana is working to develop, manufacture and commercialize a
companion diagnostic test to measure CD30 expression levels in tissue specimens. If Ventana develops an in-vitro
diagnostic device that we are able to clinically validate, the FDA or another regulatory authority may revise our labela for
the frontline PTCL indication or in connection with any futurett approvals to require the use of the in-vitro test as a
companion diagnostic. This may limit our ability to commercialize ADCETRIS in the applicable treatment setting due to
potential labela requirements, prescriber practices, constraints on availability of the diagnostic, or other factors. If Ventana
is unable to successfully develop the CD30 in-vitro diagnostic, or experiences delays in doing so, or we experience
delays in clinical validation of the diagnostic, we will likely need to renegotiate the timing or content of our post-
marketing commitment regarding the in-vitro diagnostic device with the FDA.

Regue lationstt Outsidett of the Uniteii d States

In addition to regulations in the U.S., we and our collaborators are and will be subject to regulations of other
countries governing clinical trials, manufacturing,t distribution and commercial sales of our products. We must obtain
approval by the regulatory authorities of countries outside of the U.S. before we can commence clinical trials in those
countries and approval of the regulators of such countries or economic areas before we may market products in those
countries or areas. For example, to commercialize TUKYSA in Europe, we will need to comply with applicablea
European regulations. The approval requirements and processes can vary greatly, and the time required may be longer or
shorter than that required for FDA approval. Requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing,
pricing and reimbursement also vary greatly from place to place.

Clinical Trials Regulation in Europe

In the EU, pursuant to the currently applicable Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC and the Directive 2005/28/EC
on GCP, a system for the approval of clinical trials in the EU has been implemented through national legislation of the
EU member states. Under this system, an applicant must obtain approval from the national competent authority of an EU
member state in which the clinical trial is to be conducted, or in multiple member states if the clinical trial is to be
conducted in a number of member states. Furthermore, the applicant may only start a clinical trial at a specific studytt site
after the independent ethics committee for each site has issued a favorable opinion. The clinical trial application must be
accompanied by an investigational medicinal product dossier with supporting information prescribed by Directive
2001/20/EC and Directive 2005/28/EC and corresponding national laws of the individual EU member states and further
detailed in applicablea guidance documents. In April 2014, the EU adopted a new Clinical Trials Regulation (EU) No
536/2014, which is set to replace the current Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC. It is anticipated that the new Clinical
Trials Regulation (EU) No 536/2014 may come into effect in late 2021with a three-year transition period for some types
of clinical trials. It will overhaul the current system of approvals for clinical trials in the EU. Specifically, the new
regulation, which will be directly applicablea in all EU member states, aims at simplifying and streamlining the approval
of clinical trials in the EU. For instance, the new Clinical Trials Regulation provides for a streamlined application
procedure via a single entryrr point and strictly defined deadlines for the assessment of clinical trial applications.
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Marketkk ing Authorizatiii on Regulate ion in Europe

In the European Economic Area, which is comprised of the 27 member states of the EU plus Norway, Iceland and
Liechtenstein, medicinal products can only be commercialized after obtaining a marketing authorization through one of
the following procedures: centralized, mutual recognition, and decentralized. Under the centralized procedure, a single
marketing authorization application is submitted to the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use of the
European Medicines Agency, which then makes a recommendation to the EC. The EC makes the final determination on
whether to approve the application. The centralized procedure is compulsory for the approval, among others, of human
medicines containing a new active substance to treat cancer. The mutualt recognition and decentralized procedures
provide for mutualtt recognition of individual national approval decisions and are availablea for products that are not
subject to the mandatory scope of the centralized procedure. The U.K., following its exit from the EU and EEA, and
Switzerland conduct separate regulatory reviews of new drug applications. Until December 31st, 2022, the U.K. will also
issue national approvals via “reliance route”, by recognizing the centralized EU approvals of new medicines.

For the EMA, an application designated as standard review typically lasts approximately twelve to fourteen
months depending on the length of time sponsors take to address EMA questions. An accelerated assessment procedure
is applicable to marketing authorization applications for medicinal products that are expected to be of majora public health
interest. For applications that receive accelerated assessment designation and are able to remain on this timeline, the
review may last approximately seven months depending on the length of time sponsors take to address EMA questions. It
is not unusual, however, for applications that receive accelerated assessment designation to revert to standard review if,
for example, the EMA has determined that the significance of the questions that the company needs to address would be
more appropriate under the standard review timelines. At the end of the review period, EMA will issue an opinion either
in support of granting a marketing authorization (positive opinion) or recommending refusal of a marketing authorization
(negative opinion). In the event of a negative opinion, the company may request a re-examination of the application. The
initial marketing authorization granted in the EU is valid for five years. Once renewed, the authorization will be valid for
an unlimited period, unless the national competent authority or the EC decides on justified grounds to proceed with one
additional five-year renewal. The renewal of a marketing authorization is subject to a re-evaluation of the risk-benefit
balance of the product by the national competent authorities or the EMA.

Post-approval Regulate ion in Europe

In countries where we receive regulatory approvals, we are subject to a variety of post-authorization regulations,
including with respect to clinical studies, product manufacturing,t advertising and promotion, distribution, and safetyt
reporting.

Various requirements apply to the manufacturing and placing of medicinal products on the EU market. The
manufacturing of medicinal products in the EU requires a manufacturing authorization, and the manufacturing
authorization holder must complym with various requirements set out in the applicablea EU laws, regulations and guidance.
These requirements include compliance with EU cGMP standards when manufacturing medicinal products and active
pharmaceutical ingredients, or APIs, including the manufacturet of APIs outside of the EU with the intention to import
the APIs into the EU. Similarly, the distribution of medicinal products into and within the EU is subject to compliance
with the applicablea EU laws, regulations and guidelines, including the requirement to hold appropriate authorizations for
distribution granted by the competent authorities of the EU member states. Marketing authorization holders may be
subject to civil, criminal or administrative sanctions, including suspension of manufacturing authorization, in case of
non-compliance with the EU or EU member states’ requirements applicable to the manufacturing of medicinal products.

The advertising and promotion of medicinal products are subject to EU member states’ laws governing promotion
of medicinal products, interactions with physicians, misleading and comparative advertising and unfair commercial
practices. In addition, other legislation adopted by individual EU member states may apply to the advertising and
promotion of medicinal products. Violations of the rules governing the promotion of medicinal products in the EU could
be penalized by administrative measures, fines and imprisonmem nt. These laws may further limit or restrict the advertising
and promotion of our future products and impose limitations on promotional activities with health care professionals.
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The holder of an EU marketing authorization for a medicinal product must also comply with the EU’s
pharmacovigilance legislation, which includes requirements for conducting pharmacovigilance surveillance, or the
assessment and monitoring of the safety of medicinal products. The EMA reviews periodic safety update reports
submitted by marketing authorization holders. If the EMA has concerns that the risk-benefit profile of a product has
changed, it can adopt an opinion advising that the existing marketing authorization for the product be amended. The
agency can also require that the marketing authorization holder conducts post-authorization safety studies. Non-
compliance with such obligations can lead to the variation, suspension or withdrawal of marketing authorization or
imposition of financial penalties or other enforcement measures.

Healthcarett Regulationtt

U.S. federal and state healthcare laws and regulations are also applicablea to our business. If we fail to comply with
those laws, we could face substantial penalties and our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects
could be adversely affected. The healthcare laws and regulations that may affecff t our operations include, without
limitation, anti-kickback and false claims laws, regulations prohibiting off-label promotion activities, and transparency
laws regarding payments or other items of value provided to healthcare providers.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statutett prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering,
receiving, or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an
individual, or the furnishing or arranging for a good or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part,
under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The term “remuneration” has been
broadly interpreted to include anything of value. Although there are a number of statutorytt exceptions and regulatory safe
harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution, the exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly.
Practices that involve remuneration that may be alleged to be intended to induce prescribing, purchases or
recommendations may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor. Failure to meet all of
the requirements of a particular applicable statutory exception or regulatory safe harbor does not make the conduct per se
illegal under the Anti-Kickback Statute. Instead, the legality of the arrangement will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis
based on a cumulative review of all its facts and circumstances. Several courts have interpreted the statutett ’s intent
requirement to mean that if any one purpose of an arrangement involving remuneration is to induce referrals of federal
healthcare covered business, the Anti-Kickback Statute has been violated. Additionally, the intent standard under the
Anti-Kickback Statutett was amended by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended by the
Health Care and Educad tion Reconciliation Act of 2010, collectively PPACA, to a stricter standard such that a person or
entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a
violation. In addition, PPACA codified case law that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the
federal Anti-Kickback Statutett constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal civil False Claims Act.

The federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the federal civil False Claims Act, prohibit, among
other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false claim to, or the
knowing use of false statements to obtain payment from, or approval by, the federal government, including the Medicare
and Medicaid programs, or knowingly making, using, or causing to be made or used a false record or statement material
to a false or fraudulent claim or to avoid, decrease, or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government.

The FDA and other governmental authorities also actively investigate allegations of off-labela promotion activities
in order to enforce regulations prohibiting these types of activities. In recent years, private whistleblowers have also
pursued False Claims Act cases against a number of pharmaceutical companies for causing false claims to be submitted
as a result of off-label promotion. If we are found to have promoted an approved product for off-label uses, we may be
subject to significant liability, including significant civil and administrative financial penalties and other remedies as well
as criminal penalties and other sanctions. Even when a company is not determined to have engaged in off-label
promotion, the allegation from government authorities or market participants that a company has engaged in such
activities could have a significant impact on the company’s sales, business and financial condition. The U.S. government
has also required companies to enter into complex corporate integrity agreements and/or non-prosecution agreements
that impose significant reporting and other burdens on the affectff ed companies.
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The federal Health Insurance Portabila ity and Accountabila ity Act of 1996, or HIPAA, created additional federal
criminal statutes that prohibit, among other actions, knowingly and willfully executing or attempting to execute a scheme
to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private third-party payors, knowingly and willfully embezzling or
stealing from a healthcare benefit program, willfully obstructing a criminal investigation of a healthcare offense, and
knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing, or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or
fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items, or services. Like the
Anti-Kickback Statutett , PPACA amended the intent standard for certain healthcare fraud under HIPAA such that a person
or entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have
committed a violation.

The civil monetary penalties statutet imposes penalties against any person or entity that, among other things, is
determined to have presented or caused to be presented a claim to a federal health program that the person knows or
should know is for an item or service that was not provided as claimed or is false or fraudulent.

The federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, created under PPACA and its implementing regulations, requires
certain manufacturerstt of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment is availablea under Medicare,
Medicaid, or the Children’s Health Insurance Program to annually report information related to certain payments or other
transfers of value provided to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and
chiropractors), and teaching hospitals, or to entities or individuals at the request of, or designated on behalf of, the
physicians and teaching hospitals, and to report annually certain ownership and investment interests held by physicians
and their immediate family members. Beginning in 2022, applicable manufacturerstt also will be required to report
information related to payments and other transfers of value provided to physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical
nurse specialists, certified registered nurse anesthetists, anesthesiologist assistants and certified nurse midwives during
the previous year. Failure to submit timely, accurately and completely the required information for all payments,
transfers of value and ownership or investment interests may result in civil monetary penalties of up to an aggregate of
$150,000 per year and up to an aggregate of $1 million per year for “knowing failures,” as adjusted for inflation.
Covered manufacturers are required to submit reports on aggregate payment data to the Secretary of the U.S. Department
of Health and Human Services on an annual basis.

Many states have similar statutett s or regulations to the above federal laws and regulations that may be broader in
scope than the aforemeff ntioned federal versions and apply regardless of payor, and many of which differ from each other
in significant ways and may not have the same effectff , further complicating compliance efforts.ff Additionally, our business
operations in countries outside the United States, including Canada and the EU, may subject us to additional regulation.

Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the statutory exceptions and safe harbors available
under such laws, it is possible that some of our business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of
such laws. If our operations were found to be in violation of any of the health regulatory laws described above or any
other laws that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including potentially significff ant criminal and civil and/or
administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, contractual damages, reputational harm, administrative burdens,
imprisonment, diminished profits and future earnings, exclusion from participation in government healthcare
reimbursement programs, additional reporting requirements and oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity
agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegations of non-complim ance with these laws, and/odd r the curtailment or
restructuring of our operations.
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Anti-tt Corruption Legislation

We are also subject to numerous other laws and regulations that are not specific to the healthcare industry. For
instance, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, generally prohibits paying, offering to pay, or authorizing the
payment of anything of value to any foreign government official, governmental staff members, political party or political
candidate in an attempt to obtain or retain business or to otherwise influence a person working in an official capaa city.
The FCPA also requires public companies to make and keep books and records that accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions of the corporation and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls. In Europe,
national anti-corruption laws prohibit giving, offering, or promising bribes to any person, including foreign government
officials and private persons, as well as requesting, agreeing to receive, or accepting bribes from any person. Various
European anti-corruption laws have broad extraterritorial reach and therefore we may be subject to those laws even if we
do not have an establia shed entity in those countries and we may be held liable for bribes given, offered or promised to
any person, including private persons, by employees and persons associated with us in order to obtain or retain business
or a business advantage. As we expand our footprint and activities outside of the U.S. and Canada, our exposure to
compliance risks under the FCPA and other similar laws will likewise increase.

Privacy and Securityii Laws

There are also numerous privacy and data protection laws to which we are currently, and/or may in the future, be
subject. The U.S. federal government, individual U.S. states, EU member countries and other jurisdictions, including
Switzerland and Canada, have adopted data protection laws and regulations which impose significant compliance
obligations. For example, the use and international transfer of personal data collected in the EU is governed by the
provisions of the EU General Data Protection Regulation, or the GDPR. The GDPR, which is wide-ranging in scope,
imposes several requirements relating to the control over personal data by individuals to whom the personal data relates,
the information provided to the individuals, the documentation we must maintain, the security and confidentiality of the
personal data, data breach notification and the use of third-party processors in connection with the processing of personal
data. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data out of the EU, provides an enforcement
authority and authorizes the imposition of large penalties for noncompliance, including the potential for fines of up to
€20 million or 4% of the annual global revenues of the non-compliant company, whichever is greater. The GDPR
requirements apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers of information between us and our
subsidiaries, including employee information. The GDPR has increased our responsibility and potential liability in
relation to all types of personal data that we process, including in clinical trials, and we may be required to put in place
additional mechanisms to ensure complim ance with the GDPR, which could divert management’s attention and increase
our cost of doing business. However, despite our ongoing effortsff to bring our practices into compliance with the GDPR,
we may not be successful either due to various factors within our control or other factors outside our control. Local data
protection authorities can also have different interpretations of the GDPR, leading to potential inconsistencies amongst
various EU member states.
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Moreover, one of the primary safeguff ards allowing U.S. companies to import personal information from Europe
has been certification to the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield and Swiss-U.S. Privacy Shield frameworks administered by the U.S.
Department of Commerce. However, the Court of Justice of the EU, or the CJEU, recently invalidated the EU-U.S.
Privacy Shield. The same decision also raised questions about whether one of the primary alternatives to the EU-U.S.
Privacy Shield, namely, the EC’s Standard Contractualt Clauses, provide sufficient protection for personal data
transferred from Europe to the U.S. or most other countries without analyzing each transfer and implementing
supplementary measures to protect the data. Following recent recommendations from the European Data Protection
Board, we are undertaking a review of personal data transfers from the EU and will assess the impact of the CJEU
decision on our operations. At present, there are few, if any, viable alternatives to the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield and the
Standard Contractualt Clauses. Where appropriate, we rely on individuals’ explicit consent to transfer their personal
information from Europe to the U.S. and other countries. In addition, we rely on inter-company Standard Contractualt
Clauses to provide appropriate safeguards for such transfers. The EC is expected to publish new Standard Contractualtt
Clauses soon and to give companies relying on them for transfers 12 months to adapt.a Authorities in Switzerland, whose
data protection laws are similar to those of the EU, also invalidated use of the Swiss-U.S. Privacy Shield. Authorities in
the United Kingdom, or U.K., may similarly invalidate use of the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield. The U.K.'s departuret from the
EU, known as Brexit, has created additional uncertainty with regard to data protection regulation in the U.K., as it is
unclear whether the U.K. and EU will be able to negotiate a mutualtt ly agreeable data protection agreement that regulates
data transfers between the U.K. and EU and what impact this will have on our business. If we are unable to rely on
explicit consent to transfer individuals’ personal information from Europe, which can be revoked, or if,ff upon review by
authorities, our existing compliance solutions are found to be insufficient, we will face increased exposure to substantial
fines under European data protection laws as well as injunctions against processing personal information from persons
resident in Europe. The inabila ity to import personal information from the European Economic Area, U.K. or Switzerland
could restrict our clinical trial activities in Europe, limit our ability to collaborata e with contract research organizations,
service providers, contractors and other companies subject to European data protection laws, interfere with our ability to
hire employees in Europe and require us to increase our data processing capabia lities in Europe at significant expense.

HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH,
and their implementing regulations, also imposes certain requirements on certain types of individuals and entities relating
to the privacy and security of individually identifiablea health information. Among other things, HITECH makes
HIPAA’s security standards directly applicable to business associates, independent contractors or agents of covered
entities that receive or obtain protected health information in connection with providing a service for or on behalf of a
covered entity. HITECH also created four new tiers of civil monetary penalties, amended HIPAA to make civil and
criminal penalties directly applicablea to business associates, and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil
actions for damages or injuncn tions in federal courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorneys’ fees and costs
associated with pursuing federal civil actions.

In any event, our failure or alleged failure (including as a result of deficiencies in our policies, procedures or
measures relating to privacy, data protection, marketing or communications) to comply with laws, regulations, policies,
legal or contractual obligations, industry standards or regulatory guidance relating to privacy or data protection, may
result in governmental investigations and enforcement actions, litigation, fines and penalties or adverse publicity. In
addition, new regulation, legislative actions or changes in interpretation of existing laws or regulations regarding privacy
and data protection (together with applicablea industry standards) may increase our costs of doing business. In this regard,
we expect that there will continue to be new laws, regulations and industry standards relating to privacy and data
protection in the U.S., the EU and other jurisdictions, such as the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 and the
California Privacy Rights Act of 2020, which have been characterized as “GDPR-like” privacy laws, and we cannot
determine the impact such new laws, regulations and standards may have on our business.

26



Coverage and Reimbursement

Sales of ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA and any futuret products depend, in significant part, on the extent to
which the costs of our products will be covered by third-party payors, such as government health programs, commercial
insurance and managed healthcare organizations. Patients who are prescribed treatment for their conditions and providers
performing the prescribed services generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the associated
healthcare costs. Patients and providers are unlikely to use our products unless coverage is provided and reimbursement
is adequate to cover a significant portion of the cost of our products. Pharmaceutical products are typically reimbursed
based on FDA labea led indications, recognized compendia listings, availablea medical literature,tt evidence of favorablea
clinical outcomes, determination of medical necessity and cost effecff tiveness.

Additionally, a third-party payor’s decision to provide coverage for a product does not implym that an adequate
reimbursement rate will be approved. In the United States, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for
products exists among third-party payors. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for products can differ significantly
from payor to payor. Decisions regarding the extent of coverage and amount of reimbursement to be provided for each of
our product candidates is individual to each insurer, can vary based on provider contract, and will be affected by state
and federal laws providing for reimbursement formulas based on acquisition cost. Third-party payors continue to work
diligently to control their spending on prescription drugs and medical service. The containment of healthcare costs has
become a priority of the U.S. government and abroad, and the prices of drugs have been a focus in this effort. The U.S.
government, state legislaturest and the governments of other countries have shown significant interest in implementing
cost-containment programs, including price controls, restrictions on reimbursement and requirements for substitutitt on of
generic products. Adoption of price controls and cost-containment measures, and adoption of more restrictive policies in
jurisdictions with existing controls and measures, could further limit our net sales and negatively impact our operating
results. Payors, commercial and public in the U.S. and abroad, must review the therapeuta ic value of our products before
extending coverage under their plans to reimburse our products. If third-party payors do not find a product to be of
therapeutic value, they may not cover it or, if they do, they may do so at an insufficient level of payment.

Many of the patients in the U.S. who seek treatment with ADCETRIS, PADCEV or TUKYSA may be eligible for
Medicare or Medicaid benefits. The Medicare and Medicaid programs are administered by the Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services, or CMS, and coverage and reimbursement for products and services under these programs are subjeu ct
to changes in CMS regulations and interpretive policy determinations, in addition to statutory changes made by
Congress. For example, PPACA increased the mandated Medicaid rebate on most branded prescription drugs from
15.1% of average manufacturer price, or AMP, to 23.1% of AMP, expanded the rebate to Medicaid managed care
utilization and increased the types of entities eligible for the federal 340B drug discount program. Federal budget
decisions have reduced Medicare payment rates, and future budget decisions may reduce Medicare payment rates again.
In addition, as a condition of federal funds being made availablea to cover our products under Medicaid, we are required
to participate in the Medicaid drug rebate program. The rebate amount under this program varies by quarter, and is based
on pricing data we report to CMS. In addition, because we participate in the Medicaid drug rebate program, we must
make ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA availablea to authorized users of the Federal Supply Schedule of the General
Services Administration. This requires complim ance with additional laws and requirements, including offering
ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA at a reduced price to federal agencies including the United States Department of
Veterans Affairs and United States Department of Defense, the Public Health Service and the Indian Health Service. We
are also required to offer discounted pricing to certain eligible not for profit entities that are eligible for 340B pricing
under the Public Health Services Act. Participation in these programs requires submission of pricing data and calculation
of discounts and rebates pursuant to complex statutory formulas, as well as the entry into government procurement
contracts governed by the Federal Acquisition Regulations and the guidance governing such calculations is not always
clear. Compliance with such requirements can require significant investment in personnel, systems and resources, but
failure to properly calculate our prices, or offer required discounts or rebates could subjeu ct us to substantial criminal,
civil and/or administrative penalties, as well as, administrative burdens and exclusion from or contract termination
regarding these programs. The terms of these government programs could change in the future which may increase the
discounts or rebates we are required to offer, possibly reducing the revenue derived from sales of our products to these
entities.
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Policies governing drug pricing vary widely from country to country. In many European countries, authorities
regulate the pricing of a pharmaceutical product at launch or subsequent to launch through direct price controls such as
international reference pricing. In addition, in many European countries, pharmaceutical products are funded largely by
the national healthcare systems. As a result, patients are unlikely to use a pharmaceutical product that is not reimbursed
by the national authorities. There can be no assurance as to the pricing and/or level of reimbursement that may be
available for our products in countries with pricing and reimbursement policies in place at the national level.

Health Technology Assessment, or HTA, of pharmaceutical products is becoming an increasingly common part of
the pricing and reimbursement procedures in EU member states. The HTA process, which is governed by the national
laws of the applicablea country, aims to measure the added value of a new health technology compared to existing ones by
assessing its public health impact, therapeuta ic impact and economic and societal impact in the context and setting of the
individual country’s national healthcare system. HTA generally focuses on the clinical efficff acy and effecff tiveness, safety,
cost and cost-effectiveness of individual pharmaceutical products in comparim son to the local standard of care, as well as
their potential implications for the healthcare system. The outcome of HTA regarding specific medicinal products will
often influence the pricing and reimbursement status granted to these pharmaceutical products by the competent
authorities of individual EU member states. Pursuant to Directive 2011/24/EU, a voluntary network of national
authorities or bodies responsible for HTA in the individual EU member states was established. The purpose of the
network is to facilitate and support the exchange of scientific information concerning HTAs. This could lead to
harmonization between EU member states of the criteria taken into account in the conduct of HTA and their impact on
pricing and reimbursement decisions.

Healthcarett Reformrr

PPACA substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers and
significantly affected the pharmaceutical industry. PPACA has, among other things, expanded and increased industry
rebates for products covered under Medicaid programs and changed the coverage requirements under the Medicare Part
D program. In order for a biopharmaceutical product to receive federal reimbursement under the Medicare Part B and
Medicaid programs or to be sold directly to U.S. government agencies, the manufacturertt must extend discounts to
entities eligible to participate in the drug pricing program under the Public Health Services Act, or PHS. The required
PHS discount on a given product is calculated based on the Average Manufacturerstt Price, or AMP, and Medicaid rebate
amounts reported by the manufacturer.t PPACA expanded the types of entities eligible to receive discounted PHS pricing,
although, under the current state of the law, with the exception of children’s hospitals, these newly eligible entities will
not be eligible to receive discounted PHS pricing on orphan drugs when used for the orphan indication. In addition, as
PHS drug pricing is determined based on AMP and Medicaid rebate data, revisions, including the AMP rule, to the
Medicaid rebate formula and AMP definition described above could cause the required PHS discount to increase.

There remain judicial, executive and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of PPACA, as well as efforts to
repeal or replace PPACA. While Congress has not passed comprehem nsive repeal legislation, the tax reform legislation
signed into law on December 22, 2017 included a provision repealing, effecff tive January 1, 2019, the tax-based shared
responsibility payment imposed by the PPACA on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health coverage for
all or part of a year that is commonly referred to as the “individual mandate.” Based on the repeal of the individual
mandate, in December 2018, a federal district court in Texas ruled that PPACA is unconstitutitt onal. Additionally, on
December 18, 2019, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 5th Circuit upheld the district court ruling that the individual
mandate was unconstitutional and remanded the case back to the district court to determine whether the remaining
provisions of PPACA are invalid as well. In March 2020, the U.S. Supreme Court granted the petitions for writs of
certiorari to review this case, and held oral arguments in November 2020. The U.S. Supreme Court is currently
reviewing the case, although it is uncertain when a decision will be made. It is also unclear how recent changes to the
composition of the U.S. Supreme Court may impact its review of this case, as well as other future cases. With the change
in administration, further developments with respect to PPACA are likely.
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In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since PPACA was enacted. The Budget
Control Act of 2011, among other things, created the Joint Select Committee on Deficitff Reducdd tion to recommend to
Congress proposals in spending reductions. The Joint Select Committee did not achieve a targeted deficit reduction of at
least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, triggering the legislation’s automatic reduction to several government
programs. This includes reductions to Medicare payments to providers, which went into effect in April 2013 and,
following passage of the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, will remain in effect through 2030, with the exception of a
temporary suspension from May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2021, unless additional congressional action is taken. The
American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several providers and
increased the statutett of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five
years.

In addition, the Drug Supply Chain Security Act, or DSCSA, was enacted with the aim of building an electronic
system to identify and trace certain prescription drugs distributed in the United States, including most biological
products. The DSCSA mandates phased-in and resource-intensive obligations for pharmaceutical manufacturers,
wholesale distributors, and dispensers over a 10-year period that is expected to culminate in November 2023.

As described above in "Coverage and Reimbursement", fedeff ral and state legislatures, governments in countries
outside the U.S., health agencies and third-party payors continue to focus on containing the cost of health care.
Legislative and regulatory changes and increasing pressure from social sources are likely to further influence the manner
in which our products are priced, prescribed, purchased and reimbursed. For example, the Trumprr administration put forth
a number of proposals aimed at containing prescription drug prices and announced several Executive Orders that sought
to implement a number of his administration’s proposals. As a result of the Executive Orders issued by the Trump
Administration, the FDA released a final rule, effecff tive November 30, 2020, that cleared a path for importation of some
Canadian drugs into the U.S. Biological products were excluded from the rule’s definition of “eligible prescription drug,”
however TUKYSA may be subject to importation from Canada under this rule, which could negatively affect TUKYSA
sales in the U.S. The Biden administration is likely to similarly pursue and implement measures aimed at reducing
pharmaceutical drug pricing and containing the cost of healthcare.

Competition

The biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense
competition and a strong emphasis on proprietary products. Many third parties compete with us in developing various
approaches to treating cancer. They include pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies, academic institutitt ons
and other research organizations.

Many of our competm itors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development,
manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approval and marketing than we do. In
addition, many of these competm itors are active in seeking patent protection and licensing arrangements in anticipation of
collecting royalties for use of technology that they have developed. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to
be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These
third parties compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel, as well as in
acquiring technologies complementary to our programs.

29



With respect to ADCETRIS, there are several other FDA approved drugs for its approved indications. BMS’s
nivolumaba and Merck’s pembrolizumaba are approved for the treatment of certain patients with relapsea d or refractory
classical Hodgkin lymphoma, and Celgene’s romidepsin and Acrotech Biopharma's’ pralatrexate and belinostat are
approved for relapsed or refractory sALCL among other T-cell lymphomas. Kyowa Kirin's mogamulizumab is approved
for adult patients with relapseda or refractory mycosis fungoides or Sézary syndrome. The competition ADCETRIS faces
from these and other therapies is intensifying. Additionally, Merck is conducting a phase 3 clinical trial in relapsed or
refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma comparing pembrolizumaba with ADCETRIS. An interim analysis of this clinical
trial demonstrated a statistically significant improvement in progression-free survival for pembrolizumab compared with
ADCETRIS, resulting in a labela expansion to an earlier line of therapy, and we expect increased competm ition from
pembrolizumab in this indication. We are also aware of multiple investigational agents currently being studied that, if
successful, may compete with ADCETRIS in the future. Data have also been presented on several developing
technologies, including bispecific antibodies and CAR modified T-cell therapiea s that may compete with ADCETRIS in
the future. Further, there are many competing approaches used in the treatment of patients in ADCETRIS’ approved
indications, including auto-HSCT, allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant, combination chemotherapy, clinical
trials with experimental agents and single-agent regimens.

With respect to PADCEV, other treatments in pretreated metastatic urothelial cancer include checkpoint inhibitor
monotherapy,a generic chemotherapya and, for patients with select fibroblast growth factor receptor genetic alterations,
Janssen's erdafitinib. There are other investigational agents that, if approved, could be competitive with PADCEV, such
as Gilead's’ sacituzumaba govitecan, which is in a pivotal phase 2 study.t Treatment in frontline metastatic urothelial
cancer has traditionally been treated with chemotherapya alone but is evolving to include two checkpoint inhibitor
therapies for cisplatin-ineligible patients with high PD-L1 expression or patients who are ineligible for platinum therapy.a
Several trials of investigational agents in combination with chemotherapya or other novel agents are ongoing. Continued
development of PD-(L)1 targeted therapiea s across early stage bladder cancer and in metastatic bladder cancer in frontline
combinations with chemotherapy, in frontline maintenance with the recent approval of avelumab, and in pretreated
disease, could potentially impact PADCEV usage and enrollment to PADCEV clinical trials. In addition, the competitive
positioning for PADCEV will also depend on, among other things, the extent to which we and Astellas are able to obtain
regulatory approvals of PADCEV in additional indications in the U.S., including in the frontline metastatic urothelial
cancer setting, and in territories outside the U.S.

With respect to TUKYSA, there are multiple marketed products which target HER2, including the antibodies
trastuzumaba and pertuzumaba and the antibody drug conjugate T-DM1. In addition, lapaa tinib is an EGFR/HERR R2 oral
kinase inhibitor for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer, and neratinib is an irreversible pan-HER kinase inhibitor
indicated for extended adjuvad nt treatment and has been recently approved for patients who have received two or more
prior anti-HER2-based regimens in the metastatic setting. Daiichi Sankyo and AstraZeneca have fam-trastuzumatt ba
deruxtecan-nxki, which was recently approved for patients who have received two or more prior anti-HER2-based
regimens in the metastatic breast cancer setting and also in HER2 positive gastric cancer. Byondis has an antibody drug
conjugate, SYD985, in a pivotal studyt in this patient population and MacroGenics has a HER2 targeted, Fc-optimized
antibody, margetuximab,a which was recently approved by the FDA.

With respect to tisotumaba vedotin, in June 2018, Merck’s pembrolizumaba was approved for the treatment of
recurrent or metastatic cervical cancer with disease progression on or afteff r chemotherapya in patients whose tumors
express PD-L1. We are also aware of other companies that currently have products in development for the treatment of
late-stage cervical cancer which could be competitive with tisotumab vedotin, including Agenus, BMS, Iovance
Biotherapeutia cs, Merck, Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Sanofi-Aventis and Roche.

Many other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies are developing and/or marketing therapies for the same
types of cancer that our product candidates are designed and being developed to treat. For example, we believe that
companies including AbbVie, ADC Therapeutics, Affimed, Agios, Amgen, Astellas, Bayer, Biogen, BMS, Celgene,
Daiichi Sankyo, Eisai, Genentech, GSK, Gilead, ImmunoGen, Infinity, Janssen, Karyopharm, MacroGenics,
MedImmune, MEI Pharma, Merck, Novartis, Pfizer, Puma Biotech, Sanofi-Aventis, Spectrumrr Pharmaceuticals, Takeda,
Teva, and Xencor are developing and/or marketing products or technologies that may compete with ours. In addition, our
ADC collaborators may develop compounds utilizing our technology that may compete with product candidates that we
are developing.
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We are aware of other companies that have technologies that may be competitive with ours, including AbbVie,
ADC Therapeutics, Astellas, AstraZeneca, BMS, Daiichi Sankyo, Gilead, ImmunoGen, Janssen, MedImmune, Merck,
Mersana, Pfizff er, Roche, Sutro and Zymeworks, all of which have ADC technology. ImmunoGen has several ADCs in
development that may compete with our product candidates. ImmunoGen has also established partnerships with other
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to allow those other companies to utilize ImmunoGen’s technology,
including Sanofi-Aventis, Genentech, Novartis, Takeda and Lilly. We are also aware of a number of companies
developing monoclonal antibodies directed at the same antigen targets or for the treatment of the same diseases as our
product candidates.

In addition, in the U.S., the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009 created an abbreviated
approval pathway for biological products that are demonstrated to be “highly similar” or “biosimilar” to or
“interchangeablea ” with an FDA approved biological product. This pathway allows competitors to reference the FDA’s
prior approvals regarding innovative biological products and data submitted with a BLA to obtain approval of a
biosimilar application twelve years after the time of approval of the innovative biological product. The twelve-year
exclusivity period runs from the initial approval of the innovator product and not from approval of a new indication. In
addition, the twelve-year exclusivityt period does not prevent another company from independently developing a product
that is highly similar to the innovative product, generating all the data necessary for a full BLA and seeking approval.
Exclusivity only assures that another company cannot rely on the FDA’s prior approvals in approving a BLA for an
innovator’s biological product to support the biosimilar product’s approval. Further, under the FDA’s current
interpretation, it is possible that a biosimilar applicant could obtain approval for one or more of the indications approved
for the innovator product by extrapolaa ting clinical data from one indication to support approval for other indications. In
the EU, the EC has granted marketing authorizations for biosimilars pursuant to a set of general and product class-
specific guidelines. We are aware of many pharmaceutical and biotechnology and other companies that are actively
engaged in research and development of biosimilars or interchangeable products.

It is possible that our competitors will succeed in developing technologies that are more effective than
ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA, tisotumab vedotin, or our other product candidates or that would render our
technology obsolete or noncompetitive, or will succeed in developing biosimilar, interchangeable or generic products for
ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA, tisotumab vedotin or our other product candidates. We anticipate that we will
continue to face increasing competm ition in the future as new companies enter our market and scientific developments
surrounding biosimilars and other cancer therapiea s continue to accelerate. We cannot predict to what extent the entry of
biosimilars or other competing products will impact potential futurett sales of ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA,
tisotumaba vedotin, or our other product candidates.

With respect to our current and potential futurett product candidates, we believe that our ability to compete
effectively and develop products that can be manufactured cost-effectively and marketed successfully will depend on our
ability to:

• advance our technology platforms;

• license additional technology;

• complete clinical trials which position our products for regulatory and commercial success;

• maintain a proprietary position in our technologies and products;

• obtain required government and other public and private approvals on a timely basis;

• attract and retain key personnel;

• commercialize effectively;

• obtain reimbursement for our products in approved indications;

• comply with applicablea laws, regulations and regulatory requirements and restrictions with respect to the
commercialization of our products, including with respect to any changed or increased regulatory restrictions;
and

• enter into additional collaborata ions to advance the development and commercialization of our product
candidates.
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Manufacturing

ADCETRISTT

We rely on contract manufacturingtt organizations to supply ADCETRIS for our clinical trials and for commercial
sale. For the monoclonal antibody used in ADCETRIS, we have contracted with AbbVie for clinical and commercial
supplies. For the drug linker used in ADCETRIS, we have contracted with Millipore Sigma, a subsidiary of Merck
KGaA, for clinical and commercial supplies. We have multiple contract manufacturerst for conjugating the drug linker to
the antibody and producing ADCETRIS drug product. In addition, we rely on other third parties to supplyu the raw
materials used to produce ADCETRIS, and to perform additional steps in the manufacturing process, including storage
and distribution of ADCETRIS and our product candidates. For the foreseeablea future, we expect to continue to rely on
contract manufacturerstt and other third parties to produce, store and distribute sufficient quantities of ADCETRIS for use
in our clinical trials and for commercial sale.

AbbVieVV Biotechnology. In 2004, we entered into a development and supply agreement with AbbVie (formerly a
part of Abbott Laboraa tories) to manufacturett developmental, clinical and commercial quantities of anti-CD30 monoclonal
antibody, which is a component of ADCETRIS. The agreement generally provides for the supplyu by AbbVie and the
purchase by us of such anti-CD30 monoclonal antibody. Under terms of the supplyu agreement, we may purchase a
portion of our required anti-CD30 monoclonal antibody from a second source third-party supplier. We are required to
make a minimum annual purchase. The anti-CD30 monoclonal antibody is purchased by us based upon a rolling forecast.
The supply agreement will continue until 2025 with an automatic one-year term extension unless either party provides
written termination notice to the other party. Either party has the right to terminate the supply agreement if the other
party materially breaches its obligations thereunder.

Milliporei Sigma. In 2010, we entered into a commercial supply agreement with Sigma Aldrich Fine Chemicals, or
SAFC, which was subsequently acquired by Millipore Sigma, an affiliate of Merck KGaA. Under this agreement,
Millipore Sigma manufactures commercial quantities of the drug linker that is a component of ADCETRIS. Under terms
of the supply agreement, we may purchase a portion of our required drug linker from a second source third-party
supplier. We are required to make a minimum annual purchase. The drug linker is purchased by us based upon a rolling
forecast. The supply agreement will continue until 2029 with automatic term extension unless either party provides
written notice of termination to the other party. Either party has the right to terminate the supply agreement if the other
party materially breaches its obligations thereunder.

PADCEVCC

Under the terms of our collaborata ion and commercialization agreements with Astellas, we rely on Astellas to
provide commercial and clinical supply of PADCEV. For the foreseeablea future, we expect to continue to rely on
Astellas and other third parties to produce, store and distribute sufficient quantities of PADCEV for commercial sale and
for use in our clinical trials. We believe that the existing supplies of PADCEV and Astellas' contract manufacturing
relationships will be sufficient to accommodate current commercial and clinical needs. However, we or Astellas may
need to obtain additional manufacturing arrangements or increase manufacturingt capaa bila ity to meet potential futurett
commercial needs with respect to PADCEV, which could require additional capita al investment by us or cause us
potential delays if Astellas or we encounter challenges in negotiating commercially reasonable arrangements with these
manufacturers. In particular, we are responsible for establishing a second source supply chain for PADCEV, whether
through internal or third party sources.
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TUKYSASS

With respect to TUKYSA, we rely on multiple contract manufacturerstt and other third parties to perform
manufacturing services for us including Sterling Pharma Solutions Limited, or Sterling, for production of the starting
materials for TUKYSA, Esteve Quimica, S.A., or Esteve to produce the active pharmaceutical ingredient, Hovione to
complete spray drying and Corden Plankstadt to produce the tabla ets for TUKYSA. In 2020, we entered into commercial
supply agreements with each of Sterling, Esteve Quimica and Corden, and are in the process of negotiating a commercial
supply agreement with Hovione. For the foreseeablea future, we expect to continue to rely on contract manufacturerst and
other third parties to produce and store sufficient quantities of TUKYSA. We have limited prior experience as an
organization manufacturing TUKYSA and small molecule drug products generally, and we have relatively new working
relationships with many of the third party manufacturerst involved in TUKYSA manufacture.t While we believe that the
existing suppliu es of TUKYSA will be sufficient to accommodate current clinical and forecasted commercial needs at this
time, we expect that we will need to put in place additional manufacturing arrangements or expand our current
manufacturing arrangements with third-party manufacturerst to meet potential futurett commercial needs and while we are
currently negotiating those arrangements, we cannot assure you that we can enter into such arrangements on
commercially reasonable terms or at all.

Sterling.We have a commercial supply agreement with Sterling to manufacturett starting materials for TUKYSA.
The agreement provides that we will purchase starting materials pursuant to rolling forecasts and will purchase a
minimum percentage of our requirements for the starting materials from Sterling. The agreement will remain in effect
until 2025, afteff r which it will continue automatically for up to two additional years subject to termination by either party
giving written notice to the other party. Either party has the right to terminate the agreement if the other party commits
any breach of the agreement and does not remedy, make a bona fide attempt to remedy or enter into negotiations to
resolve, the breach afteff r notice to do so, if capaa blea of remedy.

Esteve Quimica. Our commercial supply agreement with Esteve provides that we will order the active
pharmaceutical agreement for TUKYSA pursuant to rolling forecasts. The agreement will remain in effect until 2025,
after which it will automatically renew subject to termination by us by giving written notice to Esteve. Either party has
the right to terminate the agreement if the other party fails to cure a material breach.

Corden.dd We have a commercial supply agreement with Corden to produce TUKYSA tabla ets. The agreement
provides that we will order pursuant to rolling forecasts and will purchase a minimum percentage of our requirements
from Corden. The agreement will remain in effect until 2025, afteff r which it will be renewed if not terminated with
written notice prior to the expiration of the term. Either party has the right to terminate the agreement if the other party
commits a breach and does not cure or commence and diligently continue actions to cure such default.

Product Candidates

For the clinical supply of our product candidates, we rely on multiple contract manufacturerst and other third
parties to performff manufacturingt services for us. In 2017, we acquired a biologics manufacturingtt facility located in
Bothell, Washington. While we use the facility to support our clinical supply needs, for the foreseeablea future, we expect
to continue to rely on contract manufacturerstt for much of the supply of our product candidates for our clinical trials.
With respect to tisotumab vedotin, we currently rely on drug product supply provided by Genmaba and have little control
over their supply chains or the contract manufacturerstt Genmaba utilizes. For the near-term, we expect to continue to rely
on Genmaba for manufacturing of clinical supplies of tisotumaba vedotin. Under the commercialization agreement we
entered into with Genmab in October 2020, we will be responsible for overseeing the clinical and commercial
manufacturing supply chain of tisotumab vedotin following a transition period. We will need to obtain appropriate
manufacturing arrangements and increase manufacturingtt capaa bila ity to meet potential futurett commercial needs, and could
experience potential delays if we encounter challenges in negotiating commercially reasonable arrangements with
manufacturers or in transitioning oversight of the manufacturing process from Genmaba to us.
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Commercial Operations

We hhave lalllocat ded commerciiall resources, iincl diludi gng salles, ma krketing,ing, lsupplyy hchaiin managgement dand
irei bmbursement capaa bilbila iitiies, to commerciialilize ADCETRIS dand TUKYSA iin hthe U.S. andd Ca dnada, dand PADCEV iin hthe
U.S. We bbelilieve hthe U.S. ma krket for ADCETRIS, PADCEV, dand TUKYSA iin htheiir ap dproved iindidicatiions, dand Canadidian
ma krket for ADCETRIS dand TUKYSA iin htheiir ap dproved iindidicatiions, are dadddressablblea iwi hth a ta grget ded lsales dand ma krke iti gng
organiorganiza ition. We iint dend to contiinue promotinging our dproducts iin hthe U.S. andd Ca dnada for hthese dand anyy ddiaddi iti lonal
i diindica itions we mayy bobtaiin iin hthe future. Tak dkeda hhas comme irci lal rightrights for ADCETRIS iin hthe rest of hthe lworldd. Tak dkeda
hhas rec iei dved ma krke iti gng auth ihorizatiions byby regulagula ytory au h ithori ities for ADCETRIS iin more hthan 75 co iuntries idoutside Northh
Am ierica, dand Takkedda co intinues to pursue ma krketinging au h ithoriza itions iin othher co iuntries.

In hthe U.S., we sellll ADCETRIS, PADCEV, dand TUKYSA hthroughrough a lili imitedd numbber of specialtycialty di idistribbutors.
hThree of our majojoa r di idistribbutors, gtoge hther iwi hth en iti ities dunder hth ieir common co lntrol—Am ierisourceB gergen Corporatiion,
Ca dirdinall He lal hth, Inc., dand McKesson Corporatiion—eachh account ded for 10% or more of our totall net dproduct lsales iin
2020, 2019 dand 2018. We lalso llsell TUKYSA to a lili imitedd numbber of specialtycialty hpharmaciies.

He lal hth care idproviders hpurchase ADCETRIS, PADCEV, dand TUKYSA hthroughrough hthese spe ici lal yty didi ibstributors andd hthe
productproduct iis ddrop hishippedd didirectlyly to hthe hheallthh care iprovidder. ADCETRIS dand PADCEV are iinfusedd dproducts andd
ggene lrallyly hishi dpped didirec ltlyy to hhe lal hth care idproviders andd facililiitiies for dad imi inistratiion to patiients. TUKYSA iis an loral
productproduct dorderedd byby pres icri iption dand yty ipic lallyly didispensedd to pa itients byby hthe net kwork spe ici lal yty hpharma icies, at physiciphysician iin-
ffioffice didispensingnsing isites, or byby h ihospit lal//Int gegratedd Delili yvery Netwo krk hpharma icies.

In Europe, we hhave lalllocat ded commerciiall resources, iin lcludinguding salles, ma krketing,ing, lsupplyy hchaiin managgement dand
irei bmbursement capaa bilbila iitiies, to support hthe an iti icipat ded TUKYSA commerciiall llaunchhes iin Europe, bsubjecjecbb t to bobt iainingning hthe
irequi dred regulagula ytory andd ipricinging andd irei bmbursement ap lprovals.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2020, we had 2,092 employees. Of these employees, 1,246 were engaged in or support
research, development and clinical activities, 382 were in administrative and business related positions, and 464 were in
sales and marketing. We consider our employee relations to be good.

Diversityii ,yy Equitytt and Inclusion

We believe that fostering diversity, equity, and inclusion is a key element to discovering, developing, and bringing
transformative therapies to patients with cancer. As of the end of 2020, 57% of our global workforce and 37% of our
leadership (at the executive director level and above) were female. In addition, as of the end of 2020, 33% of our U.S.
workforce and 36% of our U.S. leadership (at the executive director level and above) were racially or ethnically diverse.
We strive to build a workforce representative of the people we serve and to nurture an inclusive culturet where all voices
are welcomed, heard, and respected. In 2020, we adopted additional initiatives to further build our capaca ity to meet our
diversity, equity and inclusion goals.

Recruitingtt and Retentiott n

We believe that we have been successful in attracting and retaining talented personnel to support our expanding
business, though competm ition for personnel in our industry is intense. We monitor recruiting efforts using a variety of
metrics such as internal placement rates, cycle times, cost per hire, information on the retention of business critical hires
(such as medical directors and executives), and the percentage of budgeted openings filled on time and on budget. We
also track voluntary and involuntary turnover rates for the company as a whole, for business-critical talent and by gender,
race or ethnicity, time in role and job level.

Compem nsationtt and Benefitsii

We offer competitive pay and benefits designed to attract and retain exceptional talent and drive company
performance. In setting appropriate compensation levels, we look at the average base pay rate for each position based on
market data. At the time of our last annual compensation review, effective February 2020, for regular employees who
were eligible for a pay increase, the average ratio of base pay to this market rate was 100%. We also offer an annual cash
incentive program, a sales incentive program and long-term equity incentive plans designed to assist in attracting,
retaining and motivating employees and promoting the creation of long-term value for stockholders.
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Our standard employee benefits in the U.S. include paid and unpaid leaves, medical, dental and vision insurance
coverage, a 401(k) plan, short- and long-term disabila ity, life insurance, flexible spending accounts and an employee stock
purchase plan. We also offer a variety of voluntary benefits that allow employees to select options that meet their needs,
including telehealth, an employee assistance program, backup childcare, adoption assistance, a travel solution for nursing
mothers, education assistance, fitness reimbursements, and wellness programs. We benchmark our benefits program
against others in our industry on an annual basis. In addition, in 2020, we conducted an anonymous survey of U.S.
employees focused on employee engagement and satisfaction with our total rewards programs.

Succession Planning and Leadershipii Development

We establia sh retention plans for our executives and other business-critical talent and review their total
compensation and unvested equity annually. Succession, development, and retention plans for our executive officers are
reviewed at the Board level. In addition, we hold company-wide talent-planning reviews both at the executive and
departmental levels. To help accelerate the development of leaders across the company, we have establia shed the Seagen
Leadership Academy, a program that provides training, leadership opportunities, mentorship and support to high-
potential talent at the director level and above.

COVID-19II

We are continuing to closely monitor the impact of the evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our
business. We have established a cross-functional COVID-19 working group, which meets periodically to discuss policies
and protocols, strategic planning, business continuity, and other matters relating to the pandemic. We have made
proactive effortsff designed to protect the health and safety of our workforce, patients, and healthcare professionals, and to
continue our business operations so we can advance our goal of bringing important medicines to patients. As part of
these efforts, we instituted a mandatory work-from-home policy for employees who can perform their jobs offsite.

We are continuing essential research, manufacturing,t and laborata ory activities onsite and maintain a number of
additional precautionary measures designed to protect our onsite employees. These measures include temperature checks,
screening protocols, masks, social distancing, contact tracing, and making testing availablea . We also monitor the
progress of our essential onsite activities for impacts relating to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Our field-based personnel have paused most in-person customer interactions in healthcare settings and have been
using primarily electronic communications to support healthcare professionals and patients. They are engaging in limited
in-person interactions where state and local laws and regulations allow, the institution or office is accepting in-person
interactions and our field-based personnel are comfortablea engaging in-person with healthcare providers.

We believe that the measures we have implemented are appropriate and are helping to reduce transmission of
COVID-19, and we will continue to monitor conditions and related guidance from governmental authorities and adjust
our activities as appropriate.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware on July 15, 1997, as Seattle Genetics, Inc. In Oc btober 2020, we hchangednged our
corporate name from Seattlle Genetiics, Inc. to Se gagen Inc., reflflectinging hthe glgl b lobal expa insion of our opera itions. Our
principal executive offices are located at 21823 30th Drive SE, Bothell, Washington 98021. Our tellephhone bnumber iis
( )(425) 527-4000, dand our bweb isite ddaddress iis www.s geagen.com. Seaggen®®, ADCETRIS®®, PADCEV®®, dand TUKYSA®® are
uro registered trademarks in the United States. All other trademarks, tradenames and service marks included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of their respective owners.

We file electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. We make available on our website at
www.seagen.com, free of charge, through a hyperlink on our website, copies of these reports, as soon as reasonably
practicablea after electronically filing such reports with, or furnishing them to, the SEC. Information found on, or
accessible through, our website is not part of, and is not incorporated into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition,
the SEC maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

35



Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following risk factors, in addition to the other information contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes. If any of the events
described in the following risk factors occurs, our business, operating results and financial condition could be seriously
harmed. This Annual Report on Form 10-K also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
Our actualtt results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of factors
that are described below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Risks Related to Our Products, Product Candidates and Research and Development

Our success depends on our abiliii tyii to effecff tively commercializell our products. If we and our collaboratorsll are
unablell to effectivtt elyll commercialiii zeii our products and to expand theirii utiltt izatill on, our abilityii to generatett significant
revenue and our prospectstt for profitabiii liii tyii willll be adversely affected.

Our three marketed products are ADCETRIS®, or brentuximt ab vedotin, PADCEV®, or enfortumat ba vedotin-ejfv,e
which received accelerated approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, in December 2019, and
TUKYSA®, or tucatinib, which received approval from the FDA in April 2020. Our ability to generate revenue from
product sales and our prospects for profitabila ity are substantially dependent on our and our collaborators’ ability to
effectively commercialize ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA and expand their utilization. We may not be able to
fully realize the commercial potential of our products, or commercial sales of our products may be lower than our
projections, for a number of reasons, including:

• we and our collaborators may be unablea to effecff tively commercialize our products, including in any new
markets or in any new indications for which we receive marketing approval;

• we may not be able to establia sh or demonstrate in the medical community the safety,t efficacy or value of our
products and their potential advantages compared to existing and future therapeutics in their approved
indications, including, with respect to ADCETRIS, in the newly diagnosed, previously untreated Stage III and
IV classical Hodgkin lymphoma indication, or the frontline Hodgkin lymphoma indication;

• we and our collaborators may not be able to obtain and maintain regulatory and other required governmental
approvals to market our products for their currently approved indications in any additional territories or for any
additional indications, including any additional approvals for PADCEV or TUKYSA, which would limit the
sales and commercial potential of the applicable product;

• new competm itive therapies in ADCETRIS’ approved indications, including immuno-oncology agents such as
PD-1 inhibitors (e.g., pembrolizumaba and nivolumab) and other novel agents (e.g., mogamulizumab), in
PADCEV’s approved indication, including antibody drug conjugates (e.g., sacituzumaba govitecan) and other
targeted agents (e.g., erdafitinib for patients with select fibroblast growth factor receptor, or FGFR, genetic
alterations), and in TUKYSA’s approved indication, including HER2-targeting agents (e.g., fam-trastuzumaba
deruxtecan-nxki, neratinib, margetuximaba and SYD985), have been approved by regulatory authorities or may
be submitted in the near term to regulatory authorities for approval, and these competitive products could
negatively impact commercial sales of ADCETRIS, PADCEV or TUKYSA, respectively;

• there may be changes to the labela ing for our products, including ADCETRIS, PADCEV or TUKYSA, that
further restrict how we market and sell our products, including as a result of data collected from any of the
clinical trials that we and our collaborators are conducting or may in the future conduct for our products, or
from investigator-sponsored studies of our products, and/or as a result of the use of our products in their
approved indications;

• the estimated incidence rate of new patients or the duration of therapya in the approved indications for our
products may be lower than our projections;

• there may continue to be adverse results or events reported in connection with the use of our products or product
candidates, including in any of the clinical trials that we or our collaboratorsa are conducting, or may conduct in
the future, for our products or product candidates;
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• the negative impacts to our commercialization efforts, and those of our collaborata ors, resulting from the risks
and evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may increase or become more severe;

• in the case of PADCEV, our joint commercialization efforts in the U.S. under our collaborata ion with an affilff iate
of Astellas Pharma Inc., or Astellas, may be unsuccessful or we may encounter challenges in joint decision
making and joint execution that adversely affect PADCEV product sales;

• our products may be impacted by adverse reimbursement and coverage policies from government and private
payors such as Medicare, Medicaid, insurance companies, health maintenance organizations and other plan
administrators, or may be subject to pricing pressures enacted by industry organizations or state and federal
governments, including as a result of increased scrutiny over pharmaceutical pricing or otherwise;

• the relative price of our products may be higher than alternative treatment options, and therefore their
reimbursement may be limited by private and governmental insurers;

• physicians may be reluctant to prescribe our products due to side effecff ts associated with their use or until longer
term efficff acy and safety data exist;

• there may be changed or increased regulatory restrictions;

• we may not have adequate financial or other resources to effectively commercialize our products; and

• we may not be able to obtain adequate commercial supplies of our products to meet demand or at an acceptable
cost.

In addition, the success of our product collaborations and the activities of our collaborators will significantly
impact the development and commercialization of our products. We cannot control the amount and timing of resources
that our collaborators dedicate to the development and commercialization of ADCETRIS, PADCEV or TUKYSA, or to
their marketing and distribution. Our ability to generate royalty revenues from ADCETRIS product sales by Takeda
Pharmaceutical Company Limited, or Takeda, and TUKYSA product sales by our collaborata or, a subsidiary of Merck &
Co., Inc., or Merck, depends on their respective abilities to obtain regulatory approvals for ADCETRIS and TUKYSA in
their territories, and to achieve market acceptance of, and to otherwise effecff tively market, ADCETRIS and TUKYSA in
their territories. Our ability to generate revenues from PADCEV product sales in the U.S. and in Astellas’ territories
depends on our and Astellas’ ability to effecff tively jointly commercialize PADCEV in the U.S, and on Astellas’ ability to
obtain regulatory approvals for, achieve market acceptance of, and otherwise effecff tively market, PADCEV in Astellas’
territories. Moreover, international sales of our products could be adversely affecff ted by the imposition of governmental
controls, political and economic instability, trade restrictions or barriers and changes in tariffs, global trade and political
tensions, the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise.

We are closely evaluating the impacts of the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our ability and the
ability of our collaborators to effecff tively market, sell and distribute our products and to develop our products and product
candidates. While our field-based personnel are engaging in limited in-person interactions, they are primarily using
electronic communication, such as emails, phone calls and video conferences. Many healthcare professionals that we
normally call on are working a greater proportion of their working schedule from home and are facing additional
demands on their time during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. We are experiencing increased competm ition for virtual
appointments with healthcare professionals and a significant reduction in the number of interactions our sales personnel
are having with physicians. We expect the different quality of electronic interactions as compared with in-person
interactions, as well as the reduced quantity of interactions during the COVID-19 pandemic, to reduce the effectiveness
of our sales personnel, as well as those of our collaborators, which could negatively affecff t our product sales and those of
our collaborators, as well as physician awareness of our products. With respect to PADCEV and TUKYSA specificff ally,
we have not launched a product using primarily virtualtt communication channels in the past and cannot predict the effecff ts
that this approach will ultimately have on demand for PADCEV or TUKYSA. However, we believe that the need to
conduct these activities virtually is negatively impacting our ability to connect with key customers, including those
familiar with competitive products, and our ability to conduct payor engagements. We face a number of challenges that
will limit our ability to fully resume in-person interactions for the foreseeablea future, including increasing COVID-19
infection rates in many states, the potential for more severe outbreaks, the need to navigate varying restrictions for
entering healthcare facilities and employem e childcare obligations during virtualtt school sessions. In addition, the effecff ts of
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the COVID-19 pandemic continue to evolve rapidla y, and we may subsequently be forced to, or subsequently determine
that we should, resume a more restrictive remote work model, whether as a result of further spikes or surges in
COVID-19 infection or hospitalization rates or otherwise. Moreover, the long-term effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic
are also unknown and it is possible that following the pandemic, healthcare institutit ons could alter their policies with
respect to in person visits by pharmaceutical company representatives. COVID-19 related restrictions could also present
product distribution challenges as we utilize recently-initiated distribution channels for TUKYSA. We also expect that
the conversion of medical conferences to a virtualtt format may reduce our ability to effectively disseminate scientific
information about our products, which may result in decreased physician awareness of our products, their approved
indications and their efficff acy and safety. The evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may also negatively affecff t our
product sales due to challenges in patient access to healthcare settings, significant increases in unemployment and the
resulting loss of individual health insurance coverage, and inabila ity to access government healthcare programs due to
backlogs, some or all of which appear to be affecting diagnosis rates and may affecff t side effect management, course of
treatment and increase enrollment in our patient support programs. With respect to ADCETRIS specifically, impacts
associated with the COVID-19 pandemic appear to be reducing the rate of Hodgkin lymphoma diagnoses, which appears
to have contributed to the slower growth of ADCETRIS sales in 2020 as compared to 2019. In addition, we have
experienced lower than expected levels of our research and development spending, in part as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic. This includes some delays in clinical trial enrollment as well as reduced travel due to the conversion of
medical and scientific meetings to virtualtt format. While we do not at this time anticipate the need to revise our publicly
reported projected clinical milestone dates as a result of the effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic, there may be some
impacts to our clinical study timelines, which, depending upon the duration and severity of the evolving effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic, could ultimately delay data availability. In addition, many of our non-essential on-site research
activities are currently significantly reduced as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, which may negatively impact the
number of investigational new drug application, or IND, candidates entering our clinical pipeline in futurett years. The
extent to which the risks and evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic impact our business, our ability to generate
sales of and revenues from our approved products, and our clinical development and regulatory efforts will depend on
future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, such as the ultimate duration and
severity of the pandemic, government actions, such as travel restrictions, quarantines and social distancing requirements
in the U.S. and in other countries, business closures or business disruptions and the effectiveness of actions taken in the
U.S. and in other countries to contain and treat the disease, including the effectiveness and timing of vaccine programs in
the U.S. and worldwide.

hiWhille we antiiciipate hthat salles of ADCETRIS ilwilll iincrease iin 2021 as compa dred to 2020, we hhave expe iriencedd dand
expect contiinuedd iimpacts associiatedd iwithh hthe COVID-19 dpandemiic, hiwhichh appear to bbe red iduci gng hthe rate of dHodgkingkin
lymlym hphoma didiaggnoses, andd an iincrease iin ggross-to-net d ddeduc itions hthat we b lbeliieve iis ddue to a hifshift iin hthe llocatiions hwhere
ADCETRIS iis dad imi inisteredd, hi hwhich hhas iincreasedd hthe iproportion of ADCETRIS salles throughthrough hthe f dfede lral 340B drugdrug
didiscount gprogram. We expect that, going forward, our ability to maintain or continue to grow our ADCETRIS sales, if at
all, will depend primarily on our ability to establia sh or demonstrate to the medical community the value of ADCETRIS
and its potential advantages comparem d to existing and future therapeutics in its approved indications, including in the
frontline Hodgkin lymphomam indication, and the extent to which physicians make prescribing decisions with respect to
ADCETRIS. Other important factors affecting our ADCETRIS sales include the incidence flow of patients eligible for
treatment in ADCETRIS’ approved indications, the extent to which coverage and adequate levels of reimbursement for
ADCETRIS are availablea from governments and other third-party payors, the impact of any healthcare reform measures
that may be upheld, or adopted in the future, including measures that could result in more rigorous coverage criteria or
reduce the price that we receive for ADCETRIS, increasing competition from competing therapies including
pembrolizumab in multiple indications, including in the relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma indication,
impacts resulting from the evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic including lower diagnosis rates, and the potential
future approval of ADCETRIS in any additional indications. For these reasons, we cannot assure you that ADCETRIS
sales will continue to grow or that we can maintain sales of ADCETRIS at or near current levels. In addition, as a result
of these and other factors, our future ADCETRIS product sales can be difficult to accurately predict from period to
period.
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Our ability to realize the anticipated benefits from our investment in PADCEV is subjecb t to a number of risks and
uncertainties, including our and Astellas’ ability to successfully jointly market and commercialize PADCEV in the U.S.
in its approved indication, the extent to which we and Astellas are able to obtain regulatory approvals of PADCEV in
additional indications in the U.S., including in the frontline metastatic urothelial cancer setting, and in territories outside
the U.S., our ability and Astellas’ ability to successfully comply with rigorous post-marketing requirements, including
obtaining the FDA’s agreement as to the confirmation of clinical benefit of PADCEV based on the results of the EV-301
clinical trial, the acceptance of PADCEV by the medical community and patients, the extent to which physicians make
prescribing decisions with respect to PADCEV, the incidence flow of patients eligible for treatment in PADCEV’s
approved indication, the duration of therapya for patients receiving PADCEV, the extent to which coverage and adequate
levels of reimbursement for PADCEV are available from governments and other third-party payors, the impact of any
healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future,tt including measures that could potentially result in more
rigorous coverage criteria and additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for PADCEV, potential
competition from competing therapiea s, the impact of conducting launch activities virtualtt ly during the COVID-19
pandemic and other impacts resulting from the evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic including potential negative
impacts of reduced cancer diagnosis rates. In addition, as a result of these and other factors, including the lack of
significant historical sales data, PADCEV sales are currently difficult to predict from period to period.

Our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of our investment in TUKYSA is subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties, including our and Merck’s ability to successfully launch, market and commercialize TUKYSA in our
respective territories in its approved indication, the extent to which we and Merck are able to obtain regulatory and other
required governmental and pricing and reimbursement approvals of TUKYSA in additional territories, the extent to
which we and Merck are able to obtain regulatory approvals of TUKYSA in additional indications, including earlier lines
of breast cancer and other HER2-positive cancers, the acceptance of TUKYSA by the medical community and patients,
competition from other therapies, our and Merck’s ability to accurately predict and supply product demand, the extent to
which coverage and reimbursement will be availablea from governments and other third-party payors, our capacity to
effectively commercialize a product outside of the U.S., the impact of conducting launch activities virtually during the
COVID-19 pandemic and other impacts resulting from the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic including
potential negative impacts of reduced cancer diagnosis rates. In addition, as a result of these and other factors, including
the lack of significant historical sales data, TUKYSA sales are currently difficult to predict from period to period.

Our ability to grow our product sales in futurett periods is also dependent on price increases, and we periodically
increase the price of our products. Price increases on our products and negative publicity regarding drugrr pricing and
price increases generally, whether on our products or products distributed by other pharmaceutical companies, could
negatively affect market acceptance of, and sales of, our products. In any event, we cannot assure you that price increases
we have taken or may take in the future will not in the future negatively affect our product sales.

Our success also dependsee on our abiliii tyii to obtaintt regulatore yr approvalsll for our product candidatestt and for our
current products in additionaltt territorieii s, as wellll as our abilityii to expandxx the labeled indications of use for our current
products, and, if the requisiteii approvals are obtained,ii our abiliii tyii to successfullyll launch and commercializell our
products in their approved indications. Our inabilityii to do so could have a materitt alii adverse effect on our business,ii
financial condition,tt results of operationstt and growth prospects.tt

Neither we nor our collaborators are permitted to market our product candidates in the U.S. or other countries until
we obtain marketing approvals from the FDA and other applicablea regulatory authorities, and we or our collaborators
may never receive regulatory approval for the commercial sale of any of our product candidates. Likewise, we and our
collabora ators are required to obtain marketing approvals from applicablea regulatory authorities in order to market our
products in additional territories and to expand the labelea d indications of use for our current products.
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We have made and are continuing to make significant investments in a number of product candidates, including
tisotumab vedotin and ladiratuzumtt ab vedotin, and in seeking additional regulatory approvals for ADCETRIS, PADCEV
and TUKYSA. However, obtaining marketing approval is a lengthy, expensive and uncertain process, approval is never
assured, and we have limited experience in preparing and submitting the applications necessary to gain regulatory
approvals. As an organization, we have limited experience applying for regulatory approvals in jurisdictions outside the
U.S. and Canada. Further, the FDA and other regulatory agencies have substantial discretion in the approval process and
determining when or whether regulatory approval will be obtained for our products and product candidates, including
any regulatory approvals for ADCETRIS, PADCEV or TUKYSA in additional indications or in additional territories. In
this regard, even if we believe the data collected from preclinical studies or clinical trials of our products and product
candidates are promising, the FDA or any other regulatory authority or their respective advisors may disagree with our
interpretations of this data. For example, while we submiu tted a regulatory application for TUKYSA to the U.K.
Medicines and Healthcare Product Regulatory Authority,t or MHRA,RR the regulatory application we submitted may not be
approved in a timely manner or at all. In addition, in September 2020, we and Astellas reported that the EV-301 trial met
its primary endpoint of overall survival, and, in October 2020, we and Astellas announced positive topline results from
the second cohort of patients in the EV-201 trial. Although we and Astellas plan to submit a supplemental BLA to the
FDA based on the EV-301 trial as the confirmatory trial following PADCEV’s accelerated approval by the FDA and the
EV-301 trial is also intended to support global regulatory submissions, and although we plan to submit an sBLA based
on the results of the second cohort of the EV-201 trial, regulatory authorities, including the FDA, or their advisors may
disagree with our interpretation of the data from these trials. The FDA may not convert PADCEV’s accelerated approval
to regular approval in the U.S., and regulatory authorities may not accept or approve any other regulatory applications for
PADCEV, in a timely manner or at all. In addition, although the FDA granted Breakthrough Therapya designation to
PADCEV in combination with pembrolizumab, for treatment of patients with unresectable locally advanced or metastatic
urothelial cancer who are unablea to receive cisplatin-based chemotherapya in the first-line setting, this Breakthrough
Therapy designation does not increase the likelihood that PADCEV will receive marketing approval in this indication or
will otherwise receive any additional marketing approvals. Likewise, although we reported positive results from the
pivotal phase 2 innovaTV 204 trial and we and Genmab A/S, or Genmab,a submitted a Biologics License Application, or
BLA, to the FDA seeking accelerated approval for tisotumaba vedotin based on the innovaTV 204 trial, we cannot be
certain that the data from the innovaTV 204 trial will be sufficient to support accelerated approval. We cannot predict
whether the BLA that we and Genmaba submitted for tisotumaba vedotin will be accepted or approved in a timely manner
or at all. We also cannot assure you that any of our product candidates will receive any marketing approvals. In fact, it is
possible that none of our product candidates will ever become commercial products. As a result, we may not realize the
anticipated benefits of our investments in our product candidates.

Similarly, regulatory agencies may not approve the labela ing claims that are necessary or desirablea for the
successful commercialization of our products in any additional indications or territories, or of any future approved
product. Regulatory agencies also may approve a product for fewer or narrower indications than requested, or with a
labela that includes only subtypeu s of a particular indication rather than a more general disease classification. In addition,
our products and product candidates could take a significantly longer time to gain new or initial regulatory approvals
than we expect or may never gain new or initial regulatory approvals, which could delay or eliminate any potential
product revenue from sales of our product candidates or of our products in any additional indications or territories and
significantly delay or prevent us from achieving profitability. In this regard, part of our growth strategy is to continue to
explore the use of ADCETRIS in different CD30-expressing lymphomas, to seek approval for PADCEV in our territories
outside the U.S., and to continue to explore the use of PADCEV and TUKYSA in additional indications. However, we
and/or our collaborators may be unable to obtain any regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any of our products
in any additional indications or territories in a timely manner or at all. For example, as part of the Prescription Drug User
Fee Act, or PDUFA, the FDA has a goal to review and act on a percentage of all regulatory submissions in a given time
frame. However, the FDA does not always meet its PDUFA target action dates, and if the FDA were to fail to meet its
PDUFA target action date in the futurett for any of our future regulatory applications, the commercialization of the
affected product candidate, or of the affected product in any additional indications, could be delayed or impaired. In
addition, while regulatory authorities have not to date notified us of any delays in their review of our regulatory
applia cations and we have not yet experienced any obvious delays as a result of the effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic, it
is possible that we could experience delays in the timing of regulatory review and/or our interactions with regulatory
authorities due to reduced working hours of governmental employees or by the diversion of authorities’ efforts and
attention to approvala of other therapeutics or other activities related to COVID-19, which could delay any approval
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decisions with respect to our or Merck’s regulatory applications for TUKYSA outside of the U.S., or our progress in
advancing our development efforts with respect to other products and product candidates. Our interactions with
regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions and across multiple products and product candidates continue but we cannot
rule out the possibility of negative impacts on such interactions in the futuret as the effects of the pandemic continue to
evolve.

Even if approved for commercial sale, our ability to realize the anticipated benefits from our investments in our
product candidates and our efforts to expand the labela ed indications of use and territories for our current products is
subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including our and our collaborata ors’ ability to successfully launch, market
and commercialize our products, our reliance, in the case of PADCEV and tisotumab vedotin, on Astellas and Genmab,a
respectively, to effecff tively jointly launch and commercialize PADCEV and any potential future approved tisotumaba
vedotin product with us, our and our collaborata ors’ ability to successfully comply with rigorous post-marketing
requirements, including confirmation of clinical benefit of PADCEV based on the results of the Phase 3 confirmatory
trial, EV-301, that we and Astellas are required to complete as a result of the accelerated approval of PADCEV by the
FDA, the acceptance of our approved products by the medical community and patients, and the extent to which coverage
and reimbursement for our products will be availablea from government and health administration authorities, private
health insurers and other third-party payors. For example, although PADCEV was launched in the U.S. in December
2019 and although TUKYSA was launched in the U.S. in April 2020, the launch and commercialization of these
products are at an early stage and may not be successful. In addition, the impacts of the evolving effecff ts of the
COVID-19 pandemic, including potential negative impacts of reduced cancer diagnosis rates, could limit our ability to
continue to effecff tively launch PADCEV and TUKYSA and restrictions on in-person interactions with healthcare
providers will likely negatively impact our ability to connect with key customers, including those familiar with
competitive products, and our ability to conduct payor engagements. If we are unable to successfully continue to launch
and commercialize PADCEV jointly with Astellas in the U.S., or to successfully continue to launch and commercialize
TUKYSA in the U.S., our growth prospects and our prospects for profitabila ity would be adversely affecff ted. Likewise,
although TUKYSA received regulatory approvals in the EU and certain other countries outside the U.S. and Canada and
we have submitted a regulatory application for TUKYSA to the MHRA,RR we have no prior experience as an organization
launching or commercializing a product outside the U.S. and Canada, which could adversely affectff our ability to
maximize the commercial potential of TUKYSA. Further, while our TUKYSA collaboration with Merck is intended to
accelerate global availability of TUKYSA, we are wholly reliant on Merck’s ability to effectff ively launch and
commercialize TUKYSA in territories outside of the U.S., Canada and Europe, and we have limited control of Merck’s
actions. In addition, in many countries, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully
marketed, and in some cases there are additional individual country requirements, which will delay entryrr of a product
into a market or, if pricing is not approved, will prevent us from selling a product in a country where we have received
regulatory approval. The launch of a newly approved product or of an existing product in a new market, including the
launch of TUKYSA in markets where TUKYSA has obtained regulatory approval outside the U.S. and any other markets
where it may receive regulatory approval, if any, could be delayed due to a variety of factors, including supply
constraints, delays in arrangingr a commercial infrastructure,tt delays in obtaining pricing and reimbursement approvals or
other factors, any of which risks could be heightened by the risks and the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. If
we or Merck experience delays or unforeseen difficulties due to any of these factors, planned launches in the countries in
question would be delayed, which could negatively impact anticipated revenue from TUKYSA. In addition, if we or
Merck are unable to obtain favorable pricing and reimbursement approvals in territories that represent significant
potential markets, including the EU, our anticipated revenue from and growth prospects for TUKYSA in Europe and
other regions could be negatively affectff ed.

If we or our collaborators are unable to obtain and maintain necessary or desirable regulatory approvals for our
products and product candidates, including for ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA, in a timely manner, if at all, if the
FDA or other regulatory authorities do not approve product labea ling that is necessary or desirable for the successful
commercialization of an approved product, or if sales of an approved product do not reach the levels we expect, then our
anticipated revenue from our products and product candidates and our prospects for profitability would be adversely
affected, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
growth prospects.
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Reports of adverse events or safety concernsrr involvill ngii our products or product candidatestt could delay or
prevent us from obtaininii gn or maintaiii ninii gn regulate orytt approvals or couldll negatively impactm sales of our products or the
prospectstt for our product candidatestt .

Reports of adverse events or safetyff concerns involving our products could interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials of
our products, including the post-approvala confirmatory studies that regulatory agencies have required us or our
collaborata ors to complem te. In addition, reports of adverse events or safety concerns involving our products could result in
regulatory authorities requiring that we update the applicable product’s prescribing information, or limiting, denying or
withdrawing approval of our products for any or all indications, including previously approved indications. There are no
assurances that patients receiving our products will not experience serious adverse events, including fatal events, in the
future, whether the serious adverse events are disclosed in the prescribing information or are newly reported. Further,
there are no assurances that patients receiving our products with co-morbid diseases not previously studit ed, such as
autoimmune diseases, will not experience new or different serious adverse events in the future.

The prescribing information for ADCETRIS includes warnings and precautions for various toxicities, as well as a
boxed warning related to the risk that JC virus infection resulting in progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy and
death can occur in patients receiving ADCETRIS. The prescribing information for PADCEV and TUKYSA also
includes warnings and precautions for various toxicities and reactions, including certain fatal reactions. We may be
required to update the prescribing information for our products, including boxed warnings, limitations of use,
contraindications, warnings and precautions, and adverse reactions, based on reports of adverse events or safety
concerns, or implem ment a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS. Side effecff ts and toxicities associated with
our products could affecff t the willingness of physicians to prescribe, and patients to utilize, our products and thus harm
commercial sales of our products. Implementation of a REMS could advantage products that compete with ours or make
it more difficult or expensive for us to distribute our products.

Likewise, reports of adverse events or safety concerns involving our product candidates could interrupt, delay or
halt clinical trials of our product candidates, or could result in our or our collaborators’ inabila ity to obtain regulatory
approvals of our product candidates. Although we announced positive results from the innovaTV 204 trial, data
continues to be generated in this trial and in other tisotumaba vedotin trials. There may still be important new or evolving
facts about the safety,t efficacy, and risk versus benefit of each of our product candidates, including tisotumab vedotin,
which may negatively impact our ability to develop and commercialize these product candidates. For example, in
response to prior safetyt events observed in our clinical trials of PADCEV and tisotumab vedotin, including serious side
effects and patient deaths, we have in the past, and may in the future, institute additional precautionary safety measures
such as dosing capsa and delays, enhanced monitoring for side effecff ts, and modified patient inclusion and exclusion
criteria. Additional and/or unexpected safety events could be observed in these or other trials that could delay or prevent
us from advancing the clinical development of, or obtaining regulatory approvals for, our products and product
candidates or require us to alter the approved labela ing of our products, and may adversely affect our business, results of
operations and prospects.

Concerns regarding the safetyt of our products or product candidates as a result of undesirable side effects
identified during clinical testing or otherwise could cause the FDA to order us to cease further development or
commercialization of our products or the product candidates. Undesirable side effects caused by our products or product
candidates could also result in denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or other regulatory authorities for any or all
targeted indications, the requirement of additional trials, implementation of a REMS or the inclusion of unfavorable
information in our product labela ing, and in turn delay or prevent us from commercializing the applicablea product or
product candidate. In addition, actual or potential drug-related side effecff ts could affect patient recruitment or the ability
of enrolled patients to complete a trial for our products or product candidates or result in potential product liability
claims. Any of these events could prevent us from developing or commercializing the applicablea product or product
candidate, and could significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects.
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Clinical trials are expensivxx e and timeii consuming, maya take longer than we expect or may not be complem ted at
all,ll and theirii outcome is uncertain.ii

We and our collaborators are currently conducting multiple clinical trials for our products and product candidates
and plan to commence additional trials of our products and product candidates in the future.tt Many of these trials,
including phase 3 and pivotal phase 2 trials, were initiated based on only limited clinical data and we cannot be certain
that the design or conduct of, or data collected from, these trials will be sufficient to support FDA or any regulatory
approvals outside the U.S.

Each of our clinical trials requires the investment of substantial expense and time and the outcome of these trials is
uncertain. Later-stage clinical trials may differ in significant ways from earlier stage clinical trials and may have different
outcomes. Differences in earlier- and later-stage clinical trials may include changes to inclusion and exclusion criteria,
efficacy endpoints and statistical design. In this regard, despite the positive initial results we and Astellas reported from
the EV-103 trial, we cannot be certain that PADCEV will demonstrate sufficient efficff acy in other trials, including in the
EV-302 trial, other cohorts of the EV-103 trial or any future trials or cohorts. Moreover, despite the positive initial data
from the EV-103 trial, PADCEV may not demonstrate sufficient efficacy in any other clinical trials in a frontline setting
and may never be approved for use in any frontline setting, which would significantly delay or prevent us from achieving
profitability. Likewise, despite the positive results we reported from the HER2CLIMB trial, we cannot be certain that
TUKYSA will demonstrate sufficient efficff acy in other trials, including the HER2CLIMB-02 trial, and, despite the
positive results we reported from the innovaTV 204 trial, we cannot be certain that tisotumaba vedotin will demonstrate
sufficient efficacy in other trials or will ever be approved for commercial sale. In addition, there may still be important
facts about the safety,t efficacy, and risk versus benefit of PADCEV, TUKYSA and tisotumaba vedotin that are not known
to us at this time which may negatively impact our ability to develop and commercialize PADCEV, TUKYSA or
tisotumaba vedotin as single agents or in combination with other agents. In this regard, in the first cohort of the EV-201
trial, there was one death due to interstitial lung disease, which occurred outside the safety-reporting period of the trial
and was confounded by prolonged high-dose steroid use and suspected pneumonia, and in the initial results of the
EV-103 trial, there was one death deemed to be treatment-related by the investigator, attributed to multiple organ
dysfunction syndrome. There was also one death deemed to be treatment-related by the investigator in the innovaTV 204
trial. In addition, in response to prior safety events observed in our clinical trials of PADCEV and tisotumaba vedotin,
including serious side effects and patient deaths, we have in the past, and may in the future, institute additional
precautionary safety measures such as dosing capsa and delays, enhanced monitoring for side effects, and modified
patient inclusion and exclusion criteria. Additional and/or unexpected safety events or our failure to generate additional
efficacy data in our clinical trials that support registration could significantly impact the value of PADCEV, TUKYSA
and tisotumaba vedotin to our business. Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, including
us, have suffered significff ant setbacks in late-stage clinical trials after achieving encouraging or positive results in early-
stage development. We cannot be certain that we will not face similar setbacks in our ongoing or planned clinical trials,
including in the ongoing pivotal trials for PADCEV and TUKYSA. If we or our collaboratorsa fail to produce positive
results in our ongoing or planned clinical trials of PADCEV, TUKYSA, tisotumaba vedotin or any of our other product
candidates, the development timeline and regulatory approval and commercialization prospects for PADCEV, TUKYSA,
tisotumaba vedotin and our other product candidates, and, correspondingly, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and growth prospects, would be materially adversely affected.
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The timing of the commencement, continuation and completion of each of our clinical trials may be subject to
delays relating to various causes, including scheduling conflicts with participating clinicians and clinical institutitt ons,
difficulties in identifying and enrolling patients who meet trial eligibility criteria, failure of patients to complem te the
clinical trial, delays in accumulating the required number of clinical events for data analyses, delay or failure to obtain
institutional review board, or IRB, approval to conduct a clinical trial at a prospective site, and shortages of available
drug supply. In the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, we are working to advance our clinical trial activities, while also
actively assessing and seeking to mitigate risks to our patients, partners, employem es and clinical trial site personnel. Some
of the sites participating in our clinical trials are affected by site closings, reduced capaa city or other effecff ts of the
COVID-19 pandemic. We are actively monitoring all clinical activities and currently are experiencing impacts to our
ability to monitor patients, activate sites, screen and enroll patients, complem te site monitoring and manage samplem s. The
extent of the impact of these factors on a particular clinical trial depends on the current stage of activities at a given site,
for example, study start up versus post-enrollment, and the impact on a clinical trial depends on the number of impacted
sites participating in that clinical trial. In addition, we believe that rates of cancer diagnoses are lower than they would
otherwise be as a result of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, which may also negatively impact enrollment. While
we do not at this time anticipate the need to revise our publicly reported projected clinical milestone dates as a result of
the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, there may be some impacts to our clinical study timelines, which, depending
upon the duration and severity of the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, could ultimately delay data
availability. In addition, our ability to recruit and retain principal investigators and site staff could be adversely impacted
by the risks of exposure to COVID-19 and by the conversion of medical conferences to virtualtt format. Further, due to the
suspension of data monitoring activities at sites that do not currently allow remote monitoring, as well as impacts on the
ability to monitor patients, maintain patient treatment according to the trial protocols and to manage samples, there is
also the potential of negative impacts on data quality. While we are actively utilizing digital monitoring measures and
other mitigations designed to prevent negative data quality impacts, if there were in fact a negative impacm t on data
quality, we or our collaborators could be required to repeat, extend the duration of, or increase the size of clinical trials,
which could significantly delay potential commercialization and require greater expenditures.tt We expect that similar
factors will impact clinical studit es operationalized by our collaboratorsa . We cannot at this time fully forecast the scope of
impacts that the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may have on our ability to initiate trial sites, enroll and
assess patients, handle the operational aspects of trials such as drug and sample management, run studies in accordance
with the protocol and best practices and report trial results.

Additionally, beyond impacm ts related to the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, patient enrollment is a
function of many factors, including the size of the patient population, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the
eligibility criteria for the trial, the existence of competing clinical trials, perceived side effects and the availability of
alternative or new treatments. From time to time we have experienced enrollment-related delays in clinical trials,
including in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, and we will likely continue to experience similar delays in our
current and future trials.

Many of our futurett and ongoing clinical trials are being or will be coordinated or conducted with Takeda, Astellas,
Merck, Genmab,a Bristol-Myers-Squibb Company, or BMS, and other collaborators, which may delay the
commencement or adversely affectff the continuation or completion of these trials. In addition, our collaborators have
operational control over some of the studies we conduct jointly and we do not have full visibility into these studies run
by our collaborators. We also depend on medical institutions to conduct our clinical trials in compliance with Good
Clinical Practice, or GCP, and to the extent they fail to enroll patients for our clinical trials, fail to conduct our trials in
accordance with GCP, or are delayed for a significant time in achieving full enrollment, whether due to the risks and
evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise, our clinical trials and regulatory filings regarding our products
and product candidates may be negatively impacted including possible changes to data, results, or conclusions, increased
costs, and delays to regulatory timelines, which may harm our reputation and business. In addition, we conduct clinical
trials in countries outside the U.S. which may subject us to further delays and expenses as a result of increased drug
shipment costs and additional regulatory requirements, as well as expose us to risks associated with different standards of
medical care, and currency transactions insofar as changes in the relative value of the U.S. dollar to the local currency
where the trial is being conducted may impact our actual costs. In addition, conducting clinical trials in countries that are
experiencing heightened impact from the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may exacerbate these risks.
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Clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with FDA or other applicablea government guidelines and are
subject to oversight by the FDA, other governmental agencies, including data protection authorities, the data safetyt
monitoring boards for such trials and the IRBs or Ethics Committees for the institutions in which such trials are being
conducted. In addition, clinical trials must be conducted with suppliu es of our products or product candidates produced
under cGMP and other requirements in the country in which the trial is being conducted, and may require large numbers
of test patients. We or our collaborata ors, the FDA, other governmental agencies or the applicablea data safety monitoring
boards, IRBs and Ethics Committees could delay, suspend, halt or modify our clinical trials of our products or any of our
product candidates, for numerous reasons, including:

• ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA or the applicable product candidate may have unforeseen safetyt issues or
adverse side effecff ts, including fatalities, or a determination may be made that a clinical trial presents
unacceptablea health risks;

• deficiencies in the conduct of the clinical trial, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with
regulatory requirements, GCP, clinical protocols or regulations relating to data protection;

• problems, errors or other deficiencies with respect to data collection, data processing and analysis;

• deficiencies in the clinical trial operations or trial sites resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold;

• the time required to determine whether ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA or the applicable product candidate is
effective may be longer than expected;

• fatalities or other adverse events arising during a clinical trial due to medical problems that may not be related
to clinical trial treatments;

• ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA or the applicable product candidate may not appear to be more effective than
current therapiea s;

• the quality or stability of ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA or the applicable product candidate may fall below
acceptablea standards;

• our inabila ity and the inability of our collaborators to produce or obtain sufficient quantities of ADCETRIS,
PADCEV, TUKYSA or the applicable product candidate to complete the trials;

• our inabila ity and the inability of our collaborators to reach agreement on acceptablea terms with prospective trial
sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different trial
sites;

• our inabila ity and the inability of our collaborators to obtain IRB or Ethics Committee approval to conduct a
clinical trial at a prospective site;

• changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions that adversely affect our ability and the ability of
our collaborata ors to continue to conduct or to complete clinical trials;

• lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial, including the incurrence of unforeseen costs due to
enrollment delays, requirements to conduct additional trials and studit es and increased expenses associated with
the services of our clinical research organizations and other third parties;

• our inabila ity and the inability of our collaborators to recruit and enroll patients to participate in clinical trials for
reasons including competition from other clinical trial programs for the same or similar indications;

• our inabila ity and the inabila ity of our collaborators to retain patients who have initiated a clinical trial but may be
prone to withdraw due to side effects from the therapy, lack of efficacy or personal issues, or who are lost to
further follow-up;
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• our inabila ity and the inability of our collaborators to ensure adequate statistical power to detect statistically
significant treatment effecff ts, whether through our inabila ity to enroll or retain patients in trials or because the
specified number of events designated for a completed trial have not occurred; or

• the risks and evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In addition, we or our collaborata ors may experience significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even afteff r
promising results in earlier trials, including unexpected adverse events that may occur when our product candidates are
combined with other therapiea s.

Negative or inconclusive clinical trial results could adversely affect our ability and the ability of our collaborators
to obtain regulatory approvals of our product candidates, including tisotumab vedotin, or to market ADCETRIS,
PADCEV or TUKYSA and/or expand ADCETRIS, PADCEV or TUKYSA into additional indications and territories. In
addition, clinical trial results are frequently susceptible to varying interpretations that may delay, limit or prevent
regulatory approvals. For example, although we reported positive results from the HER2CLIMB trial and submitted a
regulatory application for TUKYSA to the MHRA,RR the regulatory application we submitted may not be approved in a
timely manner or at all. Similarly, we and Astellas reported that the EV-301 trial met its primary endpoint of overall
survival and reported positive topline results from the second cohort of patients in the EV-201 trial. However, despite
these results and although we and Astellas plan to submit a supplemental BLA to the FDA based on the EV-301 trial as
the confirmatory trial following PADCEV’s accelerated approval by the FDA and EV-301 is also intended to support
global regulatory submissions, and although we and Astellas plan to submit an sBLA to the FDA based on the results of
the second cohort of the EV-201 trial, regulatory authorities, including the FDA, or their advisors may disagree with our
interpretation of the data from these trials. As a result, the FDA may not convert PADCEV’s accelerated approval to
regular approval in the U.S., and regulatory authorities may not accept or approve any other regulatory applications for
PADCEV, in a timely manner or at all. Further, although we announced positive results from the innovaTV 204 trial and
we and Genmab submitted a BLA to the FDA seeking accelerated approval for tisotumaba vedotin based on the results of
the innovaTV 204 trial, the FDA, or its advisors, may disagree with our interpretation of the data from the innovaTV 204
trial and may otherwise determine not to accept or approve the BLA that we and Genmaba submitted for tisotumaba
vedotin in a timely manner or at all. Likewise, although we reported positive results in our ECHELON-2 trial, regulatory
agencies outside of the territories where ADCETRIS has been approved in the ECHELON-2 treatment setting, or their
advisors, may disagree with Takeda’s interpretations of data from the ECHELON-2 trial and may not approve the
expansion of the ADCETRIS labea led indications of use to the ECHELON-2 treatment setting. Moreover, adverse
medical events during a clinical trial, including patient fatalities, could cause a trial to be redone or terminated, require us
to cease development of a product candidate or the further development or commercialization of ADCETRIS, PADCEV
or TUKYSA, result in our failure to expand ADCETRIS, PADCEV or TUKYSA into additional indications and
territories, adversely affectff our ability to market ADCETRIS, PADCEV or TUKYSA, and may result in other negative
consequences to us, including the inclusion of unfavorablea information in our product labea ling. Further, some of our
clinical trials are overseen by an independent data monitoring committee, or IDMC, and an IDMC may determine to
delay or suspend one or more of these trials due to safety or futility findings based on events occurring during a clinical
trial. In addition, we may be required to implement additional risk mitigation measures that could require us to suspend
our clinical trials if certain safety events occur.
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The successfulff commercialiii zatiii on of our products and our product candidatestt willii depend on a varietytt of
factors,tt includingdd thett extenttt to which governmentaltt authoritt tiii es and healthtt insurers establtt ishll adequatett coverage and
reimbursement levels and pricingii policies,s and the acceptancee e of our products by the medical communityii and
patients.

Successful sales of our current and any future approved products will depend, in part, on the extent to which
coverage and reimbursement for our products will be availablea from government and health administration authorities,
private health insurers and other third-party payors. To manage healthcare costs, many governments and third-party
payors increasingly scrutinize the pricing of new products and require increasing levels of evidence of favorablea clinical
outcomes and cost-effectiveness before extending coverage. In light of this pricing scrutiny, we cannot be sure that we
and our collaborators will achieve and continue to have coverage availablea for our products and any product candidates
that we or our collaborators commercialize and, if availablea , that the reimbursement rates will be adequate and grant
access to all eligible patients. If we or our collaborata ors are unablea to obtain coverage and adequate levels of
reimbursement for our current and any futurett approved products that we or our collaborators commercialize, their
marketability will be negatively and materially impacted. For example, we cannot be certain that third-party payors will
continue to provide coverage and adequate reimbursement for ADCETRIS in the frontline Hodgkin lymphomam
indication based on the relative price and perceived benefit of ADCETRIS as compared to alternative treatment options,
which may materially harm our ability to maintain or increase sales of ADCETRIS or may otherwise negatively affecff t
future ADCETRIS sales. Similarly, we cannot be certain that third-party payors will provide coverage and adequate
reimbursement for PADCEV or TUKYSA based on their relative price and perceived benefits as compared to alternative
treatment options or otherwise, which may materially harm our and our collaborata ors’ ability to successfully
commercialize PADCEV and TUKYSA in our respective designated territories. In addition, we have experienced an
increase in gross-to-net deductions that we believe is due to a shift in the locations where ADCETRIS is administered,
which has increased the proportion of ADCETRIS sales through the federal 340B drug discount program, and we may
experience additional shifts from commercial payor coverage to government payor coverage in the U.S., which would
further increase gross-to-net deductions.

In many jurisdictions, including in Europe, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved in an individual
country before it may be lawfully marketed, which could delay entry of a product into a market or, if pricing is not
approved, may prevent us or our collaborata ors from selling a product in a country where we or our collaborators have
received regulatory approval. In European countries where we have obtained regulatory approval of TUKYSA, we will
seek pricing and reimbursement agreements for TUKYSA in accordance with local timelines. As an organization, we did
not have any experience applying for pricing and reimbursement approvals in jurisdictions outside the U.S. and Canada
prior to our applications with respect to TUKYSA. Further, authorities in Europe have substantial discretion in the
pricing and reimbursement approval process and in determining when or whether coverage will be obtained for our
products or product candidates, including any approvals for our medicines in initial and additional indications or in
additional territories. In addition, in some cases, they may lower the price for a medicine afteff r the price has been
establia shed. The launch of TUKYSA outside of the U.S. could be delayed due to a variety of factors, including supply
constraints, delays in arranging a commercial infrastructure,tt delays encountered by our collaborata or, Merck, delays in
obtaining pricing and reimbursement approvals or other delays related to regulatory requirements. If we or Merck
experience delays or unforeseen difficulties due to any of these factors, planned launches in the countries in question
would be delayed, which could negatively impact anticipated revenue from TUKYSA. In addition, if we or Merck are
unable to obtain favorable pricing and reimbursement approvals in the countries that represent significant potential
markets, our anticipated revenue from and growth prospects for TUKYSA in Europe and other regions could be
negatively affected.
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Eligibility for coverage and reimbursement does not imply that a drug will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that
capturea s the value delivered to patients, payers and the overall healthcare system, allows for continued investment in
innovative treatments for cancer patients or that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale and
distribution. In addition, obtaining and maintaining adequate coverage and reimbursement statustt is time-consuming and
costly. Third-party payors may deny coverage and reimbursement statustt altogether of a given drug product, or cover the
product but may also establia sh prices at levels that are too low to enable us to realize an appropriate return on our
investment in product development or limit access to select patient populations reducing revenue potential. Further, in
the U.S., there is no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement among third-party payors. Third-party payors often
rely upon Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own coverage and reimbursement policies.
However, decisions regarding the extent of coverage and amount of reimbursement to be provided is made on a payor-
by-payor basis. One payor’s determination to provide coverage for a product does not assure that other payors will also
provide coverage for the product. Because the rules and regulations regarding coverage and reimbursement change
frequently, in some cases at short notice, even when there is favorablea coverage and reimbursement, futuret changes may
occur that adversely impact the favorable status.

The unavailability or inadequacy of third-party coverage and reimbursement could have a material adverse effecff t
on the market acceptance of our current and any futurett approved products and the futuret revenues we may expect to
receive from those products. In addition, we are unable to predict what additional legislation or regulation relating to the
healthcare industry or third-party coverage and reimbursement may be upheld or enacted in the future, or what effecff t
such legislation or regulation would have on our business. Continuing negative publicity regarding pharmaceutical
pricing practices and ongoing governmental and societal scrutiny create significant uncertainty regarding regulation of
the healthcare industry and third-party coverage and reimbursement in the U.S. and other jurisdictions. If healthcare
policies or reforms intended to curb healthcare costs are implemented or if we experience negative publicity with respect
to pricing of our products or the pricing of pharmaceutical products generally, the prices that we charge for our current
and any future approved products may be limited, our revenues from sales of our currentr and any future approved
products may be negatively impacted.

The degree of market acceptance among patients, physicians, and third-party payors is also importam nt to our
ability to successfully commercialize our current and any futuret approved products. The degree of acceptance will
depend on a number of factors including the clinical benefits of our products, effectiveness of our marketing, sales and
distribution strategy and operations, the acceptance of our product by patients, physicians and third-party payors, the
perceived advantages and relative cost, safety and efficacy of alternative treatments, and the acceptance and degree of
adoption of our products by institutitt onal treatment pathways and institutitt onal, local, and national clinical guidelines such
as the National Comprehensive Cancer Networks® Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology, or the NCCN Guidelines, or
other country-specific guidelines. In the U.S., many oncology practices and healthcare providers rely on the NCCN
Guidelines or other institutitt onal practice pathways in decisions related to treatment of patients and utilization of
medicines. To the extent that our current or any future approved products are not included or positioned favorably in
such treatment guidelines and pathways, the full utilization potential of our products may not be reached, which may
harm our ability to successfully commercialize our current or any futurett approved products. For example, in the
ADCETRIS frontline Hodgkin lymphoma indication, the NCCN Guidelines have been interpreted as being more
restrictive than our labela ed indication and since these guidelines and related interpretations have been translated into
treatment pathways for many institutions, our ability to maintain or increase sales of ADCETRIS may be materially
harmed or futuret ADCETRIS sales may otherwise be negatively affecff ted.

Our product candidatestt are in various stagestt of development,tt and it is possibleii that none of our product
candidates willll ever become commercial products.

Although we announced positive results from the innovaTV 204 trial of our late-stage product candidate,
tisotumaba vedotin and we and Genmaba submitted a BLA to the FDA seeking accelerated approval for tisotumatt ba vedotin,
we cannot be certain that the data from the innovaTV 204 trial will be sufficient to support accelerated approval. We
cannot predict whether the BLA that we and Genmaba submitted for tisotumab vedotin will be accepted or approved in a
timely manner or at all. Our clinical pipeline also includes ladiratuzumaba vedotin, which is in phase 2 clinical
development, and other product candidates that are in phase 1 clinical development. In addition, we have multiple
preclinical and research-stage programs that employ our proprietary technologies. We will require significant financial
resources and additional personnel in order to continue to advance the development of,ff pursue, potentially obtain and
maintain regulatory approvals for, and potentially commercialize tisotumaba vedotin, if we are able to do so at all.
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If a product candidate fails at any stage of development or fails to receive regulatory approval, or we or our
collaborata ors otherwise determine to discontinue development of that product candidate, we will not have the anticipated
revenues from that product candidate to fund our operations, and we may not receive any return on our investment in that
product candidate. Preclinical studiet s and any encouraging or positive preliminary and interim data from our clinical
trials of our product candidates may not be predictive of the results of ongoing or later clinical trials. Even if we or our
collaborata ors are able to complete our planned clinical trials of our product candidates according to our current
development timeline, any encouraging or positive results from clinical trials of our product candidates in earlier stage
trials may not be replicated in subsequent later-stage trials. For example, although we reported positive results from the
innovaTV 204 trial of tisotumaba vedotin, we cannot be certain that tisotumab vedotin will demonstrate sufficient efficff acy
in other trials. In addition, we are developing products and product candidates in indications in which competition is
intense, and it is possible that a clinical trial we run may meet its safetyff and efficacy endpoints but we may choose not to
advance the development and commercialization of a product or product candidate in one or more indications due to
changes in the competitive environment and the rapida evolution of the standard of care. As a result, we and our
collaborata ors may conduct lengthy and expensive clinical trials of our products and product candidates only to learn that
a product or product candidate is not an effecff tive treatment or is not superiu or to existing approved therapies in the
applicable indication, or has an unacceptablea safetyt profile. Any of these results could prevent or significantly delay
regulatory approval for the applicablea product in any additional indications or of the applicablea product candidate or
could cause us to discontinue or limit the further development of such product or product candidate. If we or our
collaborata ors fail to produce positive results in our ongoing or planned clinical trials of tisotumaba vedotin or any of our
other product candidates, the development timeline and regulatory approval and commercialization prospects for that
product candidate, and our ability to recoup our investment in that product candidate, would be materially adversely
affected.

Due to the uncertain and time-consuming clinical development and regulatory approval process, we may not
successfully develop any of our product candidates, or we may choose to discontinue the development of product
candidates for a variety of reasons such as safety, risk versus benefit profile, exclusivity, competitive landscape,a or
prioritization of our resources. It is possible that none of our product candidates will ever become commercial products.
In addition, we have to make decisions about which clinical stage and pre-clinical product candidates to develop and
advance, and we may not have the resources to invest in certain product candidates, or clinical data and other
development considerations may not support the advancement of one or more product candidates. Decision-making
about which product candidates to prioritize involves inherent uncertainty, and our development program decision-
making and resource prioritization decisions may not improve our results of operations or prospects or enhance the value
of our common stock. Our failure to effectively advance our development programs could have a material adverse effectff
on our business and prospects, and cause the price of our common stock to decline. In addition, many of our non-
essential on site research activities are currently significantly reduced as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, which may
negatively impact the number of IND candidates entering our clinical pipeline in futurett years.

Any failures or setbacks in our ADC developmell nt program or our other platformll technologiell s couldll negatively
affect our businessii and financii ial position.

ADCETRIS, PADCEV and our tisotumab vedotin and ladiratuzumtt ab vedotin product candidates are all based on
our antibody-drug conjugate, or ADC, technology, which utilizes proprietary stable linkers and potent cell-killing
synthetic agents. Our ADC technology is also the basis of our license agreements with AbbVie Biotechnology Ltd., or
AbbVie, Astellas, Genentech, Inc., a member of the Roche Group, or Genentech, GlaxoSmithKline LLC, or GSK, and
Progenics Pharmaceuticals Inc., or Progenics, and our collaboration agreements with Takeda, Astellas, and Genmab.
Any failures or setbacks in our ADC development program or with respect to our additional proprietary technologies,
including adverse effecff ts resulting from the use of this technology in human clinical trials and/or the imposition of
clinical holds on our trials of our product candidates, could have a detrimental impact on the continued
commercialization of our products in their current or any potential future approved indications and on our product
candidate pipeline, as well as our ability to maintain and/or enter into new corporate collaborations regarding our ADC
technology, which would negatively affecff t our business and financial position.
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We face intenstt e competitiii on and rapid technological change,n which may resultll in othersrr discovering,
developingll or commercializill ngii competingii products beforee or more successfuls lyll than we do.

The biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense
competition and a strong emphasis on proprietary products. Many third parties compete with us in developing various
approaches to treating cancer. They include pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies, academic institutt ions
and other research organizations.

Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development,
manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approval and marketing than we do. In
addition, many of these competm itors are active in seeking patent protection and licensing arrangements in anticipation of
collecting royalties for use of technology that they have developed. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to
be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These
third parties compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel, as well as in
acquiring technologies complementary to our programs.

With respect to ADCETRIS, there are several other FDA approved drugs for its approved indications. BMS’s
nivolumaba and Merck’s pembrolizumaba are approved for the treatment of certain patients with relapseda or refractory
classical Hodgkin lymphoma, and Celgene’s romidepsin and Acrotech Biopharma’s pralatrexate and belinostat are
approved for relapsed or refractory systemic anaplaa stic large cell lymphoma, or sALCL, among other T-cell lymphomas.
Kyowa Kirin’s mogamulizumaba is approved for adult patients with relapseda or refractory mycosis fungoides or Sézary
syndrome. The competition ADCETRIS faces from these and other therapiea s is intensifying. Additionally, Merck is
conducting a phase 3 clinical trial in relapsed or refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma comparing pembrolizumaba with
ADCETRIS. An interim analysis of this clinical trial demonstrated a statistically significant improvement in progression-
free survival for pembrolizumab compared with ADCETRIS, resulting in a labela expansion to an earlier line of therapy,
and we expect increased competition from pembrolizumaba in this indication. We are also aware of multiple
investigational agents currently being studied that, if successful, may compete with ADCETRIS in the future. Data have
also been presented on several developing technologies, including bispecific antibodies and CAR modified T-cell
therapies that may compete with ADCETRIS in the future. Further, there are many competing approaches used in the
treatment of patients in ADCETRIS’ approved indications, including autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplant,
allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant, combination chemotherapy,a clinical trials with experimental agents and
single-agent regimens.

With respect to PADCEV, other treatments in pretreated metastatic urothelial cancer include checkpoint inhibitor
monotherapy,a generic chemotherapya and, for patients with select FGFR genetic alterations, Janssen’s erdafitinib. There
are other investigational agents that, if approved, could be competitive with PADCEV, such as Gilead's sacituzumt ab
govitecan, which is in a pivotal phase 2 study.tt Treatment in front line metastatic urothelial cancer has traditionally been
treated with chemotherapya alone but is evolving to include two checkpoint inhibitor therapies for cisplatin-ineligible
patients with high PD-L1 expression or patients who are ineligible for platinum therapy.a Several trials of investigational
agents in combination with chemotherapya or other novel agents are ongoing. Continued development of PD-(L)1
targeted therapies across early stage bladder cancer and in metastatic bladder cancer in frontline combinations with
chemotherapy,a in frontline maintenance with the recent approval of avelumab,a and in pretreated disease, could
potentially impact PADCEV usage and enrollment to PADCEV clinical trials.

With respect to TUKYSA, there are multiple marketed products which target HER2, including the antibodies
trastuzumaba and pertuzumaba and the antibody drug conjugate T-DM1. In addition, lapaa tinib is an EGFR/HERR R2 oral
kinase inhibitor for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer, and neratinib is an irrever rsible pan-HER kinase inhibitor
indicated for extended adjuvad nt treatment and has been recently approved for patients who have received two or more
prior anti-HER2-based regimens in the metastatic setting. Daiichi Sankyo and AstraZeneca have fam-trastuzumtt ab
deruxtecan-nxki which was recently approved for patients who have received two or more prior anti-HER2-based
regimens in the metastatic breast cancer setting and also in HER2 positive gastric cancer. Byondis has an antibody drug
conjugate, SYD985, in a pivotal study in this patient population and MacroGenics has a HER2 targeted, Fc-optimized
antibody, margetuximab,a which was recently approved by the FDA.
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With respect to tisotumab vedotin, in June 2018, Merck’s pembrolizumab was approved for the treatment of
recurrent or metastatic cervical cancer with disease progression on or after chemotherapy in patients whose tumors
express PD-L1. We are also aware of other companies that currently have products in development for the treatment of
late-stage cervical cancer which could be competitive with tisotumab vedotin, including Agenus, BMS, Iovance
Biotherapeuta ics, Merck, Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Sanofi-Aventis and Roche.

Many other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies are developing and/or marketing therapiea s for the same
types of cancer that our product candidates are designed and being developed to treat. For example, we believe that
companies including AbbVie, ADC Therapeutics, Affimed, Agios, Amgen, Astellas, Bayer, Biogen, BMS, Celgene,
Daiichi Sankyo, Eisai, Genentech, GSK, Gilead, ImmunoGen, Infinity, Janssen, Karyopharm, MacroGenics,
MedImmune, MEI Pharma, Merck, Novartis, Pfizer, Puma Biotech, Sanofi-Aventis, Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Takeda,
Teva, and Xencor are developing and/or marketing products or technologies that may compete with ours. In addition, our
ADC collaborata ors may develop compounds utilizing our technology that may compete with product candidates that we
are developing.

We are aware of other companies that have technologies that may be competitive with ours, including AbbVie,
ADC Therapeutics, Astellas, AstraZeneca, BMS, Daiichi Sankyo, Gilead, ImmunoGen, Janssen, MedImmune, Merck,
Mersana, Pfizer, Roche, Sutro, and Zymeworks, all of which have ADC technology. ImmunoGen has several ADCs in
development that may compete with our product candidates. ImmunoGen has also established partnerships with other
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to allow those other companies to utilize ImmunoGen’s technology,
including Sanofi-Aventis, Genentech, Novartis, Takeda and Lilly. We are also aware of a number of companies
developing monoclonal antibodies directed at the same antigen targets or for the treatment of the same diseases as our
product candidates.

In addition, in the U.S., the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009 created an abbreviated
approval pathway for biological products that are demonstrated to be “highly similar” or “biosimilar” to or
“interchangeablea ” with an FDA approved biological product. This pathway allows competitors to reference the FDA’s
prior approvals regarding innovative biological products and data submitted with a BLA to obtain approval of a
biosimilar application 12 years after the time of approval of the innovative biological product. The 12-year exclusivity
period runs from the initial approval of the innovator product and not from approval of a new indication. In addition, the
12-year exclusivity period does not prevent another company from independently developing a product that is highly
similar to the innovative product, generating all the data necessary for a full BLA and seeking approval. Exclusivity only
assures that another company cannot rely on the FDA’s prior approvals in approving a BLA for an innovator’s biological
product to support the biosimilar product’s approval. Further, under the FDA’s current interpretation, it is possible that a
biosimilar applicant could obtain approval for one or more of the indications approved for the innovator product by
extrapolating clinical data from one indication to support approval for other indications. In the EU, the EC has granted
marketing authorizations for biosimilars pursuant to a set of general and product class-specific guidelines. We are aware
of many pharmaceutical and biotechnology and other companies that are actively engaged in research and development
of biosimilars or interchangeable products.

It is possible that our competitors will succeed in developing technologies that are more effective than
ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA, tisotumaba vedotin or our other product candidates or that would render our
technology obsolete or noncompetitive, or will succeed in developing biosimilar, interchangeable or generic products for
ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA, tisotumaba vedotin or our other product candidates. We anticipate that we will
continue to face increasing competition in the futurett as new companies enter our market and scientific developments
surrounding biosimilars and other cancer therapies continue to accelerate. We cannot predict to what extent the entry of
biosimilars or other competing products will impact potential futurett sales of ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA,
tisotumaba vedotin or our other product candidates.
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Risks Related to Regulatory Approval and Oversight, and Other Legal Compliance Matters

Even if we and our collabll oratorsrr obtainii regulate orytt approvals to market our current and any future approved
products, we and our collaboratorll srr willii remain subject to extenstt ive ongoingii regulate orytt obligatii ons and oversight,rr
includingii post-approvtt al requirements,s that could result in signifgg icaff nt additiii onal expense and couldll negatively impactm
our and our collaborators’ll abiliii tyii to commercialiii zeii our current and any future approved products.

We are subject to extensive ongoing obligations and continued regulatory review from applicablea regulatory
agencies with respect to any product for which we have obtained regulatory approval, including ADCETRIS, PADCEV
and TUKYSA in each of their approved indications, such as continued adverse event reporting requirements and the
requirement to have some of our promotional materials pre-cleared by the FDA. There may also be additional post-
marketing obligations, all of which may result in significant expense and limit our and our collaborata ors’ ability to
commercialize our current and any future approved products. For example, the FDA’s accelerated approval of PADCEV
included a requirement for a confirmatory trial, EV-301, to confirm the clinical benefit and provide additional long-term
efficacy data that may inform product labea ling. If the FDA does not agree with our interpretation of the data from this
post-marketing study, it could withdraw approval of PADCEV or require the inclusion of unfavorablea safetyt information
in our product labea ling, which could seriously harm our business. Moreover, in connection with PADCEV’s accelerated
approval, the labea ling and advertising and promotion of PADCEV are subject to additional regulatory requirements,
which entail significant expense and could negatively impact the commercialization of PADCEV. In addition, the use of
any of our products may uncover additional adverse events that require us to update the product’s prescribing
information, limit or prevent that product’s widespread use or that result in the withdrawal of that product from the
market. Any problems with a product or any violation of ongoing regulatory obligations could result in restrictions on the
applicable product, including the withdrawal of the applicable product from the market.

ADCETRIS is approved under conditional marketing authorization in relapseda Hodgkin lymphoma, relapsed
cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, and in both relapseda and frontline sALCL in the EU under regulations which allow for
approval of products for cancer or other serious or life threatening illnesses based on a surrogate endpoint or on a clinical
endpoint other than survival or irreversible morbidity. Takeda is subject to certain post-approvala requirements, including
the requirement to conduct clinical trials to confirm clinical benefit. Takeda’s failure to provide these additional clinical
data from confirmatory studies could result in the European Commission, or EC, withdrawing approval of ADCETRIS in
the EU for certain indications, which would negatively impact anticipated royalty revenue from ADCETRIS sales by
Takeda in the EU and could adversely affecff t our results of operations. The FDA’s approval of ADCETRIS in
combination with chemotherapy for patients with previously untreated CD30-expressing peripheral T-cell lymphoma, or
the frontline PTCL indication, included a post-marketing commitment to develop a clinically validated in-vitro
diagnostic device for the selection of patients with CD30-expressing PTCL, not including sALCL, for treatment with
ADCETRIS in this indication. We and Takeda have a collaboration with Ventana Medical Systems, Inc., or Ventana,
under which Ventana is working to develop, manufacture and commercialize a companion diagnostic test to measure
CD30 expression levels in tissue specimens. If Ventana develops an in-vitro diagnostic device that we are able to
clinically validate, the FDA or another regulatory authority may revise our labela for the frontline PTCL indication or in
connection with any futurett approvals to require the use of the in-vitro test as a companion diagnostic. This may limit our
ability to commercialize ADCETRIS in the applicable treatment setting due to potential labea l requirements, prescriber
practices, constraints on availability of the diagnostic, or other factors. If Ventana is unable to successfully develop the
CD30 in-vitro diagnostic, or experiences delays in doing so, or we experience delays in clinical validation of the
diagnostic, we will likely need to renegotiate the timing or content of our post-marketing commitment regarding the in-
vitro diagnostic device with the FDA.
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We and the manufacturers of our current and any future approved products are also required, or will be required,
to comply with current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, regulations, which include requirements relating to
quality control and quality assurance as well as the corresponding maintenance of records and documentation. Further,
regulatory agencies must approve these manufacturingt facilities before they can be used to manufacture our products and
product candidates, and these facilities are subjeu ct to ongoing regulatory inspections. In addition, regulatory agencies
subject an approved product, its manufacturertt and the manufacturer’s facilities to continual review and inspections,
including periodic unannounced inspections. The subsequent discovery of previously unknown problems with our
current or any future approved products, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems
with the facilities where our current or any futurett approved products are manufactured, including potential staffing
shortages, production slowdowns and the extensive reliance on virtualtt oversight of third-party manufacturing in
connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, may result in restrictions on the marketing of our current or any such future
approved products, up to and including withdrawal of the affected product from the market. If our manufacturing
facilities, our collaborators’ manufacturing facilities, or those of our respective suppliers, fail to comply with applicable
regulatory requirements, such noncompliance could result in regulatory action, delays in regulatory timelines and
additional costs to us.

Failure to comply with applicable FDA and other regulatory requirements may subjeu ct us to administrative or
judicially imposed sanctions, including:

• issuance of Form FDA 483 notices or Warning Letters by the FDA or other regulatory agencies;

• imposition of fines and other civil penalties;

• criminal prosecutions;

• injunctions, suspensions or revocations of regulatory approvals;

• suspension of any ongoing clinical trials;

• total or partial suspension of manufacturing;

• delays in commercialization;

• refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications submitted by us;

• refusals to permit drugs to be imported into or exported from the U.S.;

• restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturingtt requirements; and

• product recalls or seizures.

The policies of the FDA and other regulatory agencies may change and additional government regulations may be
enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates or of ADCETRIS, PADCEV or
TUKYSA in any additional indications or territories, or further restrict or regulate post-approval activities. We cannot
predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse government regulation that may arise from futurett legislation or
administrative action, either in the U.S. or abroad. If we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we or our
collaborata ors might not be permitted to market our current or any futuret approved products and our business would
suffer.
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Healthcare law and policy changesn may have a material adverse effect on us.

In recent years, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory actions and executive orders that have
made reforms to the U.S. healthcare system. For examplem , the federal government has implem mented reforms to
government healthcare programs in the U.S., including changes to the methods for, and amounts of, Medicare
reimbursement and changes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program. The implementation of certain of these policy
changes has decreased our revenues and increased our costs, and federal and state legislatures, health agencies and third-
party payors continue to focus on containing the cost of health care. Further legislative and regulatory changes, and
increasing pressure from social sources, are likely to further influence the manner in which our products are priced,
reimbursed, prescribed and purchased. For example, additional reforms could result in further reductions in coverage and
levels of reimbursement for our products, expansion of U.S. government rebate programs, increases in the rebates
payablea under these programs, requests for additional or supplemental rebates, and additional downward pressure on the
prices that we and our collaborata ors receive for our products.

The Trump administration put forth a number of proposals aimed at containing prescription drug prices and
announced several Executive Orders that sought to implement a number of the administration’s proposals. For example,
as a result of Executive Orders, the FDA released a final rule, effecff tive November 30, 2020, that cleared a path for
importation of some Canadian drugs into the U.S. Biological products were excluded from the rule’s definition of
“eligible prescription drug,” however TUKYSA may be subject to importation from Canada under this rule, which could
negatively affect TUKYSA sales in the U.S. We expect the Biden administration to similarly pursue and implement
measures aimed at reducing pharmaceutical drug pricing. Also, in the current climate, price increases on our products
and negative publicity regarding drug pricing and price increases generally, whether on our products or products
distributed by other pharmaceutical companies, could negatively affect market acceptance of, and sales of, our products.

Some states are also considering legislation and ballot initiatives that would control the prices and coverage and
reimbursement levels of drugs, including laws to allow importam tion of pharmaceutical products from lower cost
jurisdictions outside the U.S. and laws intended to impose price controls on state drug purchases.

In addition, governments in countries outside the U.S. control the costs of pharmaceuticals. Many European
countries and Canada have established pricing and reimbursement policies that contain costs by referencing the price of
the same or similar products in other countries. In these instances, if coverage or the level of reimbursement is reduced,
limited or eliminated in one or more countries, we may be unablea to obtain or maintain anticipated pricing or
reimbursement in other countries or in new markets. This may create the opportunity for third-party cross-border trade or
may influence our decision whether to sell a product in one or more countries, thus adversely affecting our geographic
expansion plans.

It is also possible that governments may take additional action to reform the healthcare system in response to the
evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic.

We cannot assure you as to the ultimate content, timing, or effect of future healthcare law and policy changes, nor
is it possible at this time to estimate the impact of any such potential changes; however, such changes or the ultimate
impact of changes could materially and adversely affecff t our revenue or sales of our current and or potential future
products, as well as those of our collaborata ors.
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We are subject to various state,tt federal and internationaltt laws and regulate ionstt ,s includingii healthctt are lawsw and
regulate ionstt ,s that may impactm our businesii s and couldll subjb ect us to signi ificant fineii s and penaltiett s or other negatie ve
consequences.

Our operations may be directly or indirectly subject to various healthcare laws, including, without limitation, the
federal Anti-Kickback Statutett , federal civil and criminal false claims laws, regulations prohibiting off-labela promotions
and federal transparency requirements. These laws may impact, among other things, the sales, marketing and education
programs for ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA and any futuret approved products.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willingly soliciting, offering,
receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an
individual, or the furnishing or arranging for a good or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part,
under a federal healthcare program such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Although there are a number of
statutorytt exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution, the exceptions and
safe harbors are drawn narrowly, and practices that involve remuneration not intended to induce prescribing, purchases
or recommendations may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor. In addition, a
conviction for violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statutett requires mandatory exclusion from participation in federal
healthcare programs.

The federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the civil False Claims Act, prohibit, among other
things, persons or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false claim to, or the knowing use of
false statements to obtain payment from or approval by the federal government, including the Medicare and Medicaid
programs, or knowingly making, using, or causing to be made or used a false record or statement material to a false or
fraudulent claim or to avoid, decrease, or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government. Many
pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have been investigated and have reached substantial financial settlements
with the federal government under the civil False Claims Act for a variety of alleged improper marketing, promotion or
other activities.

The FDA and other governmental authorities also actively investigate allegations of off-labela promotion activities
in order to enforce regulations prohibiting these types of activities. In recent years, private whistleblowers have also
pursued False Claims Act cases against a number of pharmaceutical companies for causing false claims to be submitted
as a result of off-label promotion. If we are found to have promoted an approved product for off-label uses, we may be
subject to significant liability, including significant civil and administrative financial penalties and other remedies as well
as criminal penalties and other sanctions. Even when a company is not determined to have engaged in off-labela
promotion, the allegation from government authorities or market participants that a company has engaged in such
activities could have a significant impact on the company’s sales, business and financial condition. The U.S. government
has also required companies to enter into complex corporate integrity agreements, deferred prosecution agreements and/
or non-prosecution agreements that impose significant reporting and other burdens on the affected companies.

The federal transparency requirements under the Physician Payments Sunshine Act require certain manufacturers
of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment is availablea under Medicare, Medicaid, or the
Children’s Health Insurance Program to annually report information related to certain payments or other transfers of
value to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), and teaching
hospitals, or to entities or individuals at the request of, or designated on behalf of, the physicians and teaching hospitals,
and to report annually certain ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family
members. Beginning in 2022, applicablea manufacturers also will be required to report information related to payments
and other transfers of value to physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse specialists, certified registered
nurse anesthetists, anesthesiologist assistants and certified nurse midwives during the previous year. Failure to submiu t
timely, accurately and completely the required information for all payments, transfers of value and ownership or
investment interests may result in civil monetary penalties of up to an aggregate of $150,000 per year plus up to an
aggregate of $1 million per year for “knowing failures,” as adjusted d for inflation.
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Other healthcare laws and regulations that may affect our ability to operate include, among others, the federal civil
monetary penalties statutet and the federal Health Insurance Portabila ity and Accountabila ity Act, or HIPAA. In addition,
many states and jurisdictions outside the U.S. have similar laws and regulations, such as anti-kickback, anti-bribery and
corruption, false claims and transparency, to which we are currently and/or may in the future,t be subject. Additional
information about these requirements is provided under “Government Regulation – Healthcare Regulation” above. In
addition, the number and complexity of healthcare laws and regulations applicable to our business continue to increase.

We are also subject to numerous other laws and regulations that while not specific to the healthcare industry, do
apply to the healthcare industry in important ways. For instance, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA,
generally prohibits paying, offering to pay, or authorizing the payment of anything of value to any foreign government
official, governmental staff members, political party or political candidate in an attempt to obtain or retain business or to
otherwise influence a person working in an official capaa city. In Europe, national anti-corruption laws prohibit giving,
offering, or promising bribes to any person, including foreign government officials and private persons, as well as
requesting, agreeing to receive, or accepting bribes from any person. Various European anti-corruption laws have broad
extraterritorial reach and therefore we may be subject to those laws even if we do not have an establia shed entity in those
countries and we may be held liable for bribes given, offered or promised to any person, including private persons, by
employees and persons associated with us in order to obtain or retain business or a business advantage. As we expand
our footprint and activities outside of the U.S. and Canada, our exposure to compliance risks under the FCPA and other
similar laws will likewise increase.

In an effortff to comply with these laws and regulations, we have implemented a compliance program designed to
actively identify, prevent and mitigate risk through the implementation of compliance policies and systems and by
promoting a culture of compliance. We also actively work to revise and evolve our compliance program in an effortff to
keep pace with evolving compliance risks and the growing scale of our business. Although we take our obligation to
maintain our compliance with these various laws and regulations seriously and our compliance program is designed to
detect and prevent the violation of these laws and regulations, we cannot guarantee that our compliance program will be
sufficient or effective, that we will be able to integrate the operations of newly formed affiliates or acquired businesses
into our compliance program on a timely basis, that our employees will comply with our policies and that our employees
will notify us of any violation of our policies, that we will have the ability to take appropriate and timely corrective
action in response to any such violation, or that we will make decisions and take actions that will necessarily limit or
avoid liability for whistleblower claims that individuals, such as employem es or former employees, may bring against us or
that governmental authorities may prosecute against us based on information provided by individuals. If we are found to
be in violation of any of the laws and regulations described above or other applicablea state and federal healthcare laws,
we may be subject to penalties, including significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines,
disgorgement, contractual damages, reputational harm, administrative burdens, imprisonment, diminished profits and
future earnings, exclusion from government healthcare reimbursement programs, additional reporting requirements and
oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegations of non-
compliance with these laws, and/odd r the curtailment or restructuringtt of our operations, any of which could have a material
adverse effectff on our business, results of operations and growth prospects. Any action against us for violation of these
laws or regulations, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and
divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business. Moreover, achieving and sustaining compliance
with applicablea federal, state and healthcare laws outside the U.S. is costly and time-consuming for our management.
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We are subject to evolving privacy and securitytt laws,w and our failure to complym could resultll in penaltiett s and
reputatee ionaltt damage.ee

We are subject to numerous privacy and data protection laws and regulations governing healthcare and other
information. The U.S. federal government, individual U.S. states, EU member countries and other jurisdictions,
including Switzerland and Canada, have adopted data protection laws and regulations which impose significant
compliance obligations. For example, the use and international transfer of personal data collected in the EU is governed
by the provisions of the EU General Data Protection Regulation, or the GDPR. The GDPR, which is wide-ranging in
scope, imposes several requirements relating to the control over personal data by individuals to whom the personal data
relates, the information provided to the individuals, the documentation we must maintain, the security and confidentiality
of the personal data, data breach notification and the use of third-party processors in connection with the processing of
personal data. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data out of the EU, provides an
enforcement authority and authorizes the imposition of large penalties for noncompliance, including the potential for
fines of up to €20 million or 4% of the annual global revenues of the non-compliant company, whichever is greater. The
GDPR requirements apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers of information between us and our
subsidiaries, including employee information. The GDPR has increased our responsibility and potential liability in
relation to all types of personal data that we process, including in clinical trials, and we may be required to put in place
additional mechanisms to ensure complim ance with the GDPR, which could divert management’s attention and increase
our cost of doing business. However, despite our ongoing effortsff to bring our practices into compliance with the GDPR,
we may not be successful either due to various factors within our control or other factors outside our control. Local data
protection authorities can also have different interpretations of the GDPR, leading to potential inconsistencies amongst
various EU member states.

Moreover, one of the primary safeguards allowing U.S. companies to importm personal information from Europe
has been certification to the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield and Swiss-U.S. Privacy Shield frameworks administered by the U.S.
Department of Commerce. However, the Court of Justice of the EU, or the CJEU, recently invalidated the EU-U.S.
Privacy Shield. The same decision also raised questions about whether one of the primary alternatives to the EU-U.S.
Privacy Shield, namely, the EC’s Standard Contractualt Clauses, provide sufficient protection for personal data
transferred from Europe to the U.S. or most other countries without analyzing each transfer and implementing
supplementary measures to protect the data. Following recent recommendations from the European Data Protection
Board, we are undertaking a review of personal data transfers from the EU and will assess the impact of the CJEU
decision on our operations. At present, there are few, if any, viable alternatives to the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield and the
Standard Contractualt Clauses. Where appropriate, we rely on individuals’ explicit consent to transfer their personal
information from Europe to the U.S. and other countries. In addition, we rely on inter-company Standard Contractual
Clauses to provide appropriate safeguards for such transfers. The EC is expected to publish new Standard Contractual
Clauses soon and to give companies relying on them for transfers 12 months to adapt. Authorities in Switzerland, whose
data protection laws are similar to those of the EU, also invalidated use of the Swiss-U.S. Privacy Shield. Authorities in
the United Kingdom, or U.K., may similarly invalidate use of the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield. The U.K.'s departure from the
EU, known as Brexit, has created additional uncertainty with regard to data protection regulation in the U.K., as it is
unclear whether the U.K. and EU will be able to negotiate a mutualtt ly agreeablea data protection agreement that regulates
data transfers between the U.K. and EU and what impact this will have on our business. If we are unable to rely on
explicit consent to transfer individuals’ personal information from Europe, which can be revoked, or if, upon review by
authorities, our existing compliance solutions are found to be insufficient, we will face increased exposure to substau ntial
fines under European data protection laws as well as injunctions against processing personal information from persons
resident in Europe. The inabila ity to import personal information from the European Economic Area, U.K. or Switzerland
could restrict our clinical trial activities in Europe, limit our ability to collaborate with contract research organizations,
service providers, contractors and other companies subject to European data protection laws, interfere with our ability to
hire employees in Europe and require us to increase our data processing capaa bila ities in Europe at significant expense.
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In addition, in the U.S., HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical
Health Act, or HITECH, and its implementing regulations, governs certain types of individuals and entities with respect
to the conduct of certain electronic healthcare transactions and imposesm certain obligations on covered entities, including
certain healthcare providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses, as well as their respective business associates
that create, receive, maintain or transmit individually identifiable health information for or on behalf of a covered entity,
and their subcontractors that use, disclose, access, or otherwise process individually identifiable health information, with
respect to the security, privacy and transmission of individually identifiablea health information. HIPAA applies to certain
aspects of our business and failure to comply with its requirements could result in the imposition of fines and penalties,
and additional negative consequences.

In any event, our failure or alleged failure (including as a result of deficiencies in our policies, procedures or
measures relating to privacy, data protection, marketing or communications) to complym with laws, regulations, policies,
legal or contractual obligations, industry standards or regulatory guidance relating to privacy or data protection, may
result in governmental investigations and enforcement actions, litigation, fines and penalties or adverse publicity. In
addition, new regulation, legislative actions or changes in interpretation of existing laws or regulations regarding privacy
and data protection, together with applicable industry standards, may increase our costs of doing business. In this regard,
we expect that there will continue to be new laws, regulations and industry standards relating to privacy and data
protection in the U.S., the EU and other jurisdictions, such as the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 and the
Californiff a Privacy Rights Act of 2020, which have been characterized as “GDPR-like” privacy laws, and we cannot
determine the impact such new laws, regulations and standards may have on our business.

As we continueii to expand our operations internattt ionalltt y,ll we are subject to an increased risk of conductingii
activtt itiett s in a manner that violatestt applicablell anti-briberii yr or anti-ctt orruptiontt laws.w We are also subject to lawsw and
regulatill ons covering datatt privacyc and the protectiontt of health-rett latedtt and other personalrr information. These lawsw
and regulatie ons couldll creatett liabii liii tyii for us or increase our cost of doingn business,ii any of which could have a materialtt
adverse effect on our business,ii resultsll of operations and growth prospects.tt

We are continuing to expand our operations internationally, and are building a commercial infrastructurett in
Europe. In this regard, we currently have multiple subsidiaries in jurisdictions outside the U.S., including a number of
subsidiaries in Europe, and plan in the future to have subsidiaries in additional jurisdictions. Our business activities
outside of the U.S. are and will continue to be subject to the FCPA, which is described above, and similar anti-bribery or
anti-corruption laws, regulations or rules of other countries in which we currently and may in the futuret operate,
including the recently established French Anti-corruption Law on Transparency, Fight against Corruption and the
Modernization of the Economy, referred to as Sapina II. In Europe, national anti-corruption laws prohibit giving, offering,
or promising bribes to any person, including foreign government officials and private persons, as well as requesting,
agreeing to receive, or accepting bribes from any person. Various European anti-corruption laws have broad
extraterritorial reach and therefore we may be subject to those laws even if we do not have an establia shed entity in those
countries and we may be held liable for bribes given, offered or promised to any person, including private persons, by
employees and persons associated with us in order to obtain or retain business or a business advantage. In the course of
expanding our operations internationally, we will need to establia sh and expand business relationships with various third
parties, such as independent contractors, distributors, vendors, and advocacy groups, and we will interact with
physicians, which are generally considered foreign officials in Europe, as well as with regulatory authorities who may be
deemed to be foreign officials under the FCPA or similar laws of other countries that may govern our activities. Any
interactions with any such parties or individuals that are found to be in violation of such laws could result in substantial
fines and penalties and could materially harm our business. Furthermore, any finding of a violation under one country’s
laws may increase the likelihood that we will be prosecuted and be found to have violated another country’s laws. If our
business practices outside the U.S. are found to be in violation of the FCPA, the Sapin II or other similar laws, we may
be subject to significant civil and criminal penalties which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations and growth prospects. We are also subject to laws and regulations covering data privacy and the protection
of health-related and other personal information. In this regard, EU member states and other jurisdictions outside the
U.S., including Switzerland, have adopted data protection laws and regulations, such as the GDPR, which impose
significant compliance obligations. Failure to comply with these laws could lead to government enforcement actions and
significant penalties against us, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
growth prospects.
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Enhanced governmental and privatett scrutinytt over,r or investigatii ons or litigii ationtt involving, pharmaceutical
manufactu urer donations to patiett nt assistance programs offered by charitablett foundationstt may require us tott modifyi
our programs and couldll negativtt elyll impacm t our businesii s practices, harm our reputatee ion,tt divert the attett ntion of
management and increase our expensxx es.

We have a patient assistance program and also occasionally make donations to independent charitable foundations
that help financially needy patients. These types of programs designed to assist patients in affordingff pharmaceuticals
have become the subject of scrutiny. In recent years, some pharmaceutical manufacturerst were named in class action
lawsuits challenging the legality of their patient assistance programs and support of independent charitable patient
support foundations under a variety of federal and state laws. Our patient assistance program and support of independent
charitable foundations could become the target of similar litigation. At least one insurer also has directed its network
pharmacies to no longer accept manufacturer co-payment coupons for certain specialty drugs the insurer identified. In
addition, certain state and federal enforcement authorities and members of Congress have initiated inquiries about co-pay
assistance programs. Some state legislatures have also been considering proposals that would restrict or ban co-pay
coupons.

In addition, there has been regulatory review and enhanced government scrutiny of donations by pharmaceutical
companies to patient assistance programs operated by charitable foundations. For example, the HHS Office of Inspector
General has established specific guidelines permitting pharmaceutical manufacturerstt to make donations to charitablea
organizations who provide co-pay assistance to Medicare patients, provided that such organizations are bona fide
charities, are entirely independent of and not controlled by the manufacturer, provide aid to applicants on a first-come
basis according to consistent financial criteria, and do not link aid to use of a donor’s product. If we or our vendors or
donation recipients are deemed to fail to comply with laws or regulations in the operation of these programs, we could be
subject to damages, fines, penalties or other criminal, civil or administrative sanctions or enforcement actions. Further,
numerous organizations, including pharmaceutical manufacturers, have received subpoenas from the U.S. Department of
Justice and other enforcement authorities seeking information related to their patient assistance programs and support,u
and certain of these organizations have entered into significant civil settlements with applicablea enforcement authorities.
In connection with these civil settlements, the U.S. government has and may in the futuret require the affected companies
to enter into complex corporate integrity agreements that impose significant reporting and other requirements on those
companies. We cannot ensure that our compliance controls, policies and procedures will be sufficient to protect against
acts of our employem es, business partners or vendors that may violate the laws or regulations of the jurisdictions in which
we operate. Regardless of whether we have complied with the law, a government investigation could negatively impact
our business practices, harm our reputation, divert the attention of management and increase our expenses.

Product liabiliii tyii and product recallsll couldll harm our business,ii and we maya not be able to obtaintt adequate
insurance to protect us againstii product liabii liii tyii losses.

The current and future use of our products and product candidates by us and our corporate collaborata ors in clinical
trials and the sale of our products, expose us to product liability claims. These claims have and may in the future be made
directly by patients or healthcare providers or indirectly by pharmaceutical companies, our corporate collaboratora s or
others selling such products. Additionally, in connection with our acquisition of the manufacturing facility from BMS,
we agreed to enter into certain transitional services agreements under which we manufactured certain clinical drugrr
product components for BMS for a period of time. As a result, it is possible that we may be named as a defendant in
product liability suits that may allege that drug products we manufactured for BMS have resulted in injury to patients.
We may experience substantial financial losses in the future due to product liability claims. We have obtained product
liability coverage, including coverage for human clinical trials and product sold commercially. However, such insurance
is subject to coverage limits and exclusions, as well as significant deductibles. In addition, we may not be able to
maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against all losses. If a successful
product liability claim or series of claims is brought against us for uninsured liabilities or in excess of insured amounts,
our assets may not be sufficient to cover such claims and our business operations could be impaired.

Product recalls may be issued at our discretion, or at the discretion of government agencies and other entities that
have regulatory authority for pharmaceutical sales. Any recall of our products could materially adversely affect our
business by rendering us unable to sell our products for some time and by adversely affecff ting our reputation.
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Our operations involve hazardous materialsll and are subject to environmental,ll healthtt and safety controls and
regulate ionstt .

We are subject to environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing the use of
hazardous materials, and we spend considerable time complying with such laws and regulations. Our business activities
involve the controlled use of hazardous materials and although we take precautions to prevent accidental contamination
or injury from these materials, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of using these materials. In addition, with respect
to our manufacturingt facility, we may incur substantial costs to comply with environmental laws and regulations and
may become subject to the risk of accidental contamination or injury from the use of hazardous materials in our
manufacturing process. It is also possible that our manufacturingtt facility may expose us to environmental liabilities
associated with historical site conditions that we are not currently aware of and did not cause. In this regard, some
environmental laws impose liability for contamination on current owners and operators of affecff ted sites, regardless of
fault. In the event of an accident or environmental discharge, or new or previously unknown contamination is discovered
or new cleanup obligations are otherwise imposed in connection with any of our currently or previously owned or
operated facilities, we may be held liable for any resulting damages, which may materially harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Changes in fundingii for the FDA,DD the SEC and other governmenrr t agencies, or reduced working hours of
governmental employm ees or by the diversion of the efforts and attention of governmental agencies to approval of other
therapeutics or othertt activitiii es relatedtt to the COVID-19 pandemic, could prevent new products and services from
beingii developed or commercialiii zedii in a timeii ly manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal
functions on which thett operation of our businessii maya rely,ll which could negate ivtt elyll impacm t our business.ii

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affecff ted by a variety of factors, including
government budget and funding levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept payment of user fees, and
statutory,tt regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result.
In addition, government funding of the FDA, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and other
government agencies on which our operations may rely is inherently fluid and unpredictable. With respect to the
COVID-19 pandemic, it is possible that we could experience delays in the timing of regulatory review and/or our
interactions with regulatory authorities due to reduced working hours or absenteeism of governmental employees or by
the diversion of authorities’ effortsff and attention to approval of other therapeuta ics or other activities related to
COVID-19, which could delay any approval decision with respect to the regulatory application we submiu tted to the
MHRARR for TUKYSA, or our progress in advancing our development efforts with respect to other products and product
candidates. Our interactions with regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions and across multiple products and product
candidates continue but we cannot rule out the possibility of negative impacts on such interactions in the futurett as the
pandemic continues to evolve.

Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or
approved by necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the last
several years, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA and the
SEC, have had to furlough critical FDA, SEC and other government employees and stop critical activities. If a prolonged
government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our
regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business. Further, futurett government
shutdowns could potentially impact our ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary capita al in order to
properly capita alize and continue our operations.
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Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

We depend on collaborative relationstt hips withii othertt companiem s to assist in the development and
commercializatll iontt of our products and some of our product candidatestt and for the development and
commercializatll iontt of othertt product candidatestt utiliii zinii gn or incorporatingii our technologies. If we are not ablell to locate
suitablii ell collaboratorll srr or if our collaboratorsrr do not performr as expected,tt this may negatie vely affect our abilitll ytt to
commercializell our products, develop and commercializell our product candidatestt and/or generate revenues through
technology licensing,ii or maya othertt wiseii negativtt elyll affect our businesii s.

We have establia shed collaborata ions with third parties to develop and market each of our products and some of our
current and future product candidates. Because control of development and commercialization is shared with our
collaborata ors under these collaborata ions, we do not have sole discretion and control over the development and
commercialization of the applicablea products and product candidates. For example, we entered into a collaboration
agreement with Takeda in December 2009 that granted Takeda rights to develop and commercialize ADCETRIS outside
of the U.S. and Canada, and we entered into a collaboration agreement with Merck in September 2020 that granted
Merck rights to develop and commercialize TUKYSA outside of the U.S., Canada and Europe. In addition, we have
entered into collaborata ions with Astellas for the development and commercialization of PADCEV, with Genmab for the
development and commercialization of tisotumaba vedotin, and with Merck for the development and commercialization
of ladiratuzumaba vedotin. Our collaborata ions also include clinical trial collaborata ions to develop, in combination, our
product or product candidates and the products or product candidates of one or more third parties. For example, we have
clinical trial collaborations with BMS to evaluate the combination of nivolumaba with ADCETRIS in various settings and
with Merck to evaluate the combination of pembrolizumaba in combination with PADCEV in various settings.

We also have ADC license agreements with AbbVie, Astellas, Genentech, Genmab,a GSK and Progenics to allow
them to use our proprietary ADC technology, and our ADC licensees conduct all research, product development,
manufacturing and commercialization of any product candidates under these agreements.

Our dependence on collaborata ive arrangements to assist in the development and commercialization of our
products and some of our product candidates and on license arrangements for the development and commercialization of
other product candidates utilizing or incorporating our technologies subjects us to a number of risks, including:

• we are not able to control the amount and timing of resources that our collaborata ors and licensees devote to the
development or commercialization of products and product candidates under a collaborata ion or license
agreement, including ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA and tisotumaba vedotin;

• disputes may arise between us and our collaborata ors or licensees that result in the delay or termination of the
research, development or commercialization of the applicable products and product candidates or that result in
costly litigation or arbitr ration that diverts management’s attention and resources;

• with respect to collaborations under which we have an active role, we may have differing opinions, processes or
priorities than our collaborata ors, or we may encounter challenges in joint decision making and joint execution,
including with respect to any joint development or commercialization plans or co-promotion activities, which
may delay or otherwise harm the research, development, launch or commercialization of the applicable products
and product candidates, including ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA and tisotumaba vedotin;

• our current and potential future collaborata ors and licensees may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient
funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial or abandon a product candidate, repeat or conduct new
clinical trials, use standards or processes for conducting clinical trials that differ from ours or require a new
formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

• significant delays in the development of product candidates by current and potential collaborators and licensees
could allow competm itors to bring products to market before product candidates utilizing or incorporating our
technologies are approved and impair the ability of current and potential future collaborators and licensees to
effectively commercialize these product candidates;
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• our relationships with our collaborators and licensees may divert significant time and effortff of our scientific
staff and management team and require the effective allocation of our resources to multiple internal
collaborata ive projects;

• our current and potential future collaborata ors and licensees may not pursue regulatory approvals in a timely
manner, may not be successful in their efforts to obtain regulatory approvals, or may not launch or
commercialize a product in their territories in a timely manner;

• our current and potential future collaborata ors and licensees may receive regulatory sanctions relating to other
aspects of their business, or could take actions with respect to our jointly-developed product, that could
adversely affecff t the development, approval or commercialization of the applicablea products or product
candidates or our reputation with regulatory agencies;

• our current and potential future collaborata ors and licensees may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual
property rights or may use our proprietary information in such a way as to invite litigation that could jeopardize
or invalidate our proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation;

• business combinations or significant changes in a collaborator’s or licensee’s business strategy may adversely
affect such party’st willingness or ability to complete its obligations under any arrangement;

• a collaborator or licensee could independently move forward with competing products, therapeuta ic approaches
or technologies to develop treatments for the diseases targeted by us or our collaborata ors that are developed by
such collaborata or or licensee either independently or in collaborata ion with others, including our competitors;

• our current and potential future collaborata ors and licensees may experience financial difficulties; and

• our collaborata ion or license agreements may be terminated, breached or allowed to expire, or our collaborators
or licensees may reduce the scope of our agreements with them, which could have a material adverse effecff t on
our financial position by reducing or eliminating the potential for us to receive technology access and license
fees, milestones and royalties, and/or reimbursement of development costs, and which could require us to
devote additional effortsff and to incur the additional costs associated with pursuing internal development and
commercialization of the applicablea products and product candidates.
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If our collaborata ive and license arrangements are not successful as a result of any of the above factors, or any
other factors, then our ability to advance the development and commercialization of the applicablea products and product
candidates and to otherwise generate revenue from these arrangements and to become profitablea will be adversely
affected, and our business and business prospects may be materially harmed. In particular, if Takeda or Merck were to
terminate the ADCETRIS collaboration or the TUKYSA collaboration, respectively, which they may do for any reason
upon prior written notice to us, we would not receive milestone payments, co-funded development payments or royalties
for the sale of ADCETRIS outside the U.S. and Canada or for TUKYSA outside the U.S., Canada and Europe. As a
result of any such termination, we may have to engage another collaborator to complete the ADCETRIS or TUKYSA
development process and to commercialize ADCETRIS or TUKYSA in our collaborata ors’ current territories, or to
complete the development process and undertake commercializing ADCETRIS or TUKYSA in our collaborata ors’
current territories ourselves, either of which could significantly delay the continued development and commercialization
of ADCETRIS or TUKYSA and increase our costs. Similarly, Astellas, Genmaba and Merck each have the right to opt
out of their co-development obligations relating to PADCEV, tisotumaba vedotin and ladiratuzumaba vedotin, respectively.
If Astellas, Genmaba or Merck were to opt out of their co-development collaborations with us, this would significantly
delay the commercialization and development of PADCEV or the development of tisotumaba vedotin or ladiratuzumtt ab
vedotin, as applicablea , and increase our costs. Any of these events could significantly harm our financial position,
adversely affecff t our stock price and require us to incur all the costs of developing and commercializing the applicable
product or product candidate, which would otherwise be co-funded by our collaborata ion partners. Moreover, in the case
of PADCEV and tisotumab vedotin, the success of PADCEV and any approved tisotumaba vedotin product will depend,
in part, on our ability to effecff tively jointly commercialize PADCEV and tisotumab vedotin with Astellas and Genmab,a
respectively, in accordance with our joint commercialization obligations and joint commercialization plans. The success,
if any, of our joint commercialization efforts with Astellas and Genmab,a as well as the activities of Astellas and Genmab,a
will significantly impact the commercialization of PADCEV and the potential futuret commercialization of an approved
tisotumaba vedotin product, respectively. The product candidates being developed under our collaboration and license
agreements are in various stages of development and we cannot guarantee that any of the product candidates under our
collabora ations will be successful. In this regard, certain of our ADC licensees have advanced product candidates utilizing
or incorporating our ADC technology to later stage clinical trials that were not successful. In the future, we may not be
ablea to locate third-party collaborators to assist in commercializing any future products in regions outside the U.S., and
we may lack the capita al and resources necessary to market these products in certain regions outside the Unites States
alone.

We currently rely on third-partii ytt manufacturers and othertt third partiett s for production of our drug products and
our dependenee ce on these manufacturers maya impaim rii the continueii d developmell nt and commercializatill on of our
products and product candidates.

Although we own a biologics manufacturingt facility located in Bothell, Washington, we rely and expect to
continue to rely on corporate collaboratorsa and contract manufacturing organizations to supply drug product for
commercial supplyu and our IND-enabling studies and clinical trials.

For the monoclonal antibody used in ADCETRIS, we have contracted with AbbVie for clinical and commercial
supplies. For the drug linker used in ADCETRIS, we have contracted with Millipore Sigma, an affilff iate of Merck KGaA,
for clinical and commercial supplies. We have multiple contract manufacturers for conjugating the drug linker to the
antibody and producing the ADCETRIS product. We rely on Astellas to supply PADCEV for our clinical trials and for
commercial sale, and Astellas oversees the manufacturing supply chain for PADCEV. With respect to TUKYSA, we rely
on multiple contract manufacturers and other third parties to perform manufacturing services for us including Sterling
Pharma Solutions Limited for production of the starting materials for TUKYSA, Esteve Quimica to produce the active
pharmaceutical ingredient, Hovione to complete spray drying and Corden Plankstadt to produce the tablea ts for
TUKYSA. We have entered into commercial supply agreements with each of Sterling, Esteve Quimica and Corden, and
are in the process of negotiating a commercial supply agreement with Hovione. For the foreseeablea future, we expect to
continue to rely on contract manufacturerstt and other third parties to produce and store sufficient quantities of
ADCETRIS and TUKYSA, and on Astellas and other third parties to produce and store sufficient quantities of
PADCEV, for use in our clinical trials and for commercial sale. If our contract manufacturers, collaborators or other third
parties fail to deliver our products for clinical use or sale on a timely basis, with sufficient quality, and at commercially
reasonable prices, and we fail to find replacement manufacturerst or to develop our own manufacturing capaa bila ities, we
may bear costly losses or be required to delay or suspend clinical trials or otherwise discontinue development, production

63



and sale of our products. With respect to TUKYSA specifically, we have limited prior experience as an organization
manufacturing TUKYSA and small molecule drug products generally, and have relatively new working relationships
with many of the third-party manufacturerstt involved in TUKYSA manufacture.t These factors increase the chance that
we could encounter manufacturing challenges that could increase our costs, cause delays or otherwise negatively impact
our business. Moreover, there are a limited number of facilities in which each of our products can be produced, and any
interruption of the operation of those facilities due to the risks and evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic or other
events such as equipment malfunctff ion or failure or damage to the facility by naturalt disasters or as the result of
regulatory actions or contractualtt disputes could result in the cancellation of shipments, loss of product in the
manufacturing process, a shortfall in product supply, or limit our or our collaborators’ ability to sell our products.
Further, we and our collaborata ors depend on outside vendors for the supplyu of raw materials used to produce our
products. If the third-party suppliers were to cease production or otherwise fail to supply us or our collaborators with
quality raw materials and we or our collaborators were unablea to contract on acceptablea terms for these raw materials
with alternative suppliers, our ability to have our products manufacturedt to meet clinical and commercial requirements
would be adversely affected. While we believe that the existing supplies of PADCEV and Astellas’ contract
manufacturing relationships will be sufficient to accommodate current clinical and commercial needs, we or Astellas
may need to obtain additional manufacturing arrangements or increase manufacturingt capaa bila ity to meet potential futuret
commercial needs with respect to PADCEV, which could require additional capita al investment by us or cause us
potential delays if Astellas encounters challenges in negotiating commercially reasonable arrangements with these
manufacturers. While we believe that the existing supplies of TUKYSA will be sufficient to accommodate current
clinical and forecasted commercial needs at this time, we expect that we will need to put in place additional
manufacturing arrangements or expand our current manufacturing arrangements with third-party manufacturerst to meet
potential future commercial needs and while we are currently negotiating those arrangements, we cannot assure you that
we can enter into such arrangements on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Forecasting demand for a new product
can be challenging and in the event demand for TUKYSA exceeds our estimates or in the event that our commercial
manufacturers of TUKYSA encounter unexpected failures or setbacks in completing manufacturingtt services in
accordance with applicablea quality standards, our TUKYSA launch in the U.S. could be negatively impacted by short-
term product supply challenges, which would adversely impact our TUKYSA revenues and could negatively affect our
relationships with patients and healthcare professionals. In addition, any failures or delays in manufacturing adequate
product supplies and in putting in place or expanding our manufacturing and supply infrastructure could delay or impede
our and Merck’s ability to launch and commercialize TUKYSA in any markets outside the U.S. where TUKYSA has
obtained regulatory approval and any additional markets where it may obtain regulatory approval, if any. While we do
not currently anticipate disruptions to the supply of our products due to the evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic,
if the COVID-19 pandemic continues for an extended period of time or the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic become
more severe, or any of the parties in our supply chain are adversely impacted by the evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19
pandemic, such as staffing shortages, productions slowdowns and/or disruptions in delivery systems, then there could be
disruptions to our supply chain and operations, and associated delays in the manufacturing and supply of our products.
Any supply disruptions would adversely impact our ability to generate sales of and revenues from our products, and our
business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects could be materially adversely affected. Further,
in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic and in an effortff to increase the wider availability of needed medical and
other supplies and products, we and our third-party suppliu ers may elect to or governments may require us or our third-
party suppliu ers to allocate raw materials used in manufacturing or manufacturing capaca ity (for example pursuant to the
U.S. Defense Production Act) in a way that adversely affectff s our ability to have our products manufactured to meet
clinical and commercial requirements.
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For the clinical supply of our product candidates, we rely, and expect for the foreseeablea future to continue to rely,
on multiple contract manufacturerstt and other third parties to perform manufacturingtt services for us. If these third-party
manufacturers cease or interrupt production, fail to supply satisfactory materials, products or services for any reason or
experience performance delays or quality concerns, or if materials or products are lost in transit or in the manufacturingtt
process, such challenges or interruptions could substantu ially impact clinical trial drug supply, with the potential for
additional costs, delays and an adverse effect on our business. With respect to tisotumaba vedotin, we currently rely on
drug product supply provided by Genmaba and have little control over their supply chains or the contract manufacturerst
they utilize. For the near-term, we expect to continue to rely on Genmaba for manufacturing of clinical supplies of
tisotumaba vedotin. Under the commercialization agreement we entered into with Genmab in October 2020, we will be
responsible for overseeing the clinical and commercial manufacturingt supply chain of tisotumaba vedotin following a
transition period. We will need to obtain appropriate manufacturingtt arrangements and increase manufacturingtt capaa bila ity
to meet potential futurett commercial needs, and could experience potential delays if we encounter challenges in
negotiating commercially reasonable arrangements with manufacturerst or in transitioning oversight of the manufacturing
process from Genmaba to us.

In order to obtain regulatory approval of any product candidate or regulatory approval for any product in a new
jurisdiction, we or our suppliu er or suppliers for that product or product candidate must obtain approval to manufacturett
and supply product, in some cases based on qualification data provided as part of a BLA, a New Drug Application, or
NDA, or another application for regulatory approval. In addition, the manufacturing facilities utilized to manufacture the
product or product candidate will be subject to pre-approval regulatory inspections. Any delay in generating, or failure to
generate, data required in connection with submission of the chemistry, manufacturing and controls, or CMC, portions of
any BLA, NDA or other application for regulatory approval, or challenges in the regulatory inspection process, could
negatively impact our ability to meet our anticipated submission dates, result in delay in any approval decisions and/or
negatively affect our ability to obtain regulatory approval at all. Any failure of us, our collaborators or a manufacturert to
obtain approval from a regulatory authority to manufacturet and supply product or any delay in obtaining and distributing
adequate supplies of a newly-approved product, including PADCEV and TUKYSA, on a timely basis or in accordance
with applicablea specifications and local requirements could negatively impact our ability to successfully launch and
commercialize the applicablea product or product candidate and to generate sales of that product or product candidate at
the levels we expect. We or our collaborata ors may also encounter difficulties in meeting the regulatory requirements
applicable to the manufacturing process for these agents, in managing the additional complexity of manufacturingt for a
number of markets outside the U.S. or in responding to changes in the amount or timing of supply needs. Any failures or
delays to meet these requirements could substantially delay or impede our ability to obtain regulatory approvals for and
to market these agents, which could negatively impact our operating results and adversely affecff t our business.

To date,tt we have depended on a small number of collaboratorsll for a substantialii portion of our revenue.ee The
loss of any one of these collaboratorsll or changes in their product development or businessii strategytt could resultll in a
materialtt declineii in our revenue.ee

We have collaborata ions with a limited number of companies. To date, a substantial portion of our revenue has
resulted from payments made under agreements with our corporate collaboratorsa , and although ADCETRIS sales
currently comprise a greater proportion of our revenue, we expect that a portion of our revenue will continue to come
from corporate collaboratia ons. Even though we market ADCETRIS in the U.S. and Canada, our revenues still depend in
part on Takeda’s ability to market ADCETRIS outside of the U.S. and Canada. Likewise, even though we market
TUKYSA in the U.S., our revenues will still depend in part on Merck’s ability and willingness to market TUKYSA
outside of the U.S., Canada and Europe. In addition, under our agreements with Astellas, we and Astellas bear the costs
of their own sales organizations in the U.S., equally share certain other costs associated with commercializing PADCEV
in the U.S. and equally share in any profits realized in the U.S. The loss of our collaborators, especially Takeda or
Astellas, changes in product development or business strategies of our collaborators, or the failure of our collaborators to
perform their obligations under their agreements with us for any reason, including paying license or technology fees,
milestone payments, royalties or reimbursements, could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance.
Payments under our existing and potential futurett collaboratia on agreements are also subject to significff ant fluctuations in
both timing and amount, which could cause our revenue to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors
and cause a decrease in our stock price.
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We are dependent upon a small number of distributt tors for a significant portiontt of our net sales,ll and the loss of,
or significant reduction or cancellatll iontt in sales to, any one of these distributt tors couldll adversely affect our operations
and financialii condition.tt

We sell ADCETRIS and PADCEV through a limited number of specialty distributors. Healthcare providers order
ADCETRIS and PADCEV through these distributors. We receive orders from distributors and generally ship product
directly to the healthcare provider. We sell TUKYSA through a distribution network of specialty pharmacies, integrated
delivery network hospitals and practices that dispense in the office. These distributors and distribution network partners
do not set or determine demand for our products; however, our ability to effectively commercialize our products will
depend, in part, on their performance. Although we believe we can find alternative distributors and partners on relatively
short notice, the loss of a majora distributor or partner could materially and adversely affecff t our results of operations and
financial condition. In addition, business disruptions arising from the COVID-19 pandemic could negatively affect the
ability of some of our distributors or distribution network partners to pay amounts owed to us in a timely manner or at
all.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to enforce our intellell ctual property rightsi or if we failii to sustaintt and furthertt procure
additionaltt intellell ctual property rightsi ,s we maya not be able to successfullyll commercializell our products or any future
products and competitorsii maya be able to develop competingii therapies.

Our success depends, in part, on obtaining and maintaining patent protection and successfully enforcing these
patents and defending them against third-party challenges in the U.S. and other countries. We own multiple U.S. and
foreign patents and pending patent applications for our technologies. We also have rights to issued U.S. patents, patent
applications, and their foreign counterparts, relating to our monoclonal antibody, linker and drug-based technologies.
Our rights to these patents and patent applications are derived in part from worldwide licenses from third parties. In
addition, we have licensed certain of our U.S. and foreign patents and patent applications to third parties.

The standards that the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, and foreign patent offices use to grant
patents are not always applied predictablya or uniformly and can change. Consequently, our pending patent applications
may not be allowed and, if allowed, may not contain the type and extent of patent claims that will be adequate to conduct
our business as planned. Additionally, any issued patents we currently own or obtain in the futurett may have a shorter
patent term than expected or may not contain claims that will permit us to stop competitors from using our technology or
similar technology or from copying our products. Similarly, the standards that courts use to interpret patents are not
always applied predictablya or uniformly and may evolve, particularly as new technologies develop. In addition, changes
to patent laws in the U.S. or other countries may be applied retroactively to affect the validity, enforceability, or term of
our patent. For examplem , the U.S. Supreme Court has modified some legal standards applied by the USPTO in
examination of U.S. patent applications, which may decrease the likelihood that we will be able to obtain patents and
may increase the likelihood of challenges to patents we obtain or license. In addition, changes to the U.S. patent system
have come into force under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the America Invents Act, including changes from a
“first-to-invent” system to a “firstff to file” system, changes to examination of U.S. patent applications and changes to the
processes for challenging issued patents. These changes include provisions that affecff t the way patent applications are
being filed, prosecuted and litigated. For example, the America Invents Act enacted proceedings involving post-issuance
patent review procedures, such as inter partes review, or IPR, and post-grant review and covered business methods.
These proceedings are conducted before the Patent Trial and Appeal Board, or PTAB, of the USPTO. Each proceeding
has different eligibility criteria and differeff nt patentabila ity challenges that can be raised. In this regard, the IPR process
permits any person (except a party who has been litigating the patent for more than a year) to challenge the validity of
some patents on the grounds that it was anticipated or made obvious by prior art. As a result, non-practicing entities
associated with hedge funds, pharmaceutical companies who may be our competitors and others have challenged certain
valuablea pharmaceutical U.S. patents based on prior art through the IPR process. A decision in such a proceeding adverse
to our interests could result in the loss of valuablea patent rights which would have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects. In any event, the America Invents Act and any
other potential future changes to the U.S. patent system could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the
prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects. In addition, we
rely on external agents to perform certain activities to maintain our patents. Although we carefully select and oversee
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these agents, the failure of an agent to properly perform these maintenance activities, whether through mistake or
otherwise, could adversely affecff t our intellectual property rights.

We rely on trade secrets and other proprietary information where we believe patent protection is not appropriate or
obtainablea . However, trade secrets and other proprietary information are difficult to protect. We have taken measures to
protect our unpatented trade secrets and know-how, including the use of confidentiality and assignment of inventions
agreements with our employees, consultants and certain contractors. It is possible, however, that these persons may
breach the agreements or that our competitors may independently develop or otherwise discover our trade secrets or
other proprietary information. Our research collaborators may publish confidential data or other restricted information to
which we have rights. If we cannot maintain the confidentiality of our technology and other confidential information in
connection with our collaborata ions, then our ability to receive patent protection or protect our proprietary information
may be impaired.

We have been and maya in the future be subject to litiii gatii on, which could resultll in substantialtt damages and maya
divert management’s timeii and attentitt on from our business.ii

We are engaged in multiple legal disputes with Daiichi Sankyo Co. Ltd., or Daiichi Sankyo. We are in a dispute
with Daiichi Sankyo regarding the ownership of certain technology used by Daiichi Sankyo in its cancer drug
ENHERTU and certain product candidates. Arbitration relating to the dispute is progressing with a hearing date
scheduled starting June 14, 2021. In addition, we filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of
Texas to commence an action for infringement of our U.S. Patent No. 10,808,039, or the ‘039 Patent, by Daiichi
Sankyo’s importation into, offer for sale, sale, and use in the U.S. of ENHERTU. Daiichi Sankyo (as well as Daiichi
Sankyo, Inc. and AstraZeneca Pharmaceuticals, LP, or AstraZeneca) subsequently filed an action in the U.S. District
Court for the District of Delaware seeking a declaratory judgment that ENHERTU does not infringe the ‘039 Patent.
Daiichi Sankyo, Inc. and AstraZeneca also filed two Petitions for Post-Grant Review with the U.S. Patent Office seeking
to have claims of the ‘039 Patent cancelled as unpatentablea . As a result of these disputes, we have incurred and will
continue to incur litigation expenses. In addition, from time to time, we may become involved in other lawsuits, claims
and proceedings relating to the conduct of our business, including but not limited to those pertaining to the defense and
enforcement of our patent or other intellectualtt property rights and our contractual rights.

These and other potential futurett litigations are subjeu ct to inherent uncertainties, and the actual costs to be incurred
relating to litigations may be impacted by unknown factors. The outcome of litigation is necessarily uncertain, and we
could be forced to expend significant resources in the course of these and potential futurett litigations, we may be subject
to additional claims and counterclaims that may result in liabilities or require us to take or refrain from certain actions,
and we may not prevail. Monitoring, defending against and pursuing legal actions can be time-consuming for our
management and detract from our ability to fully focus our internal resources on our business activities, which could
result in delays of our clinical trials or our development and commercialization efforts.ff In addition, we may incur
substantial legal fees and costs in connection with these and potential futurett litigations. Decisions adverse to our interests
in these and potential future litigations could result in the payment of substantial damages, or possibly fines, or affecff t our
intellectualt property rights and could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow, results of operations and financial
position. Successful challenges to our patent or other intellectualt property rights could result in a loss of rights in the
relevant jurisdiction and may allow third parties to use our proprietary technologies without a license from us or our
collaboratorsa . In addition, the uncertainty associated with litigation could lead to increased volatility in our stock price.
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We and our collaboratorsrr rely on license agreementstt for certain aspectstt of our products and product
candidatestt and technologies such as our ADC technology.yy Failure to maintaintt these license agreements or to secure
any required new licenses couldll prevent us from continuiii ngii to develop and commercializell our products and product
candidates.tt

We have entered into agreements with third-party commercial and academic institutitt ons to license technology for
use in ADCETRIS, TUKYSA, our product candidates and technologies such as our ADC technology. Currently, we have
license agreements with BMS, the University of Miami and Array BioPharma, Inc., among others. In addition to royalty
provisions and other payment obligations, some of these license agreements contain diligence and milestone-based
termination provisions, in which case our failure to meet any agreed upon royalty or diligence requirements or
milestones may allow the licensor to terminate the agreement. Many of our license agreements grant us exclusive
licenses to the underlying technologies. In addition, Astellas has agreements to license technology for use in PADCEV.
We rely on Astellas to maintain these license agreements. If Astellas fails to maintain these license agreements, if our
licensors terminate our license agreements or if we or our collaborata ors are unablea to maintain the exclusivityt of our
exclusive license agreements, we may be unablea to continue to develop and commercialize our products or product
candidates. Further, we have had in the past, and we or our collaborators may in the futuret have, disputes with our
licensors, which may impact our ability to develop and commercialize our products or product candidates or require us to
enter into additional licenses. An adverse result in potential future disputes with our or our collaborators’ licensors may
impact our ability to develop and commercialize our products and product candidates, or may require us to enter into
additional licenses or to incur additional costs in litigation or settlement. In addition, continued development and
commercialization of our products and product candidates will likely require us to secure licenses to additional
technologies. We may not be able to secure these licenses on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

We may incur substantialtt costs and lose importantm rightstt or maya not be able to continue to commercialiii zeii our
products or to commercializell anyn of our product candidates that may be approved for commercialii sale as a resultll of
litiii gatii on or other proceedings relatingtt to patenttt and other intellecll tual property rights,tt and we may be requiredii to
obtainii patent and other intellecll tual property rightstt from others.rr

We may face potential lawsuits by companim es, academic institutitt ons or others alleging infringement of their
intellectualt property. Because patent applications can take a few years to publish, there may be currently pending
applications of which we are unaware that may later result in issued patents that adversely affecff t the continued
commercialization of our products or future commercialization of our product candidates. In addition, we are monitoring
the progress of multiple pending patent applications of other organizations that, if granted, may require us to license or
challenge their enforceabila ity in order to continue commercializing our products or to commercialize our product
candidates that may be approved for commercial sale. Our challenges to patents of other organizations may not be
successful, which may affect our ability to commercialize our products or product candidates. As a result of the patent
infringement lawsuits that have been filed or may be filed against us in the future by third parties alleging infringement
by us of patent or other intellectual property rights, we may be required to pay substantial damages, including lost
profits, royalties, treble damages, attorneys’ fees and costs, for past infringement if it is ultimately determined that our
products infringe a third-party’s intellectualt property rights. Even if infringement claims against us are without merit, the
results may be unpredictablea . In addition, defending lawsuits takes significant time, may be expensive and may divert
management’s attention from other business concerns. Further, we may be stopped from developing, manufacturing or
selling our products until we obtain a license from the owner of the relevant technology or other intellectualt property
rights, or be forced to undertake costly design-arounds, if feasible. If such a license is available at all, it may require us to
pay substantial royalties or other fees.
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We are or may be from time to time involved in the defense and enforcement of our patent or other intellectualtt
property rights in a court of law, USPTO interference, IPR, post-grant review or reexamination proceeding, foreign
opposition proceeding or related legal and administrative proceeding in the U.S. and elsewhere. In addition, if we choose
to go to court to stop a third party from infringing our patents, that third party has the right to ask the court to rule that
these patents are invalid, not infringed and/or should not be enforced. Under the America Invents Act, a third party may
also have the option to challenge the validity of certain patents at the PTAB, whether they are accused of infringing our
patents or not, and certain entities associated with hedge funds, pharmaceutical companies and other entities have
challenged valuable pharmaceutical patents through the IPR process. These lawsuits and administrative proceedings are
expensive and consume time and other resources, and we may not be successful in these proceedings or in stopping
infringement. In addition, there is a risk that a court will decide that these patents are not valid or not infringed or
otherwise not enforceable, or that the PTAB will decide that certain patents are not valid, and that we do not have the
right to stop a third party from using the patented subject matter. Successful challenges to our patent or other intellectualt
property rights through these proceedings could result in a loss of rights in the relevant jurisdiction and may allow third
parties to use our proprietary technologies without a license from us or our collaborators, which may also result in loss of
future royalty payments. Furthermore, if such challenges to our rights are not resolved promptly in our favor, our existing
business relationships may be jeopardized and we could be delayed or prevented from entering into new collaborations
or from commercializing potential products, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations. In
addition, we may challenge the patent or other intellectualtt property rights of third parties and if we are unsuccessful in
actions we bring against the rights of such parties, through litigation or otherwise, and it is determined that we infringe
the intellectualt property rights of such parties, we may be prevented from commercializing potential products in the
relevant jurisdiction, or may be required to obtain licenses to those rights or develop or obtain alternative technologies,
any of which could harm our business.

Risks Related to Our Operations, Managing Our Growth and Other Risks

Our businessii is currently beingii adverselyrr affected and couldll be materiallyll and adversely affected in the future
by the evolving effectstt of the COVID-19VV pandemic as a resultll of the current and potentitt alii future impactm stt on our
commercializatill on efforts,tt supplyll chain, regulatore yr and clinicll al development activitiii es and othertt businessii operations,
in additiontt to the impactm of a global economic slowdown.

Our business is currently being adversely affected and could be materially and adversely affecff ted in the futuret by
the evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic. In accordance with guidance issued by the Centers for Disease Control
and Prevention, the World Health Organization and local authorities, beginning in March 2020, we implemented a
mandatory work-from-home policy for employees who can perform their jobs offsite. Our essential research,
manufacturing and laboraa tory activities are ongoing, and we maintain a number of additional precautionary measures to
protect these onsite employees, such as temperaturet checks, screening protocols, masks, social distancing, contact tracing
and making testing availablea . However, if we are unable to obtain adequate supplies of personal protective equipment
due to shortages or encounter other challenges related to the evolving COVID-19 pandemic, we may have to place or
may experience additional limitations on our in person activities. In addition, our increased reliance on personnel
working from home may negatively impact productivity or disrupt, delay or otherwise adversely impact our business.
This could also increase our cybersecurity risk, create data accessibility concerns and make us more susceptible to
communication disruptions, any of which could adversely impact our business operations. In addition, our oversight of
third-party manufacturerst is currently being conducted by virtualtt means, which may increase the chance of a
manufacturingtt quality issue. Impacts related to the COVID-19 pandemic could materially and adversely affecff t our
business, our ability to generate sales of and revenues from our approved products, and our ability to advance the
development of our products and product candidates, as described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section. The
magnitudett of such impacts will depend, in large part, on the ultimate duration and severity of the evolving effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic.
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The effeff cts of the COVID-19 pandemic continue to rapidly evolve. These effects have increased market volatility
and could result in a significant long-term disruptirr on of global financial markets, reducd ing our ability to access capital,
which could in the future negatively affect our liquidity. In addition, the current recession or additional market
corrections resulting from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic could materially affect our business and the value of
our common stock. The extent to which the evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic impact our business, our ability
to generate sales of and revenues from our approved products, and our clinical development and regulatory effortsff will
depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, such as the ultimate
duration and severity of the pandemic, government actions, such as travel restrictions, quarantines and social distancing
requirements in the U.S. and in other countries, business closures or business disruptions and the effecff tiveness of actions
taken in the U.S. and in other countries to contain and treat the disease, including the effectiveness and timing of
vaccination programs in the U.S. and worldwide. Accordingly, we do not yet know the full extent of potential delays or
impacts on our business, sales of our products, our clinical and regulatory activities, our research programs, healthcare
systems or the global economy as a whole. However, these effecff ts could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects. In addition, to the extent the evolving effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic adversely affecff t our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects, they
may also have the effecff t of heightening many of the other risks and uncertainties described elsewhere in this “Risk
Factors” section. It is also possible that futurett global pandemics could also occur and also materially and adversely affecff t
our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

If we are unable to manage our growth, our business,ii financii ial condition,tt resultsll of operations and prospectstt
may be adversely affected.

We have experienced and expect to continue to experience significant growth in the number of our employees and
in the scope of our operations, including in connection with our transition into a multi-product oncology company, our
operation of a manufacturingt facility and our continuing international expansion. In this regard, the anticipated continued
growth of ADCETRIS, the continued launch and commercialization of PADCEV and TUKYSA in the U.S., the
anticipated launch and commercialization of TUKYSA in Europe and the potential launch and commercialization of any
other future approved products may require expansion of our sales force and commercial organization. We may need to
commit significant additional funds, management and other resources to the growth of our commercial organization. In
addition, our expansion in Europe also requires the expansion of other functions, including clinical development, drug
safety,t quality, finance and compliance. We may not be able to achieve any necessary growth in a timely or cost-
effective manner or realize a positive return on our investment, and we may not have the financial resources to achieve
the necessary growth in a timely manner or at all, any of which could negatively impact our ability to successfully launch
and commercialize a newly-approveda product and harm the commercial potential of our current and any futurett approved
products. In any event, this rapida growth and additional complexity places significant demands on our management,
operational and financial resources, and our current and planned personnel, systems, procedures and controls may not be
adequate to support our growth. In particular, we are using new distribution channels for TUKYSA that require us to
implement additional control systems to monitor inventory that has been purchased by specialty pharmacies and not yet
dispensed to patients. A failure to correctly implement and monitor these new control systems could result in a control
failure or error in our financial accounting. In addition, this growth places significant demands on our third party
suppliers and they may not have the resources and personnel to adequately support our commercial plans and launch
needs, including in regions outside the U.S. To effectively manage our growth, we must continue to improve existing,
and implement new, operational and financial systems, procedures and controls and must expand, train and manage our
growing employee base, and there can be no assurance that we will effecff tively manage our growth without experiencing
operating inefficiencies, control deficiencies, complim ance issues or other problems. We expect that we may need to
increase our management personnel to oversee our expanding operations, and recruiting and retaining qualified
individuals is difficult. Likewise, we could experience limitations on our ability to recruit, hire and retain personnel at all
levels of the organization as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and without reductions in the pace, scale or complexity
of our business, this could result in strain on our staff, loss of talent, failure to capia talize fully on opportunities, control
deficiencies and other challenges, which could adversely affectff our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects. In addition, the physical expansion of our operations may lead to significant costs and may divert our
management and capita al resources. If we are unablea to manage our growth effectively, or are unsuccessful in recruiting
and retaining qualified management personnel, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may
be adversely affecff ted.
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Risks associatedtt withii our expandinxx gn operations in countries outside the U.S. couldll materiallyll adverserr ly affect
our business.ii

We are expanding our operations internationally. We have an expanding number of subsidiaries in jurisdictions
outside the U.S., including multiple subsidiaries in Europe, and we are building a commercial infrastructurett in Europe
and expanding our commercial infrastructurett in Canada. Consequently, we are, and will increasingly be, subject to risks
related to operating internationally. Risks associated with conducting operations internationally include:

• the increased complem xity and costs inherent in managing international operations, including in geographica ally
disparate locations;

• diverse regulatory, drug safety,t drug supply, financial and legal requirements, and any future changes to such
requirements, in one or more countries where we are located or do business;

• differing payor reimbursement regimes, governmental payors or patient self-pay systems and price controls;

• adverse tax consequences, including changes in applicable tax laws and regulations;

• applicable trade laws, tariffs, export quotas, custom duties or other trade restrictions, and any changes to them;

• economic weakness, including inflation, or political or economic instabila ity in particular economies and markets
outside the U.S.;

• compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labora laws for employees living or traveling abroad;

• currency fluctuatt ions, which could result in increased operating expenses or reduced revenues, and other
obligations incident to doing business or operating in another country;

• liabilities for activities of, or related to, our international operations;

• challenges inherent in efficiently managing employees in diverse geographiea s, including the need to adapta
systems, policies, benefits and compliance programs to differing labora and other regulations and different
languages;

• reliance on vendors who are located far from our headquarters and with whom we have not worked previously;

• workforce uncertainty in countries where labora unrest is more common than in the U.S.; and

• laws and regulations relating to data security and the unauthorized use of, or access to, commercial and personal
information.

As a result of our expanding international operations, including potentially with respect to our commercial
presence in Europe and expanding commercial infrastructurett in Canada, our business and corporate structurett has and
will become substantially more complex. In addition, as a business, we do not have significant experience conducting
operations outside of the U.S. and Canada. There can be no assurance that we will effecff tively manage the increased
complexity and broader scope of our operations without experiencing operating inefficiencies, control deficiencies,
compliance issues or other problems. Significant management time and effortff will be required to effectively manage the
increasing complem xity and broader scope of our operations, and our failure to successfully do so could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects. Further, since a portion of
the regulatory framework in the U.K. is derived from EU directives and regulations, Brexit, has had, and will continue to
have, an impact upon the regulatory regime applicable to potential future marketing authorizations for ADCETRIS,
PADCEV, TUKYSA and our product candidates. In particular, Great Britain is no longer covered by the centralized
procedures for obtaining EU-wide marketing authorization from the European Medicines Agency, and a separate
marketing authorization will be required to market our product candidates in Great Britain. In addition, it is unclear what
additional financial, trade, regulatory and legal implications the withdrawal of the U.K. from the EU. may have on us.
These and other risks described elsewhere in these risk factors associated with expanding our international operations
could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
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We have engaged in, and maya in the future engage in, strategice transactions that increase our capita altt
requirements, dilutii ett our stockholdett rs, cause us to incur debt or assume contingentii liabiliii tiii es and subject us to other
risks.

We actively evaluate various strategic transactions on an ongoing basis, including licensing or otherwise acquiring
complementary products, technologies or businesses. Any potential futuret acquisitions or in-licensing transactions entail
numerous risks, including but not limited to:

• risks associated with satisfying the closing conditions relating to such transactions and realizing their anticipated
benefits;

• increased operating expenses and cash requirements;

• difficulty integrating acquired technologies, products, operations, and personnel with our existing business;

• the potential disruption of our historical core business;

• diversion of management’s attention in connection with both negotiating the acquisition or license and
integrating the business, technology or product;

• retention of key employees;

• difficulties in assimilating employees and corporate culturestt of any acquired companies;

• uncertainties in our ability to maintain key business relationships of any acquired companies;

• strain on managerial and operational resources;

• difficulty implementing and maintaining effecff tive internal control over financial reporting at businesses that we
acquire, particularly if they are not located near our existing operations;

• exposure to unanticipated liabilities of acquired companies or companim es in which we invest;

• the potential need to write down assets or recognize impairment charges; and

• potential costly and time-consuming litigation, including stockholder lawsuits.

As a result of these or other problems and risks, businesses, technologies or products we acquire or invest in or
obtain licenses to may not produce the revenues, earnings or business synergies that we anticipated, acquired or licensed
product candidates or technologies may not result in regulatory approvals, and acquired or licensed products may not
perform as expected. As a result, we may incur higher costs and realize lower revenues than we had anticipated. We
cannot assure you that any acquisitions or investments we have made or may make in the futuret will be completed or
that, if completed, the acquired business, licenses, investments, products, or technologies will generate sufficient revenue
to offset the negative costs or other negative effects on our business. Failure to manage effectively our growth through
acquisitions or in-licensing transactions could adversely affect our growth prospects, business, results of operations,
financial condition, and cash flow.

In addition, we may spend significant amounts, issue dilutive securities, assume or incur significant debt
obligations, incur large one-time expenses and acquire intangible assets or goodwill in connection with acquisitions and
in-licensing transactions that could result in significant future amortization expense and write-offs. Moreover, we may
not be able to locate suitable acquisition opportunities and this inabila ity could impair our ability to grow or obtain access
to technology or products that may be important to the development of our business. Other pharmaceutical companies,
many of which may have substantially greater financial, marketing and sales resources, competm e with us for these
opportunities. Even if appropriate opportunities are available, we may not be able to successfully identify them or we
may not have the financial resources necessary to pursue them, and if pursued, we may be unablea to structure and
execute transactions in the anticipated timeframe, or at all.
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Even if we are able to successfully identify and acquire complementary products, technologies or businesses, we
cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully manage the risks associated with integrating acquired products,
technologies or businesses or the risks arising from anticipated and unanticipated problems in connection with an
acquisition or in-licensing transaction. Further, while we seek to mitigate risks and liabilities of potential acquisitions and
in-licensing transactions through, among other things, due diligence, there may be risks and liabilities that such due
diligence efforts fail to discover, that are not disclosed to us, or that we inadequately assess. Any failure in identifying
and managing these risks, liabilities and uncertainties effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business
and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, we may not realize the anticipated
benefits of such transactions, including the possibility that expected synergies and accretion will not be realized or will
not be realized within the expected time frame.

If we lose our keye personnel or are unablell to attracttt and retainii additional qualifill ed personnel, our future
growth and abiliii tyii to compete wouldll suffer.

We are highly dependent on the efforts and abilities of the principal members of our senior management.
Additionally, we have scientific personnel with significant and unique expertise in monoclonal antibodies, ADCs and
related technologies, and TUKYSA. The loss of the services of any one of the principal members of our managerial or
scientific staff may prevent us from achieving our business objectives.

In addition, the competition for qualified personnel in the biotechnology field is intense, and our futurett success
depends upon our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled scientific, technical and managerial employees. In
order to continue to commercialize our products, and advance the development and commercialization of our additional
product candidates, we will be required to expand our workforce, particularly in the areas of manufacturing, clinical
trials management, regulatory affairs, business development, sales and marketing, both in the U.S. and in Europe. We
continue to face intense competition for qualified individuals from numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies, as well as academic and other research institutitt ons, and with increasing reliance on remote work
arrangements, the geographic market in which we compete for talent is expanding. Our failure to compete effecff tively in
this area could negatively affect our sales of our current and any future approved products. To the extent we are not able
to retain these individuals on favorable terms or attract any additional personnel that may be required, our business may
be harmed. For examplem , we may not be successful in attracting or retaining key personnel necessary to effecff tively
commercialize PADCEV and TUKYSA, build and operate a commercial infrastructure in Europe or to support the
potential launch and commercialization of our product candidates, alone or jointly with our collaborata ors, if we receive
regulatory approval. If our commercial organization is not appropriately sized or equipped to adequately market our
current and any futuret approved products, the commercial potential of our current and any future approved products may
be diminished, and our business and prospects for profitabila ity may be adversely affecff ted.

If we experience a signifii cant disruptii iontt in our information technology systems or breaches of data securityii ,yy
our businessii could be adversely affected.tt

We rely on information technology systems to keep financial records, capturett laboraa tory data, maintain clinical
trial data, commercial sales data and corporate records, communicate with staffff and external parties and operate other
critical functions. The effectff s of the COVID-19 pandemic have intensified our dependence on information technology
systems as many of our critical business activities are currently being conducted remotely and our increased reliance on
personnel working from home could increase our cybersecurity risk. Our information technology systems are potentially
vulnerable to disruption due to breakdown, malicious intrusion and computer viruses or other disruptive events including
but not limited to natural disaster. If we were to experience a prolonged system disruption in our information technology
systems or those of certain of our vendors, it could delay or negatively impact the development and commercialization of
our products and product candidates, which could adversely impact our business. Although we maintain offsiteff back-ups
of our data, if operations at our facilities were disrupted, it may cause a material disruption in our business if we are not
capaa blea of restoring function on an acceptable timeframe. In addition, our information technology systems are potentially
vulnerable to data security breaches, whether by employees or others, which may expose sensitive or personal data to
unauthorized persons. Such data security breaches could lead to the loss of trade secrets or other intellectual property, or
could lead to the public exposure of personal information (including sensitive personal information) of our employees,
patients in our clinical trials, customers and others, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, a security breach or privacy violation that leads to destruction,
loss, alteration, unauthorized use or access, disclosure or modification of, personally identifiablea information or personal
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data, could harm our reputation, compel us to comply with federal, state and/or international breach notification laws,
subject us to mandatory corrective or regulatory action, require us to verify the correctness of databasa e contents and
otherwise subject us to liability under laws and regulations that protect personal data, including the GDPR, which could
disrupt our business, result in increased costs or loss of revenue, and/or result in significant legal and financial exposure.
In addition, a data security breach could result in loss of clinical trial data or damage to the integrity of that data. If we
are unable to implement and maintain adequate organizational and technical measures to prevent such security breaches
or privacy violations, or to respond adequately in the event of a breach, our operations could be disrupted, and we may
suffer loss of reputation, problems with regulatory authorities, financial loss and other negative consequences. Moreover,
failure to maintain effecff tive internal accounting controls related to data security breaches and cybersecurity in general
could impact our ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements and could subject us to regulatory scrutiny.
In addition, security breaches and other inappropriate access can be difficult to detect, and any delay in identifying them
may lead to increased harm of the type described above.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

Our operatingn resultsll are difficult to predict and may fluctuate.ee If our operatingn resultsll are belowll the
expectatitt ons of securitiii es analystsll or investors,rr the tradingn price of our stocktt could decline.ii

Our operating results are difficult to predict and may fluctuattt e significantly from quarter to quarter and year to
year. As a result, although we provide product sales guidance from time to time, you should not rely on product sales
results in any period as being indicative of future performance. In addition, such guidance is based on assumptim ons that
may be incorrect or that may change from quarter to quarter, and it may be particularly difficult to correctly forecast
product sales for newly-approved products or in indications for existing products for which we have recently received
marketing approval. Moreover, our product sales have, on occasion, been below the expectations of securities analysts
and investors and have been below prior period sales, and our sales in the futurett may also be below prior period sales,
our own guidance and/or the expectations of securities analysts and investors. To the extent that we again do not meet
our guidance or the expectations of analysts or investors, our stock price may be adversely impacted, perhapsa
significantly. We believe that our quarterly and annual results of operations may be affecff ted by a variety of factors,
including:

• customer ordering patterns for our products, which may vary significantly from period to period;

• the overall level of demand for our products, including the impact of any competitive or biosimilar products and
the duration of therapya for patients treated with our products;

• the extent to which coverage and reimbursement for our products is available from government and health
administration authorities, private health insurers, managed care programs and other third-party payors;

• our ability to establia sh or demonstrate in the medical community the safety,t efficacy or value of our products
and their potential advantages comparem d to existing and futurett therapiea s in their approved indications, including
in ADCETRIS’ frontline Hodgkin lymphoma and frontline PTCL indications, PADCEV’s FDA approved
indication and TUKYSA’s FDA approved indication;

• changes in the amount of deductions from gross sales, including government-mandated rebates, chargebacks
and discounts that can vary because of changes to the government discount percentage, including increases in
the government discount percentage resulting from price increases we have taken or may take in the future,t or
due to different levels of utilization by entities entitled to government rebates and discounts and changes in
patient demographica s;

• increases in the scope of eligibility for customers to purchase our products at the discounted government price
or to obtain government-mandated rebates on purchases of our products;

• changes in our cost of sales due to potential new product launches, royalties owed under technology license
agreements or write-offs of inventory;

• the incidence rate of new patients in the approved indications for our products;
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• the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, including those leading to current and potential futuret
reductions in the rate of cancer diagnoses;

• the timing, cost and level of investment in our sales and marketing effortsff to support our products sales;

• the timing, cost and level of investment in our research and development, pre-commercialization and other
activities involving ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA, tisotumab vedotin and our other product candidates by
us or our collaboraa tors; and

• expenditurestt we will or may incur to develop and/or commercialize any additional products, product candidates,
or technologies that we may develop, in-license, or acquire.

In addition, even if we and/or our collaborators are able to obtain regulatory approvals for our product candidates,
due to the lack of any historical sales data from the commercialization of any of our product candidates, sales of a newly-
approved product such as PADCEV or TUKYSA will be difficult to predict from period to period. As a result, sales
results or trends for PADCEV, TUKYSA or any of our future approved products in any period may not necessarily be
indicative of futurett performance. In any event, if we are unablea to obtain and maintain necessary or desirablea regulatory
approvals for our products and product candidates, including for ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA, in a timely
manner, if at all, if the FDA or other regulatory authorities do not approve product labea ling that is necessary or desirablea
for the successful commercialization of an approved product, or if sales of an approved product do not reach the levels
we expect, our anticipated revenue from our products and product candidates and our prospects for profitabila ity would be
adversely affecff ted, which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and growth prospects.

Moreover, we have entered into collaboration and license agreements with other companies that include
development funding and milestone and royalty payments to us, and we expect that amounts earned from our
collaborata ion agreements will continue to be an important source of our revenues. Accordingly, our revenues will also
depend on development funding and the achievement of development and clinical milestones under our existing
collaborata ion and license agreements, including, in particular, our ADCETRIS collaboration with Takeda, our PADCEV
collaborata ion with Astellas and our ladiratuzumaba vedotin and TUKYSA collaborations with Merck, as well as entering
into potential new collaborata ion and license agreements. These upfront and milestone payments may vary significantly
from quarter to quarter and any such variance could cause a significant fluctuatt ion in our operating results from one
quarter to the next.

Further, changes in our operations, such as increased development, manufacturing and clinical trial expenses in
connection with our expanding pipeline programs, or our undertaking of additional programs, or business activities, or
entry into strategic transactions, including potential futurett acquisitions of products, technologies or businesses may also
cause significant fluctuattt ions in our expenses. In addition, we measure compensation cost for stock-based awards made
to employees at the grant date of the award, based on the fair value of the award, and recognize the cost as an expense
over the employee’s requisite service period. As the variablea s that we use as a basis for valuing these awards change over
time, including our underlying stock price, the magnitude of the expense that we must recognize may vary significantly.
Additionally, we have implemented long-term incentive plans for our employem es, and the incentives provided under
these plans are contingent upon the achievement of certain regulatory milestones. Costs of performance-based
compensation under our long-term incentive plans are not recorded as an expense until the achievement of the applicablea
milestones is deemed probable of being met, which may result in large fluctuatt ions to the expense we must recognize in
any particular period.

For these and other reasons, it is difficult for us to accurately forecast future sales of our current or any future
approved products, collaboration and license agreement revenues, royalty revenues, operating expenses or futurett profits
or losses. As a result, our operating results in futuret periods could be below our guidance or the expectations of securities
analysts or investors, which could cause the trading price of our common stock to decline, perhaps substantially.
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We have a historii yr of net losses. We expect to continueii to incur net losses and maya not achieve future sustainett d
profitabiliii tyii for some timeii ,e if at all.ll

We have incurred substantial net losses in each of our years of operation, other than the year ended December 31,
2020. We have incurred these losses principally from costs incurred in our research and development programs and from
our selling, general and administrative expenses. We expect to continue to spend substantial amounts on research and
development, including amounts for conducting clinical trials of our products and product candidates as well as
commercializing our products for the treatment of patients in their approved indications. In addition, we expect to make
substantial expenditures to further develop and potentially commercialize tisotumab vedotin and our other product
candidates. We may also pursue new operations or continue the expansion of our existing operations, including with
respect the development of our commercial infrastructure in Europe and our plans to otherwise continue to expand our
operations internationally. Accordingly, even though we reported net income for the year ended December 31, 2020 due
to the collaboration and license agreement revenues related to the agreements we entered into with Merck during 2020,
we nonetheless expect to incur net losses in the future and may not achieve sustained profitabila ity for some time, if at all.
Although we recognize revenue from product sales and we continue to earn amounts under our collaborata ion agreements,
our revenue and profit potential is unproven and our future operating results are difficult to predict. Even if we do
achieve profitabila ity in the future,t we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. If
we are unable to achieve and sustain profitability, the market value of our common stock will likely decline.

We may need to raise additionaltt capita altt that may not be availablell to us.

We expect to make additional capita al outlays and to increase operating expenditurest over the next several years as
we hire additional employees, and supportu our development, manufacturing,t commercialization, and planned global
expansion, which may require us to raise additional capita al. In addition, we may pursue new operations or continue the
expansion of our existing operations, including with respect to our development of a commercial infrastructuret in Europe
and our plans to otherwise continue to expand our operations internationally. Our commitment of resources to the
continuing development, regulatory and commercialization activities for our products, the research, continued
development and manufacturingtt of our product candidates, our pursuit of regulatory approvals for and preparing to
potentially launch and commercialize our product candidates, and the anticipated expansion of our pipeline and
operations may require us to raise additional capita al. Further, we actively evaluate various strategic transactions on an
ongoing basis, including licensing or otherwise acquiring complementary products, technologies or businesses, and we
may require significant additional capita al in order to complete or otherwise provide funding for such transactions. We
may seek additional funding through some or all of the following methods: corporate collaborata ions, licensing
arrangements and public or private debt or equity financings. We do not know whether additional capita al will be
available when needed, or that, if available, we will obtain financing on terms favorable to us or our stockholders. If we
are unable to raise additional funds when we need them, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate
one or more of our development programs, which may adversely affect our business and operations. Our future capia tal
requirements will depend upon a number of factors, including:

• the level of sales and market acceptance of ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA or of any future approved
products;

• the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatory approvals of our products in additional indications or
territories, if any, and potentially of any of our other product candidates;

• the size, complexity, timing, progress and number of our clinical programs and our collaborations;

• the timing, receipt and amount of milestone-based payments or other revenue from our collaborations or license
arrangements, including royalty revenue generated from commercial sales of ADCETRIS by Takeda, revenue
generated under our collaboration with Astellas and anticipated royalty revenue generated by commercial sales
of TUKYSA by Merck;

• the cost of establishing and maintaining clinical suppliu es of our products and product candidates and
commercial suppliu es of our current and any future approved products;

• the extent of our investment in development, manufacturing and commercialization outside the U.S.;
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• the costs associated with acquisitions or licenses of additional technologies, products, or companies as well as
licenses we may need to commercialize our current or any future approved products;

• the terms and timing of any future collaborata ive, licensing and other arrangements that we may establia sh;

• expenses associated with futurett securities class action or derivative lawsuits, as well as any other potential
litigation;

• the potential costs associated with international, state and federal taxes; and

• competing technological and market developments.

In addition, changes in our spending rate may occur that would consume available capia tal resources sooner, such
as increased development, manufacturing and clinical trial expenses in connection with our expanding pipeline programs
or our undertaking of additional programs, business activities or entry into additional strategic transactions, including
potential future acquisitions of products, technologies or businesses. Moreover, we may choose to raise additional capia tal
due to market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or futuret
operating plans. To the extent that we raise additional capia tal by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may
experience substantial dilution. To the extent that we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing
arrangements, we may be required to relinquish some rights to our technologies or product candidates, or grant licenses
on terms that are not favorablea to us.

During the past several years, domestic and international financial markets have experienced extreme disruption
from time to time, including, among other things, high volatility and significant declines in stock prices and severely
diminished liquidity and credit availability for both borrowers and investors. Such adverse capita al and credit market
conditions could make it more difficult to obtain additional capia tal on favorable terms, or at all, which could have a
material adverse effecff t on our business and growth prospects. For example, our ability to raise additional capita al may be
adversely impacted by deteriorating global economic conditions and the disruptions to and volatility in the credit and
financial markets in the U.S. and worldwide resulting from the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The potentitt alii future impairmem nt of intangiblell assets and goodwillll maya negativtt elyll affect our resultsll of
operations and financial position.

As of December 31, 2020, we recorded $558.4 million of intangible assets, net and goodwill on our condensed
consolidated balance sheet. Our intangible assets and goodwill are subject to an impairment analysis whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. Additionally, goodwill and
indefinite-lived assets are subject to an impairment test at least annually. Events giving rise to impairment are an inherent
risk in the pharmaceutical industry and cannot be predicted. Our results of operations and financial position in future
periods could be negatively impacted should future impairmm ents of intangible assets or goodwill occur.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stocktt price is volatiltt ell and our shares maya suffer a declineii in value.

The market price of our stock has in the past been, and is likely to continue in the future to be, very volatile.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, our closing stock price fluctuated between $95.75 and $211.93 per share. As
a result of fluctuations in the price of our common stock, you may be unable to sell your shares at or above the price you
paid for them. The market price of our common stock may be subject to substantial volatility in response to many risk
factors listed in this section, and others beyond our control, including:

• the levels of ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA product sales;

• announcements of FDA or other regulatory approval or non-approvala of our products, including TUKYSA, or
any of our product candidates or specific labea l indications for or restrictions, warnings or limitations in its use,
or delays in the regulatory review or approval process;

• announcements regarding the results of discovery efforts and preclinical, clinical and commercial activities by
us, or those of our competitors;
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• announcements regarding the results of the clinical trials we and our collaborata ors are conducting or may in the
future conduct for our products and product candidates;

• announcements regarding, or negative publicity concerning, adverse events or safety concerns associated with
the use of ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA or our product candidates;

• issuance of new or changed analysts’ reports and recommendations regarding us or our competm itors;

• termination of or changes in our existing collaborations or licensing arrangements, or establia shment of new
collaborata ions or licensing arrangements;

• our failure to achieve the perceived benefits of our strategic transactions as rapidla y or to the extent anticipated
by financial analysts or investors;

• our entry into additional material strategic transactions including licensing or acquisition of products, businesses
or technologies;

• actions taken by regulatory authorities with respect to our product candidates, our clinical trials or our
regulatory filings;

• our raising of additional capita al and the terms upon which we may raise any additional capita al;

• market conditions for equity investments in general, or the biotechnology or pharmaceutical industries in
particular;

• developments or disputes concerning our proprietary rights, including with respect to our disputes with Daiichi
Sankyo;

• developments regarding any futuret purported securities class action lawsuits, as well as any other potential
litigation;

• share price and volume fluctuations attributable to inconsistent trading volume levels of our shares;

• changes in government regulations; and

• economic or other external factors.

The stock markets in general, and the markets for biotechnology and pharmaceutical stocks in particular, have
historically experienced significant volatility that has often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating
performance of particular companies, including in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, which has resulted in
decreased market prices, notwithstanding the lack of a fundamental change in the underlying business models or
prospects of those companies. In this regard as a result of the risks and evolving effecff ts of the COVID-19 pandemic,
Brexit and/or significant changes in U.S. social, political, regulatory and economic conditions or in laws and policies
governing trade and healthcare spending and delivery outside the U.S., the financial markets could experience significant
volatility that could also negatively impact the markets for biotechnology and pharmaceutical stocks. These broad market
fluctuations have adversely affected and may in the futurett adversely affect the market price of our common stock. In this
regard, worsening economic conditions and other adverse impacm ts or developments relating to the evolving effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic may negatively affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating
performance.

In the past, class action or derivative litigation has often been instituted against companim es whose securities have
experienced periods of volatility in market price. In this regard, we have become, and may in the futurett again become,
subject to claims and litigation alleging violations of the securities laws or other related claims, which could harm our
business and require us to incur significant costs. Lawsuits brought against us could result in substantial costs, which
would hurt our financial condition and results of operations and divert management’s attention and resources, which
could result in delays of our clinical trials or our development and commercialization efforts.ff
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Substantitt alii future sales of shares of our common stock or equityii -relatedtt securitiestt could cause the market
price of our common stock to decline.ii

Sales of a substantu ial number of shares of our common stock into the public market, including sales by members
of our management or board of directors or entities affiliated with such members, could occur at any time. These sales, or
the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market
price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capita al through the sale of additional equity or equity-
related securities. We are unablea to predict the effecff t that such sales may have on the prevailing market price of our
common stock. As of December 31, 2020, we had 180,902,151 shares of common stock outstanding, all of which shares
are eligible for sale in the public market, subject in some cases to the volume limitations and manner of sale and other
requirements under Rule 144. In addition, we may issue a substantial number of shares of our common stock or equity-
related securities, including convertible debt, to meet our capita al needs, including in connection with funding potential
future acquisition or licensing opportunittt ies, capital expenditures or product development costs, which issuances could
be substantially dilutive and could adversely affecff t the market price of our common stock. Likewise, futurett issuances by
us of our common stock upon the exercise, conversion or settlement of equity-based awards or other equity-related
securities would dilute existing stockholders’ ownership interest in our company and any sales in the public market of
these shares, or the perception that these sales might occur, could also adversely affect the market price of our common
stock.

Moreover, we have in the past and may in the futurett grant rights to some of our stockholders that require us to
register the resale of our common stock or other securities on behalf of these stockholders and/or facilitate public
offerings of our securities held by these stockholders, including in connection with potential futurett acquisition or capital-
raising transactions. For example, in connection with our September 2015 public offering of common stock, we entered
into a registration rights agreement with entities affiliated with Baker Bros. Advisors LP, or the Baker Entities, that
together, based on information available to us as of December 31, 2020, collectively beneficially owned approximately
26% of our common stock. Under the registration rights agreement, if at any time and from time to time the Baker
Entities demand that we register their shares of our common stock for resale under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Act, we would be obligated to effect such registration. In December 2020, pursuant to the
registration rights agreement, we registered for resale, from time to time, up to 47,366,602 shares of our common stock
held by the Baker Entities. Our registration obligations under the registration rights agreement cover all shares now held
or hereafter acquired by the Baker Entities, will continue in effectff for up to ten years, and include our obligation to
facilitate certain underwritten public offerings of our common stock by the Baker Entities in the future. Accordingly, we
expect to register additional shares held by the Baker Entities for resale from time to time, including in certain cases,
shares that we have previously registered for resale by the Baker Entities, whether in connection with the expiration of
registration statements that we previously filed with the SEC or otherwise. If the Baker Entities, by exercise of these
registration and/or underwriting rights and our registration of shares held by the Baker Entities for resale from time to
time, or otherwise, sell a large number of our shares, or the market perceives that the Baker Entities intend to sell a large
number of our shares, including in connection with our registrations of shares held by the Baker Entities for resale, this
could adversely affecff t the market price of our common stock. We have also filed registration statements to register the
sale of our common stock reserved for issuance under our equity incentive and employee stock purchase plans.
Accordingly, these shares will be able to be freely sold in the public market upon issuance as permitted by any applicablea
vesting requirements.

Our existing stoctt kholders have signifii cant controltt of our management and affairs.ii

Based solely on the most recent Schedules 13G and 13D filed with the SEC, reports filed with the SEC under
Section 16 of the Exchange Act, and our outstanding shares of common stock as of December 31, 2020, our executive
officers and directors and holders of greater than five percent of our outstanding common stock beneficially owned
approximaa tely 62% of our voting power as of December 31, 2020. As a result, these stockholders, acting together, are
ablea to control our management and affairs and matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of
directors and approval of significant corporate transactions, such as mergers, consolidations or the sale of substantially
all of our assets. Consequently, this concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing
a change in control, including a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving us or
discourage a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control, which might affecff t
the market price of our common stock.
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Anti-tt takeover provisions couldll make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us.

Our Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock and to determine the
price, rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, of those shares without any further vote or
action by the stockholders, which authority could be used to adopt a “poison pill” that could act to prevent a change of
control of Seagen that has not been approved by our Board of Directors. The rights of the holders of common stock may
be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any preferred stock that may be issued in the
future. The issuance of preferred stock may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of
Seagen without further action by the stockholders and may adversely affect the voting and other rights of the holders of
common stock. Further, certain provisions of our charter documents, including provisions eliminating the ability of
stockholders to take action by written consent and limiting the ability of stockholders to raise matters at a meeting of
stockholders without giving advance notice, may have the effect of delaying or preventing changes in control or
management of Seagen, which could have an adverse effecff t on the market price of our stock. In addition, our charter
documents provide for a classified board, which may make it more difficult for a third party to gain control of our Board
of Directors. Similarly, state anti-takeover laws in Delaware and Washington related to corporate takeovers may prevent
or delay a change of control of Seagen.

General Risk Factors

Changes in tax lawsw or regulatie ons maya have a materialtt adverse effect on our business,ii cash flow, financial
conditiontt or resultsll of operations.

New tax laws, statutet s, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time, including as a result of the
recent U.S. presidential and congressional elections, which could adversely affect our business operations and financial
performance. Further, existing tax laws, statutet s, rules, regulations or ordinances could be interpreted, changed, modified
or applied adversely to us. In addition, as we continue to expand our operations internationally, we may become
increasingly subjeu ct to taxation in additional jurisdictions. Changes in corporate tax rates, the realization of net deferred
tax assets relating to our operations, the taxation of foreign earnings, and the deductibility of expenses could have a
material impact on the value of our deferred tax assets, result in significant one-time charges, increase our futurett tax
expense or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow, financial condition or results of
operations.

If any of our facilitll iett s are damaged or our clinill cal,ll research and development or other businessii processes are
interrupted,tt our businessii could be seriously harmed.

We conduct most of our business in a limited number of facilities. Damage or extended periods of interruption to
our corporate, development or research facilities due to fire, naturaltt disaster, power loss, communications failure,
unauthorized entry or other events could cause us to cease or delay development of some or all of our product candidates
or interrupt the sales process for our products. Although we maintain property damage and business interruption
insurance coverage on these facilities, our insurance might not cover all losses under such circumstances and our
business may be seriously harmed by such delays and interruption.

Increasingii use of social media could give rise to liabilii itll y.tt

We are increasingly relying on social media tools as a means of communications. To the extent that we continue
to use these tools as a means to communicate about our products and product candidates or about the diseases that our
products and our product candidates are intended to treat, there are significant uncertainties as to either the rules that
applya to such communications, or as to the interpretations that health authorities will apply to the rules that exist. As a
result, despite our efforts to complym with applicable rules, there is a significant risk that our use of social media for such
purposes may cause us to nonetheless be found in violation of them. Such uses of social media could have a material
adverse effectff on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Legislative actionstt and new accountingii pronouncements are likeii ly to impacm t our future financial position or
resultsll of operations.

Future changes in financial accounting standards may cause adverse, unexpected revenue fluctuations and affect
our financial position or results of operations. New pronouncements and varying interpretations of pronouncements have
occurred with frequency in the past and are expected to occur again in the future and as a result we may be required to
make changes in our accounting policies. Those changes could adversely affecff t our reported revenues and expenses,
future profitability or financial position. Compliance with new regulations regarding corporate governance and public
disclosure may result in additional expenses.

The application of existing or future financial accounting standards, particularly those relating to the way we
account for revenues and costs, could have a significant impact on our reported results. In addition, compliance with new
regulations regarding corporate governance and public disclosure may result in additional expenses. As a result, we
intend to invest all reasonably necessary resources to complym with evolving standards, and this investment may result in
increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management time and attention from science and
business activities to compliance activities.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters are in Bothell, Washington. Our Bothell campus comprises 11 leased buildings of office and
warehouse space that we use for laborata ory, discovery, research and development and general and administrative
purposes, and a biologics manufacturing facility which we own. We also have leased space in Seattle, Washington, South
San Francisco, California, Mississauga, Canada, Zug, Switzerland, and in several other European locations used for
general and administrative purposes. All of our significant leases include renewal options. We believe that our real estate
is currently adequate to meet our needs. As we continue to expand our operations, we may need to lease or purchase
additional real estate.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth in Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II Item 8
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated by reference into this Item 3.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market forff Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Our Common Stock

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “SGEN.” As of February 9,
2021, there were 181,164,446 shares of our common stock outstanding, which were held by approximatela y 60 holders of
record.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock since our inception. We do not intend to pay any cash
dividends in the foreseeable futureff , but intend to retain all earnings, if any, for use in our business operations.

Sales of Unregistered Securities and IssueUU r Repurchases of SecuritiesSS

Other than as previously reported on a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 14, 2020, there were no unregistered sales of equity securities by us during 2020. In addition,dd
we did not repurchase any of our equity securities during 2020.

Stock PerPP formancer Graph

The table below shows the cumulative total return to our stockholders during the period from December 31, 2015
through December 31, 2020 in comparison to the indicated indexes. The results assume that $100 was invested on
December 31, 2015 in our common stock and each of the indicated indexes, including reinvestment of any dividends.

Seagen Inc. Nasdaq Composite Nasdaq Biotechnology

12/2015 12/2016 12/2017 12/2018 12/2019 12/2020
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December 31,
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Seagen Inc. $ 100.00 $ 117.58 $ 119.21 $ 126.25 $ 254.59 $ 390.24
Nasdaq Composite 100.00 108.87 141.13 137.12 187.44 271.64
Nasdaq Biotechnology 100.00 78.65 95.67 87.19 109.08 137.90
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This information under “Stock Performance Graph” is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of Seagen Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and irrespective of any general incorporation language in those filings.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The followingThe following l d fiselected fi i l dnancial data sh ld bhould be read id in conjunction witonjunction withh our consolidated financiaur consolidated fina l statements and
notes to our consolidated financial statements and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected Consolidated Statements
of Comprehensive Income (Loss) data for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, and Consolidated
Balance Sheet data as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 have been derived from ourff audited financial statements
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
Income (Loss) data for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 and Consolidated Balance Sheet data as of
December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 have been derived from ourff audited financial statements that are not included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results.

Years ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
(a) (b) (c)

(in thousands, except for per share amounts)ff
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomee (Loss) Data:
Revenues:
Net product sales $ 1,000,598 $ 627,977 $ 476,903 $ 307,562 $ 265,766
Royalty revenues 126,756 138,491 83,440 66,056 67,455
Collaboration and license agreement revenues 108,632 84,92694,357150,2451,048,182
Total revenues 2,175,536 916,713 654,700 482,250 418,147
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales 217,720 43,952 88,293 54,118 42,317
Research and development 379,308456,700719,374 565,309827,129
Selling, general and administrative 533,835 373,932 261,096 167,233 139,247
Total costs and expenses 560,872678,051914,6981,137,2581,578,684
Income (loss) from operations 596,852 (220,545) (259,998) (195,801) (142,725)
Investment and other income, net 18,849 61,895 13,65213,652 36,914 2,614
Income (loss) before income taxes 615,701 (158,650) (246,346) (158,887) (140,111)
Income tax benefit (expense) (2,031) 2— 3,653 33,357 —
Net income (loss) $ 613,670 $ (158,650) $ (222,693) $ (125,530) $ (140,111)
Net income (loss) per share - basic $ 3.51 $ (0.96) $ (1.41) $ (0.88) $ (1.00)
Net income (loss) per share - diluted $ 3.37 $ (0.96) $ (1.41) $ (0.88) $ (1.00)

Shares used in computation of per share
amounts - basic 157,655165,498174,834 140,746143,174

Shares used in computation of per share
amounts - diluted 182,287 165,498 157,655 143,174 140,746
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December 31,
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
(a) (b) (c)

(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and investments $ 2,660,250 $ 868,338 $ 459,866 $ 413,171 $ 618,974
Working capital 2,674,246 917,284 428,523 586,132409,932
Total assets 4,000,906 2,205,866 1,503,329 877,949 838,396
Stockholders’ equity 677,569677,569 634,0871,273,9431,876,2873,488,100

(a) In October 2020, we closed the sale of the shares pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, and issued 5,000,000 shares of our common stock to
Merck at a purchase price of $200 per share, for proceeds of $1.0 billion. As a result, we recorded $749.9 million in stockholders’ equity on our
consolidated balance sheet and recogniz d hed the $ illi$250.1 million premium attributed to the Purchase Agreement in collaboration and licensepremium attributed to the Purchase Agreement in collaboration and license
gagreement revenue fs for the year ended Decembeor the year ended Decembefff r 31, 2020.

(b)(b) In July 2019, we completed an underwritten public offering ofIn July 2019, we completed an underwritten public offering of 8,214,286 h f kshares of our common stock at a public offering pricublic offering pric fe of $$70.00 per
share. The offering resulted in net proceeds to us ofshare. The offering resulted in net proceeds to us of $ illi$548.7 million.

On January 1, 2019, we adopted Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, Topic 842--Leases. We recognized $35.2 million of operating leaseOn January 1, 2019, we adopted Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, Topic 842--Leases. We recognized $35.2 million of operating lease
liabilities and $34.7 million of operating lease right-of-use assets on our consolidated balance sheet. We elected theliabilities and $34.7 million of operating lease right-of-use assets on our consolidated balance sheet. We elected the modifi d idified retrospective
h d i i i hi h i d h i i d d ddi i l i f i fmethod transition option, which permitted us not to restate the comparative periods presented. For additional information, refer to Note f3 of thhe

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II ItemNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II Item f8 of thi lhis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

( )(c) h i d diIn March 2018, we acquired Cascadian Th i diherapeutics, Inc., or Cascadian, for a total purchase price of approximatelyotal purchase price of approximately $ illi$614.1 million. C diascadian
was included in our results of operations, along with the estimatewas included in our results of operations, along with the estimatedd f i l h i d d li bili i d i h i i iair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition, asff
h i i i dof the acquisition date.

In February 2018, we completed an underwritten public offering ofIn February 2018, we completed an underwritten public offering of 13,269,230 h f kshares of our common stock at a public offering price ofublic offering price of $$52.00
per share. The offering resulted in net proceeds to us ofper share. The offering resulted in net proceeds to us of $ illi$658.2 million. The primary use of the net proceeds received from the offering was thehe primary use of the net proceeds received from the offering was the
f d h di i i ifund the Cascadian acquisition.

On January 1, 2018, we adopted ASCOn January 1, 2018, we adopted ASC To i f i h d dpic 606--Revenue from Contracts with Customers. We recorded $a $ illi26.6 million cu l i ffmulative effect
adjustment to decrease the accumulated deficiadjustment to decrease the accumulated defici ft as of January 1, 2018. We used the modified retrospective method transition option, whichanuary 1, 2018. We used the modified retrospective method transition option, which
permitted us not to restate the comparative periods presented. For additional information, referpermitted us not to restate the comparative periods presented. For additional information, refer to Note f2 of th lid d i i lhe Notes to Consolidated Financial

i l d d iStatements included in Part II Item f8 of thi lhis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

On January 1, 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, “ASOn January 1, 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, “ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments: Overall,” which required, among016-01, Financial Instruments: Overall,” which required, among
other items, that changes in the fair value of equity securities be recorded in income or loss rather thanother items, that changes in the fair value of equity securities be recorded in income or loss rather than ac l d h h i icumulated other comprehensive income
or loss in stockholders’ equity. We recognizedor loss in stockholders’ equity. We recognized $a $64.1 million cumulative effect adjustment to decrease the accumulated deficit as of January 1,64.1 million cumulative effect adjustment to decrease the accumulated deficit as of January 1,

d h difi d i2018. We used the modified retrospective me h d i i i hi h i d h i i d dthod transition option, which permitted us not to restate the comparative periods presented. For
additional information, refer to the heading “Investments” in Noteadditional information, refer to the heading “Investments” in Note f1 of th h lid d i i l i l d d ihe Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II
Item f8 of thi lhis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Forward-looking statements are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently
available to our management. All statements other than statements of historical facts are “forward-looking statements”
for purposes of these provisions, including those relating to future events or our future financial performance and
financial guidance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “might,”
“will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “project,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “intend”
or “continue,” the negative of terms like these or other comparable terminology, and other words or terms of similar
meaning in connection with any discussion of fuff ture operating or financial performance. These statements are only
predictions. All forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are based on information
available to us on the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. Any or
all of our forward-looking statements in this document may turn out to be wrong. Actual events or results may differ
materially. Our forward-looking statements can be affected bydd inaccurate assumptions we might make or by known or
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors. We discuss many of these risks, uncertainties and other factorsii in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K in greater detail in “Part I Item 1A—Risk Factors.” We caution investors that our
business and financial performance are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties.

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with the Selected Financial Data and our
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewherell in this Annual Report one Form 10-K.

Overview

Seagen is a biotechnology company that develops and commercializes targeted therapies to treat cancer. We are
commercializing ADCETRIS for the treatment of certain CD30-expressing lymphomas, PADCEV for the treatment of
certain metastatic urothelial cancers, and TUKYSA for treatment of certain metastatic HER2-positive breast cancers. We
are also advancing a pipeline of novel therapies for solid tumors and blood-related cancers designed to address unmet
medical needs and improve treatment outcomes for patients. Many of our programs, including ADCETRIS and
PADCEV, are based on our antibody-drug conjugate, or ADC, technology that utilizes the targeting ability of
monoclonal antibodies to deliver cell-killing agents directly to cancer cells. In October 2020, we changed our corporate
name from Seattle Genetics, Inc. to Seagen Inc., reflecting the global expansion of our operations.

2020 highlights and recent developments

Corporate

• Reported net product sales of $1 billion for full year 2020.
• Entered into oncology collaborations with Merck under which we received $725 million in upfront payments

and $1 billion through an equity investment by Merck.
• Continued to make strategic investments in our pipeline, commercial launches, infrastructure, and headcount to

support our future growth.

ADCETRIS

• Reported the five-year update of the phase 3 ECHELON-1 clinical trial which showed treatment with
ADCETRIS in combination with AVD resulted in superior long-term outcomes when compared to ABVD,
which includes bleomycin, in frontline advanced Hodgkin lymphoma.

• Expanded clinical program including initiation of phase 3 trial in relapsed and refractory diffuse large B-cell
lymphoma and expanded a trial in frontline Hodgkin lymphoma to evaluate stage I and II patients.

• Expanded indication approved in the European Union and first approval in China for our partner Takeda.

PADCEV

• Commercial launch with Astellas, for patients with previously treated metastatic urothelial cancer, following
FDA approval in December 2019.
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• Announced positive topline results from EV-301 phase 3 trial showing that PADCEV significantly improved
overall survival in previously treated metastatic urothelial cancer patients. Data to support global marketing
applications.

• Announced positive topline results from second cohort of EV-201 pivotal trial. Data to support additional
indication in the U.S.

• Initiated EV-302 phase 3 trial in first-line metastatic urothelial cancer in combination with pembrolizumab.
• Received breakthrough therapy designation in first-line advanced urothelial cancer for PADCEV in

combination with pembrolizumab.

TUKYSA

• Commercial launch following FDA approval for patients with previously treated metastatic HER2-positive
breast cancer, including patients with brain metastases in April 2020.

• Received ex-U.S. regulatory approvals in Australia, Canada, Singapore and Switzerland under the Project Orbis
initiative of the FDA Oncology Center of Excellence.

• Received marketing authorization in the European Union in February 2021.
• Entered into exclusive license and co-development agreement with Merck to commercialize TUKYSA in Asia,

the Middle East and Latin America and other regions outside of the U.S., Canada and Europe.

Pipeline

• Announced positive results from tisotumab vedotin pivotal trial in patients with previously treated recurrent or
metastatic cervical cancer. Data used to supportu approval application submitted in the U.S. in February 2021.

• Entered into a global co-development and co-commercialization agreement with Merck for our drug candidate
ladiratuzumab vedotin.

• Initiated phase 1 trials of two novel drug candidates, SGN-B6A and SEA-TGT.

Also refer to Part I Item 1 “Business” for more information about our products, pipeline, technologies, research
programs, and future plans for our clinical programs, including recent key business achievements.

Outlook

We recognize revenue from ADCETRIS product sales in the U.S. and Canada, and PADCEV and TUKYSA
products sales in the U.S. hil i i h l f illWhile we anticipate that sales of ADCETRIS will iincrease iin d2021 as compared to 2020, we
h i d dhave experienced and expect co i dntinued iimpacts ass i d i h h d i hi hociated with the COVID-19 pandemic, which appear to be reducingpear to be reducing
h fthe rate of dHodgkingkin lylymphoma diagnoses, andmphoma diagnoses, and an increase in gross-to-net deductionsincrease in gross-to-net deductions hth b liat we believe iis ddue to a hifshift iin
h l ithe locations hwhe ire ADCETRIS is dadministered, which has increased the proportion of ADCETRIS sales through theministered, which has increased the proportion of ADCETRIS sales through the
federal 340B drug discount program.federal 340B drug discount program. exWe pect that, going forward, our ability to maintain or continue to grow our
ADCETRIS sales, if at all, will depend primarily on our ability to establish or demonstrate to the medical community the
value of ADCETRIS and its potential advantages compared to existing and future therapeutics in its approved
indications, including in the frontline Hodgkin lymphoma indication, and the extent to which physicians make
prescribing decisions with respect to ADCETRIS. Other important factors affecting our ADCETRIS sales include the
incidence flow of patients eligible for treatment in ADCETRIS’ approved indications, the extent to which coverage and
adequate levels of reimbursement for ADCETRIS are available from governments and other third-party payors, the
impact of any healthcare reform measures that may be upheld, or adopted in the future, including measures that could
result in more rigorous coverage criteria or reduce the price that we receive for ADCETRIS, increasing competition from
competing therapies including pembrolizumab in multiple indications, including in the relapsed or refractory classical
Hodgkin lymphoma indication, impacts resulting from the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic including lowerff
diagnosis rates, and the potential future approval of ADCETRIS in any additional indications. For these reasons, we
cannot assure you that ADCETRIS sales will continue to grow or that we can maintain sales of ADCETRIS at or near
current levels. In addition, as a result of these and other factors, our future ADCETRIS product sales can be difficult to
accurately predict from period to period.

Our ability to realize the anticipated benefits from our investment in PADCEV is subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties, including our and Astellas’ ability to successfully jointly market and commercialize PADCEV in the U.S.
in its approved indication, the extent to which we and Astellas are able to obtain regulatory approvals of PADCEV in
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additional indications in the U.S., including in the frontline metastatic urothelial cancer setting, and in territories outside
the U.S., our ability and Astellas’ ability to successfully comply with rigorous post-marketing requirements, including
obtaining the FDA’s agreement as to the confirmation of clinical benefit of PADCEV based on the results of the EV-301
clinical trial, the acceptance of PADCEV by the medical community and patients, the extent to which physicians make
prescribing decisions with respect to PADCEV, the incidence flow of patients eligible for treatment in PADCEV’s
approved indication, the duration of therapy for patients receiving PADCEV, the extent to which coverage and adequate
levels of reimbursement for PADCEV are available from governments and other third-party payors, the impact of any
healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, including measures that could potentially result in more
rigorous coverage criteria and additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for PADCEV, potential
competition from competing therapies, the impact of conducting launch activities virtually during the COVID-19
pandemic and other impacts resulting from the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic including potential negativeff
impacts of reduced cancer diagnosis rates. In addition, as a result of these and other factors, including the lack of
significant historical sales data, PADCEV sales are currently difficult to predict from period to period.

Our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of our investment in TUKYSA is subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties, including our and Merck’s ability to successfully launch, market and commercialize TUKYSA in our
respective territories in its approved indication, the extent to which we and Merck are able to obtain regulatory and other
required governmental and pricing and reimbursement approvals of TUKYSA in additional territories, the extent to
which we and Merck are able to obtain regulatory approvals of TUKYSA in additional indications, including earlier lines
of breast cancer and other HER2-positive cancers, the acceptance of TUKYSA by the medical community and patients,
competition from other therapies, our and Merck’s ability to accurately predict and supply product demand, the extent to
which coverage and reimbursement will be available from governments and other third-party payors, our capacity to
effectively commercialize a product outside of the U.S., the impact of conducting launch activities virtually during the
COVID-19 pandemic and other impacts resulting from the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic including
potential negative impacts of reduced cancer diagnosis rates. In addition, as a result of these and other factors, including
the lack of significant historical sales data, TUKYSA sales are currently difficult to predict from period to period.

The biopharmaceutical industry and the markets in which we operate are intensely competitive. Many of our
competitors are working to develop or have commercialized products similar to those we market or are developing. Drug
prices are under significant scrutiny and we expect drug pricing and other health care costs to continue to be subject to
intense political and societal pressures on a global basis. For example, in July 2020, then-President Trumprr announced
four Executive Orders related to reducing prescription drug prices and we expect that drug pricing will continue to be
subject to close scrutiny by federal, state and foreign governments. In addition to pricing actions and other measures
being taken worldwide designed to reduce healthcare costs and limit the overall level of government expenditures, our
sales and operations could also be affected by other risks of doing business internationally.

We expect that amounts received from our collaboration agreements, including royalties, will continue to be an
important source of our revenues and cash flows. These revenues and cash flows will be impacted by future development
funding and the achievement of development, clinical and commercial success by our collaborators under our existing
collaboration and license agreements, as well as by entering into potential new collaboration and license agreements.

Our ongoing research, development, manufacturing and commercial activities will require substantial amounts of
capital and may not ultimately be successful. We expect that we will incur substantial expenses, and we will require
significant financial resources and additional personnel in order to advance the development of, to pursue, obtain and
maintain regulatory approvals for, and to commercialize our products and product candidates, and expand our pipeline.
In addition, we may pursue new operations or continue the expansion of our existing operations, including with respect
to our plans to build a commercial infrastructure in Europe and to otherwise continue to expand our operations
internationally. As a result, we may need to raise additional capital,a and our operating expenses may fluctuate as a result
of such activities. We may also incur milestone payment obligations to certain of our licensors as our product candidates
progress through clinical trials towards potential commercialization.
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We are closely evaluating the impacts of the evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our ability and the
ability of our collaborators to effectively market, sell and distribute our productsff and to develop our products and product
candidates. While our field-based personnel are engaging in limited in-person interactions, they are primarily using
electronic communication, such as emails, phone calls and video conferences. Many healthcare professionals that we
normally call on are working a greater proportion of their working schedule from home and are facing additional
demands on their time during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. We are experiencing increased competition for virtual
appointments with healthcare professionals and a significant reduction in the number of interactions our sales personnel
are having with physicians. We expect the different quality of electronic interactions as compared with in-person
interactions, as well as the reduced quantity of interactions during the COVID-19 pandemic, to reduce the effectiveness
of our sales personnel, as well as those of our collaborators, which could negatively affect our product sales andff those of
our collaborators, as well as physician awareness of our products. With respect to PADCEV and TUKYSA specifically,
we have not launched a product using primarily virtual communication channels in the past and cannot predict the effects
that this approach will ultimately have on demand for PADCEV or TUKYSA. However, we believe that the need to
conduct these activities virtually is negatively impacting our ability to connect with key customers, including those
familiar with competitive products, and our ability to conduct payor engagements. We face a number of challenges that
will limit our ability to fully resume in-person interactions for the foreseeable future, including increasing COVID-19
infection rates in many states, the potential for more severe outbreaks, the need to navigate varying restrictions for
entering healthcare facilities and employee childcare obligations during virtual school sessions. In addition, the effects offf
the COVID-19 pandemic continue to evolve rapidly, and we may subsequently be forced to, or subsequently determine
that we should, resume a more restrictive remote work model, whether as a result of further spikes or surges in
COVID-19 infection or hospitalization rates or otherwise. Moreover, the long-term effects of the COVID-19 pandemicff
are also unknown and it is possible that following the pandemic, healthcare institutions could alter their policies with
respect to in person visits by pharmaceutical company representatives. COVID-19 related restrictions could also present
product distribution challenges as we utilize recently initiated distribution channels for TUKYSA. We also expect that
the conversion of medical conferences to a virtual format may reduce our ability to effectively disseminate scientific
information about our products, which may result in decreased physician awareness of our products, their approved
indications and their efficacy and safety.ff The evolving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may also negatively affect ourff
product sales due to challenges in patient access to healthcare settings, significant increases in unemployment and the
resulting loss of individual health insurance coverage, and inability to access government healthcare programs due to
backlogs, some or all of which appear to be affecting diagnosis rates and may affect sideff effectff management, course of
treatment and increase enrollment in our patient support programs. With respect to ADCETRIS specifically, impacts
associated with the COVID-19 pandemic appear to be reducing the rate of Hodgkin lymphoma diagnoses. In addition,
we have experienced lower than expected levels of our research and development spending, in part as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic. This includes some delays in clinical trial enrollment as well as reduced travel due to the
conversion of medical and scientific meetings to virtual format. While we do not at this time anticipate the need to revise
our publicly reported projected clinical milestone dates as a result of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, there may
be some impacts to our clinical studyt timelines, which, depending upon the duration and severity of the evolving effects
of the COVID-19 pandemic, could ultimately delay data availability. In addition, many of our non-essential on-site
research activities are currently significantly reduced as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, which may negatively
impact the number of investigational new drug application, or IND, candidates entering our clinical pipeline in future
years. The extent to which the risks and evolving effects of theff COVID-19 pandemic impact our business, our ability to
generate sales of and revenues from our approved products, and our clinical development and regulatory efforts willff
depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, such as the ultimate
duration and severity of the pandemic, government actions, such as travel restrictions, quarantines and social distancing
requirements in the U.S. and in other countries, business closures or business disruptions and the effectiveness offf actions
taken in the U.S. and in other countries to contain and treat the disease, including the effectiveness and timing of vaccine
programs in the U.S. and worldwide.

Because of the above and other factors, our results of operations may vary substantially from year to year and
from quarter to quarter and, as a result, we believe that period to period comparisons of our operating results may not be
meaningful and should not be relied upon as being indicative of our future performance.
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Financial summary

For 2020, our total revenues increased to $2.2 billion, compared to $916.7 million in 2019. This growth was
driven by $ illi$975.2 million ll b icollaboration and license agreement revenues recognized related tod lice the agreements we entered
into with Merck during 2020, the U.S. launches of PADCEV beginning ininning in bDecember 2019 andd TUKYSA iin ilApril 2020,
respectively, as well as higher ADCETRIS net product sales.respectively, as well as higher ADCETRIS net product sales.

For 2020, total costs and expenses iincreasedd to $ billi$1.6 billion d, compared to $ billi$1.1 billion iin 2019. This primarily. This primarily
fl dreflected higherhigher f lcost of sales, higherhigher selling, generalselling, general and d i i id administrative expenses, andd higherhigher hresearch and d ld development
expenses.

As of December 31, 2020, we had $2.7 billion in cash, cash equivalents and investments and $3.5 billion in total
stockholders’ equity.

Comparability

We adopted ASC Topic 842—Leases on January 1, 2019, resulting in a change to our accounting policy for
leases. We recorded a liability to make lease payments and a right-of-use asset representing our right to use the
underlying assets for the applicable lease terms in our consolidated balance sheet at January 1, 2019. We used the
modified retrospective method transition option. Accordingly, 2018 comparative information has not been adjusted andd
continues to be reported under previous accounting standards. For additional information, refer to Note 3 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In 2018, we acquired Cascadian for $10.00 per share in cash, or approximately $614.1 million. Cascadian was
included in our results of operations as of the acquisition date. Accordingly, the results discussed below were impacted
by the timing of this acquisition. For additional information, refer to Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition, the section of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations generally discusses 2020 and 2019 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2020 and 2019. Discussions
of 2018 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2019 and 2018 that are not included in this Annual Report on Form
10-K can be found in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part
II Item 7 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, filed with the
SEC on February 6, 2020.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP,
requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We believe the following critical accounting
policies describe the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.

We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form our basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from those estimates under different
assumptions and conditions.

Revenue Recoggnition revenues. Our r are comprised of ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA net product sales,
amounts earned under our collaboration and licensing agreements, and royalties. Revenue recognition occurs when a
customer obtains control of promised goods or services in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive
in exchange for those goods or services. The period between when we transfer control of promised goods or services and
when we receive payment is expected to be one year or less, and that expectation is consistent with our historical
experience. As such, we do not adjust our revenues for thed effects of aff significant financing component.
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We apply significant judgment to our estimates in the following revenue recognition areas, each as discussed in
more detail in the corresponding sections after this list:

• Net product sales - sales deductions related to government-mandated rebates and chargebacks, such as for the
Medicaid and 340B programs

• Collaboration and license agreement revenues - assessing the probability of future reversal of variable
consideration and evaluating whether contractual obligations represent distinct performance obligations

• Royalty revenues - estimating Takeda's net sales of ADCETRIS to the extent actual information is not
available

Net product sales

We sell ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA through a limited number of specialty distributors and specialty
pharmacies. We and our collaboration partner Astellas jointly promote PADCEV in the U.S. Under the joint promotion
in the U.S., we record net sales of PADCEV and are responsible for all distribution through a limited number of specialty
distributors. The delivery of our products represents a single performance obligation for these transactions and we record
net product sales at the point in time when title and risk of loss pass. The transaction price for net product sales
represents the amount we expect to receive, which is net of estimated government-mandated rebates and chargebacks,
distribution fees, estimated product returns, and other deductions. Accruals are established for these deductions, and
actual amounts incurred are offset against applicable accruals. We reflect these accruals as either a reductionrr in the
related account receivable from the distributor or as an accruedrr liability, depending on the nature of the sales deduction.
Sales deductions are based on management’s estimates that consider payor mix in target markets and experience to-date.
These estimates involve a substantial degree of judgment. We have applied a portfolio approach as a practical expedient
for estimating net product sales.

Government-mandated rebates and chargebacks:We have entered into a Medicaid Drug Rebate Agreement, or
MDRA, with the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. This agreement provides for a rebate based on covered
purchases of our products. Medicaid rebates are invoiced to us by the various state Medicaid programs. We estimate
Medicaid rebates using the expected value approach, based on a variety of factors, including payor mix and our
experience to-date.

We have a Federal Supply Schedule, or FSS, agreement under which certain U.S. government purchasers receive
a discount on eligible purchases of our products. In addition, we have entered into a Pharmaceutical Pricing Agreement
with the Secretary of Health and Human Services, which enables certain entities that qualify for government pricing
under the Public Health Services Act, or PHS, to receive discounts on their qualified purchases of our products. Under
these agreements, distributors process a chargeback to us for the difference between wholesale acquisition cost and the
applicable discounted price. We estimate expected chargebacks for FSS and PHS purchases based on the expected value
of each entity’s eligibility for the FSS and PHS programs. We also review historical rebate and chargeback information
to further refine these estimates.

Distribution fees, product returns and other deductions: Our distributors charge a volume-based fee for
distribution services that they perform for us. We allow for the return of product that is within a specified number of days
of its expiration date or that is damaged. We estimate product returns based on our experience to-date using the expected
value approach. We provide financial assistance to qualifying patients that are underinsured or cannot cover the cost of
commercial coinsurance amounts through our patient support programs. Estimated contributions for commercial
coinsurance under SeaGen Secure are deducted from gross sales and are based on an analysis of expected plan
utilization. These estimates are adjusted as necessary to reflect our actuald experience.
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Royalty revenues

Royalty revenues primarily reflect amounts earned under the ADCETRIS collaboration with Takeda. These
royalties include commercial sales-based milestones and sales royalties that relate predominantly to the license of
intellectual property. Sales royalties are based on a percentage of Takeda’s net sales of ADCETRIS, with rates that range
from the mid-teens to the mid-twenties based on annual net sales tiers. Takeda bears a portion of low single digit third-
party royalty costs owed on its sales of ADCETRIS. This amount is included in royalty revenues. Amounts owed to our
third-party licensors related to Takeda’s sales of ADCETRIS are recorded in cost of sales. These amounts are recognized
in the period in which the related sales by Takeda occur. Royalty revenues also reflect amounts from Genentech, Inc., a
member of the Roche Group, or Genentech, earned on net sales of Polivy, and amounts from GlaxoSmithKline earned on
net sales of Blenrep.

Collaboration and license agreement revenues

We have collaboration and license agreements for our technology with a number of biotechnology and
pharmaceutical companies. Under these agreements, we typically receive or are entitled to receive upfront cash payments
and progress- and sales-dependent milestones for the achievement by our licensees of certain events, and annual
maintenance fees and support fees for research and development services and materials provided under the agreements.
We also are entitled to receive royalties on net sales of any resulting products incorporating our technology. Our
licensees are solely responsible for research, product development, manufacturing and commercialization of any product
candidates under these collaborations, which includes the achievement of the potential milestones. Since we may not
take a substantive role or control the research, development or commercialization of any products generated by some of
our licensees, we may not able to reasonably estimate when, if at all, any potential future milestone payments or royalties
may be payable to us by our licensees. As such, the potential future milestone payments associated with certain of our
collaboration and license agreements involve a substantial degree of uncertainty and risk that they may never be
received.

Collaboration and license agreements are initially evaluated as to whether the intellectual property licenses
granted by us represent distinct performance obligations. If they are determined to be distinct, the value of the
intellectual property licenses would be recognized up-front while the research and development service fees would be
recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied. Variable consideration is assessed at each reporting period as to
whether it is not subject to future reversal of cumulative revenue and,u therefore, should be included in the transaction
price. Assessing the recognition of variable consideration requires significant judgment. If a contract includes a fixed or
minimum amount of research and development support, this also would be included in the transaction price. Changes to
collaboration and license agreements, such as the extensions of the research term or increasing the number of targets or
technology covered under an existing agreement, are assessed for whether they represent a modification or should be
accounted for as a new contract.

We have concluded that the license of intellectual property in certain collaboration and license agreements is not
distinct from the perspective of our customers at the time of initial transfer, since we often do not license intellectual
property without related technology transfer and research and development support services. Such evaluation requires
significant judgment since it is made from the customer's perspective. Our performance obligations under our
collaborations may include such things as providing intellectual property licenses, performing technology transfer,
performing research and development consulting services, providing reagents, ADCs, and other materials, and notifying
the customer of any enhancements to licensed technology or new technology that we discover, among others. We
determined our performance obligations under certain collaboration and license agreements as evaluated at contract
inception were not distinct and represented a single performance obligation. For those agreements, revenue is recognized
using a proportional performance model, representing the transfer of goods or services as activities are performed over
the term of the agreement. Upfront payments are also amortized to revenue over the performance period. Upfront
payment contract liabilities resulting from our collaborations do not represent a financing component as the payment is
not financing the transfer of goods or services, and the technology underlying the licenses granted reflects research and
development expenses already incurred by us. For agreements beyond the initial performance period, we have no
remaining performance obligations. We may receive license maintenance fees and potential milestones and royalties
based on collaborator development and regulatory progress, which are recorded in the period achieved in the case of
milestones, and during the period of the related sales for royalties.
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When no performance obligations are required of us, or following the completion of the performance obligation
period, such amounts are recognized upon transfer of control of the goods or services to the customer. Generally, all
amounts received or due other than sales-based milestones and royalties are classified as collaboration and license
agreement revenues. Sales-based milestones and royalties are recognized as royalty revenue in the period the related sale
occurred.

We generally invoice our collaborators and licensees on a monthly or quarterly basis, or upon the completion of
the effort or achievement of a milestone, based on the terms of each agreement. Deferred revenue arises from amounts
received in advance of the culmination of the earnings process and is recognized as revenue in future periods as
performance obligations are satisfied. Deferred revenue expected to be recognized within the next twelve months is
classified as a current liability.

Business combinations, including acquired in-process research and development and goodwill.We account
for business combinations using the acquisition method, recording the acquisition-date fair value of total consideration
over the acquisition-date fair value of net assets acquired as goodwill.

Fair value is typically estimated using an income approach based on the present value of future discounted cash
flows. The significant estimates in the discounted cash flow model primarily include the discount rate, rates of future
revenue growth and/or profitability of the acquired business. The discount rate considers the relevant risk associated with
business-specific characteristics and the uncertainty related to the ability to achieve the projected cash flows. We may
record adjustments to the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed within the measurement period (up to one
year from the acquisition date).

In-process research and development assets are accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets and maintained
on the balance sheet until either the underlying project is completed or the asset becomes impaired. If the project is
completed, which generally occurs when FDA approval is obtained, the carrying value of the related intangible asset is
amortized to cost of sales on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset beginning in the period in
which the project is completed. We periodically evaluate when facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
these assets may not be recoverable. If the asset becomes impaired or is abandoned, the carrying value of the related
intangible asset is written down to its fair value and an impairment charge is recorded in the period in which the
impairment occurs.

We evaluate indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill for impairment annually, as of October 1, or more
frequently when events or circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred. As part of the impairment
evaluation, we may elect to perform an assessment of qualitative factors. If this qualitative assessment indicates that it is
more likely than not that the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset or the reporting unit (for goodwill) is less
than its carrying value, we then would proceed with the quantitative impairment test to compare the fair value to the
carrying value and record an impairment charge if the carrying value exceeds the fair value.

Accrued Liabilities. As part of the process of preparing financial statements, we estimate accrued liabilities. This
process involves identifying services that have been performed on our behalf and estimating the level of services
performed and the associated costs incurred for such services where we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified
of actual cost. We record these estimates in our consolidated financial statements as of each balance sheet date. Examples
of estimated accruedrr liabilities include amounts due to contract research organizations and other costs in conjunction
with clinical trials, amounts due in conjunction with manufacturing our product candidates, third-party royalties that
accrue on our sales of our marketed products, and professional service fees, among other items.

In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be provided and the level of effort
in each period. If the actual timing of the provision of services or the level of effort varies fromff the estimate, we will
adjust the accrual accordingly. In the event that we do not identify costs that have been incurred or we under or
overestimate the level of services performed or the costs of such services, our actual liabilities would differ from such
estimates. The date on which some services commence, the level of services performed on or before a given date and the
cost of such services are often subjective determinations. We make judgments based upon the facts and circumstances
known to us at the time.
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Long-term Incentive Plans.We have long term incentive plans which provide eligible employees with the
opportunity to receive performance-based incentive compensation, which may be comprised of cash, stock options, and/
or restricted stock units. The payment of cash and the grant or vesting of equity awards are contingent upon the
achievement of pre-determined regulatory milestones. We record compensation expense over the estimated service
period for each milestone when we believe the milestone is considered probable, which we assess at each reporting date.
Once a milestone is considered probable, we record compensation expense based on the portion of the service period
elapsed to date with respect to that milestone, with a cumulative catch-up, net of estimated forfeitures, and recognize any
remaining compensation expense, if any, over the remaining estimated service period.

Income Taxes.We have net deferred tax assets which are offset by a valuation allowance due to ourdd
determination that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We believe that a valuation
allowance is appropriate as we havea a history of net operating losses. In the event we were to determine that we would be
able to realize our net deferred tax assets in the future,ff an adjustment to the valuation allowance would be made, a
portion of which would increase income (or decrease losses) in the period in which such a determination was made. We
follow the guidance related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, which requires the recognition of an uncertain
tax position when it is more likely than not to be sustainable uponu audit by the applicable taxing authority.

Results of Operations - Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018

Net product sales

Percentage change
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018 2020/2019 2019/2018
ADCETRIS $ 658,577 $ 627,733 $ 476,903 5 % 32 %
PADCEV 222,436 244 — NM NM
TUKYSA 119,585 — — NM NM
Net product sales $ 1,000,598 $ 627,977 $ 476,903 59 % 32 %

NM: No amount in comparable period or not a meaningful comparison.

Our net product sales grew 59% during 2020 as compared to 2019, primarily driven by recent product launches of
PADCEV and TUKYSA. We began commercializing PADCEV and TUKYSA following FDA approvala s in December
2019 and April 2020, respectively. ADCETRIS n d let product sale is increased id in 2 f d020 from 2019 due to highehigher s lales
l dvolumes and hthe effect of p i irice increase ds duringuringdd hthe c yurrent year p i deriod.

We expect growth in net product sales in 2021 from 2020 to be primarily driven by saleby sale gs growth fh of T dUKYSA and
PADCEV, dand to la lesser extent, ADCETRIS.
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Gross-to-net deductions, net of related payments and credits, were as follows:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

(in thousands)
Rebates and
chargebacks

Distribution
fees,
product
returns
and other Total

Rebates and
chargebacks

Distribution
fees,
product
returns
and other Total

Rebates and
chargebacks

Distribution
fees,
product
returns
and other Total

Balance,
beginning of
yea $r 38,084 $ 7,519 $ 45,603 $ 26,968 $ 5,604 $ 32,572 $ 14,374 $ 3,521 $ 17,895

Provision related
to current
year sales 358,238 28,724 386,962 253,702 15,298 269,000 179,394 11,717 191,111

Adjustments for
prior period
sales (1,341) — (1,341) (856)(464)(392) 440 (478) (38)

Payments/credits
for current
year sales (319,444) (18,886) (338,330) (217,905) (11,349) (229,254) (155,581) (8,248) (163,829)

Payments/credits
for prior year
sales (31,344) (1,668) (33,012) (11,659)(11,659)(1,570) (25,859)(24,289) (1,570) (25,859) (11,659) (908) (12,567)(908)

Balance, end of
year $ 44,193 $ 15,689 $ 59,882 $ 38,084 $ 7,519 $ 45,603 $ 26,968 $ 5,604 $ 32,572

Government-mandated rebates and chargebacks are the most significant component of our total gross-to-net
deductions and the discount percentage has been increasing. These discount percentages increased during 2020 and 2019
as a result of price increases for ADCETRIS that we instituted that exceeded the rate of inflation. The most significant
portion of our gross-to-net accrual balances as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was for ADCETRIS Medicaid rebates.
We expect future gross-to-net deductions to fluctuate based on the volume of purchases eligible for governmentff
mandated discounts and rebates, as well as changes in the discount percentage which is impacted by potential future
price increases, the rate of inflation, and other factors. We expect gross-to-net deductions to increase in 2021 as
compared to 2020, driven by anticipated growth in our gross product sales.

Royalty revenues

Royalty revenues primarily reflect royalties earned under the ADCETRIS collaboration with Takeda. These
royalties include commercial sales-based milestones and sales royalties. Sales royalties are based on a percentage of
Takeda’s net sales of ADCETRIS, with rates that range from the mid-teens to the mid-twenties based on annual net sales
tiers. Takeda bears third-party royalty costs owed on its sales of ADCETRIS. This amount is included in royalty
revenues. Royalty revenues also reflect, to a lesser extent, amounts from Genentech earned on net sales of Polivy
beginning in 2019, and amounts from GlaxoSmithKlineff earned on net sales of Blenrep beginning in August 2020, both
of which utilizes technology that we have licensed to them.

Percentage change
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018 2020/2019 2019/2018
Royalty revenues $ 126,756 $ 138,491 $ 83,440 (8)% 66 %

Royalty revenues decreased in 2020 as compared to 2019 due to Takeda's achievement of a $40.0 million sales-
based milestone during 2019, offset in part by 2020 growth in Takeda net sales of ADCETRIS in its territories, as well as
higher Roche net sales of Polivy.

We expect that royalty revenues will increase in 2021 as compared to 2020 primarily due to highehigher royalties fromoyalties from
i ianticipated gd growth ih in A lDCETRIS sales lvolume by Te by T k dakeda, as ll i iwell as anticipatedd s lales ggrowth fh of o hur othe lr liicensees.
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Collaboration and license agreement revenues

Collaboration and license agreement revenues reflect amounts earned under certain of our license and
collaboration agreements. These revenues reflect the earned portion offf license fees,ff payments received by us for
technology access and maintenance fees, milestone payments and reimbursement payments for researcff h and
development support that we provide to our collaborators.

Collaboration and license agreement revenues by collaborator were as follows:

Percentage change
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018 2020/2019 2019/2018
Merck $ 975,150 $ — $ — NM NM
Takeda 32,107 108,175 58,605 (70)% 85 %
Other 40,925 42,070 35,752 (3)% 18 %
Collaboration and license agreement
revenues $ 1,048,182 $ 150,245 $ 94,357 598 % 59 %

NM: No amount in comparable period or not a meaningful comparison.

ll b iCollaboration and ld liicen gse agreement revenues from kMerck i l dincluded ld liicense revenues of $ illi$725.0 million l drelated to
h ll b ithe collaboration gag f dreements for LV and TUKYSA hthat were en dtered iinto iin ll2020, as well as a stockk p h iurchase premium
paipaid by Md by Mer k fck of $ illi$250.1 million. Referff to Note 11 of the Notes toNote 11 of the N Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II
Item 8 f ddi i l i f ior additional information.

ll b iCollaboration revenues f k d fl b drom Takeda fluctuate based onff hch gange is in the recognizehe recognizedd p i f i bortion of reimbursement
funding undefunding under thhe ADCETRIS coll b i hillaboration, whichh a ire impacted by td by th i i ihe activities eachh party is py is performing underforming under hthe
ll b icollaboration gagreement at ga giiven tiime. lFor example, when Takeda’s level of spending onhen Takeda’s level of spending on liclini l ll b iical collaboration
i i iactivitie is increases above our own, our earned portion of reimbursement funding generally decreasesbove our own, our earned portion of reimbursement funding generally decreasesa . Additionally,dditionally, we
i i b freceive reimbursement for thhe cost of drug product suppliedst of drug product supplied to k d f iTakeda for its use, the timing of which fluctuates basedhe timing of which fluctuates based
k d d lon Takeda’s product supplyy needs. Collaboration revenues fromeeds. Collaboratio Takeda can also fluctuate based on the achievement of

milestones by Takedda. Coll b i fllaboration revenues from Tak dkeda iin 2020 ddecreasedd comparedd to 2019, primarilyrimarily as a r l fesult of
two regulatory milestoneegulatory milestones a hichieved id in 2019 totalingtaling $ illi$37.5 million, whi hhich were r l delated to l f iapprovals of ADCETRIS in
frontline Hodgkinfrontline Hodgkin lyly hmphoma, andd th l i f h k d fhe completion of the Takeda performance peri diod iin bNovember 2019.

Other collaboration revenues declined slightly in 2020 as compared to 2019 due to recognition of $20.0 million
license and collaboration agreement revenues from BeiGene, Ltd., or BeiGene, in 20 ll d l19, as well as development
ilmilestones r i d feceived from GSK andd Genentech ih in 2019, offset in part by019, offset in part by two r gegulatoryulatory ilmilestones a hichieved by Gd by G dSK and
da dev lelopment ilmilestone achieved byone achieved by bb iAbbVi ie in 2020.

We expe ll b ict our collaboration and ld liicense agreement revenues inse agreement revenues in 2021 to significantlto significantly dy decrease comparedd to 2020,
d idriven by tn by the amounts recognizehe amounts recognizedd r l delated to h kthe Merck gAgreements iin 2020. Our collaboration and2020. license agreement
revenues are impacted by the term and duration ofd those agreements and by progress-dependent milestones, annual
maintenance fees, and reimbursement of materials and support services. Collaboration andu license agreement revenues
may vary substantially from yearff to year and quarter to quarter depending on the progress made by our collaborators with
their product candidates, the level of support we provide to our collaborators, specifically to Takeda under our
ADCETRIS collaboration, the timing of milestones achieved and our ability to enter into potential additional
collaboration and license agreements.

Collabll oration agreements

We discuss the below arrangements in greater detail under the heading “Corporate Collaborations” in Part I Item 1
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Takeda ADCETRIS collaborationCC

We have an agreement with Takeda for the global co-development of ADCETRIS and the commercialization of
ADCETRIS by Takeda in its territory. We recognize payments received from Takeda, including progress-dependent
development and regulatory milestone payments, reimbursement for drug supplied, and net development cost
reimbursement payments, as collaboration and license agreement revenues upon transfer of control of the goods or
services over the development period. When the performance of development activities under the collaboration results in
us making a reimbursement payment to Takeda, that payment reduces collaboration and license agreement revenues. We
also recognize royalty revenues based on a percentage of Takeda's net sales of ADCETRIS in its territories, ranging from
the mid-teens to the mid-twenties based on annual net sales tiers, as well as sales-based milestones. Takeda bears a
portion of third-party royalty costs owed on its sales of ADCETRIS, which is included in royalty revenues.

Astellas PADCEV collaboration

We have a collaboration agreement with Agensys, Inc., which subsequently became anu affiliate of Astellas, toff
jointly research, develop and commercialize ADCs for the treatment of several types of cancer. Under this collaboration,
we and Astellas are co-funding all development costs for PADCEV. Cost associated with co-development activities are
included in research and development expense. Gross profit share payments owed to Astellas in the U.S. under the joint
commercialization agreement are recorded in cost of sales.

Genmab tisotumab vedotin collaborationii

We have an agreement with Genmab to develop and commercialize ADCs for the treatment of several types of
cancer, under which we previously exercised a co-development option for tisotumab vedotin. In October 2020, we and
Genmab entered into a joint commercialization agreement to govern the global commercialization of tisotumab vedotin,
if we are successful in obtaining any regulatory approvals of tisotumab vedotin. Costs associated with co-development
activities are included in research and development expense.

Merck LV collaboration

In September 2020, we entered into the LV Agreement with a subsidiary of Merck. We are pursuing a broad joint
development program evaluating LV as monotherapy and in combination settings, including with Merck’s anti-PD-1
therapy KEYTRUDA® (pembrolizumab) in triple-negative breast cancer, hormone receptor-positive breast cancer and
other LIV-1-expressing solid tumors. Under the terms of the LV Agreement, we granted Merck a co-exclusive
worldwide development and commercialization license for LV, and agreed to jointly develop and commercialize LV on a
worldwide basis. We received an upfront cash payment of $600.0 million, and we are eligible to receive up to
$850.0 million in milestone payments upon the initiation of certain clinical trials and regulatory approval in certain major
markets, and up to an additional $1.8 billion in milestone payments upon the achievement of specified annual global net
sales thresholds of LV. Each company is responsible for 50% of global costs to develop and commercialize LV and will
receive 50% of potential future profits. In connection with the LV Agreement, we entered into a stock purchase
agreement with Merck in September 2020, pursuant to which we agreed to issue and sell, and Merck agreed to purchase
5,000,000 newly-issued shares of our common stock, at a purchase price of $200 per share, for an aggregate purchase
price of $1.0 billion, referred to as the Purchase Agreement. We closed the Purchase Agreement on October 27, 2020
following the expiration of the waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

We recognized license revenue of $850.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 associated with the
LV and Stock Purchase Agreements, and we recognize such cost sharing proportionately with the performance of the
underlying activities, while recording Merck’s reimbursement of our expenses as a reduction of research and
development expenses.

Merck TUKYSA collaboration

In September 2020, we entered into the TUKYSA Agreement with a subsidiary of Merck. We granted exclusive
rights to commercialize TUKYSA in Asia, the Middle East and Latin America and other regions outside of the U.S.,
Canada and Europe. Under the terms of the TUKYSA Agreement, Merck is responsible for marketing applications for
approval in its territory, supported by the positive results from the HER2CLIMB clinical trial. We retained commercial
rights in, and will record sales in, the U.S., Canada and Europe. Merck is also co-funding a portion of the TUKYSA
global development plan, which encompasses several ongoing and planned trials across HER2-positive cancers. We will
continue to lead ongoing TUKYSA global development operational execution. Merck will solely fund and conduct
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country-specific clinical trials necessary to support anticipated regulatory applications in its territories. We received an
upfront cash payment from Merck of $125.0 million and also received $85.0 million in prepaid research and
development funding to be applied to Merck’s global development cost sharing obligations. We are eligible to receive
progress-dependent milestone payments of up to $65.0 million, and are entitled to receive tiered royalties on sales of
TUKYSA by Merck that begin in the low twenty percent range and escalate based sales volume by Merck in its territory.
We owe Array a portion of any non-royalty payments received from sublicensing TUKSYA rights, as well as a low
double-digit royalty based on net sales of TUKYSA by us, and will owe a single-digit royalty based on net sales of
TUKYSA by Merck in its territories.

We recognized license revenue of $125.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 associated with the
TUKYSA Agreement, and we recognize such cost sharing proportionately with the performance of the underlying
activities, while recording Merck’s reimbursement of our expenses as a reduction of research and development expenses.
Sales of TUKYSA drug product supplied is included in collaboration and license agreement revenues. The prepayment
received for global development cost-sharing was recorded as a co-development liability in accrued liabilities and other
or other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020. As joint development expenses
are incurred, we recognize the portion of Merck’s prepayment as a reduction of our research and development expenses
on our consolidated statements of net income (loss). As of December 31, 2020, $80.9 million was recorded as the
remaining co-development liability.

h ll b dOther collaboration and llice gnse agreements

h h ll b iWe have other collaboration and license agreements for our ADC technology withd license agreements for our ADC technology with a number of biotechnologynumber of biotechnology andd
pharmaceutical companies. We typically receive upfront cash paymentspharmaceutical companies. We typically receive upfront cash pay and progress- and sales-dependent milestones
for the achievement by our licensees of certain events, and annual maintenance fees and support fees for research and
development services and materials provided under the agreements. These amounts are recognized as revenue over the
performance obligation period if the license is determined not to be distinct from other goods and services provided, or,
if there is no performance obligation, upon transfer of control of the goods or services to the customer.

As of bDecember 31, 2020, the remaining potential, the remaining potential ilmilestone payments to us under our otherone payments to us under our other liADC license dand
ll b icollaboration gagreements co lduld to ltal approximatelyproximately $ billi$1.6 billion ifif llall i l d didpotential product candidates achi d ll fhieved all of hth ieir
ilmilestone events. Of thihis amount, approximatelyount, approximately $ billi$0.9 billion lrelates to hthe achi f d lhievement of development and regulatoryd regulatory
ilmilestones, and approximatelyd approximately $ billi$0.7 billion lrelates to hthe achi fhievement of co i lmmercial ilmilest i dones. Since we do not co lntrol
h h d lthe research, development or commercialization of any ofmmercialization of any of hth de products hthat would generate these milestones, we are notat would generate these milestones, we are not
blable to reasonablyreasonably es i h iftimate when, if llat all, any potential futureany potential future ilmilestone payments or royalties may be payable by ourone payments or royalties may be payable by our
collaborators. Successfully developingcollaborators. Successfully developing a product candidate, obtaining regulatory approvalproduct candidate, obtaining regulatory approval and ultimatelyd ultimately
commercializingcommercializing i iit is a significantlysignificantly llengthy and highly uncertain process whichngthy and highly uncertain process which en iltails ia significant risk of failure. Ingnificant risk of failure. In
ddi i b iaddition, business co bi imbinations, hchanges inanges in a collaborator’s business strategycollaborator’s business strategy and fi i l diffi l i h fd financial difficulties or other factors
ld l d h l dcould result and have resulted iin a coll bllaborator babandoning or delaying development of its productandoning or delaying development of its product ca did hndidates. As such,

the potential future milestone paymentsthe potential future milestone payments ass i d i h ll b iociated with our ADC collaboration gag i lreements involve a substantial degreesubstantial degree
f i k dof risk and may never be received.y never be received. Accordingly, we do notrdingly, we do not expect, and i h ldd investors should not assume, hth ill iat we will receive
ll fall of hth i le potential ilmilestone payments described above, andone payments described above, and i iit is possible that we may never receivepossible that we may never receive any additionaly additional
significant milestone payments under these agreements.significant milestone payments under these agreements.
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Cost of sales

Cost of sales includes manufacturing and distribution costs of product soldold, gross profit sharegro with Astellas
pursuant to our PADCEV collaboration, amortization of acquired technology license costs, royalties owed on our
PADCEV net product sales and global ADCETRIS and TUKSYA net product sales.

Percentage change
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018 2020/2019 2019/2018
Cost of sales $ 217,720 $ 43,952 $ 8 3958,293 % (50)%

Cost of sales increased in 2020 as compared to 2019, driven by the Astellas gross profit share related to PADCEV
net product sales, a payment owed to a third-party technology licensor resulting from the TUKSYA Agreement,
amortization expense associated with acquired TUKSYA technology costs, and in-licensing royalties owed on PADCEV
and TUKYSA net product sales. The gross profit share with Astellas totaled $104.6 million for the year ended December
31, 2020. We recorded amortization expense of $16.3 million for acquireff d TUKYSA technology costs during the year
ended December 31, 2020, which began following FDA approval of TUKYSAa in April 2020.

We expect cost of sales to increase in 2021 as compared to 2020 as a result of the net product sales growth of our
commercial-stage drugs. This includes cost of product sales for PADCEV andff the gross profit share with Astellas under
our collaboration. Growth will also be driven by the full-year 2021 amortization of acquired TUKYSA technology costs.
The increase in cost of sales will also reflect expected growth in ADCETRIS net product sales. Cost of sales includes a
low-single digit royalty on global net sales of ADCETRIS, a mid-single digit royalty on our net sales of PADCEV, and a
low double-digit royalty on global net sales of TUKYSA. Cost of s lales f dfor PADCEV and TUKYSA iin ill b2021 will be
partiallpartiallyy reduced byeduced by hthe use f dof produc it inventory thanventory that was manufacturedd p irior to lFDA approval, and previouslynd previously hchargedarged
to researchh a d d lnd development expense.

Research and development

Percentage change
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018 2020/2019 2019/2018
Research and clinical development $ 581,496 $ 497,986 $ 3 1797,429 % 25 %
Process sciences and manufacturing 245,633 221,388 167,880 11 % 32 %
Total research and development $ 827,129 $ 719,374 $ 5 1565,309 % 27 %

Certain prior year balances have been reclassified within research and development expenses to conform to current year presentation.

Research and clinical development expenses include personnel, occupancy and laboratorya expenses, technology
access fees, preclinical translational biology and in vitro and in vivo studies, IND-enabling pharmacology and toxicology
studies, and external clinical trial costs including costs for clinical sites, clinical research organizations, contractors and
regulatory activities associated with conducting human clinical trials. Thhe iincrease iin 2020 as comparedd to 2019
primarily reflected higherprimarily reflected higher employee-relatedployee-related co dsts and ex l d lternal development costs imainlyly to support our early-support our early- and ld late-
stage pipeline of product candidates.stage pipeline of product candidates.

Process sciences and manufacturing expenses include personnel and occupancy expenses, manufacturing costs for
the scale-up and pre-approval manufacturing of drug product used in research and our clinical trials, and costs for drug
product supplied to our collaborators. Process sciences and manufacturing expenses also include quality control and
assurance activities, and storage and shipment of our product candidates. Th i ihe increase in 2020 comparedd to 2019
primarily reflected higherprimarily reflected higher employee-relatedployee-related co dsts and ex l d l i ilternal development costs primarilyy to support our early- andrly- and
late-stage pipeline of product candidates, as well as highelate-stage pipeline of product candidates, as well as higher costs for drug product suppliedosts for drug product supplied to k dTakeda.

We utilize our employeWe utilize our employee a d i fnd infrastructure resources across m l i l hultiple research and dd development projects. Weevelopment projects. We tr kack
hhuman resource efforts e dxpendedd on manyy of o gur programs for purposeff f bs of billing our collaborators for timilling our collaborators for tim ie incurredd at
agreed upon rateagreed upon rates and for resource planning.nd for resource planning. We d fdo not account for actuall costs on a projecrojec bt basi i lis as it relates to our
i finfrastructure, facility, employeacility, employeff e a d hnd othe ir i dindirect costs h; however, we ddo se lparatelyy t krack isignificant third-partgnificant third-partyy costs
including clinicaincluding clinicall t iriall costs, manufacturing costsufacturing costs andd o hther contractedd ser ivice costs on a projecrojec bt basiis. To hth dat end, hthe
following table shows third-partyfollowing table shows third-party co i d f hsts incurred for research, contract manufacturing of our producanufacturing of our product c did dandidates and
li iclinicall and regulatory servicesnd regulatory services, as w lell dl as developmentevelopment milestone paymentmilestone payments f i lior in-licenseff dd technology for our productshnology for our products
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andd cer i ftain of our liclinical-stage producical-stage product c didandidates. hThe t blable al hlso presents other co d hsts and overheadd consisting ofonsisting of hthi dird-
ppartyy costs for our preclinical stage programs,our preclinical stage programs, as ll lwell as personnel, facilities, manufacturing,acilities, manufacturing,ff andd o hthe ir i dindirect c sts noto
directly charged to development programs.

Percentage change 5 years ended
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018 2020/2019 2019/2018 December 31, 2020
ADCETRIS (brentuximab vedotin) $ 55,530 $ 45,151 $ 40,435 23 % 12 % $ 294,082
TUKYSA (tucatinib) 73,142 84,276 40,739 (13)% 107 % 198,157
PADCEV (enfortumab vedotin-ejfv) 35,563 36,186 24,943 (2)% 45 % 123,134
Tisotumab vedotin 28,102 30,423 22,253 (8)% 37 % 86,799
Ladiratuzumab vedotin 14,320 23,178 24,523 (38)% (5)% 85,225
Other clinical stage programs 35,174 38,103 36,656 (8)% 4 % 271,508
Total third-party costs for clinical
stage programs 241,831 257,317 189,549 (6)% 36 % 1,058,905

Other costs and overhead 585,298 462,057 375,760 27 % 23 % 1,888,909
Total research and development $ 827,129 $ 719,374 $ 565,309 15 % 27 % $ 2,947,814

hi dThird-partyy costs for ADCETRIS iincreased id in 2020 as comparedd to 2019 primarily due toprimarily due to iin dcreased iacti i ivities
iassociatedd wiithh our ongoingur ongoing ADCETRIS clili inicall t i lrials. hThe cost of drug product suppliedost of drug product supplied to k d iTakeda is hch gargedd to
hresearch and dd d levelopment expense. We a i bre reimbursed fd for the drug productor the drug productfff , whihich i ih is i l d dncluded iin ll b icollaboration dand

license agreement revenues.license agreement revenues.

hi dThird-partyy costs for TUKYSA ddecreased id in 2020 as comparedd to 2019, primarily due torimarily due to llower clili inicall supplyupply
expenses. Following the approvaexpenses. Following the approval fl of TUKYSA iin iAprill 2020, we bega020, we began capitalizingitalizing iin yventory costs manufactured fd forff

i l lcommercial sale.

hi dThird-partyy costs for PADCEV ddecreasedd slightllightly iny in 2020 as comparedd to 2019 d, duedd to the timing of our ongoingthe timing of our ongoing
li iclinicall t i lrials.

hi dThird-partyy c f i b d iosts for tisotumab vedotin ddecreased id in 2020 as comparedd to 2019 d, duedd to the timing of our andthe timing of our and
Genmab's ongoing clinicaGenmab's ongoing clinicall t i lrials.

hi dThird-partyy c f l diosts for ladiratuzumabb va d iedotin ddecreased id in 2020 as comparedd to 2019, primarily due torimarily due to llower
hresearch andd clili inical dl dev lelopment expenses as well as cost-sharing reimbursementspenses as well as cost-sharing reimbursements ireceived fd f krom Merckfff iin l d2020 related

to hthe LV Aggreement.

hi dThird-partyy c f hosts for other clili inicall stag gge programs were r l delated to mul i lltiple earlier-stage development programsarlier-stage development programs
dand were relativelyelatively co insistent across 2020 dand 2019.

Other costs and overhead include third-party costs of our preclinical programs and costs associated with personnel
and facilities. Thhese costs iin dcreased iin 2020 as comparedd to 2019 d i ildue primarily to dy to due tod hthe addi i fddition of new p li i lreclinical
programprograms and highend higher employee-relateloyee-relatedd expenses from headcount growth.rom headcount growth.ff

In order to advance our product candidates toward commercialization, the product candidates are tested in
numerous preclinical safety, toxicology and efficacy studies. We then conduct clinical trials for those product candidatesff
that take several years or more to complete. The length of time varies substantially based upon the type, complexity,
novelty and intended use of a product candidate. We will also need to conduct additional clinical trials in order to expand
labeled indications of use for our commercial products. The outcome of our clinical trials is uncertain. The cost of
clinic l i lal trials m yay yvary isignificantlygnificantly as a r l fesult of a variety of factors, including the numbeiety of factors, including the number of p i ll d iatients enrolled, patient
isite costs, q iuantityy a dnd source of df drug supply required,rug supply required, safety andsafety and efficacy ofefficacy of hthe p droduct c didandidate, andd extent of
regulatory efforts, among others.regulatory efforts, among others.

i i hWe anticipate that our totall res hearch d d land development ex ipenses in 2021 ill iwill increase comparedd to 2020 primarilyprimarily
ddue to highehigher c f h iosts for the continued dd d l fevelopment of our approvedd p droducts a d d didnd product candidates.
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hThe risks and uncertaintieisks and s associated with our research and development projects are discussed more fully in
“Part I Item 1A—Risk Factors.” As a result of these risks and uncertainties, we are unable to determine with any degree
of certainty the duration and completion costs of our research and development projects, anticipated completion dates, or
when and to what extent we will receive cash inflows from the commercializationff and sale of our products in any
additional approved indications or of any of our product candidates.

Selling, general and administrative

Percentage change
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018 2020/2019 2019/2018
Selling, general and administrative $ 533,835 $ 373,932 $ 2 4361,096 % 43 %

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased in 2020 and 2019 as compared to prior years primarily duedd
to increased field sales personnell a dnd externall s dpend to support o lur recentlyy c i li d dommercialized products, and hd higherigher
i finfrastructure costs to support our continuesupport our d growth in the U.S. and Europe.

i i hWe anticipate that s llielli g gng, generall a d d i i ind administrative ex ilpenses will il increas ie in 2021 as comparedd to 2020 as we
i i l i i icontinue our commercial activitie is in s f dupport of our products, and id invest iin i finfrastructure to i dsupport our continued

ggrowth ih in thhe U.S. a dnd Europe.

Investment and other income, net

Percentage change
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018 2020/2019 2019/2018

Gain on equity securities $ 11,604 $ 50,124 $ 7,336 (77) NM
Investment and other income, net 7,245 11,771 6,316 (38)% 86 %
Total investment and other income, net $ 18,849 $ 61,895 $ 13,652 (70) 353 %

NM: No amount in comparable period or not a meaningful comparison.

Investment and other income, net includes other non-operating income and loss, such as unrealized holding gains
and losses on equity securities (which primarily include common stock holdings in Immunomedics prior to the sale of
these securities in April 2020), realized gains and losses on equity and debt securities, and amounts earned on our
investments in U.S. Treasury securities.

The gain on equity securities in the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily driven by a realized gain in
April 2020 from the sale of our equity securities, offset in part by an unrealized loss on equity st ecurities during the firff st
quarter of 2020.

Investment income reflects amounts earned on our investments in U.S. Treasury securities. Investment income
ddecreased id in 2020 co dmpared to d2019 due to ddue to llower average yields on our investment portfolio during 2020.verage yields on our investment portfolio during 2020.

Income taxes

Percentage change
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018 2020/2019 2019/2018
Income tax benefit (expense) $ (2,031) $ — $ 23,653 NM NM
NM: No amount in comparable period or not a meaningful comparison.

We generated pre-tax income of $615.7 million in 2020 as the result of the Merck agreements entered into during
2020. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded a provision for income taxes of $2.0 million, consisting
primarily of current state income taxes. We utilized net operating loss carryforwards to offset the federal tax liability.a
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We did not generate pre-tax income during 2019 or 2018. In 2018, we recognized a deferreff d tax liability of $23.7
million on acquired intangible assets in connection with the acquisition of Cascadian. As a result, we recorded an income
tax benefit of $23.7 million for the release of valuation allowance on our existing U.S. deferred tax assets as a result of
the offset of deferreff d tax liabilities established for intangible assets from the acquisition.

Liquidity and capital resources

December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018
Cash, cash equivalents and investments $ 2,660,250 $ 868,338 $ 459,866
Working capital 2,674,246 917,284 428,523
Stockholders’ equity 3,488,100 1,876,287 1,273,943

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 856,568 $ (163,737) $ (203,536)
Investing activities (1,419,012) (277,729) (592,630)
Financing activities 846,108 637,842 713,407

The change in net cash from operating activities from 2020 as compareff d to 2019 primarily was related to the
change in our net income (loss), working capital fluctuations and changes in our non-cash expenses, all of which are
highly variable. The increase in cash provided by operating activities was primarily driven by $ illi$975.2 million iin
ll b icollaboration and ld licenice se agreement revenues recognized related to the agreements we entered into with Merck during

2020.

The change in net cash from investing activities from 2020 as compareff d to 2019 reflected differences between the
proceeds received from sale and maturity of our investments and amounts reinvested, and the difference for purchaseff s of
property, plant, and equipment.

The change in net cash from financing activities included proceeds from issuances of common stock, the exercise
of options to purchase shares of our common stock, and common stock sales under our employee stock purchase plan forff
all years presented.

We primarily have financed our operations through the issuance of our common stock, collections from
commercial sales of our products, amounts received pursuant to license and collaboration agreements, and royalty
revenues. To a lesser degree, we also have financed our operations through investment income. These financing and
revenue sources have allowed us to maintain adequate levels of cash and investments.

Our cash, cash equivalents, and investments are held in a variety of non-interest bearing bank accounts and
interest-bearing instruments subject to investment guidelines allowing for holdings in U.S. government and agency
securities, corporate securities, taxable municipal bonds, commercial paper and money market accounts. Our investment
portfolio is structured to provide for investment maturities and access to cash to fund our anticipated working capital
needs. However, if our liquidity needs should be accelerated for any reason inff the near term, or investments do not pay at
maturity, we may be required to sell investment securities in our portfolio prior to their scheduled maturities, which may
result in a loss. As of December 31, 2020, we had $2.7 billion held in cash, cash equivalents, and investments.

At our currently planned spending rates, we believe that our existing financial resources, together with product
and royalty revenues, and the feeff s, milestone payments and reimbursements we expect to receive under our existing
collaboration and license agreements, will be sufficient to fund our operations for at least the next twelve months.
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We expect to make additional capital outlays and to increase operating expenditures over the next several years as
we hire additional employees, and support our development, commercialization, invest in our facilities, and expand
globally, which may require us to raise additional capital. Further, we actively evaluate various strategic transactions on
an ongoing basis, including licensing or otherwise acquiring complementary products, technologies or businesses, and
we may require significant additional capital in order to complete or otherwise provide funding for such transactions. We
may seek additional capital through some or all of the following methods: corporate collaborations, licensing
arrangements, and public or private debt or equity financings. We do not know whetheff r additional capital will be
available when needed, or that, if available, we will obtain financing on terms favorable to us or our stockholders. If weff
are unable to raise additional funds when we need them, our business and operations may be adversely affected.ff

Commitments

The following table reflects our future minimum contractual commitments as of December 31, 2020:

(dollars in thousands) Total 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter
Operating leases $ 88,330 $ 16,337 $ 15,650 $ 15,030 $ 11,147 $ 7,510 $ 22,656
Supply and other agreements 366,126 141,130 84,384 61,680 44,988 33,816 128
Total $ 454,456 $ 157,467 $ 100,034 $ 76,710 $ 56,135 $ 41,326 $ 22,784

We have entered into leases for our officff e and laboratory facilities expiring in 2021 through 2029 that contain rate
escalations and options for us to extend the leases. Operating lease obligations in the table above do not assume the
exercise by us of any extension options.

Supply and other agreements primarily include non-cancelable obligations under our manufacturing, license and
collaboration agreements. Further, a substantial portion of those non-cancelable obligations include minimum payments
related to manufacturing our product candidates for use in ourff clinical trials and for commercial operations in the case of
ADCETRIS.

Some of our manufacturing, license and collaboration agreements provide for periodic maintenance fees over
specified time periods, profit share payments, and/or payments by us upon the achievement of development and
regulatory milestones. Some of our licensing agreements obligate us to pay royalties based on net sales of products
utilizing licensed technology. Such royalties and profit share payments are dependent on future product sales and are not
provided for inff the table abovea as they are dependent on events that have not yet occurred. Future milestone payments forff
research and pre-clinical stage development programs have not been included in the above tabla e as the event triggering
such payment or obligation has not yet occurred, which consisted of up to approximatelya $2.1 billion in$2.1 billion total potential
future milestone payments to third parties under our collaboration and license agreements with these parties. These
milestone payments generally become due and payabld e only upon the achievement of certain developmental,u clinical,
regulatory and/or commercial milestones. These contingent payments have not been included in the above table as the
event triggering such payment or obligation has not yet occurred.

Recent accounting pronouncements

See the section “Recent accounting pronouncements” in Note 1 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
in Part II Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Rtt isk

Our exposure to market risk for changeff s in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio. We
currently have holdings in U.S. Treasury securities. A summary of our investment securities follows:ff

December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019
Short-term investments $ 2,000,996 $ 536,493
Long-term investments 100,830 57,283
Total $ 2,101,826 $ 593,776

We have estimated the effect on our investment portfolio of a hypothetical increase in interest rates by one percent
to be a reduction ofdd $ illi$9.1 million in the fair value of our investments as of December 31, 2020. In addition, a hypothetical
decrease of 10% in the effective yield of our investments would reduce our expected investment income by $ illi$0.3 million
over the next twelve months based on our investment balance at December 31, 2020.

Foreign Currency Risk

Most of our revenues and expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars and as a result, we have not experienced
significant foreign currency transaction gains and losses to date. Our commercial sales in Canada are denominated in
Canadian Dollars. We also had other transactions denominated in foreign currencies during the year ended December 31,
2020, primarily related to contract manufacturing and ex-U.S. clinical trial activities, and we expect to continue to do so.
Our royalties from Takeda are derived from their sales of ADCETRISff in multiple countries and in multiple currencies
that are converted into U.S. dollars for purposes of determining the royalthe royaltyy owedd to us. Our li ilimited fd foreign currencyoreign currencyfff
exposure iis fl ito fluctuations iin hthe Euro, Bri i hitish Pou d dind, Canadian llDollar, S iwiss Franc, andd Dani hish Krone. We do notdo
anticipate that foreignff currency transaction gains or losses will be significant at our current level of operations. However,
transaction gains or losses may become significant in the futureff as we continue to expand our operations internationally.
We have not engaged in foreignff currency hedging to date; however, we may do so in the future.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Seagen Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Seagen Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December
31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2020 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in
our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Changes in Accounting Principles

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for leases in
2019 and the manner in which it accounts for revenue from contracts with customers and the manner in which it accounts for
investments in equity securities in 2018.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management's
Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also includedff
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or
on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Government-mandated rebates - Medicaid

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company records product sales net of estimated government-
mandated rebates and chargebacks, distribution fees, estimated product returns and other deductions. Accruals are established for these
deductions, and actual amounts are offset against applicable accruals. As disclosed by management, amounts accrued for rebates and
chargebacks as of December 31, 2020 are $44.2 million, with the most significant portion of the accrual balance related to ADCETRIS
Medicaid rebates. Management estimates Medicaid rebates using the expected value approach, based on a variety of factors, including
payor mix and experience to-date. Management also reviews historical rebate information to further refine these estimates.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to government-mandated rebates – Medicaid is
a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when determining the rebate estimate and (ii) the high degree of
auditor judgment, subjectivity and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to management’s estimate
and significant assumptions related to payor mix and estimated purchases covered by the various state Medicaid programs.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the various state
Medicaid programs, including controls over the assumptions used to estimate the rebate. These procedures also included, among
others, (i) testing management’s process for determining the rebate estimate; (ii) evaluating the appropriateness of management’s
model; (iii) testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used by management; and (iv) evaluating the significant
assumptions used by management including payor mix and estimated purchases covered by the various state Medicaid programs.
Evaluating management’s assumptions involved evaluating whether the assumptions were reasonable considering (i) the consistency
of the historical covered purchases and rebate processing times; (ii) expansion of state Medicaid programs; (iii) comparing
assumptions to other industry data; (iv) testing of actual rebate claims processed by the Company; and (v) whether these assumptions
were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Seattle, Washington
February 11, 2021

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1998.

107



Seagen Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value)

December 31,
2020 2019

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 558,424 $ 274,562
Short-term investments 2,000,996 536,493
Accounts receivable, net 324,988 236,001
Inventories 116,136 85,932
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 61,840 43,653
Total current assets 3,062,384 1,176,641

Property and equipment, net 196,700 155,491
Operating lease right-of-use assets 61,480 65,230
Long-term investments 100,830 57,283
Intangible assets, net 283,680 300,025
Goodwill 274,671 274,671
Other non-current assets 21,161 176,525

Total assets $ 4,000,906 $ 2,205,866
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 78,067 $ 52,292
Accrued liabilities and other 310,071 207,065
Total current liabilities 388,138 259,357

Long-term liabilities:
Operating lease liabilities, long-term 61,884 67,607
Other long-term liabilities 62,784 2,615
Total long-term liabilities 124,668 70,222

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000 shares authorized; none issued — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 250,000 shares authorized; 180,902 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 171,994 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2019 181 172

Additional paid-in capital 4,356,922 3,359,124
Accumulated other comprehensive income 565 229
Accumulated deficit (869,568) (1,483,238)
Total stockholders’ equity 3,488,100 1,876,287
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 4,000,906 $ 2,205,866

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Seagen Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Revenues:
Net product sales $ 1,000,598 $ 627,977 $ 476,903
Royalty revenues 126,756 138,491 83,440
Collaboration and license agreement revenues 1,048,182 150,245 94,357
Total revenues 2,175,536 916,713 654,700

Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales 217,720 43,952 88,293
Research and development 827,129 719,374 565,309
Selling, general and administrative 533,835 373,932 261,096
Total costs and expenses 1,578,684 1,137,258 914,698

Income (loss) from operations 596,852 (220,545) (259,998)
Investment and other income, net 18,849 61,895 13,652
Income (loss) before income taxes 615,701 (158,650) (246,346)
Income tax (expense) benefit (2,031) — 23,653
Net income (loss) $ 613,670 $ (158,650) $ (222,693)
Net income (loss) per share - basic $ 3.51 $ (0.96) $ (1.41)
Net income (loss) per share - diluted $ 3.37 $ (0.96) $ (1.41)
Shares used in computation of per share amounts - basic 174,834 165,498 157,655
Shares used in computation of per share amounts - diluted 182,287 165,498 157,655

Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income (loss) $ 613,670 $ (158,650) $ (222,693)
Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized (loss) gain on securities available-for-sale, net of
income tax provision of $0, $0, and $0, respectively (186) 204 293
Foreign currency translation gain (loss), net of income tax
provision of $0, $0, and $0, respectively 522 65 (50)
Total other comprehensive income 336 269 243

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 614,006 $ (158,381) $ (222,450)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Seagen Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(In thousands)

Common stock Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)

Accumulated
deficit

Total
stockholders’
equityShares Amount

Balances at December 31, 2017 144,395 $ 144 $ 1,806,159 $ 63,836 $ (1,192,570) $ 677,569
Net loss — — — — (222,693) (222,693)
Other comprehensive income — — — 243 2— 43
Cumulative effects of accounting changesff — — — (64,119) 90,675 26,556
Issuance of common stock for stock option
exercises and employee stock purchase plan 2,006 2 55,163 — — 55,165
Restricted stock vested during the period, netd 592 1 (1) — — —
Issuance of common stock 13,269 13 658,229 — — 658,242
Share-based compensation — — 78,861 — — 78,861
Balances at December 31, 2018 160,262 160 2,598,411 1,273,943(40) (1,324,588)
Net loss — — — — (158,650) (158,650)
Other comprehensive income — — — 269 2— 69
Issuance of common stock for stock option
exercises and employee stock purchase plan 2,621 3 89,148 — — 89,151
Restricted stock vested during the period, netd 897 1 (1) —— —
Issuance of common stock 8,214 8 548,683 — — 548,691
Share-based compensation — — 122,883 — — 122,883
Balances at December 31, 2019 171,994 172 3,359,124 229 (1,483,238) 1,876,287
Net income — — — — 613,670613,670
Other comprehensive income — — — 336 — 336
Issuance of common stock for stock option
exercises and employee stock purchase plan 2,466 2 96,255 — — 96,257
Restricted stock vested during the period, netd 1,442 2 (2) — — —
Issuance of common stock 5,000 5 749,845 — — 749,850
Share-based compensation — — 151,700 — — 151,700
Balances at December 31, 2020 180,902 $ 181 $ 4,356,922 $ 565 $ (869,568) $ 3,488,100

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Seagen Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Years ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 613,670 $ (158,650) $ (222,693)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided
(used) by operating activities
Share-based compensation 147,233 127,349 78,861
Depreciation and amortization 36,045 23,759 25,308
Amortization of intangible assets 16,345 15 724
Amortization of right-of-use-assets 10,994 9,740 —
Amortization of premiums, accretion of discounts, and (gains)
losses on debt securities 3,104 (4,916) (2,530)

Gain on equity securities (11,604) (50,124) (7,336)
(Gain) loss on disposals of property and equipment (26) 1,853 —
Deferred income taxes (2,053) — (23,653)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net (88,727) (89,720) (45,233)
Inventories (30,204) (32,693) 6,739
Prepaid expenses and other assets (22,231) 2,459 (14,567)
Lease liabilities (11,271) (6,660) —
Deferred revenue — (33,600) (33,913)
Other liabilitiesa 195,293 47,451 34,757
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 856,568 (163,737) (203,536)

Investing activities:
Purchases of securities (2,483,336) (992,976) (512,334)
Proceeds from maturities of securities 952,000 786,000 398,722
Proceeds from sales of securities 194,733 — 140,352
Purchases of property and equipment (82,409) (70,753) (21,219)
Acquisition of Cascadian Therapeutics, Inc., net of cash acquired — — (598,151)

Net cash used by investing activities (1,419,012) (277,729) (592,630)
Financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 749,850 548,691 658,242
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and employee stock
purchase plan 96,258 89,151 55,165

Net cash provided by financing activitiesff 846,108 637,842 713,407
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 198 — —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 283,862 196,376 (82,759)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 274,562 78,186 160,945
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 558,424 $ 274,562 $ 78,186

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

We are a biotechnology company that develops and commercializes targeted therapies to treat cancer. We are
commercializing ADCETRIS®, or brentuximab vedotin, for the treatment of certain CD30-expressing lymphomas,
PADCEV®, or enfortumab vedotin-ejfv, for the treatment of certain metastatic urothelial cancers, and TUKYSA®, or
tucatinib, for treatment of certain metastatic HER2-positive breast cancers. We are also advancing a pipeline of novel
therapies for solid tumors and blood-related cancers designed to address unmet medical needs and improve treatment
outcomes for patients. Many of our programs, including ADCETRIS and PADCEV, are based on our antibody-drug
conjugate, or ADC, technology that utilizes the targeting ability of monoclonal antibodies to deliver cell-killing agents
directly to cancer cells. In October 2020, we changed our corporate name from Seattle Genetics, Inc. to Seagen Inc.,
reflecting the global expansion of our operations.

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the accounts of Seagen Inc. and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries (collectively “Seagen,” “we,” “our,” or “us”). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. All intercompany transactions and balances
have been eliminated. We acquired Cascadian Therapeutics, Inc., or Cascadian, in March 2018, as further described in
Note 4. Management has determined that we operate in one segment: the development and sale of pharmaceutical
products on our own behalf or in collaboration with others.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires us to make estimates, assumptions, and
judgments that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Estimates include those used for revenue recognition, valuation of investments,
inventory valuation, business combinations, accrued liabilities (including those related to the long-term incentive plans,
clinical trials and contingencies), stock option valuation, and valuation allowance for deferred tax assets.

Reclassifications

We combined cost of sales with cost of royalty revenues during the current year and reclassified the prior years
cost of royalty revenues on our consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), to conform to the current year
presentation. This reclassification had no effect on our net cash used by operating activities or our consolidated
statements of comprehensive income (loss).

Cash and cash equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition to be
cash equivalents.

Non-cash activities

We had $6.0 million and $11.1 million of accrued capital expenditures as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. Accrued capital expenditures have been treated as a non-cash investing activity and, accordingly, have not
been included in the consolidated statement of cash flows until such amounts have been paid in cash. During the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we recorded $7.2 million and $40.3 million, respectively, of right-of-use assets in
exchange for lease liabilities, which has been treated as a non-cash operating activity. See Note 3 for additional
information.

Seagen Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Investments

We held certain equity securities that we acquired in connection with strategic agreements, which were reported at
estimated fair value. Changes in the fair value of equity securities are recorded in income or loss. The cost of equity
securities for purposes of computing gains and losses is based on the specific identification method. We adopted
Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, “ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments: Overall” on January 1, 2018, which
addressed certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial instruments, including
that changes in the fair value of equity securities be recorded in income or loss rather than accumulated other
comprehensive income or loss in stockholders’ equity. We used the modified retrospective method transition option and
recognized a $64.1 million cumulative effect of initially applying this ASU as an adjustment to decrease the opening
accumulated deficit at January 1, 2018.

We invest our available cash primarily in debt securities. These debt securities are classified as available-for-sale,
which are reported at estimated fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive
income and loss in stockholders’ equity. Realized gains, realized losses and declines in the value of debt securities
judged to be other-than-temporary are included in investment and other income, net. The cost of debt securities for
purposes of computing realized and unrealized gains and losses is based on the specific identification method.
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on debt securities are included in investment and other income, net.
Interest and dividends earned are included in investment and other income, net. We classify investments in debt
securities maturing within one year of the reporting date, or where management’s intent is to use the investments to fund
current operations or to make them available for current operations, as short-term investments.

If the estimated fair value of a debt security is below its carrying value, we evaluate whether it is more likely than
not that we will sell the security before its anticipated recovery in market value and whether evidence indicating that the
cost of the investment is recoverable within a reasonable period of time outweighs evidence to the contrary. We also
evaluate whether or not we intend to sell the investment. If the impairment is considered to be other-than-temporary, the
security is written down to its estimated fair value. In addition, we consider whether credit losses exist for any securities.
A credit loss exists if the present value of cash flows expected to be collected is less than the amortized cost basis of the
security. Other-than-temporary declines in estimated fair value and credit losses are included in investment and other
income, net.

Fair value of fiff nancial instruments

The recorded amounts of certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, interest receivable,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due torr their relatively short
maturities. Investments that are classified as available-for-sale are recorded at estimated fair value. The estimated fair
value for securities held is determined using quoted market prices, broker or dealer quotations, or alternative pricing
sources with reasonable levels of price transparency.

Leases

We adopted Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, Topic 842--Leases on January 1, 2019, resulting in a
change to our accounting policy for leases. We recorded a liability to make lease payments and a right-of-use asset
representing our right to use the underlying assets for the applicable lease terms in our consolidated balance sheet. We
used the modified retrospective method transition option. Accordingly, 2018 comparative information has not been
adjusted and continues to be reported under previous accounting standards.

We elected the "package of practical expedients", which permitted us not to reassess our prior conclusion about
lease identification, lease classification and initial direct cost. We also elected the practical expedient to not separate
lease and non-lease components for our real estate leases, and elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for our
short-term leases, which allows us not to recognize lease liabilities and right-of-use assets on our consolidated balance
sheet for leases with an original term of twelve months or less.

The adoption of the standard had a material impact on our consolidated balance sheet, did not have an impact on
our consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss), and there was no cumulative-effect adjustmentd to the
opening accumulated deficit in the period of adoption. See Note 3 for additional information.

Seagen Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception date. All of our leases are classifieff d as operating leases.
Operating lease liabilities anda the corresponding right-of-use assets are recognized based on the present value of the
future minimum lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. The operating lease right-of-use asset also
excludes lease incentives and initial direct costs incurred. As our existing leases do not contain an implicit interest rate,
we estimate our incremental borrowing rate based on information available at commencement date in determining the
present value of future payments. We include options to extend the lease in our lease liabilitya and right-of-use asset when
it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value
guarantees or material restrictive covenants. Variable lease cost primarily includes building operating expenses as
charged to us by our landlords.

Lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. For our
short-term leases, we recognize lease payments as an expense on a straight-line base over the lease term.

Inventories

We consider regulatory approval of product candidates to be uncertain. Accordingly, we charge manufacturing
costs to research and development expense until such time as a product has received regulatory approval forff commercial
sale. Production costs for our marketed products are capitalized into inventory. Inventory that is deployed for clinical,ff
research or development use is charged to research and development expense when it is no longer available for
commercial sales. Production costs for our other product candidates continue to be charged to research and development
expense.

We value our inventories at the lower of cost or market value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis.
Inventory includes the cost of materials, third-party contract manufacturing and overhead associated with the production
of our commercialized products. In the event that we identify excess, obsolete or unsalable inventory, its value is written
down to net realizable value.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Land is not depreciated, while all other property and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are generally as follows:ff

Years
Building 30
Laboratory and manufacturing equipment 5-15
Furniture and fixturesff 5
Computers, software and office equipment 3

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the remaining term of the applicable lease or the useful
life of the asset. Gains and losses from the disposal of property and equipment are reflectedff in income or loss at the time
of disposition and have not been significant. Expenditures for additions andff improvements to our facilities are capitalized
and expenditures for maintenancff e and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Business combinations, including acquired in-process research and development and goodwill

We account for business combinations using the acquisition method, recording the acquisition-date faiff r value of
total consideration over the acquisition-date fair value of net assets acquired as goodwill.
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Fair value is typically estimated using an income approach based on the present value of future discounted cash
flows. The significant estimates in the discounted cash flow model primarily include the discount rate, and rates of future
revenue and expense growth and/or profitability of the acquired business. The discount rate considers the relevant risk
associated with business-specific characteristics and the uncertainty related to the ability to achieve the projected cash
flows. We may record adjustments to the fair values of assets acquired andd liabilities assumed within the measurement
period (up to one year from the acquisition date).

In-process research and development assets are accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets and maintained
on the balance sheet until either the underlying project is completed or the asset becomes impaired. If the project is
completed, which generally occurs when FDA approval is obtained, the carrying value of the related intangible asset is
amortized to cost of sales on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset beginning in the period in
which the project is completed. We periodically evaluate when facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
these assets may not be recoverable. If the asset becomes impaired or is abandoned, the carrying value of the related
intangible asset is written down to its fair value and an impairment charge is recorded in the period in which the
impairment occurs.

We evaluate indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill for impairment annually, as of October 1, or more
frequently when events or circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred. As part of the impairment
evaluation, we may elect to perform an assessment of qualitative factors. If this qualitative assessment indicates that it is
more likely than not that the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset or the reporting unit (for goodwill) is less
than its carrying value, we then would proceed with the quantitative impairment test to compare the fair value to the
carrying value and record an impairment charge if the carrying value exceeds the fair value.

Acquisition-related costs, including banking, legal, accounting, valuation, and other similar costs, are expensed in
the period in which the costs are incurred. The results of operations of the acquired business are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date.

Intangible assets, net

Our intangible assets are primarily comprised of acquired TUKYSA technology from the acquisition of Cascadian
Therapeutics, Inc. in 2018. Upon FDA approval and commercial launch of TUKYSA in April 2020, we classified in-
process research and development costs related to the acquired TUKYSA technology as finite-lived intangible assets.
Prior to 2020, our finite-lived intangible assets consisted of certain in-licensed ADCETRIS technology. Amortization
expense of $16.3 million related to acquired TUKYSA technology costs for the year ended December 31, 2020, was
included in cost of sales in our consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). The gross carrying value and
accumulated amortization of our finite-lived intangible assets was $305.7 million and $22.0 million respectively as of
December 31, 2020, and gross carrying value and accumulated amortization of our finite-lived intangible assets was $5.7
million and $5.6 million respectively as of December 31, 2019. The weighted average useful life of our finite-lived
intangible assets was 12 years as of December 31, 2020, and estimated future amortization expense related to acquired
TUKYSA technology costs is $23.1 million for each of the years ending December 31, 2021 through December 31,
2025.

Impairment of long-lived assets (other than acquired in-process research and development and goodwill)

We assess the impairment of long-lived assets, including intangible assets and property and equipment, whenever
events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be fully
recoverable. When such events occur, we determine whether there has been an impairment in value by comparing the
asset’s carrying value with its fair value, as measured by the anticipated undiscounted net cash flows of the asset. If an
impairment in value exists, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value. We have not recognized any impairment
losses through December 31, 2020 as there have been no events warranting an impairment analysis. Our long-lived assets
are primarily located in the U.S.
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Revenue recognition - Net product sales

We adopted ASC Topic 606--Revenue from Contracts with Customers on January 1, 2018, resulting in a change
to our accounting policy for revenue recognition. We used the modified retrospective method transition option and
recognized the cumulative effect of initially applying ASC Topic 606 as an adjustment to decrease the opening
accumulated deficit at January 1, 2018. See Note 2 for additional information.

We sell ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA through a limited number of specialty distributors and specialty
pharmacies. We and our collaboration partner Astellas jointly promote PADCEV in the U.S. Under the joint promotion
in the U.S., we record net sales of PADCEV and are responsible for all distribution through a limited number of specialty
distributors. The delivery of our products represents a single performance obligation for these transactions and we record
net product sales at the point in time when title and risk of loss pass. The transaction price for net product sales
represents the amount we expect to receive, which is net of estimated government-mandated rebates and chargebacks,
distribution fees, estimated product returns, and other deductions. Accruals are established for these deductions, and
actual amounts incurred are offset against applicable accruals. We reflect these accruals as either a reductionrr in the
related account receivable from the distributor or as an accruedrr liability, depending on the nature of the sales deduction.
Sales deductions are based on management’s estimates that consider payor mix in target markets and experience to-date.
These estimates involve a substantial degree of judgment. We have applied a portfolio approach as a practical expedient
for estimating net product sales.

Government-mandated rebates and chargebacks: We have entered into a Medicaid Drug Rebate Agreement, or
MDRA, with the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. This agreement provides for a rebate based on covered
purchases of our products. Medicaid rebates are invoiced to us by the various state Medicaid programs. We estimate
Medicaid rebates using the expected value approach, based on a variety of factors, including payor mix and our
experience to-date.

We have a Federal Supply Schedule, or FSS, agreement under which certain U.S. government purchasers receive
a discount on eligible purchases of our products. In addition, we have entered into a Pharmaceutical Pricing Agreement
with the Secretary of Health and Human Services, which enables certain entities that qualify for government pricing
under the Public Health Services Act, or PHS, to receive discounts on their qualified purchases of our products. Under
these agreements, distributors process a chargeback to us for the difference between wholesale acquisition cost and the
applicable discounted price. We estimate expected chargebacks for FSS and PHS purchases based on the expected value
of each entity’s eligibility for the FSS and PHS programs. We also review historical rebate and chargeback information
to further refine these estimates.

Distribution fees, product returns and other deductions: Our distributors charge a volume-based fee for
distribution services that they perform for us. We allow for the return of product that is within a specified number of days
of its expiration date or that is damaged. We estimate product returns based on our experience to-date using the expected
value approach. We provide financial assistance to qualifying patients that are underinsured or cannot cover the cost of
commercial coinsurance amounts through our patient support programs. Estimated contributions for commercial
coinsurance under SeaGen Secure are deducted from gross sales and are based on an analysis of expected plan
utilization. These estimates are adjusted as necessary to reflect our actuald experience.

Revenue recognition - Royalty revenueso

Royalty revenues primarily reflect amounts earned under the ADCETRIS collaboration with Takeda. These
royalties include commercial sales-based milestones and sales royalties that relate predominantly to the license of
intellectual property. Sales royalties are based on a percentage of Takeda’s net sales of ADCETRIS, with rates that range
from the mid-teens to the mid-twenties based on annual net sales tiers. Takeda bears a portion of low single digit third-
party royalty costs owed on its sales of ADCETRIS. This amount is included in royalty revenues. Amounts owed to our
third-party licensors related to Takeda’s sales of ADCETRIS are recorded in cost of sales. These amounts are recognized
in the period in which the related sales by Takeda occur. Royalty revenues also reflect amounts from Genentech, Inc., a
member of the Roche Group, or Genentech, earned on net sales of Polivy, and amounts from GlaxoSmithKline earned on
net sales of Blenrep.
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Revenue recognition - Collaboration and license agreement revenues

We have collaboration and license agreements for our technology with a number of biotechnology and
pharmaceutical companies. Under these agreements, we typically receive or are entitled to receive upfront cash payments
and progress- and sales-dependent milestones for the achievement by our licensees of certain events, and annual
maintenance fees and support fees for research and development services and materials provided under the agreements.
We also are entitled to receive royalties on net sales of any resulting products incorporating our technology. Our
licensees are solely responsible for research, product development, manufacturing and commercialization of any product
candidates under these collaborations, which includes the achievement of the potential milestones. Since we may not
take a substantive role or control the research, development or commercialization of any products generated by some of
our licensees, we may not able to reasonably estimate when, if at all, any potential future milestone payments or royalties
may be payable to us by our licensees. As such, the potential future milestone payments associated with certain of our
collaboration and license agreements involve a substantial degree of uncertainty and risk that they may never be
received.

Collaboration and license agreements are initially evaluated as to whether the intellectual property licenses
granted by us represent distinct performance obligations. If they are determined to be distinct, the value of the
intellectual property licenses would be recognized up-front while the research and development service fees would be
recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied. Variable consideration is assessed at each reporting period as to
whether it is not subject to future reversal of cumulative revenue and,u therefore, should be included in the transaction
price. Assessing the recognition of variable consideration requires significant judgment. If a contract includes a fixed or
minimum amount of research and development support, this also would be included in the transaction price. Changes to
collaboration and license agreements, such as the extensions of the research term or increasing the number of targets or
technology covered under an existing agreement, are assessed for whether they represent a modification or should be
accounted for as a new contract.

We have concluded that the license of intellectual property in certain collaboration and license agreements is not
distinct from the perspective of our customers at the time of initial transfer, since we often do not license intellectual
property without related technology transfer and research and development support services. Such evaluation requires
significant judgment since it is made from the customer's perspective. Our performance obligations under our
collaborations may include such things as providing intellectual property licenses, performing technology transfer,
performing research and development consulting services, providing reagents, ADCs, and other materials, and notifying
the customer of any enhancements to licensed technology or new technology that we discover, among others. We
determined our performance obligations under certain collaboration and license agreements as evaluated at contract
inception were not distinct and represented a single performance obligation. For those agreements, revenue is recognized
using a proportional performance model, representing the transfer of goods or services as activities are performed over
the term of the agreement. Upfront payments are also amortized to revenue over the performance period. Upfront
payment contract liabilities resulting from our collaborations do not represent a financing component as the payment is
not financing the transfer of goods or services, and the technology underlying the licenses granted reflects research and
development expenses already incurred by us. For agreements beyond the initial performance period, we have no
remaining performance obligations. We may receive license maintenance fees and potential milestones and royalties
based on collaborator development and regulatory progress, which are recorded in the period achieved in the case of
milestones, and during the period of the related sales for royalties.

When no performance obligations are required of us, or following the completion of the performance obligation
period, such amounts are recognized upon transfer of control of the goods or services to the customer. Generally, all
amounts received or due other than sales-based milestones and royalties are classified as collaboration and license
agreement revenues. Sales-based milestones and royalties are recognized as royalty revenue in the period the related sale
occurred.

We generally invoice our collaborators and licensees on a monthly or quarterly basis, or upon the completion of
the effort or achievement of a milestone, based on the terms of each agreement. Deferred revenue arises from amounts
received in advance of the culmination of the earnings process and is recognized as revenue in future periods as
performance obligations are satisfied. Deferred revenue expected to be recognized within the next twelve months is
classified as a current liability.
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Research and developmentdd expensesx

Research and development, or R&D, expenses consist of salaries, benefits and other headcount-related costs of
our R&D staff, pff reclinical activities, clinical trials and related manufacturing costs, lab supplies, contract and outside
service feeff s and facilities and overhead expenses for research, development and preclinical studies focused on drug
discovery, development and testing. R&D activities are expensed as incurred.

Clinical trial expenses are a significant component of research and development expenses, and we outsource a
significant portion of these costs to third parties. Third-party clinical trial expenses include investigator fees, site costs,
clinical research organization costs, and costs for central laboratory testing and data management. Costs associated with
activities performed under co-development collaborations are reflected in R&D expense. In-licensing fees, milestones,
maintenance fees and other costs to acquire technologies utilized in R&D for product candidates that have not yet
received regulatory approval and that are not expected to have alternative future use are expensed when incurred. Non-
refundable advance payments for goods or services thaff t will be used or rendered for future R&D activities are capitalizeda
and recognized as expense as the related goods are delivered or the related services are performed. This results in the
temporary deferral of recording expense for amounts incurred for researchff and development activities from the timeff
payments are made until the time goods or services are provided.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. We incurred $59.3 million, $33.5 million, and $26.6 million in
advertising expenses during 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

Concentration of credit risk

Cash, cash equivalents and investments are invested in accordance with our investment policy. The policy
includes guidelines for theff investment of cash reserves and is reviewed periodically to minimize credit risk. Most of our
investments are in U.S. Treasury securities and are not federally insured. We have accounts receivable from the sale of
our products fromff a small number of distributors, and from our collaborators. We do not require collateral on amounts
due from our distributors or our collaborators and are therefore subject to credit risk.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

We estimate an allowance for doubtful accounts based on our assessment of the collectability of customer
accounts. We regularly review the allowance by considering factors such as historical experience, credit quality, the age
of the accounts receivable balances, and current economic conditions that may affecff t a customer’s ability to pay. As of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, there was no allowance for doubtful accounts, and we recognized no bad debt expense
during the years ending December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018.

Geographic and customer information

Substantially all of our assets and revenues are related to operations in the U.S.; however, we have multiple
subsidiaries in foreign jurisdictions, including severaff l subsidiaries in Europe. We sell our products through lh a li i dimited
numbenu r of distributors and specialty pharmacies.istributors and specialty pharmacies.

The following tabla e presents each major distributor or collaborator that comprised more than 10% of total
revenue:

Years ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Distributor A 18 % 26 % 28 %
Distributor B 15 % 21 % 22 %
Distributor C 10 % 18 % 20 %
Collaborator B 45 % — % — %
Collaborator A 7 % 27 % 21 %
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The folff lowing table presents each major distributor or collaborator that accounted for more than 10% of accounts
receivable:

December 31,
2020 2019

Distributor A 32 % 24 %
Distributor B 25 % 19 %
Distributor C 16 % 16 %
Collaborator A 13 % 33 %

Major suppliers

The use of a relatively small number of contract manufacturers to supply drug necessary for our commercial and
clinical operations create a concentration of risk for us. Whilff e primarily one source of supply is utilized for certain
components of ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA and each of our clinical product candidates, other sources are
available should we need to change suppliers. For PADCEV, in particular, we rely on Astellas for both commercial andff
clinical supply as Astellas oversees the manufacturing supply chain. As a form of reducing near-term risk, we alsoff
endeavor to maintain reasonable levels of drug supply inventory across the supplyu chain. A change in suppliers or
disruption at one of our suppliers, however, could cause a delay or interruption in delivery of drug or clinical trials. Such
an event would adversely affecff t our business.

Income taxesaa

We recognize deferreff d tax assets and liabilities for theff expected future taff x consequences of events that have been
included in the financial statements or tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the
differences between the finff ancial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using tax rates in effecff t forff the year in
which the differenceff s are expected to reverse. We have provided a valuation allowance against substantiallu y all our
deferred tax assets for all periods presented. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that the
net deferred tax asset will not be realized. We follow the guidance related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes,
which requires the recognition of an uncertain tax position when it is more likely than not to be sustainable uponu audit by
the applicable taxing authority.

Share-based compensation

We use the graded-vesting attribution method for recognizing compensation expense for our stock options and
restricted stock units, or RSUs. Compensation expense is recognized over the requisite service periods on awards
ultimately expected to vest and reduced for forfeitures that are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures diffeff r fromff those estimates. For performance-based stock options and RSUs, we
record compensation expense over the estimated service period once the achievement of the performance-based
milestone is considered probable. At each reporting date, we assess whether achievement of a milestone is considered
probable, and if so, record compensation expense based on the portion of the service period elapsed to date with respect
to that milestone, with a cumulative catch-up, net of estimated forfeitures. We will recognizff e remaining compensation
expense with respect to a milestone, if any, over the remaining estimated service period.

Long-term irr ncentive plans

We have established Long-Term Incentive Plans, or LTIPs. The LTIPs provide eligible employees with the
opportunity to receive performance-based incentive compensation, which may be comprised of cash, stock options, and/
or RSUs. The payment of cash and the grant and/or vesting of equity are contingent upon the achievement of pre-
determined regulatory milestones. We record compensation expense over the estimated service period for each milestone
subject to the achievement of the milestone being considered probable in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic
450--Contingencies. At each reporting date, we assess whether achievement of a milestone is considered probable and, if
so, record compensation expense based on the portion of the service period elapsed to date with respect to that milestone,
with a cumulative catch-up, net of estimated forfeitures. We recognizff e compensation expense with respect to a milestone
over the remaining estimated service period.
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The total estimate of unrecognized compensation expense could change in the future for several reasons, including
the addition or termination of employees, the recognition of LTIP compensation expense, or the addition, termination, or
modification of an LTIP.

Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in stockholders’ equity from transactions and other events and
circumstances other than those resulting from investments by stockholders and distributions to stockholders. Our
comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of net income (loss), unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale
securities, net of income tax provision and foreign currency translation adjustments, net of income tax provision.

Loss contingencies

We are involved in various legal proceedings in the normal course of business. A loss contingency is recorded if it
is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated. We evaluate, among other factors, the probability of an unfavorable outcome and our ability to make a
reasonable estimate and the amount of the ultimate loss. Loss contingencies that are determined to be reasonably
possible, but not probable, are disclosed but not recorded. Legal fees incurred as a result of our involvement in legal
procedures are expensed as incurred.

Certain risks and uncertainties

Our revenues are derived from net product sales, royalties, and from collaboration and license agreements. Our
products are subject to regulation by the FDAu in the U.S. and other regulatory agencies outside the U.S. as well as
competition by other pharmaceutical companies. Our collaboration anda license agreement revenues are derived from a
relatively small number of agreements. Each of these agreements can be terminated by our collaborators at their
discretion. We are also subject to risks common to companies in the pharmaceutical industry, including risks and
uncertainties related to commercial success and acceptance of our products and our potential future products by patients,
physicians and payers, competition from other products, regulatory approvals, regulatory requirements, business
combinations and product or product candidate acquisition and in-licensing transactions, and protection of intellectual
property. Also, drug development is a lengthy process characterized by a relatively low rate of success. We may commit
substantial resources toward developing product candidates that never result in further development, achieve regulatory
approvals or achieve commercial success. Likewise, we have committed and expect to continue to commit substantial
resources towards additional clinical development of our products in an effortff to continue to expand our products' labeleda
indications of use, and there can be no assurance that we and/or our partners will obtain and maintain the necessary
regulatory approvals to market our products for any additional indications.

Guarantees

In the normal course of business, we indemnify our directors, certain employees and other parties, including
distributors, collaboration partners, lessors and other parties that perform certain work on behalf of, or for us to take
licenses to our technologies. We have agreed to hold these parties harmless against losses arising from our breach of
representations or covenants, intellectual property infringement or other claims made against these parties in
performance of their work with us. These agreements typically limit the time within which the party may seek
indemnification by us and the amount of the claim. It is not possible to prospectively determine the maximum potential
amount of liability under these indemnification agreements. Further, each potential claim would be based on the unique
facts and circumstances of the claim and the particular provisions of each agreement.
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Recent accounting pronouncements att dopted

In June 2016, Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued “ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments:
Credit Losses,” as clarified in ASU 2019-04 and ASU 2019-05. The objective of the standard is to provide information
about expected credit losses on financiaff l instruments at each reporting date and to change how other-than-temporary
impairments on investment securities are recorded. We adopted this standard on January 1, 2020 using the modified
retrospective transition method. The adoption of this ASU had no material impact on our current or previously reported
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and financial statement disclosures.ff

In August 2018, FASB issued “ASU 2018-15, Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a
Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract.” The objective of the standard is to align the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements forff
capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. We adopted this standard on
January 1, 2020 on a prospective basis. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on our financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows, and financial statement disclosures.ff Capitalizea d implementation costs are
included in prepaid expenses and other current assets or other non-current assets.

In November 2018, FASB issued “ASU 2018-18, Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606.”
The objective of the standard is to clarify the interaction between ASC Topic 808--Collaborative Arrangements and ASC
Topic 606--Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Currently, ASC Topic 808 does not provide comprehensive
recognition or measurement guidance forff collaborative arrangements, and the accounting for those arrangements is often
based on an analogy to other accounting literature or an accounting policy election. Similarly, aspects of ASC Topic 606
have resulted in uncertainty in practice abouta the effect of the revenue standard on the accounting for collaborative
arrangements. We adopted this standard on January 1, 2020 on a retrospective basis to contracts that were not completed.
The adoption of this ASU did not change the way we previously accounted for any of our collaboration arrangements
under ASC Topic 808, thus had no impact on our current or previously reported financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows, and financial statement disclosures.ff

In December 2019, the FASB issued “ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes.” The
objective of the standard is to improve areas of GAAP by removing certain exceptions permitted by ASC Topic 740--
Income Taxes and clarifying existing guidance to facilitate consistent application. The standard is effective for us
beginning on January 1, 2021. We are currently evaluating the new standard to determine the potential impact on our
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, or financial statement disclosures.

2. Revenue from contracts with customers

The following table presents our disaggregated revenue for the years presented:

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018
ADCETRIS $ 658,577 $ 627,733 $ 476,903
PADCEV 222,436 244 —
TUKYSA 119,585 — —

Net product sales $ 1,000,598 $ 627,977 $ 476,903
Royalty revenues $ 126,756 $ 138,491 $ 83,440
Merck $ 975,150 $ — $ —
Takeda 32,107 108,175 58,605
Other 40,925 42,070 35,752

Collaboration and license agreement revenues $ 1,048,182 $ 150,245 $ 94,357
Total revenues $ 2,175,536 $ 916,713 $ 654,700
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Substantially all of our product revenues duringdd the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 were
recorded in the U.S. Royalty revenues primarily reflect royalties earned under the ADCETRIS collaboration with
Takeda.

In 2019, other collaboration and license agreement revenues included $20.0 million fromff BeiGene, Ltd., or
BeiGene. BeiGene is a related party due to a common shareholder that has a representative or representatives serving on
each company's respective Board of Directors.

Contract balances and performance obligations

We had no contract assets or liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. We recognized collaboration and
license agreement revenues of $0, $33.6 million and $34.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and
2018, respectively, that were included in deferreff d revenue as of the beginning of the respective years.

On January 1, 2018, we adopted ASC Topic 606 applying the modified retrospective method transition option to
all contracts that were not completed as of January 1, 2018. We recorded the following cumulative effecff t as of January 1,
2018:

(dollars in thousands)
Collaboration and license agreement revenues $ 10,281
Royalty revenues 22,230
Cost of royalty revenues $ (5,955)
Accumulated deficit – (debit) credit $ 26,556

3. Operating leases

We have operating leases for our office and laboratory facilities with terms that expire from 2021 through 2029.
Upon adoption of ASC Topic 842--Leases on January 1, 2019, we recognized $35.2 million of operating lease liabilitiesa
and $34.7 million of operating lease right-of-use assets for our existing leases on our consolidated balance sheet. During
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we recorded $7.2 million and $40.3 million, respectively, of right-of-use
assets in exchange for lease liabilities, which has been treated as a non-cash operating activity. All of our significant
leases include options for us to extend the lease term. None of our options to extend the rental term of any existing leases
were considered reasonably certain as of December 31, 2020.

Supplemental operating lease information was as follows:

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands, except term and rate ) 2020 2019

Operating lease cost $ 15,013 $ 13,590
Variable lease cost 3,937 2,958
Total lease cost $ 18,950 $ 16,548
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of lease liabilitiesa $ 14,265 $ 10,197
Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) 6.16 7.04
Weighted average discount rate 5.2 % 5.4 %

Rent expense attributable to non-cancelable operating leases totaled approximately $16.6 million, $14.6 million,
and $8.7 million for the years endedff December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.
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Operating lease liabilities were recordea d in the following captions of our consolidated balance sheet as follows:

December 31,
(dollars in thousands ) 2020 2019

Accrued liabilities and othera $ 12,749 $ 9,445
Operating lease liabilitiesa , long-term 61,884 67,607
Total $ 74,633 $ 77,052

As of December 31, 2020, future minimum lease payments under the lease agreements were as follows:ff

(dollars in thousands)
Years ending December 31,

2021 $ 16,337
2022 15,650
2023 15,030
2024 11,147
2025 7,510
Thereafter 22,656
Total future minimum lease payments 88,330
Less: imputed interest (13,697)
Total $ 74,633

4. Acquisition of Cascadian

In 2018, we acquired all issued and outstanding shares of Cascadian, a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company
based in Seattle, Washington, for $10.00 per share in cash, or approximately $614.1 million, which was funded byff an
underwritten public offering as further described in Note 15. The acquisition of Cascadian expanded our late-stage
pipeline, providing global rights to TUKYSA.

The acquisition of Cascadian was accounted for asff a business combination. During the year ended December 31,
2018, we incurred $8.5 million in acquisition-related costs, which were recorded in selling, general and administrative
expenses.

The purchase price allocation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as
of the acquisition date was as follows:

(dollars in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 15,919
Short-term and long-term investments 66,491
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,215
Property and equipment 566
In-process research and development 300,000
Goodwill 274,671
Accounts payable and accruedrr liabilities (22,139)
Deferred tax liability (23,653)
Total purchase price $ 614,070
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The amount allocated to in-process research and development was based on the present value of future discounted
cash flows, which was based on significant estimates. These estimates included the number of potential patients and
market price of a future TUKYSA-based regimen, costs required to conduct clinical trials and potentially commercialize
TUKYSA, as well as estimates for probabilitff y of success and the discount rate. Goodwill primarily was attributed to
TUKYSA’s potential application in othera treatment settings, intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition,
and synergies with our existing pipeline and capabilities. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

5. Fair Value

We have certain assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis according to a faiff r value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs, assumptions and valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The three levels of the fair value
hierarchy are:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date forff identical,
unrestricted assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active or financial instruments for whichff all significant inputs are
observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and
unobservable.

The determination of a finff ancial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on an assessment of the
lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. We consider observable data to be market data
which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliablu e and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by
independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.

The following table summarized the type of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the
fair value hierarchy:

Fair value measurement using:

(dollars in thousands)

Quoted prices
in active
markets for
identical
assets
(Level 1)

Other
observable
inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3) Total

December 31, 2020
Short-term investments—U.S. Treasury securities $ 2,000,996 $ — $ — $ 2,000,996
Long-term investments—U.S. Treasury securities 100,830 — — 100,830
Total $ 2,101,826 $ — $ — $ 2,101,826

December 31, 2019
Short-term investments—U.S. Treasury securities $ 536,493 $ — $ — $ 536,493
Long-term investments—U.S. Treasury securities 57,283 — — 57,283
Other non-current assets—equity securities 163,936 — — 163,936
Total $ 757,712 $ — $ — $ 757,712

Our short- and long-term investments portfolio predominantly contains investments in U.S. Treasury and other
U.S. government-backed securities. We review our portfolio based on the underlying risk profile of the securities and
also regularly review the securities in an unrealized loss position and evaluate the current expected credit loss by
considering factors such as historical experience, market data, issuer-specific factoff rs, and current economic conditions.
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we recognized no year-to-date credit loss related to our short- and
long-term investments, and had no allowance forff credit loss recorded as of December 31, 2020.
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Our debt securities consisted of the following:ff

(dollars in thousands)
Amortized
cost

Gross
unrealized
gains

Gross
unrealized
losses

Fair
value

December 31, 2020
U.S. Treasury securities $ 2,101,801 $ 259 $ (234) $ 2,101,826

Contractual maturities (at date of purchase):
Due in one year or less $ 1,791,399 $ 1,791,239
Due in one to two years 310,402 310,587
Total $ 2,101,801 $ 2,101,826

December 31, 2019
U.S. Treasury securities $ 593,565 $ 236 $ (25) $ 593,776

Contractual maturities (at date of purchase):
Due in one year or less $ 466,439 $ 466,547
Due in one to two years 127,126 127,229
Total $ 593,565 $ 593,776

6. Investment and Other Income, Net

Investment and other income, net consisted of the following:

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018

Gain on equity securities $ 11,604 $ 50,124 $ 7,336
Investment and other income, net 7,245 11,771 6,316
Total investment and other income, net $ 18,849 $ 61,895 $ 13,652

Gain on equity securities includes the realized and unrealized holding gains and losses on our equity securities. In
2020, we sold our all our common stock holdings for $174.7 million.

7. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019
Raw materials $ 99,049 $ 78,285
Finished goods 17,087 7,647

Total $ 116,136 $ 85,932
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8. Property and equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019
Leasehold improvements $ 204,918 $ 154,606
Laboratory and manufacturing equipment 78,724 68,226
Building 23,341 23,341
Computers, software and office equipment 45,141 37,154
Furniture and fixturesff 15,825 11,758
Land 4,771 4,771

299,856372,720
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (176,020) (144,365)
Total $ 196,700 $ 155,491

Depreciation and amortization expenses on property and equipment totaled $36.0 million, $23.8 million, and
$25.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. Leasehold improvements included
$24.5 million and $62.2 million of construction in process at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

9. Accrued liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted ofa the followingff :

December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019
Employee compensation and benefits $ 96,902 $ 74,835
Clinical trial and related costs 69,756 37,418
Contract manufacturing 20,765 13,866
Gross-to-net deductions and third-party royalties 52,565 37,662
Operating lease liability,a current 12,749 9,445
Collaborator contract liability – short-term 30,130 —
Professional services and other 27,204 33,839
Total $ 310,071 $ 207,065

10. Income taxes

Our pre-tax income (loss) by jurisdiction consisted of the following:ff

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018
U.S. $ 613,054 $ (160,189) $ (226,626)
Foreign 2,647 1,539 (19,720)
Total $ 615,701 $ (158,650) $ (246,346)
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A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is as follows:ff

Years ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Statutory federal income tax rate 21.0 % (21.0)% (21.0)%
Tax credits (5.4) (11.0) (6.0)
Foreign rate differential — — (8.0)
State income taxes and other 1.5 (4.7) (3.7)
Valuation allowance (8.4) 37.1 44.0
Stock compensation (8.4) (6.4) (3.2)
Non-deductible asset basis — 6.0 —
Worthless stock deduction — — (12.1)
Effective tax rate 0.3 % 0.0 % (10.0)%

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded a provision for income taxes of $2.0 million, consisting
primarily of $3.7 million of current state taxes offset by a net $1.7 million deferred foreign taff x benefit primarily related
to the release of a valuation allowance on our foreign deferred tax asset for neff t operating losses. We utilized net
operating loss carryforwards to reduce any federal tax liability, and we incurred state tax liabilities of $3.7 million due to
certain states with current limitations on the utilization of net operating losses.

In 2019, we did not record any income tax expense or benefit due tod a tax loss position. In 2018, we recognized a
deferred tax liability of $23.7 million on acquired intangible assets in connection with the acquisition of Cascadian. As a
result, we recorded an income tax benefit of $23.7 million for the release of valuation allowance on our existing U.S.
deferred tax assets as a result of the offset of deferred tax liabilities established for intangible assets from the acquisition.

The foreign rate differential inff the table above reflecta s the effecff t of operations in jurisdictions with tax rates that
differ fromff the rate in the U.S. The change in foreign rate differential from 2018 to 2019 was primarily due toff the one-
time impact of foreignff entity restructuring in 2018. As of December 31, 2020, unremitted earnings of our foreign
subsidiaries will be retained indefinitely by the foreign subsidiarieff s for continuingff investment. If foreign earnings wereff to
be repatriated to the U.S., we could be subject to additional state income and withholding taxes.
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Our net deferred tax assets consisted of the following:

December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 228,041 $ 331,124
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards 8,341 3,527
Tax credit carryforwards 224,233 193,552
Share-based compensation 33,315 34,869
Allowance and accrualsrr 29,355 26,625
Operating lease liabilitiesa 16,596 18,597
Inventory 19,402 3,815
Capitalized research and development 4,139 4,732
Depreciation — 9,430
Other — 1,133
Total deferred tax assets 563,422 627,404
Less: valuation allowance (489,519) (536,316)
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 73,903 91,088

Deferred tax liability:
Right-of-use assets (13,647) (17,125)
Intangibles and amortization (46,018) (50,725)
Depreciation (10,215) —
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities — (20,064)
Other (1,970) (3,174)
Net deferred tax assets $ 2,053 $ —

Our deferred tax assets primarily consist of net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards, tax credit carryforwards,
share-based compensation, allowance and accruals, operatingrr lease liabilitiesa , inventory, and capitalized research and
development expense. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon a number of factors, including futureff
earnings, the timing and amount of which is uncertain. The assessment regarding whether a valuation allowance is
required considers the evaluation of both positive and negative evidence when concluding whether it is more likely than
not that deferred tax assets are realizable. Based upon a review of available evidence, we determined that it is not more
likely than not that the U.S. deferred tax assets will be realized, and therefore the deferred tax assets have been fullyff
offset by a valuation allowance. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we released $2.1 million of valuation
allowance on our foreign NOL carryforward deferred tax asset.

At December 31, 2020, we had gross federal NOL carryforwards of $971.0 million, of which $391.2 million may
be carried forward indefinitely and $579.8 million of which expire from 2021 to 2037 if not utilized, gross state NOL
carryforwards of $367.7 million, gross foreign NOL carryforwards of $42.3 million and tax credit carryforwards of
$247.3 million expiring from 2021 to 2040.

Utilization of the NOL and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation in the event
of a change in ownership as set forth in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. We have
evaluated ownership changes through the year ended December 31, 2019 and believe that it is likely that utilization of its
NOLs would not be limited under Section 382 as of December 31, 2019. It is possible that there has been or may be a
change in ownership after this date, which would limit our ability to utilize our NOLs. Any limitation may result in the
expiration of the NOLs and tax credit carryforwards before utilization.
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The valuation allowance decreased by $46.8 million in 2020, increased by $58.5 million in 2019, and increased by
$113.3 million in 2018, which was mostly related to the changes in our deferred tax asset balances. The 2020 decrease in
the valuation allowance is primarily due to the current year net operating loss utilization, partially offset by tax credit
generation. The 2019 increase in the valuation allowance is related to the loss, tax credits generated, and other activity.
The 2018 increase in the valuation allowance included a $143.3 million increase related to the loss, tax credits and other
activity in 2018, offset by a $23.7 million decrease for release of valuation allowance related to the deferred tax assets
and liabilities acquired from Cascadian and a $6.3 million decrease due to the adoption of ASC Topic 606.

The financial statement recognition of the benefit forff a tax position is dependent upon the benefit being more
likely than not to be sustainable uponu audit by the applicable taxing authority. If this threshold is met, the tax benefit is
then measured and recognized at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimateu
settlement. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020 2019 2018
Balance at January 1 $ 24,018 $ 20,706 $ 18,172
Increase (decrease) related to prior year tax positions (4,008) — 108
Increase related to current year tax positions 3,068 3,312 2,426
Balance at December 31 $ 23,078 $ 24,018 $ 20,706

We do not anticipate any significant changes to our unrecognized tax positions or benefits during the next twelve
months. Interest and penalties related to the settlement of uncertain tax positions, if any, will be reflected in income tax
expense. Tax years 2001 to 2020 remain subject to future examination for federal and foreign income taxes.

11. Collaboration and license agreements

We have collaboration and license agreements with a number of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies.
Revenues recognized under these agreements are disclosed in Note 2.

These agreements generally may be terminated dued to material and uncured breaches, insolvency of either party,
mutual written consent, unilateral decision of one or either party upon prior writteu n notice, expiration of payment
obligations, cessation of development or commercialization of the products, and/or challenges to patents which are
subject to the related agreement. Each agreement is discussed in more detail in the followingff sections.

Takeda ADCETRIS cII ollaboration

The Takeda ADCETRIS collaboration provides for the global co-development of ADCETRISff and the
commercialization of ADCETRIS by Takeda in its territory. We have commercial rights for ADCETRIS in the U.S. and
its territories and in Canada. Takeda has commercial rights in the rest of the world. Under the collaboration, we and
Takeda can each conduct development activities and equally co-fund the cost of certain mutually agreed development
activities. Costs associated with co-development activities are included in research and development expense.

We recognize payments received from Takeda, including progress-dependent development and regulatory
milestone payments, reimbursement for drug supplied, and net development cost reimbursement payments, as
collaboration and license agreement revenues upon transfer of control of the goods or services over the development
period. When the performance of development activities under the collaboration results in us making a reimbursement
payment to Takeda, that payment reduces collaboration and license agreement revenues. In addition, we recognize
royalty revenues, where royalties are based on a percentage of Takeda’s net sales of ADCETRIS in its licensed
territories, with percentages ranging from the mid-teens to the mid-twenties based on annual net sales tiers, and sales-
based milestones. Takeda bears a portion of third-party royalty costs owed on its sales of ADCETRIS, which is included
in royalty revenues.
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Astellas PADCEV collaboration

We have a collaboration agreement with Agensys, Inc., which subsequently became an affiliate of Astellas, toff
jointly research, develop and commercialize ADCs for the treatment of several types of cancer. The collaboration
encompasses combinations of our ADC technology with fully-human antibodies developed by Astellas to proprietary
cancer targets. Under this collaboration, we and Astellas are co-funding all development costs for PADCEV. We rely on
Astellas to supply PADCEV for commercial sales and for our clinical trials, and Astellas oversees the manufacturing
supply chain for PADCEV. Costs associated with co-development activities are included in research and development
expense and amounted to $99.3 million, $76.8 million, and $54.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019,
and 2018, respectively.

In 2018, we and Astellas entered into a joint commercialization agreement to govern the global commercialization
of PADCEV:

• In the U.S., we and Astellas jointly promote PADCEV. We record sales of PADCEV in the U.S. and are
responsible for all U.S. distribution activities. The companies each bear the costs of their own sales
organizations in the U.S., equally share certain costs associated with commercializing PADCEV in the U.S.,
and equally share in any profits realized in the U.S. We and Astellas launched PADCEV in the U.S. in
December 2019. Gross profit share payments owed to Astellas in the U.S. are recorded in cost of sales and
totaled $104.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2020.

• Outside the U.S., we have commercialization rights in all countries in North and South America, and Astellas
has commercialization rights in the rest of the world, including Europe, Asia, Australia and Africa. The
agreement is intended to provide that we and Astellas will effectively equally share in costs incurred and any
profits realized in all of these markets. Cost and profit sharing in Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany,
France, Spain and Italy will be based on product sales and costs of commercialization. In the remaining
markets, the commercializing party will bear costs and will pay the other party a royalty rate applied to net
sales of the product based on a rate intended to approximate an equal profit share for both parties.

Either party may opt out of co-development and profit-sharing under the collaboration agreement in return for
receiving milestones and royalties from the continuing party. Astellas or its affiliates are responsible for manufacturing
PADCEV for development and commercial use. However, we are responsible for packaging and labeling ina countries in
which we sell PADCEV. In addition, if the parties determine that a second source is required, we will be responsible for
establishing such second source whether internally or through a third party.

Genmab tisotumab vedotin collaborationii

We have an agreement with Genmab to develop and commercialize ADCs for the treatment of several types of
cancer, under which we previously exercised a co-development option for tisotumab vedotin. In October 2020, we and
Genmab entered into a joint commercialization agreement to govern the global commercialization of tisotumab vedotin,
if we are successful in obtaining any regulatory approvals of tisotumab vedotin:

• In the U.S., we and Genmab will co-promote tisotumab vedotin. We will record sales of tisotumab vedotin in
the U.S. and are responsible for leading U.S. distribution activities. The companies will each hire and
maintain 50% of the sales representatives and medical science liaisons, equally share those and certain other
costs associated with commercializing tisotumab vedotin in the U.S., and equally share in any profits realized
in the U.S.

• Outside the U.S., we have commercialization rights in the rest of the world except for Japan, where Genmab
has commercialization rights. In Europe, China, and Japan, we and Genmab equally share 50% of the costs
associated with commercializing tisotumab vedotin as well as any profits realized in these markets. In
markets outside the U.S. other than Europe, China, and Japan, aside from certain costs specified in the
agreement, we are solely responsible for all costs associated with commercializing tisotumab vedotin and will
pay Genmab a royalty based on a percentage of aggregate net sales ranging from the mid-teens to mid-
twenties.
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In February 2021, a BLA for tisotumab vedotin was submitted to the FDA seeking accelerated approval for the
treatment of patients with recurrent or metastatic cervical cancer with disease progression on or after chemotherapy.ff
Costs associated with co-development activities are included in research and development expense and amounted $50.1
million, $48.5 million, and $33.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. Either
party may opt out of co-development and profit-sharing under the collaboration agreement in return for receiving
milestones and royalties from the continuing party. Either party may also opt out of co-development and profit-sharing
under the collaboration agreement in return for receiving milestones and royalties from the continuing party. The opt out
provisions of the collaboration agreement may also be applied to the joint commercialization agreement. In addition,
Genmab may elect to opt out of co-promotion of tisotumab vedotin in the United States by providing us with prior
written notice.

Merck LV and TUKYSA license and collaboration agreements, and stock purchase agreement

In September 2020, we entered into two license and collaboration agreements, and a stock purchase agreement,
with subsidiaries of Merck.u

Under one of the license and collaboration agreements, referred to as the LV Agreement, we are pursuing a broad
joint development program evaluating ladiratuzumab vedotin, or LV, as monotherapy and in combination settings,
including with Merck’s anti-PD-1 therapy KEYTRUDA® (pembrolizumab) in triple-negative breast cancer, hormone
receptor-positive breast cancer and other LIV-1-expressing solid tumors. Pursuant to the LV Agreement, we granted to
Merck a co-exclusive worldwide development and commercialization license for LV, and agreed to jointly develop and
commercialize LV on a worldwide basis. We received an upfront cash payment of $600.0 million, and we are eligible to
receive up to $850.0 million in milestone payments upon the initiation of certain clinical trials and regulatory approval in
certain major markets, and up to an additional $1.75 billion in milestone payments upon the achievement of specified
annual global net sales thresholds of LV. Each company is responsible for 50% of global costs to develop and
commercialize LV and will receive 50% of potenti l f fiial future profits.

i i hIn connection with hthe LV Agreement, we entered into a stock purchase agreement with Merck, referred toAgreement, we entered into a stock purchase agreement with Merck, referred to as hthe
hPurchase gAgreement, pursuant to hi h k h dwhich Merck purchased 5,000,000 newly-issued shares of our common stock,newly-issued shares of our common stock, at a

purchase price ofpurchase price of $$200 per hshare, for an gaggregate purchase price ofgregate purchase price of $ billi$1.0 billion h f i k l f. The fair market value of 5,000,000
h f kshares of our common stock was $ illi$749.9 million b d, based on hthe lclosing price ofosing price of hthe llast trading day prior toading day prior to hth he Purchase
Agreement being executed.Agreement being executed. We d d h f i k l frecorded the fair market value of hth h i de shares issued iin kh ldstockholders’ equity on ouruity on our
consolidated balance sheet upon closing ofconsolidated balance sheet upon closing of hthe lsale of hshares pursuant to h hthe Purchase gAgreement iin bOctober 2020. We

d faccounted for hthe as i d i fsociated premium of $ illi$250.1 million as a freestandingas a freestanding equity-linkeduity-linked iin d dstrument under ASC 815, and
d i d i b i bldetermined it to be variable co id insideration attrib blibutable to h l i i l dthe total transaction price related to h lithe LV license.
Accordingly, we recognizedAccordingly, we recognized hth ie premium iin coll b i dllaboration and lilicense gagreement revenues for hth ye year end dded bDecember
31, 2020, upon closing of the sale of shares pursuant31, 2020, upon closing of the sale of shares pursuant to h hthe Purchase gAgreement.

d h h li dUnder the other license and collaboration agreement, referredllaboration agreement, referred to as hthe TUKYSA Agreement, we granted Merck
exclusive rights to commercialize TUKYSA in Asia, the Middle East and Latin America and other regions outside of the
U.S., Canada and Europe. Pursuant to the TUKYSA Agreement, Merck is responsible for marketing applications for
approval in its territory, supported by the positive results from the HER2CLIMB clinical trial. We retained commercial
rights in the U.S., Canada and Europe, where we will record sales. Merck is also co-funding a portion of the TUKYSA
global development plan, which encompasses several ongoing and planned trials across HER2-positive cancers. We will
continue to lead ongoing TUKYSA global development operational execution. Merck will solely fund and conduct
country-specific clinical trials necessary to support anticipated regulatory applications in its territories. We received an
upfront cash payment from Merck of $125.0 million and also received $85.0 million in prepaid research and
development funding to be applied to Merck’s global development cost sharing obligations. We are eligible to receive
progress-dependent milestone payments of up to $65.0 million, and are entitled to receive tiered royalties on sales of
TUKYSA by Merck that begin in the low twenty percent range and escalate based sales volume by Merck in its territory.
We owe a portion of any non-royalty payments received from sublicensing TUKSYA rights to a technology licensor, as
well as a low double-digit royalty based on net sales of TUKYSA by us, and will owe a single-digit royalty based on net
sales of TUKYSA by Merck in its territories.
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We determined that these agreements are within the scope of ASC 808. Pursuant to ASC 808, we considered other
authoritative guidance for distinct units of account related to these agreements, including ASC 606. Our performance
obligations within the scope of ASC 606 consisted of the delivery of the LV license and transfer of regulatory
information to enable the LV collaboration, the delivery of the TUKYSA license and transfer of regulatory materials for
use by Merck in its territory, and supply of commercial TUKYSA inventory to Merck for use in its territory. The LV
license and TUKYSA license are functional intellectual property and distinct from the other promises made under the
contract. Since we also determined that Merck can benefit from the LV license and the TUKYSA licenses at the time of
conveyance, the related performance obligations were satisfied at that point in time. Therefore, we recognizedme. Therefore, we recognized lilicense

l drevenue related to hthe upfront payments under ASC 606 ine upfront payments under ASC 606 in coll b i dllaboration and lilicense gagreement revenues during the yearreement revenues during the year
d dended bDecember 31, 2020.

Potential development, regulatory, andPotential development, regulatory, and l bsales-b dased ilmilestones, and royalties, will bed royalties, will be acco d f i blunted for as variable
i i l dtransaction price related to hthe LV or TUKYSA lilicenses dunder ASC 606. Given the uncertain nature of these payments,606. Given the uncertain nature of these payments,

we determined they were fullywe determined they were fully co i d fnstrained as of bDecember 31, 2020 d i l d d iand not included in hthe tr i iansaction price. illWe will
lre-evaluate hthe tr i iansaction price hat each reporting periodreporting period as iuncertain events are resolved or other changes ine resolved or other changes in

icircumstances occur.

dWe and k hMerck share equallyually iin LV global developmentLV global development co dsts, and k iMerck is co-fundingfunding a i f hportion of the TUKYSA
global development plan.global development plan. We co id h ll b i i i i i dnsider the collaborative activities associated i h hwith the global developmentglobal development andd

i li i fcommercialization of LV, and the global development ofd the global development of TUKYSA, to b i fbe units of account i hiwithin hthe scope of ASC 808.
We recognize developmentWe recognize development cost hsharing proportionately with the performance ofring proportionately with the performance of hthe underlying activities,e underlying activities, and dd record

k i b fMerck’s reimbursement of our ex d i f h d d lpenses as a reduction of research and development ex i b fpenses. Reimbursements from
k fMerck for hthe LV Agreement andAgreement and TUKYSA Agreement were not material during the year ended December 31, 2020.KYSA Agreement were not material during the y

Merck’s remaining prepayment of $80.9 million towards the TUKYSA global development plan was recorded as a co-
development liability in accrued liabilities and other or other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2020. As joint development expenses are incurred, we recognize the portion of Merck’s prepayment as a
reduction of our research and development expenses on our consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).
Sales of TUKYSA drug product supplied to Merck will be included in collaboration and license agreement revenues.

Other collaboration and license agreements

We have other collaboration and license agreements for our technology with a number of biotechnology and
pharmaceutical companies. Under these agreements, we have granted research and commercial licenses to use our
technology, most often in conjunction with the licensee's technology. In certain agreements, we also have agreed to
conduct limited development activities and to provide other materials, supplies and services to our licensees during a
specified term of the agreement. We typically receive upfront cash payments and progress- and sales-dependent
milestones for the achievement by our licensees of certain events, and annual maintenance fees and support fees foru
research and development services and materials provided under the agreements. These amounts are recognized as
revenue over the performance obligation period if the license is determined to not be distinct from other goods and
services provided, or, if there is no performance obligation, upon transfer of control of the goods or services to the
customer. We also are entitled to receive royalties on net sales of any resulting products incorporating our ADC
technology. Our licensees are solely responsible for research, product development, manufacturing and
commercialization of any product candidates under these agreements, which includes the achievement of the potential
milestones. For agreements beyond the initial performance period, we have no remaining performance obligations. We
may receive license maintenance fees and potential milestones and royalties based on collaborator development and
regulatory progress, which are recorded in the period achieved in the case of milestones, and during the period of the
related sales for royalties.
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12. In-license agreements

We have in-licensed antibodies, targets and enabling technologies from pharmaceutical and biotechnologyff
companies and academic institutions for use in ADCETRIS, its pipeline programs and ADC technology. Under the terms
of two exclusive license agreements, we are required to pay royalties in the low single digits on net sales of ADCETRIS.
In addition, we owed royalties in the low single digits on net sales of ADCETRIS under the terms of other non-exclusive
licenses, which expired in 2018.

We are a party to a license agreement in which we were granted an exclusive license to develop, manufacture and
commercialize TUKYSA. We pay the licensor a portion of any non-royalty payments received from sublicensingff
TUKSYA rights, a low double-digit royalty based on net sales of TUKSYA by us, and a single-digit royalty based on net
sales of TUKYSA by our sublicenseesu . The term of the license agreement expires on a country-by-country basis upon the
later of the expiration of the last valid claim covering TUKYSA within that country or 10 years after the firff st commercial
sale of TUKYSA within that country.

Under the terms of in-license agreements related to our pipeline programs, we would potentially owe
development, regulatory, and sales-based milestones, and royalties on net sales, as defined, of certain approved products.

13. Commitments and contingencies

We have certain non-cancelable obligations under various agreements, including supply agreements relating to the
manufacture of ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA, and our product candidates that contain annual minimum purchase
commitments and other firm commitmentff s when a binding forecast is provided. As of December 31, 2020, our future
obligations related to supply and other agreements were as follows:

(dollars in thousands)
Years ending December 31,
2021 $ 141,130
2022 84,384
2023 61,680
2024 44,988
2025 33,816
Thereafter 128
Total $ 366,126

Non-cancelable obligations under these agreements do not include payments that are contingent upon achievement
of certain progress-dependent milestones or royalties based on net sales of commercial products. These amounts have
been excluded fromff the table because the events triggering the obligations have not yet occurred.

See Note 3 for our future obligations relatedff to operating leases as of December 31, 2020.

14. Legal matters

We are engaged in multiple legal disputes with Daiichi Sankyo Co. Ltd., or Daiichi Sankyo.

Dispute over ownership of ii ntellectual property

We are in a dispute with Daiichi Sankyo regarding the ownership of certain technology used by Daiichi Sankyo in
its cancer drug ENHERTU and certain product candidates. We believe that the linker and other ADC technology used in
ENHERTU and these drug candidates are improvements to our ADC technology, the ownership of which we contend
was assigned to us under the terms of a 2008 collaboration agreement between us and Daiichi Sankyo. On November 12,
2019, we submitted an arbitration demand to the American Arbitration Association seeking, among other remedies, a
declaration that we are the owner of the intellectual property rights under dispute, monetary damages, and a runningrr
royalty. On April 27, 2020, the arbitrator confirmed the dispute should be resolved in arbitration. The arbitration is
progressing with a hearing date scheduled starting June 14, 2021.
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On November 4, 2019, Daiichi Sankyo filed a declaratory judgment action in the United States District Court for
the District of Delaware, alleging that we are not entitled to the intellectual property rights under dispute, in an attempt to
have the dispute adjudicated in federal court. On March 25, 2020, a District of Delaware magistrate judge issued a stay
of Daiichi Sankyo’s court action pending determination by the arbitrator of whether the suit should be heard in court or
arbitration. On April 8, 2020, Daiichi Sankyo filed objections to the magistrate judge’s order. On October 27, 2020, the
presiding District Court Judge overruled Daiichi Sankyo's objections and affirmed the magistrate judge's stay, and
subsequently ordered the case to be administratively closed on November 13, 2020.

Patent infringement

On October 19, 2020, we filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas to
commence an action for infringement of our U.S. Patent No. 10,808,039, or the '039 Patent, by Daiichi Sankyo’s
importation into, offer for sale, sale, and use in the United States of the cancer drug ENHERTU. This action is seeking,
among other remedies, a judgment that Daiichi Sankyo infringed one or more valid and enforceable claims of the '039
Patent, monetary damages and a running royalty. Daiichi Sankyo (as well as Daiichi Sankyo, Inc.rr and AstraZeneca
Pharmaceuticals, LP, or AstraZeneca) subsequently filed an action on November 13, 2020 in the U.S. District Court for
the District of Delaware seeking a declaratory judgment that ENHERTU does not infringe the ‘039 Patent. Daiichi
Sankyo, Inc. and AstraZeneca also filed two Petitions for Post-Grant Review on December 23, 2020 and January 22,
2021 with the U.S. Patent Office seeking to have claims of the ‘039 Patent cancelled as unpatentable.

As a result of these disputes, we have incurred and will continue to incur litigation expenses. In addition, from
time to time, we may become involved in other lawsuits, claims and proceedings relating to the conduct of our business,
including those pertaining to the defenseff and enforcement of our patent or other intellectual property rights and our
contractual rights. These proceedings are costly and time consuming, and they may subject us to claims which may result
in liabilities or require us to take or refrain fromff certain actions. Additionally, successful challenges to our patent or other
intellectual property rights through these proceedings could result in a loss of rights in the relevant jurisdiction and may
allow third parties to use our proprietary technologies without a license from us or our collaborators.

15. Stockholders’ equity

In October 2020, we closed the sale of the shares pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, and issued 5,000,000
shares of our common stock to Merck at a purchase price of $200 per share, for proceeds of $1.0 billion. Asff a result, we
recorded $749.9 million in stockholders’ equity on our consolidated balance sheet and recognized the $250.1 million
premium attributed to the Purchase Agreement in collaboration and license agreement revenues for the year endedff
December 31, 2020.

In July 2019, we completed an underwritten public offering of 8,214,286 shares of our common stock at a public
offering price of $70.00 per share. The offering resulted in net proceeds to us of $548.7 million, afteff r deducting
underwriting discounts, commissions, and other offering expenses. The primary use of the net proceeds was to fund ourff
ADCETRIS and PADCEV commercialization efforts and our research and development efforts, as well as general
corporate purposes, including working capital.a

In February 2018, we completed an underwritten public offering of 13,269,230 shares of our common stock at a
public offering price of $52.00 per share. The offering resulted in net proceeds to us of $658.2 million, after deducting
underwriting discounts, commissions, and other offering expenses. The primary use of the net proceeds was to fundff the
acquisition of Cascadian.

At December 31, 2020, shares of common stock reserved for future issuance are as follows:

(in thousands)

Stock options and RSUs outstanding 10,917
Shares available for future grant undeff r the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan 8,624
Employee stock purchase plan shares available for futureff issuance 986
Total 20,527
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16. Net income (loss) per share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income
(loss) by the weighted average number of common shares and potentially dilutive common shares outstanding during the
period. Potentially dilutive common shares include incremental common shares resulting the assumed vesting of
restricted stock units and the assumed exercise of outstanding stock options, calculated using the treasury stock method.

The following table shows the calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share:

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2020 2019 2018
Net income (loss) $ 613,670 $ (158,650) $ (222,693)

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 174,834 165,498 157,655
Effect of potentially dilutive common shares 7,453 — —
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 182,287 165,498 157,655

Net income (loss) per share - basic $ 3.51 $ (0.96) $ (1.41)
Net income (loss) per share - diluted $ 3.37 $ (0.96) $ (1.41)

We excluded the potential shares of common stock from the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share
because their effect would have been antidilutive. The following table presents the weighted average number of shares
that have been excluded for all periods presented:

Years ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2020 2019 2018
Stock options and RSUs 13,439356 12,774

17. Share-based compensation

2007 Equity Incentive Plan

Our 2007 Equity It ncentive Plan, or the 2007 Plan, provides for the issuance of our common stock to employees,
including our officers, directors and consultants and affiliates. The 2007 Plaff n was amended and restated in 2020 to
reserve an additional 6,000,000 shares thereunder, such that an aggregate of 39,000,000 shares of our common stock
were authorized for issuance as of Decembeff r 31, 2020, and to extend the term of the 2007 Plan through May 2030 unless
it is terminated earlier pursuant to its terms. Under the 2007 Plan, we may issue stock options (including incentive stock
options and nonstatutory stock options), restricted stock, RSUs, stock appreciation rights and other similar types of
awards. We have only issued options to purchase shares of common stock and RSUs under the 2007 Plan, including
options and RSUs with time-based or performance-based vesting requirements. Performance-based vesting occurs upon
achievement of pre-determined regulatory milestones, sales-based milestones, or market-based performance metrics.

Incentive stock options under the 2007 Plan may be granted only to our employees. The exercise price of an
incentive stock option or a nonstatutory stock option may not be less than 100% of the faiff r market value of the common
stock on the date the option is granted and the options generally have a maximum term of ten years from the date of
grant. Generally, options granted to employees under the 2007 Plan vest 25% one year afteff r the grant date and thereafter
ratably each month over the following thirty-six months. Generally, RSUs granted to employees vest 25% each year
beginning one year after the grant date. Option and RSU grants to non-employee members of our board of directors vest
over one year. The vesting of performance-based awards generally includes vesting upon achievement of pre-determined
milestones or metrics and, in some cases, vesting upon achievement of pre-determined milestones or metrics in addition
to the passage of time.
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The 2007 Plan provides for (i) the full acceleration of vesting of equityff awards upon a change in control if the
successor company does not assume, substitute or otherwise replace the equity awards upon the change in control; and
(ii) the full acceleration of vesting of any equity awards if at the time of, immediately prior to or within twelve months
after a change in control of the Company, the holder of such equity awards is involuntarily terminated without cause or is
constructively terminated by the successor company that assumed, substituted or otherwise replaced such stock awards in
connection with the change in control.

Share-based compensation expense

We recorded total share-based compensation expense of $147.2 million, $127.3 million, and $78.9 million forff
2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively, including share-based compensation expense associated with our LTIPs. Share-
based compensation included in research and development expenses was $72.7 million, $64.7 million, and $40.4 million
for 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively, and share-based compensation included in sales, general, and administrative
expenses was $74.5 million, $62.6 million, and $38.5 million for 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. We recognized a
tax benefit of $55.7 million related to share-based compensation expense for 2020. No tax benefit was recognized for
2019 and 2018 since there is no taxable income forff those years and a valuation allowance is available to offset all
potential tax benefits associated with its deferred tax assets.

Valuation assumptions

We calculate the fair value of each option award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The followingff weighted-average assumptions were used for the periods indicated:

2007 Plan Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Years ended December 31, Years ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
Risk-free interest rate 0.3 % 1.5 % 2.8 % 1.3 % 2.2 % 1.7 %
Expected lives (in
years) 5.7 5.6 5.6 0.5 0.5 0.5
Expected dividend 0 % 0 % 0 % 0 % 0 % 0 %
Expected volatility 44 % 44 % 42 % 47 % 43 % 36 %

The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the expected
life of the award. Our computation of expected life wff as determined based on our historical experience with similar
awards, giving consideration to the contractual terms of the share-based awards, vesting schedules and expectations of
future employee behavior. A forfeiture rate isff estimated at the time of grant to reflect the amount of awards that are
granted but are expected to be forfeited by the award holder prior to vesting. The estimated forfeiture ratff e applieda to
these amounts is derived from historical stock award forfeiture behavior. We have never paid cash dividends and do not
currently intend to pay cash dividends. Our computation of expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of our
stock price.

The fair value of RSUs is determined based on the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant.
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Stock option activityo

A summary of stock option activity is as follows:

Shares

Weighted-
average

exercise price
per share

Weighted-
average
remaining

contractual term
(in years)

Aggregate
intrinsic value
(in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2019 9,560,510 $ 47.62
Granted 871,939 $ 159.69
Exercised (2,258,503) $ 35.77
Forfeited/expired (292,693) $ 69.50
Balance at December 31, 2020 7,881,253 $ 62.60 6.05 $ 887,226
Expected to vest 7,668,287 $ 61.31 5.98 $ 873,149
Options exercisable 5,236,758 $ 46.10 4.98 $ 675,746

The weighted average grant-date fair values of options granted with exercise prices equal to market were $64.66,$64.66
$30.51, and $30.77 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the
underlying options and the quoted price of our common stock for alff l options that were in-the-money at December 31,
2020. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised was $271.0 million during 2020, $128.4 million during 2019,$271.0 million
and $73.3 million during 2018, determineddd as of the date of option exercise. As of December 31, 2020, there was
approximately $52.4 million of$52.4 million total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options, as adjusted for
expected forfeitures. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.22 years. We utilize1.22 years
newly issued shares to satisfy option exercises.

RSU activity

A summary of RSU activity, excluding performance-baseity, excluding performance-basedd RSUs, is as f, is as follows:ff

Share
equivalent

Weighted-
average
grant date
fair value

Non-vested at December 31, 2019 2,991,562 $ 68.66
Granted 816,486 $ 159.51
Vested (1,201,084) $ 60.90
Forfeited (249,458) $ 78.08
Non-vested at December 31, 2020 2,357,506 $ 105.50

The weighted average grant-date fair values of RSUs granted were $159.51, $75.58, and $70.78 for$159.51 the years
ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. The total faiff r value of RSUs that vested during 2020, 2019,d and
2018 (measured on the date of vesting) was $187.1 million, $67.1$187.1 million million, and $42.4 million, respectively. As of
December 31, 2020, there was approximately $144.7 million of$144.7 million total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-
vested RSU awards, as adjusted ford expected forfeitures. Thaff t cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of 1.60 years. We utiliz1.60 e newly issued shares for RSUs that vest.

LTIP and performance-based awards activity

We have various LTIPs, which contain performance-based equity compensation, and have granted other
performance-based awards to certain executive officers.
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During 2020, an LTIP milestone was achieved related to FDA approval of TUKYSA based on our HER2CLIMB
trial, which triggered vesting of performance-based stock awards previously granted to eligible participants, and an RSU
grant to eligible participants. The vesting of the previously granted performance-based stock awards related to this LTIP
is included in the table below. The second tranche grant upon milestone achievement and time-based vesting of these
awards is included in the "RSU activity" table above.a

During 2019, anDuring 2019, an LT ilIP milestone was a hichievedd r l delated to h l f b dthe FDA approval of PADCEV based on our EV-201
i ltrial, whi hhich triggerediggered a cashh p yayment to eligible participantseligible participants andd an R gSU grant to icertain eligeligiblible par i i hticipants. The
vesting of grantvesting of grants m dade u dnder thhat LTIP iis i b dtime-based and i id is i l d dncluded iin hthe y“RSU activity” bl btable above.

During 2018, anDuring 2018, an LT ilIP milestone was a hichievedd r l delated to h l fthe FDA approval of an ADCETRIS i di i hi hindication, which
triggeretriggeredd a cashh p yayment to eligeligiblible par i iticipants a dnd commencedd vesting of stock options relateesting of stock options relatedd to th hhat LTIP. The
vesting for thavesting for that LTIP iis i b dtime-based and i id is i l d dncluded iin hthe “Stockk o yption activity”o bl btable above.

A summary of activity related to our performance-based RSUs and LTIPs is as follows:

Share
equivalent

Weighted-
average
grant date
fair value

Non-vested at December 31, 2019 616,643 $ 95.05
Granted 365,070 $ 151.93
Vested (240,667) $ 58.14
Forfeited (62,469) $ 96.89
Non-vested at December 31, 2020 678,577 $ 132.80

As of December 31, 2020, the estimated unrecognized compensation cost related to all LTIPs and performance-
based awards was approximatelya $ illi$74 million.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the current terms of the Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or the Employee
Stock Purchase Plan, employees can purchase shares of our common stock based on a percentage of their compensation
subject to certain limits. Shares are purchased at the lower of 85 percent of the fair market value of our common stock on
either the first day or the last day of each six-month offering period. Share issuance activity under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan is disclosed in our consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity. In May 2019, our stockholders
approved an increase of 1,000,000 shares in the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

18. Employee benefit plan

We have a 401(k) Plan for alff l of our U.S. employees. Eligible employees may contribute through payroll
deductions, and we may match the employees’ 401(k) contributions, at our discretion and not to exceed a prescribed
annual limit. Under this matching program, we contributed $18.0 million in 2020, $11.9 million in 2019, and $7.7
million in 2018.
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19. Quarterly financial data (unaudited)

The unaudited quarterly financial information shoulff d be read in conjunction with our financial statements and
related notes included elsewhere in this report. We believe that the following unaudited information reflects all normal
recurring adjustmentd s necessary for a faiff r presentation of the information for the periods presented. The operating results
for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period. The following table contains selectedff
unaudited financial datff a forff each of the indicated periods:

Three months ended
(dollars in thousands, except per share data) March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2020

Total revenues $ 234,514 $ 277,998 $ 1,061,731 $ 601,293
Net income (loss) $ (168,402) $ (21,190) $ 636,167 $ 167,095
Net income (loss) per share - basic $ (0.98) $ (0.12) $ 3.65 $ 0.93
Net income (loss) per share - diluted $ (0.98) $ (0.12) $ 3.50 $ 0.90

2019

Total revenues $ 195,199 $ 218,447 $ 213,263 $ 289,804
Net income (loss) $ (13,329) $ (79,238) $ (91,913) $ 25,830
Net income (loss) per share - basic $ (0.08) $ (0.49) $ (0.55) $ 0.15
Net income (loss) per share - diluted $ (0.08) $ (0.49) $ (0.55) $ 0.14
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

a. Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer
have evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) prior to the filing of this annual report. Based on that evaluation, they have
concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report, our disclosure controls and procedures
were, in design and operation, effective at the reasonable assurance level.

A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of inherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, if any, within an
organization have been detected. Accordingly, our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of our disclosure control system are met.

b. Changes in internal control over financial reporting. There have not been any changes in our internal control
over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2020 that have materially affected, or areff
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

c. Management’s Annual Report on Internale Control over Financial Reporting.e Our management is responsible
for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our management conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the 2013 framework in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on its evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effectiveff as of
December 31, 2020.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is
included in Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9B. Other Information

Amendment to Senior Executive Annual Bonus Planll

To reflect market practice among peer companies and further align pay with performance, the Compensation
Committee of our Board of Directors, or the Compensation Committee, amended our Senior Executive Annual Bonus
Plan, or the Plan, on February 9, 2021 to (a) provide for the use of guidelines established by the Compensation
Committee to partially determine a participant’s individual performance percentage for any Plan year and (b) change the
relative weight of the corporate and individual performance factors for our executive officers other that the CEO from
60% corporate performance and 40% individual performance to 50% corporate performance and 50% individual
performance. All other material terms of the Plan remain unchanged. Under the Plan, which is administered by the
Compensation Committee, executives at the Vice President level or higher are eligible to receive an annual performance-
based cash bonus for each calendar year based on the achievement of specified Company goals and, as applicable, an
assessment of individual performance. The above description of the amendments to the Plan is only a brief summary of
such amendments, does not purport to be complete, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Plan, as amended,
which is filed as Exhibit 10.66 to this Annual Report on Form 10‑K.
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PART III

The information required by Part III is omitted from this report because we will file a definitive proxy statement
within 120 days after the end of our 2020 fiscal year pursuant to Regulation 14A for our 2021 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, or the 2021 Proxy Statement, and the information to be included in the 2021 Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporateff Governance

1. The information required by this Item concerning our executive officers and our directors and nominees for
director, including information with respect to our audit committee and audit committee financial expert, may
be found under the section entitled “Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors” appearing in the 2021 Proxy
Statement. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.

2. The information required by this Item concerning our code of ethics may be found under the section entitled
“Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors—Corporate Governance—Code of Conduct and Business Ethics”
appearing in the 2021 Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.

3. The information required by this Item concerning compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 may be found in the section entitled “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” appearing in the 2021 Proxy
Statement. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item may be found under the sections entitled “Proposal No. 1—Election of
Directors—Director Compensation” and “Compensation of Executive Officers” appearing in the 2021 Proxy Statement.
Such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

1. The information required by this Item with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and
management may be found under the section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” appearing in the 2021 Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.

2. The information required by this Item with respect to securities authorized for issuance under our equity
compensation plans may be found under the sections entitled “Equity Compensation Plan Information”
appearing in the 2021 Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

1. The information required by this Item concerning related party transactions may be found under the section
entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” appearing in the 2021 Proxy Statement. Such
information is incorporated herein by reference.

2. The information required by this Item concerning director independence may be found under the section entitled
“Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors—Corporate Governance—Director Independence” appearing in the
2021 Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item may be found under the section entitled “Proposal No. 3—Ratification of
Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” appearing in the 2021 Proxy Statement. Such
information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

1. The following documents are filed as part of this report:

a. Financial Statements and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

b. Financial Statement Schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forthff
therein is not applicable or is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

c. Exhibits are incorporated herein by reference or are filed with this report as indicated below (numbered
in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).

2. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

Incorporation By Reference
Exhibit Description Form SEC File No. Exhibit Filing Date

2.1** Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 30, 2018,
among Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.), Valley
Acquisition Sub, Inc. and Cascadian Therapeutics, Inc.

8-K 000-32405 2.1 1/31/2018

3.1 Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
of Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.).

10-Q 000-32405 3.1 11/7/2008

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Fourth Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Seagen Inc. (f.k.a.
Seattle Genetics, Inc.).

8-K 000-32405 3.3 5/26/2011

3.3 Certificate of Amendment of Fourth Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Seagen Inc. (f.k.a
Seattle Genetics, Inc.).

8-K 000-32405 3.1 10/8/2020

3.4 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Seagen Inc. (f.k.a.
Seattle Genetics, Inc.).

8-K 000-32405 3.1 1/16/2020

4.1 Description of Securities of Seagen Inc. 10-K 000-32405 4.1 2/6/2020
4.2+ Specimen Stock Certificate. — — — —
4.3 Investor Rights Agreement dated July 8, 2003

among Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and certain
of its stockholders.

10-Q 000-32405 4.3 11/7/2008

4.4 Registration Rights Agreement, dated September 10, 2015,
by and between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.)
and the persons listed on Schedule A attached thereto.

8-K 000-32405 10.1 9/11/2015

10.1† Collaboration Agreement between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a.
Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and Millennium Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Takeda Pharmaceutical
Company Limited) dated December 14, 2009.

10-K 000-32405 10.1 2/6/2020

10.2† Collaboration and License Agreement dated January 7,
2007 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
Agensys, Inc.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 5/8/2007

10.3† Amendment to the Collaboration and License Agreement
between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
Agensys, Inc. dated effective November 20, 2009.

10-K 000-32405 10.49 3/12/2010

10.4† Joint Commercialization Agreement dated October 20,
2018 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
Agensys, Inc.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 7/16/2019

10.5† License and Collaboration Agreement, effective October 7,
2011, between Genmab A/S and Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.).

10-Q/A 000-32405 10.3 4/13/2018

10.6+†† Joint Commercialization Agreement dated October 19,
2020 between Genmab A/S and Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics Inc.).

— — — —
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Exhibit
Number

Incorporation By Reference
Exhibit Description Form SEC File No. Exhibit Filing Date

10.7 License Agreement dated March 30, 1998 between Seagen
Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and Bristol-Myers Squibb
Company.

10-K/A 000-32405 10.1 11/26/2010

10.8 Amendment Letter to the Bristol-Myers Squibb Company
License Agreement dated July 29, 1999 between Seagen
Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and Bristol-Myers Squibb
Company.

10-K/A 000-32405 10.2 11/26/2010

10.9 Amendment Agreement to the Bristol-Myers Squibb
Company License Agreement dated July 26, 2000 between
Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and Bristol-Myers
Squibb Company.

S-1/A 333-50266 10.7 12/5/2000

10.10† Amendment to License Agreement to the Bristol-Myers
Squibb Company License Agreement dated December 18,
2015 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company.

10-K 000-32405 10.4 2/19/2016

10.11 License Agreement dated September 20, 1999 between
Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and the University
of Miami.

10-K/A 000-32405 10.6 11/26/2010

10.12 Amendment No. 1 to the University of Miami License
Agreement dated August 4, 2000 between Seagen Inc.
(f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and the University of Miami.

10-K/A 000-32405 10.7 11/26/2010

10.13† Letter Agreement Regarding Royalty between the
University of Miami and Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.) dated April 11, 2016.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 7/26/2016

10.14 License Agreement between Cascadian Therapeutics, Inc.
and Array BioPharma Inc. dated December 11, 2014.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 4/26/2018

10.15 Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement dated April 23,
2020 between Cascadian Therapeutics, Inc. and Array
Biopharma Inc.

10-Q 000-32405 10.5 7/31/2020

10.16+†† Commercial Supply Agreement dated December 1, 2010
between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
SAFC, an operating division of Sigma-Aldrich, Inc.

— — — —

10.17+†† First Amendment to Commercial Supply Agreement
effective as of January 20, 2014 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a.
Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and SAFC, an operating division of
Sigma-Aldrich, Inc.

— — — —

10.18+†† Second Amendment to Commercial Supply Agreement
effective as of December 2, 2016 between Seagen Inc.
(f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and SAFC, an operating
division of Sigma-Aldrich, Inc.

— — — —

10.19† Third Amendment to Commercial Supply Agreement
effective as of July 1, 2019 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a.
Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and SAFC, an operating division of
Sigma-Aldrich, Inc.

10-Q 000-32405 10.2 10/30/2019

10.20 Development and Supply Agreement dated February 23,
2004 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
Abbott Laboratories.

10-K 000-32405 10.15 2/27/2015

10.21† First Amendment to Development and Supply Agreement
dated April 17, 2008 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.) and Abbott Laboratories, Inc.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 8/8/2008

10.22† Second Amendment to Development and Supply
Agreement dated June 15, 2009 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a.
Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and Abbott Laboratories, Inc.

10-Q 000-32405 10.4 11/4/2011
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10.23† Third Amendment to Development and Supply Agreement
dated November 5, 2009 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.) and Abbott Laboratories, Inc.

10-Q 000-32405 10.5 11/4/2011

10.24† Fourth Amendment to Development and Supply Agreement
dated April 18, 2010 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.) and Abbott Laboratories, Inc.

10-Q 000-32405 10.6 11/4/2011

10.25† Fifth Amendment to Development and Supply Agreement
dated August 24, 2010 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.) and Abbott Laboratories, Inc.

10-Q 000-32405 10.7 11/4/2011

10.26+†† Sixth Amendment to Development and Supply Agreement
dated November 18, 2010 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a.
Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and Abbott Laboratories, Inc.

— — — —

10.27† Seventh Amendment to Development and Supply
Agreement dated January 2, 2013 between Seagen Inc.
(f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and Abbott Laboratories, Inc.

10-K 000-32405 10.42 2/27/2013

10.28† Eighth Amendment to Development and Supply Agreement
dated July 7, 2015 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.) and AbbVie Inc. (formerly part of Abbott
Laboratories, Inc.).

10-Q 000-32405 10.2 7/30/2015

10.29† Ninth Amendment to Development and Supply Agreement,
effective as of August 28, 2016 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a.
Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and AbbVie Inc. (formerly part of
Abbott Laboratories, Inc.).

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 10/27/2016

10.30† Tenth Amendment to Development and Supply Agreement,
effective as of December 26, 2016 between Seagen Inc.
(f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and AbbVie, Inc. (formerly
part of Abbott Laboratories, Inc.).

10-K 000-32405 10.29 2/21/2017

10.31†† Eleventh Amendment to Development and Supply
Agreement effective Julff y 12, 2018 between Seagen Inc.
(f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and AbbVie Inc. (formerly
part of Abbott Laboratories, Inc.).

10-K 000-32405 10.29 2/6/2020

10.32† Twelfth Amendment to Development and Supply
Agreement, effectiveff as of April 25, 2019 between Seagen
Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and AbbVie, Inc.
(formerly part of Abbott Laboratories, Inc.).

10-Q 000-32405 10.2 7/16/2019

10.33†† Commercial Supply Agreement dated June 13, 2019
between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
Esteve Quimica, S.A.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 7/31/2020

10.34†† Amendment No. 1 to Commercial Supply Agreement dated
April 14, 2020 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics,
Inc.) and Esteve Quimica, S.A.

10-Q 000-32405 10.2 7/31/2020

10.35†† Commercial Supply Agreement dated February 20, 2020
between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
Corden Plankstadt.

10-Q 000-32405 10.3 7/31/2020

10.36†† Commercial Supply Agreement dated April 2, 2020
between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
Sterling Pharma Solutions Limited.

10-Q 000-32405 10.4 7/31/2020

10.37†† License and Collaboration Agreement related to
ladiratuzumab va edotin dated September 13, 2020 between
Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and Merck Sharp
& Dohme Corp.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 10/30/2020

10.38†† Stock Purchase Agreement dated September 13, 2020
between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
Merck Sharprr & Dohme Corprr .

10-Q 000-32405 10.2 10/30/2020

10.39 Lease Agreement dated December 1, 2000 between Seagen
Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and WCM 132-302, LLC.

S-1/A 333-50266 10.21 1/4/2001
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10.40 First Amendment to Lease dated May 28, 2003 between
Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
B&N 141-302, LLC.

10-Q 333-50266 10.1 8/12/2003

10.41† Second Amendment to Lease dated July 1, 2008 between
Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and
B&N 141-302, LLC.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 11/7/2008

10.42† Third Amendment to Lease dated May 9, 2011 between
Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and B&N
141-302, LLC.

10-Q 000-32405 10.2 8/5/2011

10.43† Fourth Amendment to Lease dated October 24, 2017
between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and SNH
Medical Office Properties Trust, as successor in interest to
B&N 141-302, LLC.

10-K 000-32405 10.12 02/15/2018

10.44† Office Lease dated May 9, 2011 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a.
Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and WCM Highlands II, LLC.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 8/5/2011

10.45† First Amendment to Office Lease dated October 24, 2017
between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and SNH
Medical Office Properties Trust, as successor in interest to
WCM Highlands II, LLC.

10-K 000-32405 10.14 2/15/2018

10.46† Purchase Agreement, dated June 16, 2017, between
BMR-3450 Monte Villa Parkway, LLC and ZymoGenetics,
Inc

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 11/6/2017

10.47 Assignment and Assumption of Purchase Agreement, dated
July 30, 2017, between ZymoGenetics, Inc. and Seagen
Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.).

10-Q 000-32405 10.2 11/6/2017

10.48* Form of Indemnification Agreement between Seagen Inc.
(f.k.a. Seattle Genetics, Inc.) and each of its officers and
directors.

S-1/A 333-50266 10.29 1/4/2001

10.49* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
October 25, 2018, between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.) and Clay Siegall.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 10/26/2018

10.50* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
October 25, 2018, between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.) and Todd Simpson.

10-Q 000-32405 10.2 10/26/2018

10.51* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
October 25, 2018, between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.) and Vaughn Himes.

10-Q 000-32405 10.4 10/26/2018

10.52* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
October 25, 2018, between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.) and Roger Dansey.

10-Q 000-32405 10.3 10/26/2018

10.53* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
October 25, 2018, between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle
Genetics, Inc.) and Jean Liu.

10-Q 000-32405 10.6 10/26/2018

10.54* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated
April 15, 2020 between Seagen Inc. (f.k.a. Seattle Genetics,
Inc.) and Charles Romp.

10-Q 000-32405 10.7 7/31/2020

10.55* Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Option Plan, effective
as of August 5, 2009.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 8/10/2009

10.56* 2000 Directors’ Stock Option Plan, as amended February 5,
2010.

10-K 000-32405 10.13 3/12/2010

10.57* Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan,
effective as of May 18, 2012.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 8/8/2012

10.58* Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan,
effective as of May 16, 2014.

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 8/8/2014
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10.59* Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan,
effective as of May 20, 2016.

10-Q 000-32405 10.4 7/26/2016

10.60* Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan,
effective as of May 18, 2018.

10-Q 000-32405 10.2 7/26/2018

10.61* Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan,
effective as of May 15, 2020.

10-Q 000-32405 10.6 7/31/2020

10.62* Long Term Incentive Plan for ECHELON-1, effective as of
May 9, 2016.

10-Q 000-32405 10.2 7/26/2016

10.63* Long Term Incentive Plan for EV and TV, effectiveff as of
September 29, 2017.

10-Q 000-32405 10.4 11/6/2017

10.64* Long Term Incentive Plan for Tucatinib, effectiveff as of
October 24, 2018.

10-Q 000-32405 10.7 10/26/2018

10.65* Senior Executive Annual Bonus Plan, as amended February
4, 2019.

10-K 000-32405 10.69 02/07/2019

10.66+* Senior Executive Annual Bonus Plan, as amended February
9, 2021.

— — — —

10.67* Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan, effective as of May 20, 2019. S-8 333-232397 99.1 6/27/2019

10.68* Rules of the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive
Plan for Restricted Stockff Unit Awards Granted to French
Grantees effectiveff as of March 13, 2020.

10-Q 000-32405 10.3 4/30/2020

10.69* Form Notice of Grant and Stock Option Agreement under
the Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Option Plan.

10-K 000-32405 10.11 3/15/2005

10.70* Form Notice of Grant and Stock Option Agreement under
the 2000 Directors’ Stock Option Plan.

10-K 000-32405 10.12 3/15/2005

10.71* Form Stock Option Agreement for employees under 2007
Equity Incentive Plan.

10-K 000-32405 10.44 3/13/2009

10.72* Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock
Option Agreement for non-employee directors under the
Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.

10-Q 000-32405 10.4 8/5/2011

10.73* Form of Stock Unit Grant Notice and Stock Unit
Agreement for employees under the Amended and Restated
2007 Equity Incentive Plan.

8-K 000-32405 10.1 8/30/2011

10.74* Form of Stock Unit Grant Notice and Stock Unit
Agreement for non-employee directors under the Amended
and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.

10-K 000-32405 10.33 2/28/2014

10.75* Form of Stock Option Agreement for Long Term Incentive
Plan for ECHELON-1 under the Amendedff and Restated
2007 Equity Incentive Plan.

10-Q 000-32405 10.3 7/26/2016

10.76* Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option
Agreement for non-employee directors under the Amended
and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved May
18, 2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.3 7/26/2018

10.77* Form of Stock Unit Grant Notice and Stock Unit
Agreement for non-employee directors under the Amended
and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved May
18, 2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.4 7/26/2018

10.78* Form of Stock Option Agreement for Non-US Participants
under the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive
Plan (approved May 18, 2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.5 7/26/2018

10.79* Form of Stock Unit Grant Notice and Stock Unit
Agreement for non-US participants under the Amended and
Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved May 18,
2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.6 7/26/2018
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10.80* Form of Performance-Based Stock Option Agreement for
employees under the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity
Incentive Plan (approved May 18, 2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.7 7/26/2018

10.81* Form of Time-Based Stock Option Agreement for
employees under the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity
Incentive Plan (approved May 18, 2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.8 7/26/2018

10.82* Form of Performance-Baseff d Stock Unit Grant Notice and
Stock Unit Agreement for employees under the Amended
and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved May
18, 2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.9 7/26/2018

10.83* Form of Time-Based Stock Unit Grant Notice and Stock
Unit Agreement for employees under the Amended and
Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved May 18,
2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.10 7/26/2018

10.84* Form of Stock Option Agreement for U.S. Participants
under the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive
Plan (approved August 30, 2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.8 10/26/2018

10.85* Form of Stock Option Agreement for non-US Participants
under the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive
Plan (approved August 30, 2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.9 10/26/2018

10.86* Form of Performance-Baseff d Stock Unit Agreement for
U.S. Participants under the Amended and Restated 2007
Equity Incentive Plan (approved August 30, 2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.10 10/26/2018

10.87* Form of Stock Unit Grant Notice and Stock Unit
Agreement for US Participants under the Amended and
Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved October 24,
2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.11 10/26/2018

10.88* Form of Stock Unit Grant Notice and Stock Unit
Agreement for non-US Participants under the Amended
and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved
October 24, 2018).

10-Q 000-32405 10.12 10/26/2018

10.89* Form of Performance-Baseff d Stock Unit Grant Notice and
Stock Unit Agreement under the Amended and Restated
2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved August 26, 2019).

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 10/30/2019

10.90* Form of Stock Option Agreement for U.S. Participants
under the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive
Plan (approved December 19, 2019).

10-K 000-32405 10.80 2/6/2020

10.91* Form of Stock Option Agreement for Non-US Participants
under the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive
Plan (approved December 19, 2019).

10-K 000-32405 10.81 2/6/2020

10.92* Form of Time-Based Stock Unit Grant Notice and Stock
Unit Agreement for employees under the Amended and
Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved December
19, 2019).

10-K 000-32405 10.82 2/6/2020

10.93* Form of Stock Unit Grant Notice and Stock Unit
Agreement for non-US Participants under the Amended
and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved
December 19, 2019).

10-K 000-32405 10.83 2/6/2020

10.94* Form of Performance-Baseff d Stock Unit Agreement for
U.S. Participants under the Amended and Restated 2007
Equity Incentive Plan (approved December 19, 2019).

10-K 000-32405 10.84 2/6/2020

10.95* Form of Stock Unit Grant Notice for US Participants Long
Term Incentive Plan for EVff and TV (approved December
19, 2019).

10-K 000-32405 10.85 2/6/2020
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10.96* Form of Stock Unit Grant Notice forff Non-US Participants
Long Term Incentive Plan for EV andff TV (approved
December 19, 2019).

10-K 000-32405 10.86 2/6/2020

10.97* Form of Performance-Based Stock Unit Notice and Stock
Unit Agreement for U.S. Participants under the Amended
and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved
December 24, 2019).

10-K 000-32405 10.87 2/6/2020

10.98* Form of Performance-Based Stock Unit Notice and Stock
Unit Agreement for Non-U.S. Participants under the
Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan
(approved December 24, 2019).

10-K 000-32405 10.88 2/6/2020

10.99* Form of Stock Option Agreement for U.S. Participants
under the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive
Plan (approved March 13, 2020).

10-Q 000-32405 10.1 4/30/2020

10.100* Form of Stock Option Agreement for Non-U.S. Participants
under the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive
Plan (approved March 13, 2020).

10-Q 000-32405 10.2 4/30/2020

10.101* Form of Stock Unit Grant Notice and Stock Unit
Agreement for French Grantees under the Amended and
Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved March 13,
2020).

10-Q 000-32405 10.4 4/30/2020

10.102* Form of Performance-Based Stock Unit Grant Notice and
Stock Unit Agreement under the Amended and Restated
2007 Equity Incentive Plan (approved August 16, 2020).

10-Q 000-32405 10.3 10/30/2020

21.1+ Subsidiaries of Seagen Inc. — — — —

23.1+ Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — — — —
31.1+ Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule

13a-14(a).
— — — —

31.2+ Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a).

— — — —

32.1+ Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350.

— — — —

32.2+ Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

— — — —

101 The following financial statements fromff the Company's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2020, formatted in Inline XBRL: (i) Consolidated
Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iii) Consolidated
Statements of Stockholders' Equity, (iv) Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text and
including detailed tags.

— — — —

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

— — — —
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+ Filed herewith.
† Pursuant to a request for confidential treatment, portions of this Exhibit have been redacted from the

publicly filed document and have been furnished separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission
as required by Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

†† Certain confidential information contained in this Exhibit, marked by asterisks in the Exhibit, has been
omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K.

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
** Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulations S-K. The registrant will furnish

copies of any such schedules to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has dulyd
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto dulyd authorized.

SEAGEN INC.

Date: February 11, 2021 /S/ CLAY B. SIEGALL

Clay B. Siegall
President & ChieCC f Ee xecutivEE e OfficerO
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 11, 2021 /S/ TODD E. SIMPSON

Todd E. Simpson
Chief Fe inFF ancial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/S/ CLAY B. SIEGALL
Clay B. Siegall Director, President & CEO (Principal Executive Officer) February 11, 2021

/S/ TODD E. SIMPSON
Todd E. Simpson Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) February 11, 2021

/S/ FELIX J. BAKER
Felix J. Baker Director February 11, 2021

/S/ DAVID W. GRYSKA
David W. Gryska Director February 11, 2021

/S/ MARC E. LIPPMAN
Marc E. Lippman Director February 11, 2021

/S/ TED LOVE
Ted Love Director February 11, 2021

/S/ JOHN A. ORWIN
John A. Orwin Director February 11, 2021

/S/ Alpna Seth
Alpna Seth Director February 11, 2021

/S/ NANCY A. SIMONIAN
Nancy A. Simonian Director February 11, 2021

/S/ DANIEL G. WELCH
Daniel G. Welch Director February 11, 2021
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Clay B. Siegall, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Seagen Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ Clay B. Siegall
Clay B. Siegall

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 11, 2021
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Todd E. Simpson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Seagen Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ Todd E. Simpson
Todd E. Simpson

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: February 11, 2021
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SEAGEN INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Seagen Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Clay B. Siegall, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

By: /s/ Clay B. Siegall
Clay B. Siegall

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 11, 2021

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Seagen Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K),
irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SEAGEN INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Seagen Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Todd E. Simpson, Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

By: /s/ Todd E. Simpson
Todd E. Simpson

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: February 11, 2021

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Seagen Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K),
irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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Forward-Looking Statements  This 2020 Annual Report, including Seagen’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 included with the 2020 Annual Report, contains 
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, such as those, among others, relating to the
Company’s 2021 outlook, the Company’s potential to achieve the noted development and regulatory milestones in 2021 and future periods, the Company’s potential to bring a fourth product 
to market in the United States and effectively commercialize the Company’s products in its territories globally; anticipated activities related to the Company’s planned and ongoing clinical trials, 
including clinical trial initiation, enrollment and data availability and the expected timing thereof; the potential for the Company’s clinical trials to support further development, regulatory submis-
sions and potential marketing approvals; the opportunities for, and the therapeutic and commercial potential of ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA, and tisotumab vedotin and the Company’s other 
product candidates and those of its licensees and collaborators; as well as other statements that are not historical facts. Actual results or developments may differ materially from those projected or 

expected, as well as risks and uncertainties associated with maintaining or increasing sales of ADCETRIS, PADCEV and TUKYSA due to competition, unexpected adverse events, regulatory action, 
reimbursement, market adoption by physicians, the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, global trends toward healthcare cost containment, challenges in commercializing outside of the U.S. or 
other factors. The Company may also be delayed or unsuccessful in its planned clinical trial initiations, enrollment in and conduct of its clinical trials, obtaining data from clinical trials, planned 

COVID-19 pandemic, negative or disappointing clinical trial results, unexpected adverse events or regulatory actions and the inherent uncertainty associated with the regulatory approval process 
and the pricing and reimbursement process when applicable. Seagen discusses many of these risks, uncertainties and other factors in greater detail under the heading “Item 1A-Risk Factors” in its 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 included with this 2020 Annual Report. Seagen disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise except as required by applicable law.

©2021 Seagen Inc. ADCETRIS, PADCEV, TUKYSA, Seagen, and their respective logos, are trademarks of Seagen Inc. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

seagen.com        Nasdaq: SGEN        @SeagenGlobal          Find us on LinkedIn


